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1 Strategic report

Our business was built with a simple mission — to be the
champion for customers. That’s as true today as it was when
Jack Cohen first set out his East London market stall in 1919.

Our core purpose is ‘serving shoppers a little better every
day’ - putting customers at the heart of everything we do
and guiding every decision we make.

2020 highlights.

Headline measures.
Group operating profit before exceptional

Group sales® and other items®®

% £56.5bn % £2,959m
v (0 ® 7) (o] (2019: £56.9bn) A 1 3 [ ] 5 (o) (2019:,52,607m)
Diluted EPS before exceptional and other items*® Dividend per share

% 17.92 % 9.1
A 27. 9 o (2019: 14.08 A 5 8 ° 6 (o (2019: 5.7'?p)
Retail free cash flow< Net debt*"

a132.1% £2083m +(8.4)%  ElaMer

Statutory measures.

Statutory revenue Operating profit

N 37 £64.8bn 7(4 g)y £2,518m
° (o (2019: £63.9bn) ° (o (2019: £2.649m)

Statutory profit before tax Statutory diluted EPS

v(18.7)% E13Bm  +v(26.8)% 224

Visit www.tescoplc.com/ar2020
for more information.

.
4 Alternative performance measures (APMs})
Measures with this symbol A are defined In the Glossary section on pages 164 10 169,
All measures reported on a continuing operations and 52-week comparable basis.
Change shown at actual exchange rates. 2019 figures restated for adoption of IFRS 16
as explained in Note 1and Note 37,
W Excludes amortisation of acquired intangibles and excludes exceptional items by virtue of
their size and nature in order to reflect management’s view of underlying Group performance.
= Diluted EPS before exceptional and other items refers to diluted earnings per share from
cantinuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles.
net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments.
' Net debt and Retall free cash flow exclude the impact of Tesca Bank,
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Chairman’s statement

A year of significant progress.

Highlights.

- Significant progress in the financial year ended 29 February 2020, as we
marked the completion of our turnaround.

- Announced the proposed sale of our businesses in Thailand and Malaysia
will release material value, and allow us to simplify and focus our business.

- Appointed a new Group Chief Executive. Ken Murphy. to succeed Dave Lewis
in October 2020.

This repart covers our 2019/20 financial year. which ended
on 29 February 2020,

That year was one of significant progress. as we achieved cur
turnaround goals. further improved ocur business for customers,
and firmly established ourselves on a strong financial footing.

However. while the entire Tesco business has dealt with some
serious challenges through the last five years of turnaround.
undoubtedly the most significant of these occurred after our
2019/20 year end. with the global cutbreak of COVID-19.

As Dave reflects in his Group Chief Executive’s review, our more
than 400,000 colieagues have risen to the challenge incredibly.
working day and night to ensure our customers have access to
the food and essentials they need, in a safe environment.

I cannot commend them highly enough for their efforts,

which have been nothing short of inspirational.

The remainder of this report addresses. tor the most part.

the 2019/20 financial year - before the greatest impact of the
significant changes that COVID-18 brought to our business, and
indeed cur society as a whole.

Our pricrity is to keep an absolute focus on serving customers
and to play our part in feeding the nation, as the situation with
COVID~19 continues to dominate our current trading following
the year end. Given these circumstances, we have included
commentary on COVID-19 in this report where possible,

while recognising that. at the time of writing, the situation

is rapidly evolving.

For the latest updates on our response to the COVID-19 outbreak,
I would encourage you to visit www.tescoplc.com/covid-19.

From turnaround to growth.
In 2019/20, we marked the end of our turnaround.

The management team set in 2015 and shared in 2016 a strategy to
stabilise the business. to rebuild the brand. and te move towards
the next chapter of growth. Guided by six strategic drivers, the
whole Tesco team worked tirelessly to achieve these objectives
and by October 2019, we had achieved every one of our turnaround
goals. That momentum continued through this year, with full-year
Group operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation
of acguired intangibles up 13.5% to £2.959m.

We now have a strong platform from which we can enter a new
strategic phase. focused arcund earnings growth, cash profitability
and cash flow, and with customer satisfaction at the heart. in June
2019, we hosted a Capital Markets day. which set cut untapped
value opportunities for the Group, broadly categorised across
three areas: growth, innovation and enabling technology.
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After the year end. we also announced the proposed sale of our
businesses in Thailand and Malaysia. This transaction, supported
unanimously by the Board. will unlock significant value from an
exceptionally high-quality business, and allows us to further simplify
and focus the Group. On completion, and subject to approval, we
have taken the decision to return c.£5bn of the proceeds to
shareholders through a special dividend.

CEO succession.

In October 2019, we shared the news that Dave will leave the
business later this year. The Board and | believe that Dave has
done an cutstanding job in turning the business around and
reconnecting Tesco to its core purpose.

The Board undertaok a thorough succession process to find the
best possible candidate and, as a result, we made the decision to
appoint Ken Murphy to take up the baton from Dave.

Ken will bring to Tesco o wealth of cxpericnce, proven leadership in
international retail businesses. a strong strategic mind and a tiack
record in cammercial and brand. What was very important to the
Board in the recruitment process was that the new CEOQ would be
a good fit for the strong culture that we have developed.

On behalf of the whole Board. | am extremely grateful to Dave for
everything that he has achieved, and we look forward to welcoming
Ken Murphy to the Board. and to Tesco, in October.

——
§n [ W, "oV W,

John Allan

Non-executive Chairman

7 April 2020



Group Chief Executive’s review

— -

- Strategic report

Together, we can do this.

Highlights.

- Five years of turnaround now complete - built a better business for
customers, colleagues. suppliers and shareholders.

— Strong foundaticons allow us to tackle the challenges of COVID-18 from
a position of strength.

In our five years of turnaround. we have taken decisive action to
refocus our busingss on clstomers. making our offer more
relevant and more competitive than ever before.

By focusing completely on customers, re-engaging our colleagues
and fundamentally rethinking our relationship with suppliers,

we have managed to deliver on the turnaround plan we set out

in 2015 | am very proud of the achieverment of the team over
these five years.

As a stronger. more customer-focused business, we are alscin a
better position to step up and meet the unprecedented challenges
of the COVID-19 outbreak.

Our colleagues have risen brilliantly to those challenges. In very
difficuit circumstances the whole Tesco team has pulled together
to look after our customers and each cther, doing everything
possible to provide more of the food that people need. in a clean
and safe environment.

| am incredibly proud of what our colleagues are doing. and aiso
the way that they're doing it - working day and night tc ensure
everyone has access te the essentials. and putting our customers
first, even while many of our colleagues have very real concerns
about their own loved ones.

At the time of writing. it seems likely that we are closer te the
beginning of this situation than the end. While we are stil learning
and adjusting. we will step up and respond to each new challenge
as it comes. And at ali times. our focus will be the same: to ensure
the health and safety of cur customers and colleagues, 1o increase
food and household supplies across stores and anline, and to
support our fantastic colleagues.

There is almost no part of our operation that remains untouched
by this situation.

- To ensure food is available for all. we have changed the way we
run our stores - taking actions to manage demand and support
the smooth running of our supply chain.

- Qur Online team is exploring every opportunity possible to
increase capacity. so that we can help the most vulnerable in
society. For the majority of our customers that are able te shop
in store safely, we have introduced distancing measures to
protect customers and colleagues.

- We have taken steps to support colleagues on sickness leave and
also provided long-term sickness support for those required to
isolate for 12 weeks. We also recruited more than 45,000
additional colleagues in the two weeks to 7 April.

- We have announced a £30m support package for local
communities tackiing COVID-18. including £25m towards our
focd denation programme

- Other parts of our business are stepping up too. Booker is
supporting thousands of independent retailers in communities
right across the UK. and Tesco Bank is providing critical services
at a time of financial difficulty for many customers.

It is impossible to present an exhaustive list, or to overstate how
much has changed - and the extracrdinary lengths the whole
Tesco team has gone to - in order to lock after our customers.

Recognising the incredible contribution of our colleagues, in
March we announced a 10% benus for front-line colleagues in
the UK & Ireland. with similar colleague recognition schemes
in Central Europe and Asia.

The contribution of cur supplier partners has also been
outstanding. Existing supplier partners have increased production
of key products to meet increased demand from customers, and
new suppliers have stepped up to support at short notice.

we alsc know that for many of our partners, and in particular
our smallest suppliers, this is a challenging time economicaily.
To support their businesses, we have reduced our payment
terms for small suppliers from 14 days to five days.

These actions are the right ones to take. in a unigue and difficult
set of circumstances. Some of the things we've done have resulted
in significant extra costs, as we meet unprecedented levels of
demand and do everything possible to protect the health and
safety of cur custemers and colleagues.

OQur financial performance, and the strong platform we have built
over the last five years. means that we are well-placed to deal
with this and to continue meeting customers’ needs. and gives us
confidence that the long-term future of our business is secure.

As a team. Tesco has faced into many challenges over the last five
years and we will rise to the challenges of the current situation in
much the same way, working together to put customers first.

Together. we can do this.

>@u¢

Dave Lewis
Group Chief Executive
7 April 2020
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Strategic review

Turnaround delivered.

We have now delivered every element of our turnaround plan. From this position
of strength, the transformation of our business continues at pace.

Key performance for all four stakeholder groups summarised below.

14/15 19/20 Change

| Sup;;liers:

Customers. 14415 19/20 ; Change

Customer NPSF! 0 T2 +19 pts Overall satisfaction” 55% 80% | +25% pts

Brand perception'? 68 26.1 ] +19.3 pts Simple. transparent and 36% 71% | +35% pts
easy to deal with"

' Quality perception® 12.2 27.4 | +1562npts Treats me fairly!! 55% 82% | +27% pts
Value perception® 6.1 21.0 | +14.9pts 7
Colleagues. 144154 19/20%  Change  Shareholders. wns /200 c;a;g? !
Great place to work® 70% 82%  +12% pts Operating profit* £940m | £2.959m +£2.019m

j Great place to shop'” 23 44 +21pts w Free cash flow!" £(1,340Im ‘ £2.063m +£3,403m
Inclusive culture® 73% 81% | +B% pts Total indebtedness!" £(21.7bn | £014.7)bn ;down 32%
Engagement in purpcse™ 64% 86% | +22% pts Dividend 1.16p 9.15p | +689%

Market capitalisation™ £137on | £23.2on | +£9.5bn

walnut Tesco Multichannel tracker. Reflects % of UK Fans minus Cntics answering the
question '‘Based an your most recent experience of doing a grocery shop how likely is it
that you would recommend this store to a friend or colleague™

v Based on YouGov Brand Index which is a score based upon six component questions
covering quality, value, reputation and satisfaction: 12-week rolling data.

14/15 data based on our 2014 What Matters to You survey and 2019/20 data based on
our 2020 Every Voice Matters survey

% of colleagues recommending Tesco as a great place to work.

The net promoter score for colleagues recommending Tesco as & great place to shop

% of colleagues agreeing that "Treat people how we [Ike to be treated is practised at
Tesco' (2014) and 'l feel | can be myself at Tesco without fear of judgement’ (2020}
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Reflects YouGov Brand perception measures of quality and value an a 12-week rolling basis.

¥t

% of colleagues agreeing that 'l can see a clear link between my work and the Tesco vision'
(2014} and 'The link between my team's work and Tesco's purpose is clear' (2020).
Reflects % of UK & ROl suppliers responding positively to the statements 'Qverall
satisfaction of working with Tesco', ‘Tesco is simple, transparent and easy to deal with',
"Tesco treats me farly’. as part of the Supplier Viewpoint survey.

These figures reflect Tesco's performance based on accounting standards applicable at
the tirme of publication. Korea was first classified as a discontinued operation during
FY15/16 and Turkey during FY16/17. Booker was consolidated from FY18/15.

Group operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles
Free cash flow and total Indebtedness exclude the impact of Tesco Bank.

' Market capitalisation as at the end of H 2014/15 and end of 1H 2019/20.



In June 2019, we held a Capital Markets day
to share ‘untapped value opportunities’
across the Group. Some of these
opportunities are well-advanced in their
execution, while others are at early stages
of consideration.

Areas of progress this year include:
Growth.

New store openings

We have done extensive work to improve the model of our
Express format, reducing the capital and the operational costs.
while improving the mix. We have identified opportunities to open
150 new Express stores in the UK over the next three years.

Urban fulfilment centres

We have plans to open at least 25 urban fulfilment centres in
the UK, as part of a plan to double the capacity of our online
grocery business. These centres make use of existing surplus
space in large stores, with @ mare efficient. automated system
in a small foctprint.

Clubcard Plus

We launched Clubcard in 1995 to help us better understand and
communicate with our customers, and today there are 19 million
households in the UK with Clubcard. At the end of 2019, we
launched the UK’s first grocery loyalty subscription service,
Clubcard Plus. giving customers even more value from their Tesce
shop. including 10% off two big shops in-store each month.

| A new Clubcard

Innovation.

Simplify to serve

As customer shopping nabits continue to change. we are adapting
the way we run our stores - improving customer service, and
reducing our operating costs. In the UK. we have rolled out a new
proposition for fresh food counters and in February we announced

changes to the way we bake in our large stores. to better reflect
customer demands.

Plant-based food

We have a market-leading range of plant-based foods, catering
to & growing trend of veganism and flexitarian diets. In September
2019 we launched our new ‘Plant Chef' range, and we continue te
expand this - for example with the launch of the UK’s first
plant-based condiment range in January.

Strategic report

Plastic packaging

Our packaging strategy is based on ‘4 Rs™:

- Reuse more.

- Recycle what's left.

- Remove it where we can.
- Reduce it where we can't.
This year. we committed to remove one billion pieces of plastic
from our UK stores by the end of 2020, and are working with our

suppliers to remove 67 million pieces of multipack plastic from
cans in our stores. saving 350 tonnes of plastic each year.

‘ From multipacks to multibuys

Enabling technology.

Simpler for coileagues

All our large stores are using a new scheduler teol, providing
greater flexibility and choice for colleagues. This simple
technology enables us to reduce administration. making it
simpler for colleagues to book and amend shifts, and feedback
has been extremely positive.

Booker.co.uk relaunch

Booker already has a significant digital business, serving many
thousands of customers online. These Bocker customers will
now benefit from the technology capability of Tesco. fellowing
a relaunch of Booker.co.uk this year. There have already been
improvermnents to web analytics and invsicing, making the order
precess simpler for Booker customers.

A seamless store experience

Different technologies work for different customers. so we will
continue to offer a choice of ways te shop and pay. Cne area
we are exgloring is the use of new technology to make shopping
‘frictionless’: where items are automatically added to a digital
shopping basket as customers pick them up from the shelf.

We are testing this technology with colleagues in the Express
store at our Welwyn Garden City campus.

| New ways to shop
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Our business model

Serving shoppers better.

Our differentiating
capabilities.

Understanding customers.

We use our expertise to
understand and meet our
customers’ needs better
than anybody else.

Our colleagues.

Cur more than 400,000
colleagues share a single
purpose: to serve shoppers
a little better every day.

Scale and reach.

Cur unparalleled reach allows us
to bring great guality products
to more customers.

Own Brand and product.
We source the best quality
products, with expert technical
teams and close partnerships
with growers and suppliers.

Services.

Services such as Mobile and
Banking focus on the needs of
Tesco shoppers and allow us to
earn and retain their loyalty.

Innovation,

We encourage a culture of
innovation so that our business
rernains at the cutting edge of
new trends and demand.

Touch every part of

our business.

e
e Channels

/’/ To bring the best products
to customers, we work
through a range of channels
: - from small shops to large
| shops, and online. Booker
gives us access to further
channels, including Business
Centres and delivered
™ wholesale.

To create value for our stakeholders.,

Value for customers.

Our business model allows us

to bring our customers the

very best products at the best
possible prices, however they
choose to shop with us.

As our business continues to
strengthen, we can reinvest in
our competitiveness and further
improve the experience

for customers.

Voted Britain’s Favourite
Supermarket’ by customers for

S5years

*  Grocer Gold Awards 2019

Value for colleagues.

The expertise of cur colleagues
drives every part of our business
model - from our store teams
serving sheppers, to our Product
teams developing new ranges.
We want every colleague in our
business to understand the part
they play in serving shoppers a
little better every day.

Colteagues agreeing we have
an inclusive culture

81%
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i Tesco exists to serve i
! customers - listening to them !
| and acting on what is most
‘ important, however they j
choose to shop with us. !
A P
e N . ~
\\ . o \
| -
o p <
Reinvest o K
. . ™. d
Our focus is always on making —
Tesco the best it can be for our |
customers. The better a job we lem
do for customers. the more we P .
willimprove sales: themoreour o
“ sales improve, the more we can Products h
" reinvest in further improving We build close and
the shopping trip. mutually beneficial
. i relationships with
.‘ : our supplier partners,
i . | to source the best possible
o 7 ™ products that meet
o < i ) and anticipate
/ N . ra . customers’ needs. y

Value for suppliers.

Our conversations with suppliers
focus on delivering great value,
great quality products for

our customers. When we get it
right. our business grows, and
our suppliers grow with us.
Together with Booker,

our combined growth gives
further opportunity

for suppliers.

Record level of Group
supplier satisfaction

77.8%

Value for shareholders.

For sharehclders. our business
model allows us to deliver
suistainable, profitable growth.
Our underlying philosophy to
create value for shareholders
puts a focus on customer
satisfaction, cash profitability.
earnings growth and

free cash flow.

Full-year dividend

9.15p

per share

N

“



Financial review

| Strategic report

Turnaround complete.

—_— — - S
. “With our turnaround complete, our balance sheet strong and
our liquidity and funding positions robust, we are well-placed
to support colleagues and customers through the current
challenging times.”
| Alan Stewart
Chief Financial Officer
|
|
Headline Group results.
YoY 53-week YOY 52-week YoY 52-week
53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 This year Exclude This year change [Actual change [Actual change [Constant
©on a continuing operations basis 53-week basis week 53 52-week basis Last year® exchange rates) exchange rates) exchange rates)
Group sales (exc. VAT, exc. fuel)® £57,370m £(843)m £66,527m  £56,883m 1.1% 0.71% 1.0)%
UK & ROI - £45,752m £(843)m £44.909m £44 883m 2.0% CI% 0.2%
Central Europe £5.332m - £6,332m £6.030m (12.10% (10.1%
Asia £5.218m - £5.218m £4.873m 6.7% 0.1%
Tesco Bank £1.068m - £1.088m £1.097m (2.6)% 2 6)%
Fuel . £7.390m £0140)m £7.250m £7.028m 5.1% 32% 2%
Revenue (exc. VAT, inc. fuel) £64,760m £[983Im £63,777Tm £63.911m 1.3% 10.21% (0.51%
Group operating profit before exceptional items and £3,005m £(46)m £2.959m £2.607m 15.3% 13.5% 12.6%
amortisation of acquired Intangibles®
UK & RCI £2,230m £(46im £2,184m £1.868m 19.4% 16.9% 16.9%
Central Europe E158m - £156m £221m {29.4)% (27.6)%
Asia £426m - £426m £319m 33.5% 24.8%
Tesco Bank £193m - £193m £199m (3.00% (3.00%
Include excepticnal items and amortisation of acguired £(487hm £34m £(453Im £42m
intangibles
Group statutory operating profit £2.518m - n/a £2.649m (4.91%
Adjusted Group prafit before tax® £2,276m £137Im £2.23%m £1.806m ~ 26.0% 24 0% -
Group statutory profit before tax £1,315m - n/a £1,617m (18.7%
Adjusted diluted EPS™ 18.23p (0.30p 17.92p 14.0'p 30.1% 27.9%
Statutory diluted EPS 9.54p - n/a 13.04p (26.8)%
Statutory basic EPS 9.60p - n/a 13.33p
Dividend per share . 9.15p - n/a 577 58.6%
Capex” - £1.1bn - “n/a £1.7bn .
Net debt® £(12.31bn _£0.2bn £(12.bn £(13.2)bn . 6.9% 8.4%
Retail free cash flow™ £1.9bn " £0.2bn £2.1bn £0.9bn 109.9% 132.1%

Detailed below is a surnmary of our performance for the last financial
year. which for UK & RCI was the 53 weeks ending 29 February 2020.
and for all other operations was for the calendar year ended

29 February 2020. To aid comparability, headline results and
associated commentary is presented on a 52-week comparable basis.

We have delivered a strong performance, significantly growing
profitability and free cash flow.

Group operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of
acquired intangibles of £2,959m grew by 13.5%. Strong performance
inour UK & ROl and Asia segments was partly offset by the impact of
disruption as we transform our business in Centrat Europe to improve
long-term profitability in the region.

Retail free cash flow increased by £1.174m year-on-year to £2.0683m.
reflecting the strong increase in cash profitability. an improvement in
working capital and the contribution from the sale of our share in our
joint venture in China. Gain Land.

Reflecting the strength of our performance last year and given our
robust liquidity and balance sheet, we propose to pay a final dividend of
6.50 pence per ordinary share. This takes the total dividend for the year
to 9.15 pence per ordinary share. up £8.6% year-on-year, including the
payment of an interim dividend of 2.65 pence per ordinary share in
Navember 2019. This represents a full-year dividend payout ratio of
50% on & 53-week basis.

In March we announced that we had agreed to sefl our businesses in
Thailand and Malaysia to a combination of CP Group entities®, following
inbound interest and a detailed strategic review. Consideration for the
dispesal represents an enterprise value of $10.6bn (c.£8.2bn) on a cash
and debt-free basis. Following completicn of the dispesal, we intend to
return c.£5bn to shareholders via a special dividend and further de-risk
the business by reducing indebtedness through a £2.5bn pension
contribution. which is expected to eliminate the funding deficit.

* Last year figures restated for the adoption of IFRS 16 as explained in Note 1 and Note 37 to the Group financial statements.

* Group sales exclude VAT and fuel Sales growth shown on a comparable days basis for Central Eurcpe and Asia. Booker consolidated from 5 March 2018 and therefore includes
nine additional days in 2019,/20 vs. 2018/19. The nine additional days of Booker sales in the current year contrnbuted 0 2% to Group sales growth in the year.

Excludes amortisation of acquired intangitles and excludes exceptional items by virtue of their size and nature in order 1o reflect management’s view of underlying performance.

" Net debt and Retail free cash flow exclude the impact of Tesco Bark in order to provide further analysis of the Retail cash flow staternent Net debt also includes lease liabilities
following the adoption of IFRS 36, Net debt excluding lease liabilities was £{2.61bn. down £0.2bn year-on-year.
Headline ‘diluted sarnings per share’ and “adjusted Group profit before tax’ measures exclude exceptional items. amortisation of acquired intangibles. net pension finance casts and

fair value remeasurements of financial instruments.,

' Capex is shown excluding property buybacks. Statutory capital expenditure {including property buybacks) for the 53 weeks ended 20 February 2020 was £2 1bn {Z018/19. £1.2bn).
* Onh 9 March 2020 we anhounced the proposed sale of our businesses in Thailand and Mataysia to a combination of CP Group entities Completion of the disposal. which is conditional
on sharehalder approval and customary regutatory approvals in Thailand and Malaysia, 15 expected during the second half of 2020. Thailand and Malaysia will be treated as discontinued
aperations for the 2020421 financial year. All guidance and forward-looking statements are on a continuing operations basis

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020
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Financial review continued

Segmental resuits.

UK & ROI®

In the UK, we continued our centenary celebraticns offering significant
savings to customers through our '100 Years of Great Value' events,
and introduced exclusive Clubcard Prices for our 19 million Clubcard
holders. We have further strengthened our value proposition with the
launch of our *Aldi Price Match campaign’ in March 2020, price
matching te Aldi on hundreds of Tesco and branded products.

The customer reaction to the launch of Clubcard Plus in Novermber
has been encouraging. For a £7.99 monthly subscription, customers
can benefit from 10% off two big shops in-store as well as savings on
popular Tesco brands and double data on Tesco Mobile. Subscribers
can also apply for a Clubcard Plus credit card from Tesco Bank with no
foreign exchange fees abroad®’.

Our fresh food volumes cutperfermed the market by 0.5%% supparted
by strong performance in our *food-to-go’ offer. We continue to
improve our cverall product mix. making our general merchandise offer
more relevant by focusing on categories that are complementary to our
food offer such as Home and Cook. In the coming year we are planning
to rebalance space further, in particular by augmenting our F&F
clothing affer in a number of our large stores.

Qur online grocery customer service ratings all improved year-on-year.
Following a strong saies performance in the first half, a slower rate of
growth in the second half of the year reflected our decision to maintain
a sustainable approach to incentivising new customers in a highly
competitive environment. We are taking steps to increase our online
capacity to align to the long-term growth in customer demand in this
channel, with our first urban fulfiiment centre planned in our West
Bromwich Extra store. This year we will also increase the number of vans
and trial unmanned Click & Collect sites to further support order growth.

In November we announced we will become the first UK retailer to
remove plastic-wrapped tinned multipacks from all stores and replace
them with plastic-free multibuys. eliminating 67 milfion pieces of plastic,
This forms part of our commitment to remove one billion pieces of
plastic from our UK stores by the end of 2020.

Booker sales grew {on a comparable days basis) by 3.8% excluding
tobacco (2.9% including tobacco) despite a challenging market in both
wholesale and retail, with small business confidence remaining low.
The continued focus on customer service was recognised in November
when Booker was named "Best National Wholesaler” for overall
customer satisfaction’®. The acquisition of Best Food Logistics in early
March 2020 will pravide more customers with the benefits of the
sourcing capabilities of the wider Tesco business.

In RO, sales grew by 0.8% at constant exchange rates. and we saw
particularly strong sales growth in core fresh food, including bakery
and produce, as customers responded well to the continued
investment in our *You won't pay more’ value campaign.

UK & ROI operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation
of acquired intangibles grew by 16.9% at actual exchange rates to
£2,184m, with operating margin up 59 basis points year-on-yesr. The
increase in profitability was driven by the actions we have taken to
improve product mix, and cost savings through further refinements to
our operating mode! including changes to our in-store counters offer
and simplification of stock control processes.

We have now delivered cumulative synergies lcomprising the in-year
benefit of new initiatives combined with the carry forward of prior year
activity) of £207m from the Booker merger. exceeding our ¢.£200m
target a year earlier than planned. While we still see many opportunities
to deliver further synergies. these will no longer be considered
separately to our overall UK & RO performance. In the period, the
challenge of a weak market in both the wholesale and catering sectors
was exacerbated by the effect of the clearance of excess stock that
had been built up in anticipation of Brexit disruption. Despite these
challenges Booker's profit growth (including synergies) outperformed
the industry as a whole.

UK & RQI consists of Tesco UK. ROl and Booker. Booker consolidated from § March 2018,
' Subject to status.

Central Europe'®

In Central Europe. we have undertaken a significant transformation,
fundamentally changing our approach in Poland and resizing, simplifying
and improving the relevance of our businesses in the Czech Republic.
Hungary and Slovakia. Sales fell by (10.1% at constant exchange rates.
reflecting disruption from the actions we have taken including the
rationalisation of our general merchandise offer. making our customer
offer more relevant and compelling. Across the region we rightsized 545
hypermarkets. closed 28 stores and, in Poland, completed the transition
to a two-format model (compact hypermarkets and supermarkets). We
also invested to improve the shopping trip for customers, focusing on
availability which improved by 1% and our key ‘Star Lines’ products
which saw like-for-like growth of 20%.

Operating profit before exceptional items in Central Europe was £156m,
129.4Y% lower year-on-year. The actions described above to simplify

our operations resulted in significant sales disruption and stock clearance
costs, particularly in the second half of the year. in additicn, performance
reflected investments to improve the competitiveness of cur offer, in
particular our key 'Star Lines’ products, over 600 everyday items which
we have made available to customers at market-leading prices. Excluding
a £(13)m provision made in the first half in respect of potential historical
VAT lizbilities, the change in operating profit was (23.5)%.

Asia'”

In Asia. sales grew by 6.7% at actual exchange rates and by 0.1% at
constant exchange rates. In Thailand. cur new Express proposition roll
out and large store reinvention programme are both progressing well
and as part of our innovation in store formats we now have two of our
‘ultra convenient’ E-Pop stores in the Bangkok region. We have
simplified our fresh food offer, with more competitive prices and our
‘Food Love Stories’ campaign has further improved customer quality
perceptions. The simplification of our general merchandise ranges
impacted our headline sales by ¢.()% in the year. In Malaysia, we
increased our market share, opening two new small stores following
favourable legislation changes, with plans for a further four openings

in 2020/21. Across the region we are building trust with customers
through our focus on reducing food waste and plastic usage.

We saw a strong increase in profitability in Asia, with growth of 33.5%
at actual exchange rates and 24 .8% at constant exchange rates. we
accelerated our cost savings initiatives in Thailand. including a mare
efficient distribution operation and more focused, more effective
marketing activity. In addition. we benefited from the flow through of
prior year initiatives. We continued to optimise the mix of our product
ranges as we focus on sustainable, profitable ranges in general
merchandise. Performance also included a £24m benefit as a result
of changes to how property tax (s levied on businesses in Thailand.

In 2020/21, our Asia operations will be treated as a discontinued
operation following the announcement on 9 March 2020 of the
proposed sale of our businesses in Thailand and Malaysia'?.

Tesco Bank

This year Last year Yoy
Revenue £1,068m £1,097m (2.6)%
Operating profit before exceptional items £193m £199m (3.00%
Statutory operating profit £74m £169m (56.2)%
Lending to customers £8,45'/m  £12,426m (32.0)%
Customer deposits £7.707m  £10.465m 26.41%
Net interest margin 41% 3.8% 0.3%
Tetal capital ratio 23.1%. 18.3% 4.8%

Tesco Bank focuses on providing simple banking and insurance products
to a broad range of Tesco customers. Tesco Bank sales were impacted
by our decision to exit the mortgage market in September, which also
drove the decline in lending to customers. The insurance market
remains highly competitive and we continue to focus our investment on
retention of existing customers. This year we have also invested in the
customer experience through a number of initiatives. including the
launch of the Clubcard Plus credit card. and a new Student Shopper

Data 15 for the 52 weeks ending 22 February 2020 and 15 sourced from IR| Retail Advantage™. global insight providers ta the retail industry.

Aldi and Lid| do not submit data to IRl and are therefore excluded from their market definition.

* HIM annual Wholesale Tracking programme,

Central Europe consists of Czech Republic. Hungary. Paland and Slovakia.
Asia consists of Thalland and Malaysia

- Completion of the dispasal 1s subject to shareholder and regulatory approval
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Card as part of our gift card range. In addition, we upgraded the
Tesco Mobile app to allow customers to purchase foreign currency
and we rolled out our Click & Coliect service to more stores.

Operating profit before exceptional items decreased by (3.0)%
year-on-year t¢ £193m. Our insurance income decreased as we
focused on competitive pricing. however we delivered increased
income from our loans portfolic in ling with increased lending to
customers. and higher income from our gift cards and travel money.
The significant cost savings made this year include lower fraud costs
resulting from the Bank’s continued focus on improved technology
and safeguarding our customers, and lower ATM maintenance costs

as a result of optimisation efficiencies. This has contributed to the
cost:income ratio improving by 1.9% pts year-on-year.

In February we stopped accepting new applications for personal
current accounts, as part of our repositioning of Tesco Bark to focus
on the right products and services for Tesco customers. This resuited in
an exceptional charge of £(56Im refating to accelerated depreciation of
intangible and fixed assets. Total exceptional items within statutory
operating profit refating to Tesco Bank were £(119)m.

Exceptional items and amortisation of acquired
intangibles in statutory operating profit.

This year This year
53-week Exclude 52-week

basis week 53 basis Last year
Net restructuring and £0151m £44m  £007)m  £(1B2)m
redundancy costs
Net property disposals £55m £imim £44m £104m
Bocker integration costs E(23Im - £{23Im £015Im
Acquisition of property joint E(136m - ED38Im -
venture
Net impairment (loss)/reversal £{18)m - £(15im £106m
of non-current assets
Impairment of investment in £447m - £{47Im -
India joint venture
Profit on disposal of Gain Land £37m - £37/m -
Other corporate activity costs £(22)m - £(22)m -
Tesco Bank mortgage disposal £{5m - E(5Im -
Closure of Tesco Bank current £(56Im - £{56!m -
accounts to new customers
Provision for customer redress £(45)m - £{45im £(16Im
Tesco Direct closure costs - - - £(38)m
Tesco Bank FCA provision - - - £018)m
Release of amounts provided in - - - £37m
relation of FCA obligations
Release of provision relating to - - - £176m
HMRC VAT appeal
Sale of Lazada - - - £7m
Guaranteed minimum pensions - - - £(43m

{GMP) equalisation

Total exceptional items in £(408)m £33m  E(375)m £120m

statutery operating profit

Amortisation of acguired £E(79Im £1m £78)m £078)m

intangible assets

Total exceptlonal items and £(487Im £34m  E{453}m £42m
amortlsation of acquired

intanglbles in statutory

operating profit

Exceptional items are exchuded from our headline performance
measures by virtue of their size and nature in order to reflect
management’s view of the underlying performance of the Group.

This year. total exceptional items resulted in a net cost of £(375im.
compared to a net credit of £120m in the prior year. This year-on-year
movement is principally due to provision releases and net impairment
reversals in the base. as well as the accounting impact of obtaining full
control of cne of our property joint ventures (The Tesce Atrato Limited
Partnership) through the acquisition of our partner's 50% stake in
September 2019, All of these significant movements are non-cash.

Exceptional restructuring and redundancy costs of £{107)m include a
£(61m charge relating to the simplification of our store operating model
in the UK and a £{43)m charge relating to the transformation we have
undertaken in Central Europe.

Exceptional net profits on property transactions of £44m have arisen
from property disposals within the UK (£18m) and Central Europe (£26m).
We have incurred a £(23lm exceptional charge relating to Booker
integration costs, bringing costs to date to £(38)m.

i Strategic report

The acquisition of our partner's stake n The Tesco Atrato Limited
Partnership results in the Group taking on the joint venture's external
debt in additicn to its freehold assets (15 stores and two distribution
centres). The exceptional charge of £E136)m represents the net effect of
the derecognition of the previously held IFRS 16 lease liabilities and right
of use assets, and the impairment of the acquired assets.

As announced at the half year, the impairment charge of £(47im
relating to our Trent Hypermarket joint venture relates to reduced
profit expectations due to investments in the competitiveness of our
offer and reduced store expansion plans.

Other exceptional itemns include a profit of £37m on the disposal of
our 20% share in Gain Land in China. and a £(22)Jm charge relating 1
corporate activity. which includes costs relating te the proposed
sale of our businesses in Thailand and Malaysia in addition to other
Group projects.

Tesco Bank recognised a £(56)m excepticnal accelerated depreciation
charge following the decision to close our current account business to
new customers. Also, as announced at the half year, Tesco Bank
recognised an additicnal £(45)m provision for customer redress due to
an unexpectedly high number of claims received in the weeks prior to
the 29 August deadline in respect of Payment Protection Insurance (PPI.

Net exceotional items of £{33!m in week 53 comprise & £{44)m charge
relating to further changes to our UK store operating model and £11m
of net profits on property transactions in the UK.

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets is alsc excluded from our
headling performance measures. The £(78)m charge primarily relates to
our merger with Booker in March 2018, which resulted in the recognition
of goodwill of £3.093m and a £755m intangible asset.

Joint ventures and associates.

Our share of post-tax profits from joint ventures and asscciates
pefore exceptional ltems was £26m, an increase of £6m year-on-year
primarily due to a reduced leve! of losses from Gain Land, our farmer
associate in China.

Exceptional items of £(8)m comprise a £(12Jm charge for land penalties
arising in our 20% share of Gain Land. and in Tesco Bank, an exceptional
gain of £4m in our insurance joint venture, Tesco Underwriting.
reflecting a revision to the Ogden compensation tables which are used
to calculate future losses in personal injury and fatal accident claims.

Following the sale of our 20% share in Gain Land and proposed sale of
our business in Thailand. which is inclusive of our 25% share cf the
Tesco Lotus Retail Growth Freehold and Leasehold Praperty Fund
(TLGF}. our share of post-tax profits from joint ventures and associates
will primarily relate to cur UK property joint ventures. In 2019/20 TLGF
contributed £26m to profit.

Finance income and finance costs

This year This year
B3-week Exclude 52-wask
L basis week 53 basis Last year

Net interest on medium- £(212im £3m  £(209)m £{238)m
term notes, leans and bonds
Other interest receivable and £23m - £23m £26m
similar income
Other finance charges and £(25im - £(25Im £(49)m
interest payable
Finance charges payable on £{540m £6m £(535)m £I561)m
lease liabilities
Capitalised interest - - - £im
Net finance costs before £(755)m £9m £(746)m £{822Im

exceptional charges, net
pension finance costs and
fair value remeasurements
of financial instruments
Fair value remeasurements of £{244)m £18m
financial instruments
Net pension finance costs
Net finance costs before
exceptional charges
Exceptional items:
— Fair value remeasurement £080Im - £0180Im -
on restructuring derivative
financial instruments
- Gain on Tesco Bank £29m - £29m -
mortgage disposal
Net flnance costs

£226m  £053m

£(70m - £7im_ £(8%im
E1,0700m  £27m £(1,043m E£(1,064im

£01,22m £27m  £01,194)m £01,064Im
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Financial review continued

Net finance costs before exceptional charges, net pension finance

costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments reduced
by £76m year-on-year to £(746)m. mainly driven by a reduction in net
interest payable following debt maturities, bond tenders and new debt
issued at a significantly lower rate of interest. In addition, finance charges
payable on lease liabilitties reduced by £26m year-on-year due to ongoing
lease utilisation and the buyback of 21leasehold properties in the year.

Fair value remeasurements of financial instruments increased by £73m
year-on-~year driven by a fall in inflation expectations impacting the new
index-linked swaps. which offset those put in place as part of historical
sale and leaseback property transactions. The swaps were restructured
to eliminate the impact of future inflation on the Group's cash flow in
relation to these property transactions. Fair value remeasurements also
inciudes £(85)m primarily relating to the premium paid on the
repurchase on long-dated bonds (last year: £021)m).

Net pension finance costs decreased by £18m year-on-year. primarily
due to a lower opening pension deficit. For the 2020/21 financial year,
net pension finance costs are expected to be no more than ¢ .£65m.
The exact cost will depend on the timing of the one-off pension
contribution of £2.5bn, described overleaf.

The exceptional charge of £180)m included in net finance costs relates
to actions taken to remove inflation risk from the historical sale and
leaseback property transactions. The charge, which is non-cash, relates
to the revaluation of credit risk associated with the historical swaps.
described above, over a shorter timeframe.

An exceptional credit of £29m refates to a fair value remeasurement
as part of the sale of Tesco Bank's mortgage book that was
completed in September.

Group tax

Tax on Group profit before exceptional items and amortisation of
acquired intangibles was £(430)m, £33m higher than last year due to
increased profitability. This year’s charge also includes a credit arising
from closing a number of issues relating to prior years across the
Group. Group cash tax paid in the year was £340m, including £207m
of corporate tax paid in the UK.

Following the reversal of the enacted 2% reduction in the rate of UK
corperation tax from 1 April 2020, we now expect the Group's effective
tax rate to be around 21% in the medium term. For the 2020/21 financial
year we expect an effective tax rate of ¢.24% as a resulit of a one-off
rate change impact from revaluing deferred tax from 17% to 19%.

As previously announced, following changes to the timing of UK
corporation tax payments. in common with other large UK companies
we will have two additional guarterly cash payments in the 2021 fiscal
year. This change effectively moves from payment of around half the
tax liability after the financial vear end to full payment in-year, and is
expected to create a one-off additional cash outflow in the first half
of our 2020/21 financial year.

As part of the use of proceeds from the proposed sale of our
businesses in Thalland and Malaysia. we intend to make a £2.5bn
one-off contribution into the UK defined benefit pension scheme.

As the Group will receive tax relief on this contribution, it is anticipated
that the level of cash tax payable will be reduced by ¢.£120m in the year
of payment and ¢.£60m per annum in the following three years.

On a statutory 53-week basis. the total tax charge is £(380)m which
includes a £53m credit relating to exceptional items.

Earnings per share

This year This year
53-week Exclude 52-week
. basis week 53 basis  Last year
Diluted EPS pre-exceptional 18.23p 0.3 17.92p 14.01p
items, amortisation of
acquired intangibles, net
pension finance costs and fair
value remeasurements of
financial instruments 3
Statutory diluted earnings 9.54p - n/a 13.04p
per share
Statutory basic earnings 9.60p - n/a 13.13p
per share

Cur diluted earnings per share before exceptional items, amortisation
of acquired intangibles. net pension finance costs and fair value
remeasurements of financial instruments was 17.92p. 27.9% higher
year-on-year, due 1o our improved profit performance.

Statutory basic earnings per share from continuing operations were
9.60p. (26.9)% lower year-on-year, primarily reflecting the change in
the level of exceptional items year-en-year.
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Summary of Total indebtedness.®

This year This year
53-week Exclude 5Z-week
basis week 53 basis Last year  Mavemeit

Underlying Net  E£(2.765)m £191m  £(2.574im  £(2.734Im £160m
debt (excludes
lease liabilities

and Tesco Bank)

Lease liabilities  £(9.533Im £8m  £(9.527)m  £(10,470Im £943m
Pension deficit,  E£(2,573)m - £(2.573)m  £(2.338)m £{235)m
|1AS 18 basis

{post-tax)

Total E£(14,871hm  £197m £(14,674)m  £{15,542}m £868m
indebtedness

¥ Total indebtedness 1s defined in the glossary, starting on page 184.

Total Indebtedness was £(14,674)m. down £868m year-on-year driven by
areduction in our lease liabilities and underlying net debt, partly offset
by an increase in the pension deficit.

Our lease liabilities decreased by £943m year-on-year, principally
reflecting the purchase of our partner’s 50% stake in the Tesco Atrato
Limited property joint venture. The acquisition, which is treated as an
asset acquisition. increases our freehold property ownership and
borrowings. replacing associated right of use assets and lease liabilities.
In addition. cur lease liabilities reduced due to capital repayments made
in the year and the buyback of a number cf other leasehold properties.

On an IAS 19 basis. our pension deficit increased by £{235)m to £(2.6}bn
An increase in the measurement of schere liabilities due to a fall in
corporate bond yields was largely offset by strong asset performance,
including that of our liability-driven investment portfolio. in addition to
continued deficit contributions and the application of the latest
actuarial assumptions.

As part of the use of proceeds from the propased sale of our
businesses in Thailand and Malaysia, we have reached agreement with
the Trustees to make a £2.5bn one-off contrioution into the Scheme.
This. along with other measures. is expected to eliminate the funding
deficit and significantly reduce the prospect of having to make further
pension deficit contributions in the future.

The agreement with the Trustees also covers the key principles of
the triennial scheme valuaticn, which will now be calculated as at

31 December 2019. The Trustees will aim to conclude the valuation
as soon as is reasonably possible.

Qur key credit metrics, which are Fixed charge cover and Total
indebtedness/EBITDA, have further improved since the end of the
last financial year, from 3.0 to 3.4 times and frorm 3.6 to 3.1times
respectively. We are now targeting leverage of ¢.2.5 times.

Summary retail cash flow.

Retall free cash flow Increased by £1.174m year-on-year to £2.063m),
reflecting a strong increase in cash profitability. @ decrease in warking
capital and the contribution from the sale of our share in Gain Land.

We generated a net working capital inflow of £163m. This improvement
is lower than initially planned. and includes the reversal of the £{210)m
impact seen in the second haif of last year primarily relating to our
decision to delay the impiementation of a new general ledger system.
Our planned progress was held back by the timing of non-trade related
payments, the deleveraging effect of lower sales in Central Europe and
the continued prioritisation of securing avatlability for customers ahead
of potential Brexit deadlines. These factors were partly offset by a
refinement of payment terms with our largest suppliers,

The £(240)m impact shown in the table overleaf in working capital
relating to week 53 is primarily driven by the timing of a fuel payment.

Cash capital expenditure was £142m lower year-con-year as we maintain
our disciplined approach to capital investment.

An £80rm reduction in cash Interest principally relates to debt maturities
and bond tenders at a significantly lower rate of interest. Cash interest
also includes the interest element of lease rental payments, which
reduced by £26m year-on-year as leases were utilised and we bought
back a humber of other leasehold properties.

Retail cash tax paid in the year was £271m, a decrease of £31m
year-on-year. The decrease year-on-year was due to IFRS 16 transitional
adjustments and a higher charge for fair value remeasurements in the
period. which are both eligible for cash tax relief.

We generated £258m of property proceeds including £167m from the sale
of properties in Central Europe. mainly in Poland. We utilised £172m of
cash primarily for the buyback of our Blandford. Chesterfield and High
Wycombe stores, which will result in an annual cash rental saving of £8m.



We purchased £149m of shares In the market following our commitment
to offset any dilution from the issuance of new shares to satisfy the
requirements of share schemes. Going forward we continue to expect
to utilise ¢.£150m a year. with the precise amount depending on
performance and market conditions.

The increase in repayments of obligations under leases of £27m is
largely offset by a corresponding decrease within the interest
element of lease rental payments included Tn net interest.

As previously announced, we will make a £0.3bn pension deficit
coentribution in the 2020/21 financial year, which in addition to the
proposed one-off £2.5bn contribution in the second half of 2020.
is expected to eliminate the funding deficit and significantly reduce
the prospect of having to make further deficit contributions in the
future, releasing ¢.£260m of annual free cash fiow.

This year This year
53-week Exclude 52-week
basis week 53 basis Last year

Operating profit before £3,005m £l46)m £2,959m £2,607m
exceptional items and

amortisation of acquired

intangibles

Less: Tesco Bank operating £(193)m - £(193)Im E(199Im
profit before exceptional iterms
Retail operating profit from
continuing operations before
exceptional items and
amortisation of acquired

£2,812m £{46)m £2,766m £2,40Bm

intangibles

Add back: Depreciation and £1.937m £(29)m  £1,908m  £1.887m
amortisation

Other reconciling items £66mM £12m £78m £70m
Pension deficit contribution £(267)m - E267)m  E(Z6BIm
Underlying lincreasel/decrease E(77Im £240m £163m  £(306im

1n working capital

Retail cash generated from
operations before exceptional
items

£4,477m  £177m £4,648m £3,793m

Exceptional cash items: £(230Im - E(230)m  E(58Im
Relating to prior years:
- Shareholder - - - £143)m
Compensation Scherme
payments and SFC fine
— Onerous contract - - - £{1lm
provisions
— Restructuring payments £0133Im - £0133)m E6OIM
Relating to current year:
- Restructuring payments E{BA)m - £i64)m £(68Im
- Integration costs £123Im - E(23Im £(12im
— Corporate costs £010Im - £(10)m -
— Other? - - - £28m
Retail operating cash flow £4.247m £77m  £4,418m £3,637m
Cash capex £{988Im £4m  £(984Im  £(1,126)m
Net interest E777Im £27m  E(750Im  E(B30Im
Tax £(278m - £(271m  £(302Im
Property proceeds £269m £{11m £258m £285m
Property purchases — store £172)m - E72m  £0136)m
buybacks
Market purchases of shares £(149)m - E(49m  E(146lm
(net of proceeds)
Acguisitions, disposals and £345m - £345m  £(635)m
dividends received
Add back: Booker acquisition - - - £747m
costs {included above)
Repayments of cbligations £632Im - E63Zm  E(60DIM
under leases _
Retall free cash flow £1,866m £197m £2,063m £889m

-+ Booker integration costs were previously included within *Other”,

Capital expenditure.

Our capital expenditure for the year was £1.1bn. broadly level on the
priar year, and was primarily focused on store maintenance and refits.

In the UK & RCI spend has related to the maintenance of our stores
in addition to 18 new Express store openings and our temporary
replacement store in Kennington. We also opened five Jack's stores
in the UK. bringing the total to 12.

In Central Europe. aur programme to address unproductive selfing
space by either refitting, downsizing or repurposing steres is now largely
complete. In Poland we moved to a two-format model. which involved

|
| strategic report

closing or resizing all hypermarkets tc our better performing compact
hypermarket format. The total space reduction in Central Europe was
c.3 million sqg. ft. with ¢.2.1 million sq. ft. of this within Poland.

In Asia we opened two new stores in Malaysia, following favourable
legislation changes and a further 54 new stores in Thailand. primarily in
our Express format. Following the proposed sale of our businesses in
Thailand and Malaysia. in future years we expect our annual Group
capital expenditure to be within a range of £0.9bn ta £1.2bn.

Statutory capital expenditure of £2.1bn includes £914m relating to the
acquisition of full control of the The Tesco Atrate Limited Partnership
(comprising 15 stores and two distribution centres) and £136m relating
to the buyback of a number of other leasehold properties in the year,

This year Last year
UK & ROI £769m £709m
Central Europe £108m £130m
Asia £134m £235m
Tesco Bank £52m £31m
Group £1,063m £1,106m

Property.

The estimated market value of our fully owned property as at the

year end increased by £0.4bn to £21.7bn. The market value of £21.7bn
represents a surplus of £2.8bn over the net book value. Cur Group
freehold property ownership percentage, by valug, has increased by 2%
year-on-year, In September we completed the purchase of our
partner’s 50% stake in The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership property
joint venture. which includes 15 stores and two distribution centres.
This asset acquisition increased cur percentage of fully owned property
in UK & ROl by ¢.2% and will lead to an annualised cash rental saving of
£41m. The repurchase of three large stores in the UK also supported an
improvement in the percentage of fully-owned property, in addition to
an annualised cash rental saving of £8m.

Dividend.

Reflecting the strength of our performance last year and given our
robust liguidity and balance sheet, we propose to pay a final dividend of
6.50 pence per Ordinary share. This takes the total dividend for the year
t0 9,15 pence per Ordinary share, up 58.6% year-on-year. including the
payment of an interim dividend of 2.65 pence per Crdinary share in
November 2019. This represents a full-year dividend payout ratio of
50% on a 53-week basis. We expect to maintain a full-year dividend
payout ratio of 50% going forward and from 2020/21 our interim
dividend will be set at 35% of the prior year full-year dividend.

The proposed final dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on
7 April 2020 and is subject to the approval of shareholders at this year's
AGM. The final dividend will be paid on 3 July 2020 to shareholders who
are on the register of members at close of business on 22 May 2020
({the Record Date). Shareholders may elect to reinvest their dividend in
the dividend reinvestment pian (DRIP). The last date for receipt of DRIP
elections and revocations will be 12 June 2020,

Looking ahead.

COVID-19 is having a material impact on the operations of cur business
and we are incurring significant additional costs, particularly in payroll
as we recruit additional colleagues to meet demand and cover the work
of those colleagues who are sbsent and being paid.

while the full financial impact of the crisis for 2020/21is impossible to
predict with a high degree of certainty, we have considered a range of
scenarios to understand potential outcomes on our business and plan
appropriatety. Dependent on the scenario. the estimated impact on our
retail cost lines is between ¢ £(650)m and c.£1925)m including significant
cost increases in payroll, distribution and store expenses.

At this stage it would not be prudent to provide financial guidance for
2020/21. however if customer behaviour were to return to normal by
August it is likely that the additional cost headwinds incurred in our
retail operations would be largefy offset by the benefits of food votume
increases. 12 months' business rates relief in the UK and prudent
operations management.

Tesco Bank, which operates as a standalone regulated entity. is
expected to be impacted by a reduction in income from all of its
activities, including credit cards. loans and travel money. This expected
decrease in income. in addition to provisions for potential bad debts. is
likely to result in a less for the Bank in the year ending February 2021
Notwithstanding this, the Bank's capital ratios (Tier 1 ratio: 20.6% and
Total ratio: 23.1% as at 29 February 2020) and liguidity are expected to
remain strong.
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Key performance indicators

Our Big 6 KPIs.

Grow sales.

Why it’s important.

Sustainable growth in sales is important
to our business model. A strong, growing
business also creates opportunities for
our suppliers to grow with us too.

What we measure.

Group sales is a measure of revenue
excluding sales made at petrol fiiling
stations. It demonstrates the Group's
underlying performance in the core
retail and financial services businesses
by rermoving the volatilities associated
with the movement in fuel prices.

How we performed.

Group sales declined by (1.0)% at
constant exchange rates and (0.7)% at
actual exchange rates, to £56.5bn. In the
UK & ROI. total sales increased by 0.1% at
actual exchange rates. against a backdrop
of subdued market growth.

Group sales®

£56.5bn (2018/19: £56.9bn)
down (1.0)%®

Deliver profit.

Why it’s important.

Recovering our profitability has been key
1o our turnaround. building a platform for
long-term growth and creating value for
all stakeholders.

What we measure.

Group operating profit, before
exceptional items and amortisation of
acquired intangibles. It is the headline
measure of the Group's performance.

How we performed.

Group eperating profit before
exceptional items and amortisation of
acquired intangibles of £2,959m grew
by 13.5% at actual exchange rates and
12.6% at constant exchange rates.

Group operating profit before
exceptional items and amortisation
of acquired intangibles®

£2,959m (2018/19: £2,607m")
up 13.5%¢

& Alternative performance measures APMs

Improve operating cash flow.
Why it’s important.

Strong cash generation is an important
part of our underlying philosophy as we
manage our business.

What we measure.

Retail operating cash flow is the cash
generated from operations of continuing
operations, excluding the effects of
Tesco Bank's cash flows. It is a measure
of the cash generation and working
capital efficiency by the Retail business,
recognising that Tesco Bankis run and
reguiated independently from the

Retail operations.

How we performed.

We generated Retail operating cash
of £4,.418m, up 21.5%. This reflects a
strong increase in cash profitability

and a decrease in working capital.

Retail operating cash flow*

£4,418m (2018/19: £3,637m’)
up 21.5%"

Customers recommend us and
come back time and again.

why it’s important.

Customers are at the heart of everything
we do, and customer satisfaction is an
important driver of loyalty.

What we measure.

Reflects % of Fans minus Critics
answering the guestion ‘How likely is it
that you would recommend Tesco to a
friend or colleague?’

How we performed.

Qur net promoter score for the Group
declined by 3 points to 14 points. While our
full-year performance is down on last
year, we saw an improving trend in the
final quarter of the year.

Group net promoter score
14 pts, down 3 pts"

Measures with this symbol A are defined in the Glossary section on pages 164 1¢ 169

#  Reported on a continuing operations basis. Growth Is at constant exchange rates on a non-comparable days. 5Z2-week basis.

*  Reported on a continuing operations basis. Growth 1s at actual exchange rates on a 62-week basis.

' Basis Tesco Global Brand tracker

* Recommendations from Tesco retall colleagues Excludes Tesco Bank. Jack's, Tesco Bengaluru and Tesco Maintenance
* Restated for the adoption of IFRS 16. For more information see Note 1and Note 37 on pages 84 and 143,
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Colleagues recommend us as a
great place to work and shop.
Why it's important.

When we get things right for our more
than 400.000 colleagues. we make it
even easier for them to da what they
do best - serving shoppers a little
better every day.

What we measure.

Cur ‘Great place to work’ measure is
the percentage of colleagues who agree
or strorgly agree with the statement

‘| would recommend Tesco as a great
place to work'.

‘Great place to shop’ is a net promoter
score, answering the guestion *t would
recommend Tesco as a place to shop'.

How we performed.

Colleagues continue to recommend Tesco
as a great place to work, with 82% of our
colleagues across the Group agreeing. This
i5 10% higher than our peers. based on a
benchmark of glokal retail companies.

Great place to shop 46 pts,
down 4 pts'?

Great place to work 82%

Build trusted partnerships.

Why it's important.

Close and trusted partnerships with our
suppliers allow us to source the best
quality products for our customers,

at the best prices.

What we measure.

Our supplier satisfaction measure reflects
the percentage of suppliers across the
Group who responded positively when
asked ‘Overall how satisfied are you with
your experience of working with Tesce?'.
in our Supplier Viewpoint survey.

How we performed.

Overall Group supplier satisfaction
reached its highest score to date of 77.8%.
We saw particular improvements in
supplier ratings for cocperation. respect
and communication.

Group supplier satisfaction
77.8%, up 0.3% pts




Principal risks and uncertainties

A robust approach to risk.

Key elements of our risk management framework.

We have an established risk management framework to manage and report the risks that we face as a business [see diagram below).
A risk that can seriously affect our performance, future prospects or reputation of the Group is termed a principal risk.

To manage our risks effectively we have identified a risk appetite which is driven by the following:

1
‘ Strategic report

- our performance should be competitive. responsible and focused on creating value for all our stakeholders including

customers. colleagues, supgliers and shareholders:
- our behavicurs must be in line with our code of business conduct to protect and enhance our reputation;
- we aim to operate our business within the capital allocation framework we have set out: and

- we seek to ensure that our principal risks are effectively managed.

Risk management policy, standards and guidelines

Principal Risks

Board, Audit Committee, Executive Committee and Group Risk and Compliance Committee

I il — - — - - -
| | Lines of defence — .
R — - =7 1
. i | " - 1!
‘ | ‘ st line 2"# line 3rd line .
Management Compliance and Internal Audit ! } !
1 | ‘__ ) - __support functions ) ) o ‘
w | - Risk | ‘
- Top-down | s - | Bottom-up ‘
Group and | Risk APpetite . | Business unit
strategic ) & Rs5€5Smg,,, ! and operational |
level risk: i / N ‘ level risk:
- ldentification . — ldentification
- Assessment |~ Assessment
— Prioritisation o : | — Prioritisation
- Management i ‘.‘- | - Management
- Oversight o : - Qversight
~ Reporting ‘ Culture & - Reporting j
U Includes the | Leadership

identification and
management of
emerging risks

| Oversight.

! Board

| Overall responsibility for risk
| management, including risk

! appetite and oversight for

i the risk assessment and

. mitigation strategy.

Audit Committee
Gversight of the risk
framework and internal
control assurance on
behalf of the Board.

Business unit risks

Group Chief Executive and
Executive Committee

The Group Chief Executive has
overall accountability for the
managerment of risks. (ndividual
members, reporting to the
Group Chief Executive. are
accountable for specific
principal risks.

! Includes the |
! identification and
management of |
emerging risks
|

Group Risk and Compliance
Committee

Qversight of key regulatory |
and compliance risks on behalf |
of the Executive Committee,
reporting bi-annually to the |
Audit Committee.

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020

13



Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Principal risks are discussed and agreed by Executive
management and the Audit Committee and are cascaded to
the business units (top-down) who manage and report on the
principal risks and any additional significant business unit risks.
Business units also escalate risks as appropriate (bottom-up)
to the Executive Committee.

The principal risks are discussed and evaluated through regular
meetings with senior management. Each principal risk is
discussed at least annually by the Board to provide oversight
and ensure that they remain well managed and relevant.

The seven steps of the risk, controls and assurance framework
on page 13 are embedded within our business as a key element
of how we manage our risks and ensure appropriate controls
are established.

The risk assessment process refies on our evaluation of the risk
likelihood and impact, and on the development and monitoring of
appropriate internal controls. We maintain risk registers detailing
the risks we face, and this is an important component of how we
manage our risks.

Risk management.

We have performed a robust review of our principal risks which
includes pericdic assessments of the risks we believe could
threaten the Group's business model. future performance,
solvency or liquidity.

The COVID-19 outbreak has become a global pandemic moving
from an emerging risk for the business to a principal risk. The
Booker integration and synergy realisation risk has significantly
reduced over the year and is now considered to be operating In
a business as usual capacity. Consequently it has been retired as
a principal risk. Other principal risks remain largely unchanged
from last year.

Risks related to climate change and sustainability remain an integral
part of @ number of our principal risks including brand. reputaticn
and trust, and responsible scurcing and supply chain. We have
enhanced our risk descriptions for these two principal risks over
the year to further reflect that.

The risks associated with Brexit remain due to there being ne clarity
on the long-term trading relationship with the EU. Although the UK
entered the standstill transition period on 31 January 2020,

Emerging risks - This year we have conducted a
formal exercise to identify and assess emerging risks.
| While assessing potentiai emerging risks we have
considered our risk exposure across a number of
themes e g. finance and economics, geopclitical and
security, social and humanitarian, technological,
climate and sustainability (see TCFD on page 20.

Emerging risk and horizen scanning are integrated as
part of regular risk discussions and reported at both
business unit and Executive Committee level and we
will continue to embed this further going forward.
Our subject matter experts supported by cur secand
line of defence teams have been working through the |
year to deepen our understanding of key risks like
climate change. sustainability, cyber. packaging.
artificial intelligence. animal welfare and more
recently pandemics.
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uncertainty over the longer-term trade issues could remain until
31 December 2020 and potentially beyond. We have amended cur

Brexit risk description accordingly and continue te menitor this risk,

Liquidity and risks related to our transformation pregramme have
reduced. An improved credit rating, reduction in indebtedness and
improving cash flow position has resulted in reduced exposure and
the transformation programme is delivering capability with pilot
and major releases taking place over the past year.

We have noted a slight increase in ocur Health and Safety risk
primarily driven by a shift in the external regulatory landscape
leading to potentially higher penalties and legal action. Our
Group-wide injury statistics continue to improve as we identify
and implement improvement opportunities to further enhance
our controls.

We recognise the potential risk of disruption to activities in view of
the proposed sale of our businesses in Thailand and Malaysia. We
have appropriate plans in place to monitor and manage these risks.

Key focus areas

As part of our focus on continuous improvement we have begun
work to refine risk appetite for our principal risks with the
Executive and Audit Committee this year and will continue to
progress this in the coming year (see risk appetite below). We have
also developed our assessment of emerging risks and integrated
this into our bi-annual risk review process (see emerging risks and
Corporate governance).

The table opposite sets out our principal risks, their movement
during the year, and a summary of key controls and mitigating
factors. They do not comprise all our risks and are not set out in
priority order. Additional risks not presently known, or currently
deemed to be less material. may also have adverse effecis.

-

' Risk appetite - During the year we have initiated
work to formalise our approach to develop and
i report our risk appetite. We have worked with the
‘ Executive Committee. Audit Committee and subject
matter experts to agree our methodology. We have
revised our internat Beard reporting guidance to
ensure matters presented for approval clearly
indicate the risk{s) and as we progress we will also
integrate reference to our risk appetite. Next year
we will formalise reporting to the Board and improve
oversight by further developing and embedding cur
assessment and reporting against risk appetite.



Key risk movement.

! Strategic report

@ Risk increasing @ No risk movement @ Risk decreasing ® New risk

Principal risk

Risk movement

Key controls and mitigating factors

Customer.!

Uncertainties (including Brexit)
and macroeconomic conditions
impact our customers’ budgets
and force customers to
reappraise the concepts of value
and loyalty in & way in which we
are unable to respond.

There is continued volatility
and uncertainty with the
need for customer
reassurance on both value
and quality: however we
feel that we have the right
strategy and processes in
place to monitor this risk.

©

- We have a value. price. promotions and Clubcard strategy that drives
our business priorities with governance and oversight mechanisms.

- We have a consistent approach to building impactful customer
propositions, offering high-quality and competitive value while
improving the customer experience.

- Propositions are being developed across channels and geographies
to ensure consistency in the customer engagement.

- Group-wide customer insight analysis is undertaken 1o understand and
leverage trends around customer behaviour. expectations and experience
across the different parts of the business to improve our propositions.

- We monitor the effectiveness of our processes by regularly tracking our
business and competitors against measures that customers tell us are
important 1o their shopping experience.

- We have well-established product development and quality
management processes, which keep the needs of our customer central
to our decision-making.

Transformation.'

Failure to achieve our
transformation objectives due to
poor prioritisation, ineffective
change management and a failure
to understand and deliver the
technaology required, results in an
inability to progress sufficiently
gquickly te maintain or increase
cperating margin and generate
sufficient cash to meet business
cbjectives.

The risk has decreased
driven by on-going delivery
of key programmes 1o meet
our transformation
objectives.

®

- We have clear market strategies and business plans to address changes
to business priorities, strategic objectives and external market factors.

- We have executive-level governance and oversight for all the transformation
activities to ensure programmes are adequately resourced, milestones
achieved and to approve key rollout decisions.

- Real-time independent assurance activities are conducted over the
transformation programme.

Liquidity.*

Failure of our business performance
to deliver cash as expected; access
to funding markets or facilities

being restricted: failures in
operational liquidity and currency
risk management; Tesco Bank cash
call: or adverse changes to the
pension deficit funding requirement:
create calls on cash higher than
anticipated. leading to impacts on
financial performance. cash liquidity
or the ability to continue to fund
operations.

The risk has decreased
driven by a reduction in
our debt levels and
Improving credit rating
and debt metrics.

O

- We maintain an infrastructure of systems. policies and reports to ensure
discipline and oversight on liquidity matters. including specific treasury
and debt-related issues.

- Qur treasury policies are communicated acrass the Group and are regularly
reviewed by the Board. Executive Committee and management.

- The Group's funding strategy is approved annually by the Board and includes
maintaining appropriate levels of working capital, undrawn committed
facilities and access to the capital markets.

- The Audit Committee reviews and annually approves the viability and going
concern statements and reperts into the Board.

- There is a long-term funding framework in place for the pension deficit and
there is ongoing communication and engagement with the Pension Trustees.

- Liguidity levels and sources of cash are regularly reviewed. and the Group
maintains access to committed credit facilities and debt capital markets.

- While recognising that Tesco Bank is financially separate from Tesco PLC.
there is ongoing monitoring of the activities of Tesco Bank that could give
rise to risks to Tesco PLC.

Competition and markets.t

Failure to deliver an effective,
coherent and consistent strategy

to respond to our campetitors and
changes in market conditions results
in a loss of market share and failure
to improve profitability.

We continue to face the
ongoing challenge of a
changing competitive
landscape and price
pressure across most
of our markets.

®

- Our Board develops and regularly challenges the strategic direction of our
business to enhance our ability to remain competitive on price. range and
service, This includes the development of our online channels and multiple
formats to allow us to compete in different markets.

~ Our Executive Committee and operational management regularly review
markets. trading opportunities. competitor strategy and activity.

- We engage in market scanning and competitor analysis to refine our
customer proposition.

Brand, reputation
and trust.!

Failure to create brand

reappraisal opportunities to
improve quality. value and service
perceptions as well as meet climate
and sustainability expectations
results in a negative impact on the
trust which our stakeholders place
in our brand.

We continue to implement
a number of initiatives and
activities aligned to cur
strategic priorities, thereby
helgping reappraise the
brand and continue to
build and maintain trust.

©

- Our Group policies, procedures and our Code of Business Conduct sets out

detailed expectations and behaviours around hew we can make the right
decisions for our customers. colleagues, suppliers, communities and investors.

- We listen to our customers and stakeholders as part of our communication
and engagement programmes. We reflect these needs in our plans including
building upon health, community. sourcing. climate and sustainability
Initiatives as part of our LHP on pages 21to 23.

- We continue to maximise the value and impact of cur brand with the advice
of specialist external agencies and in-house marketing expertise.

- Qur Corporate Responsibility Committee oversees all corporate responsibility
activities and initiatives. including climate and sustainability programmes
which ensures alignment with customer priorities and our brand strategy.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Principal risk

Risk movement

Key controls and mitigating factors

Technology.

Failure of our IT infrastructure or
key IT systems results in a loss of
information, inability tc operate
effectively, financial or regulatory
penalties, and negative impacts on
our reputation. Further, failure to
build resilience at the time of
investing in and implementing new
technology. results in potential loss
of operating capability.

There continues to be a
growing dependence on
technelogy throughout the
Group. We continue to
make improvements and
invest in disaster recovery
and business continuity
measures which are
helping to iimit exposure
to external threats.

©

Gur multi-year programme cantinues to enhance our technology
infrastructure and resilience capabilities. This involves significant investment
in our hosting strategy. partnering with cloud providers and re-engineering
some of our legacy retail systems, while building redundancy for key
business systems.

Our new data centre facility provides greater resiliency and cversight

for our key systems.

Qur technology security programme continues to enhance inforrmation
security capabilities thereby strengthening our infrastructure and
information technology general controls,

We have combined governance processes covering both technology
disaster recovery and business continuity 1o ensure alignment.,

Data security and data
privacy,!

Failure to comply with legal or
regulatory requirements relating to
data security and data privacy in the
course of our business activities,
results in reputational damage. fines
or other adverse conseguences.
This includes criminal penalties and
consequential litigation which may
result in an adverse impact on our
financial performance or
unfavourable effects on our

ability te do business.

As a retail organisation we
hold a large amount of
customer and colleague
personal data. and the
threat landscepe has been
ever growing. Since the
introduction of General
Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR) we have seen an
increase in individuals’
awareness levels, as well as
an increase in the financial
penalties which can be
levied by the data
protection authorities.

©

We put our customers and colleagues at the heart of all decisions we make
in relation to the processing of personal data. Cur multi-year technology
security programme is griving the enhancement of our data security
capabilities.

We have an established team in our security operations centre to detect,
report and respond to security incidents.

We have a third-party supplier assurance programme focusing on third-party
data security and privacy risks.

We invest significantly across the Group to help us comply with the
requirements of GDPR in Europe. and any other relevant legislation globaliy.
We have a privacy compliance pregramme, which [ncludes assessment

and monitoring of risk across our global business.

There is regular reporting on pregress and results of the security and privacy
programmes to governance and cversight committees.

We recognise the importance of training and communication to help prevent
data security and privacy-related incidents and have regular induction,
awareness and refresher courses for cur colleagues.

Our data privacy and protection policies clearly set out how we can protect
and appropriately restrict customer. supplier and colleague data.

Next generation behaviour-based anti-virus and malware solutions,

data and payment encryption and threat detection tools help us reduce

the likelihcod of being compromised.

Political, regulatory and
compliance,!

Failure to comply with legal and
other requirements as the
regulatory environment becomes
more restrictive, due to changes
in the globa! political landscape.
results in fines, criminal penaltias for
Tesco or colleagues, consequential
litigation and an adverse impact on
our reputation, financial results,
and/or our ability to do business.

Long-term changes n the

global political envircnment.

including that in some
markets there is a push
towards greater regulaticon
of foreign ownership of
companies resulting in
favouring of local
companies.

©

wherever we operate, we aim to ensure that the impact of political and
regutatory changes is incorporated in our strategic planning and palicies.
We have compliance programmes and committees to manage our most
important risks le.g. anti-bribery and competition law).

Qur compliance programmes ensure that controls are implemented to
mitigate the risk and we conduct assurance activities for each risk area.
Our Code of Business Conduct and various policies le.g. gifts and
entertainment. conflicts of interest) are supported by new starter and annual
compliance training and other tools such as our whistleblowing hotline.
The engagement of leadership and senior management is critical to the
successful management of this risk area. Structured communication plans
are establishied to provide a clear tone. from the top. for our coileagues.

_H;ealth and safety.

Failure to meet safety standards

in relation to our workplace, results
in death or injury to cur customers,
colleagues or third parties and leads
to edverse financial and reputational
consequences.

This risk has increased
primarily driven by a shift
in the regulatory landscape
which may lead to an
increase in penalties and
fines. Group-wide injury
statistics continue to
improve alongside
identifying continuous
improvement opportunities
to further embed controls.

®

We have a business-wide, risk-based safety framework which defines how
we implement and report on safety controls to ensure that colleagues.
contractors and customers have a safe place to work and shop.

Each business is required to maintain a comprehensive risk register

and a safety improvement plan to document and track enhancements.
Governance and oversight is established in the form of cur Group Risk
and Compliance Committee and business unit-specific health and safety
committees. These committees review critical metrics and monitor the
effectiveness of related controls.

Safety audits. whistleblowing arrangements and annual colteague survey
results, informs management on delivery of targeted safety initiatives
including communication plans.

Second and third (ine of defence assurance activities such as store ang
distribution compliance reviews, safety health checks and audits help us
assess compliance with established policies and processes and continuously
seek to identify areas of potential improvement.
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Principal risk

Risk moverment

Strategic report

Key controls and mitigating factors

People.

Failure to attract, retain and
develop the required capability
and continue to evolve our
culture results in an impact on
the delivery of our purpose and
strategic drivers.

Market competitiveness
continues to affect our
ability to attract and retain
key specialist talent. There
is a continued challenge
from fast-changing and
complex legislation.

©

- Our talent planning and people development processes are established
across the Group.

- Talent and succession planning are regularly discussed by line management
and the Executive Committee with regular oversight by the Nominations and
Governance Committee and the Board.

- We have clear potential and performance criteria and talent principles which
are underpinned by our employer vatue proposition and strategy.

- An independent assessment of all promotions and external hires is conducted
at leadership level 1o ensure capability, potential. leadership and values.

- The Remuneration Committee agrees objectives and remuneration
arrangements for senior management.

- ‘How to" and ‘when to” speak up has been relaunched across all areas and our
protector line and complaint process allows colleagues to confidentially raise
any workplace concerns e.g. dishonest activity or scmething endangering
colleagues. the public or the environment.

- We have a Group Inclusion strategy to ensure we provide equal opportunities
for growth and development to all our colleagues.

Responsible sourcing and
supply chain.

Failure to meet product safety
standards results in death,

injury or iiiness to customers.

Failure to ensure that products
are sourced responsibly across
our supply chain (including fair pay
for workers, adhering to human
rights. clean and safe waorking
environments. meeting climate
change and sustainability
commitments) and that all social
and environmental standards are
met results in supply chain
disruption, regulatory breaches,
and reputational impacts of not
meeting societal expectations.

Given the evolution in
external standards and
expectations we recognise
the importance of sourcing
safe productsin a
responsible manner. We
continue to monitar and
improve our controls to
ensure we have a
sustainable supply chain.

®

- We have product standards, policies and guidance covering both food and
non-food. as well as goods and services not for resale, 1o help ensure that
products are safe. legal and of the required quality.

- Assurance, improvement and empowerment are our three human rights
pillars in place to appropriately monitor conditions and progress. tackle
endemic sector risks and address wider community needs. Measures include
policies and guidance to help to ensure the rights of workers are respected
and envirenmental impacts are managed respansibly. Refer to pages 21to 23
for specific actions highlighted under our LHP.

- Supplier audit and product analysis programmes are in place to
monitor product safety, traceability and integrity, human rights and
environmental standards. including unanncunced audits of supplier
sites and facilities.

- We run colleague training programmes on food and product safety.
responsible sourcing, hygiene controls, and also provide support for stores.
We also provide targeted training for colleagues and suppliers dealing with
specific challenges such as modern slavery.

- Crisis management procedures are embedded within operations to quickly
resolve issues if non-compliant products are produced or sold with clear
escalation protocols.

- Our LHP pages 21to 23 references the creation of z fourth pillar, Planet. and
the steps being implemented to cever climate and sustainability.

Brexit.!

Failure to prepare for the UK's
future trading relaticnship with the
EU {whatever form that may take)
results in disruption to and creates
uncertainty around our business and
our ability to supply our customers.
Any disruption or uncertainty could
have an adverse effect on our
business. financial results and
operations.

The UK entered the
standstill transition period
on 31 January 2020 and
uncertainty over the
longer-term trade issues
could remain until

31 December 2020 and
potentially beyond. The risk
of business disruption and
cost increases therefore
remain unchanged.

©

- With the UK’s future trading relationship with the EU {and others) still to be
determined. we continue to contribute to impartant public pelicy discussions
and engage with government. regulatory bodies and industry e.g. sharing of
analysis and data. to aid policy makers’ understanding of food and product
supply chains.

- We continue 1o assess and monitor the potential risks and impacts on our

customers. colleagues and shareholders, while taking appropriate mitigation
measures to address challenges including logistics. resourcing and supply.

- We have developed a detailed Brexit contingency plan for any political and

macroeconomic changes that could have a material impact on our market
and customer proposition with clear oversight by our senior leaders through
the Brexit Governarce Group.
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Principal risk

Risk movement

Key controls and mitigating factors

Tesco Bank.

Tesco Bank is exposed to a number
of risks, the most significant of which
are operational risk, regulatory risk,
credit risk. funding and liquidity risk,
market risk and business risk.

The Bank continues to
actively manage the risks
to which it is exposed.

®

- The Bank has a formal structure for reporting. monitoring and managing risks.

This comprises. at its highest level, the Bank's risk appetite, approved by the
Bank Board and supported by the risk management framework.

The Tesco PLC Board alse reviews and approves the financial risk appetite.
Risk appetite defines the type and amount of risk that the Bank is prepared
to accept in order to meet its sirategic objectives. It forms a link between
day-to-day risk management of the business and its strategic priorities,
long-term plan. capital planning and stress testing. Adherence to risk
appetite s manitored monthly.

The risk management framework brings together governance, risk appetite,
the three lines of defence. the policy framework and the risk management

tools to support the business in managing risk as part of day-to-day activities.

There is Bank Board risk reporting throughout the year, with updates to the
Tesco PLC Audit Committee provided by the Bank’s Chief Financial Officer,
and Audit Committee Chairman. A member of the Tesco PLC Board is also
a member of the Bank's Board to enhance visibility and knowledge sharing,

CoviD-19.t

The recent outbreak and global
spread of the COVID-19 may have a
significant and prolonged impact on
global economic conditions, disrupt
our supply chain (including our
supplier base, specifically regarding
business closure and consolidation,
labour shortage. raw material
supply and potential cost inflation),
increase employee absenteeism and
adversely impact our operations.

Governments and public bodies in
affected countries have introduced
temporary emergency public
measures such as travel bans,
quarantines and public lockdowns
(also impacting our mal operations).
Should these continue for an
extended period of time, they
would increase pressure on our
supply chain and operations
lincluding Tesco Bank due to an
economic downturn).

The COVID-19 cutbreak has
become a global pandemic
moving from an emerging
risk to becoming a principal
risk for the business.

®

- The safety and wellbeing of our colleagues and customers has been and

continues to be our overriding priority. Qur Executive Committee are
monitoring events closely with regular Board oversight evaluating the
impacts and designing appropriate response strategies.

- The availability of cash resources and committed facilities together with

strong cash flow. support Tesco’s liquidity and longer-term viability.

- Qur teams are working tirelessly to implement specific acticns to minimise

disruption faced by our customers in these challenging times. Our business
continuity and crisis managerment plans have been mobilised in all parts of
the Group and additional measures have been implemented including
increasing our retail store colleague headcount {with redeployment of
colleagues where possible). securing additional supply chain capacity to meet
changes in demand lincluding measures to prevent customer stockpiling),
implementing changes to stores lincluding hours. additional security. hygiene
and social distancing measures). and extending support to colleagues and
customers at increased risk.

t Indicates that the principal risk has been included as part of the longer-term wviability scenaros as detailed on page 19,

Internal control.

The key elements of the Group’s internal control framework are monitored throughout the year and the Audit Committee has conducted

a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on behalf of the Board. To support the Board's
annual assessment. Group Audit and Advisory prepared a report on the Group's principal risks and internal controls. This describes the risk
management systems and key internal controls, as well as the work conducted in the year to improve the risk and control environment

including the level of assurance undertaken. The internal control framework is intended to effectively manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business abjectives. It can only provide reascnable, but not absolute, assurance against the risk of material misstatement or

financial loss.
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Longer-term viability statement

\
i Strategic report

Assessing the Group’s longer-term prospects and viability
The Directors have based their assessment of viability on the
Group's current long-term plan, which /s updated and approved
annually by the Board. The plan delivers the Group’s purpose of
'serving shoppers a little better every day’ and is underpinned by

a clear strategic focus on driving sustainable and profitable growth
through innovation and technology.

The Group conducts an annual strategic planning process,
comprising a comprehensive reassessment of progress against
the Group's strategic cbjectives alongside a careful evaluation of
the longer-term opportunities and risks in each market in which
the Group operates. The process for assessing the principal and

\ emerging risks in each market is an important input to this process.
" The Group’s strategic planning and viability statement are

considered over a three-year period. as this horizon most
appropristely reflects the dynamic and changing retail

: environment in which the Group operates.

Long-term planning process

The icng-term planning pracess builds from the Group’s current
position and considers the evolution of the strategic objectives
over the next three years. As part of this process, a longer-term
assessment of the prospects of the Group Is also considered.

Current position

The Group has delivered on every part of the turnaround plan

outlined in 2016 and continues the transformation of the business

at pace. supported by:

- A strategic focus on driving growth acrass the Group through
innovation and technology.

- Aclear set of financial pricrities to deliver cash profit. free cash
flow and earnings per share growth. underpinned by a robust
capital allocation framewaork.

- Adiversified portfolio of businesses covering retail, wholesaling.
banking and data science.

. Refer to the Group Chief Executive’s review on page 3 and the

Financial review from page 7 for further detail regarding the Group’s

~ strategic and financial progress.

Longer-term prospects

The following factors are considered both in the formulation of the

Group's strategic plan, and in the longer-term assessment of the

Group’s prospects:

- The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, as well
as emerging risks as they are identified (such as climate change).
and the Group’s response to these.

- The prevsiling economic climate and global economy, competitor
activity, market dynamics and changing custcmer behaviours.

- The potential short- and longer-term economic impact of Brexit.

~ How the Group can best position itself to take advantage of the
rapidly evolving retail market and structural shifts in how
customers shop.

- Opportunities for further cost reduction through operational
simplification and leveraging technoiogy.

- Theresilience afforded by the Group's operational scale.

Assessing the Group's viability
The viability of the Group has been assessed. taking into account

© the Group’s current financial position, including external funding in

place over the assessment period. and after modelling the impact
of certain scenarios arising from the Group's principal risks
outlined on pages 13 1o 18.

Four ‘severe but plausible’ scenarios have been modelled that address
the principal risks that the Group has assessed would have the most
direct and material impact on the Group. None of these scenarios.
either individually or in aggregate threaten the viability of the Company.

Scenang Associated Description
_ principal risks
. Competitive - Brand. Failure to respend to fierce
' pressure reputation competition and changes in the
and trust retail market drive sustained
- Competition like-for-like volume decline in
and markets core food categories with no
- Customer offsetting price inflation, putting

pressure on margins.

Scenario Associated Description
principal risks .
Data security - Brand, A sericus data security or
or regulatory reputaticn regulatory breach resultsin a
breach and trust significant monetary penalty. and
- Data security a loss of customer reputation.
and data privacy The modelling of this scenario is
~ Political. approached via a ‘reverse-stress
regulatory and test’ given the inherent
compliance uncertainty of value.

This assesses the risk in the
context of the residual headroom
after all other downside scenarios
have been applied.

Brexitimpact - Competition Assumes a no-deal Brexit
and markets scenaric which resultsin an
— Political. increase 10 cost of goods sold.
regulatory and A broad assessment of the
compliance potential impact has been
- Brexit modelled including: higher

impert tariffs. higher sourcing
costs from a weaker Sterling,
higher labour costs and the
potential cost of customs
friction from border controls.
Appropriate mitigation options
open to the Group have also been
considered within this scenario.
Reduction in - Transformation Failure to achieve the Group's

cost savings - Liquidity transformation objectives resulting
and cash in an inability to progress
generation sufficientty guickly to maintain or

increase operating margin and
generate sufficient cash to meet
business chjectives.

Impact of - COVID-19 Assumes a 12-week iockdown
COVID-19 - Liquidity and phased recovery. A broad
- Tesco Bank assessment of the financial impact

has been modelled including the
impact on sales, margin and
operating costs.

In modelling the scenario, the
Group has considered the
potential impact on retall, catering
and wholesale sales, the cost
implications of the operational
actions being taken to continue to
serve customers. together with the
impact of reduced income from
the mall businesses in Central
Europe and Asia.

The Bank has modelled an
economic downturn scenario from
the impact of COVID-18 in relation
to the expected credit losses on
its lending book. The Bank has
sourced updated macroeconomic
projections from a third-party
provider and has used this
modelling te assess the adequacy
of capital and liquidity in place to
support the business through the
expected economic downturn.

These scenarios assumed that external debt is repaid as it becormes due
and committed facilities renewed as they become due. The scenarios
above are hypothetical and purposefully severe with the aim of creating
outcomes that have the ability to threaten the viability of the Group. In
the case of these scenarios arising. various options are available to the
Group in order to maintain liquidity so as to continue in operation such
as: {i) accessing new external funding early; (i) mare radical short-term
cost reduction actions: and (i) reducing capital expenditure. None of
these actions are assumed in our current scenario modeling.

Viability statement

Based on these severe but plausible scenarics. the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three-year period considered.
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Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures

In June 2017 Tesceo publicly committed to implementing the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disciosures (TCFD). We recognise climate change as the biggest
environmental threat the worid faces, and one which poses
particular challenges to our business including our supply chain
and operations. Conversely, effectively responding to climate
change can enhance our business resilience and enabie us to
take advantage of any opportunities it may offer.

Quir first TCFD scenario analyses were conducted in the financial
year 2018/19, assessing the UK business — our biggest market.
We prioritised produce. animal protein categories as well as our
UK estate. Produce and animal protein are key commercial
categories. with supply chains around the world.

Strategy.

We assessed the risks and opportunities we may face in 2030
under two climate scenarios; a ‘Pessimistic’ scenario and an
‘Optimistic” scenario. The ‘Pessimistic’ scenario is where the world
fails to address climate change. leading to glebal temperatures
continuing to rise well above 2 degrees. This scenaric assumes
limited policy or regulatory support and looks at physical climate
risks. The *Optimistic’ scenaric is where the world rises to the
challenge of tackling climate change and limits global warming to
well below 2 degrees. This low-carbon transition scenario centres
on the rapid changes that will be needed by 2030 to cut emissions
in ling with the Paris Agreement. Qur scenarios are based on those
developed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

Our scenario analyses assessed Tesco's exposure to physical climate
risks such as rising temperatures. changes in rainfall patterns and
extreme weather events. Beyond physical risks, we also assessed risks
and opportunities arising from a transition to a low-c¢arbon world
aligned with the Paris Agreement. |hese transition risks are a resull ul
market and societal shifts related to agricuiture, diets and energy use.

For produce, we focused on agricultural production by country
and product. Qur assessments indicate some physical risks and
opportunities to cur produce supply chain. For animal protein,

our assessment focused on milk, beef. lamb and chicken.

The assessment shows transition risks and opportunities arising
from potential policy and societal shifts. To assess climate risks

on our property estate, we assessed how our stores and
distributicn centres might fare under these scenarios.

Key findings.

Produce

The results of our risk assessment indicate physical risks as well as
unrealised opportunities to our produce supply chain. For example.
long-term changes in temperature and raintall patterns (chronic
ciimate change) will adversely impact production by 2030. The
countries most impacted will be South Africa, Egypt. Spain and
Peru. In the UK, our analysis shows that higher temperatures and
rainfall by 2030 can support a longer growing season. This can
potentially increase yield for certain crops if other growing conditions
such as land availability and soll fertility are also favourable.

We are currently sharing these results with our supply partners and
working with those in the impacted areas to conduct more detailed
scenario analyses and mitigation planping.

Protein

The results of our scenario analysis show transition risks to our
protein supply chain. These include societal dietary shifts away from
animal protein as well as potential new policies aimed at keeping
global temperature rises well below 2 degrees. Opportunities
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identified include projected growth In plant-based food and meat
alternatives. Working with cur key suppliers. we are expanding our
plant-based ranges. addressing the climate impacts of livestock
farming as well as supporting effective climate policy development.

UK property

Qur scenario analysis of climate risks facing our UK estate shows
both physical and transition climate risks. For example. some of our
stores and distribution centres. especially those in the South East
region, will face an increased risk of flooding as a result of climate
change. Effective policies to address carbon emissions from energy
could increase our compliance costs. These results are informing
our risk management and business continuity plans. Qur renewable
electricity transition plan forms part of cur mitigation plan. enabling
us to switch to onsite renewable electricity generation as well as
long-term power purchase agreements which provide price
stability and limit our exposure to high carbon prices.

Governance.

Our LHP outlines our climate change commitments. both for cur
own operations and our supply chain. The Corporate Responsibility
Committee is responsible for climate change as part of the LHP.
The Committee meets three times during the year and receives
regular updates on our LHP commitments and performance. This
year. results of the TCFD analysis were presented to the Executive
Committee and the Corporate Responsibility Committee. Climate
risks were also evaluated at the Audit Committee as part of the
overall risk framework.

Risk management.

The identification and management of climate-related risks follow
our established risk management process. Key elements of the
risk management process are set out on page 13. Following our
assessment of emerging risks, climate change has been highlighled
and is considered an integral part of both the responsible sourcing
and supply chain. and the brand. reputation and trust principal
risks on pages 17 and 15. Principal risks are monitored by the Audit
Committee to ensure effective management and mitigation
through our policies, processes, practices and performance.

Metrics and targets.

In May 2017, Tesco announced new science-based climate targets
for our own operations and supply chain. Our own operations
targets are aligned with the Paris Agreement’s aspiration to limit
global warming to 1.5 degrees.

We are on track to reduce absclute carbon emissions from our
aperations from 2015/16 levels by 35% by 202C, 60% by 2025 and
100% by 2050. To help us meet these targets, we have committed
to source 100% of aur electricity from renewable sources by 2030.
Qur science-based climate change targets for our supply chain
includes explicit targets for manufacturing and agricultural
suppliers - recognising the different approaches required to
reduce emissions in both areas. Our climate change metrics and
targets are disclosed in the full LHP report available on our website.

Future TCFD analysis.

We aim to conduct climate risks assessments for all relevant parts
of our business. in 2020/21, we will expand our assessment to the
grocery and prepared foods categories as well as sy - a key
commaodity in animal feed. The results of this assessment will be
reported in next year’s Annual Report.



Little Helps Plan

Strategic report

Making a difference every day.

Our approach.

Everything we do is griven by our purpose to serve shoppers a little
better every day. That means we try to get each of the 80 million
weekly transactions in store right. every time, for every customer.
It alsc means taking actions today to ensure we serve tomorrew's
shoppers equally well.

For 100 years, Tesco has provided effordable, quality food to
customers from all walks of life and we know that to continue
doing so for the next 100 years. we must continue to embrace
sustainable production and consumption behaviours while
adapting to the changing world around us. Our Little Helps Plan
helps us to navigate our way forward. focusing on areas where
we can make a big difference while supporting cur values:

- No one tries harder for customers shapes our belief that it's our
responsibility to make the right calls on behalf of our customers;

- Wae treat people how they want to be treated drives how we
work with suppliers, partners, colleagues and communities; and

- Every little help makes a big difference captures our belief that
everyone at Tesco has a role to play. This encapsulates our
ambition to make a positive difference.

Qur Little Helps Plan is the framewaork through which we shape
our long-term approach to sustainability and enables us to
demonstrate, menitor and improve our performance. both within
cur own operations and the wider supply chain. The Plan focuses
on the aspects of sustainability that are most relevant for Tesco
and our stakeholders and demonstrates the positive contribution
we make toward the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by
measuring our impacts. targeting cur responses and framing our
collaboration with key stakeholders to scale our efforts.

This year we have refreshed the framework. After incorporating
stakeholder feedback and external trends, we have integrated our
previous foundation areas under the existing three pillars while
creating a fourth pillar - Planet. This new pillar provides a platform
for the work we're doing to address important envircnmental
issues such as climate change, deforestation and sustainable
agriculture. Qur Code of Business Conduct undergins everything
we do to ensure we remain a responsible. safe. ethical business
both within our own operations and across our global supply chain.

Serving shoppers a little better every day.

Our values
No one tries harder I We treat people how they Every little help makes |
for customers | want to be treated 1 ‘ a big difference
. ' ) ™
- e — - — Vi~ — - - — -
// R ) - " g N e ™ .
s \.‘ '// - \\ /; ™~ |

People. ' products.
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UN Sustainable Development Goals
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Climate change o Supporting
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The UN Sustainable Development. Goals (SDGs) provide a useful benchmark to assess the relevance of pur initiatives and in ine with UN Global Compact guidance we have focused on goals
which are particularly relevant to us: where expectations. risks and opportunities for Tesco are greatast. and where we can make the biggest difference. $ee www tescoplc.com/sustainability

for more information on how our strategy supports the SDGs,

Qur Little Helps Plan helps us navigate some of the biggest challenges facing the world today.

Further information abcut the governance of the Little Helps Plan and a full review of our activity and performance against
our €Pls can be found on our website and within the comprehensive Little Helps Plan Report available online.

Visit www.tescoplc.com/sustainability to learn
more about our activities and progress.
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Little Helps Plan continued

People.

Our customers, colleagues and those within our supply chain are
vital to our continued success. As an employer of choice, we
remain committed to treating pecople how they want to be treated
and giving everyone the opportunity to get on. Our latest gender
pay gap report can be found on our website.

Decent, fair, safe work for all.

With more than 400,000 colleagues around the world and miliions
of people who work within our supply chain, we are committed to
promaoting human rights and seek to ensure that there is decent,
fair, safe work for all.

Health and safety is central to how we do business and we are
committed to aur vision that no one should ever be hurt while
working or shopping at Teésco. We have seen a 17% reduction in cur
injury volume year-on-year in our UK, Republic of ireland and
Central Europe businesses. Qur accident frequency rate has also
reduced by 7%. This has been primarily driven by continued efforts
to strengthen our operating routines and an unrelenting focus on
safe colleague behaviour as a culture across Tesco.

Investing in the future.

The world of work is changing and preparing colleagues with the
skills needed for the future is a top priority. This year we have
continued to invest in digital skills for colieagues. Across the UK,
Central Europe and Asia. our digital champions have delivered over
90,000 learning opportunities to improve the digital confidence

of colleagues, and in India we have helped develop more than 200
colleagues in leading on automation and continuous improvement.
Other key priorities for this year included developing diverse talent
and bullding diversity and inclusion capability across all levels of the
business. We continued to build an understanding of diversity and
inclusion among colleagues and leaders through the introduction of
digital learning and have leveraged our colieague networks to help
inform the agenda. This includes making commitments to the Race
at Work Charter and The Valuabile 500. We've also renewed our
colleague engagement approach through the launch of our Every
Voice Matters programme, which will help give more timely and
responsive insight into how our colleagues are feeling across the
Group and enable us to drive more focused action.

Sourcing with care.

Beyond our own colleagues. our human rights strategy focuses
on four priority areas within our supply chain: sustainable
livelihoods. forced labour, worker representation and gender
equality. We support our suppliers to comply with the Ethical
Trade Initiative (ETI) Base Code and undertake due diligence to
help them meet our standards on human rights. This year 97% of
critical non-conformances identified at cur tier 1 suppliers were
remediated on time and we continue to work with the

remaining 3% to resolve these issues.

In December 2019. 8 UK customer found a handwritten message
within a Christmas card we sold reading 'please help us and notify
human rights crganisation’. We immediately launched an
investigation and removed the cards from sale. While we did not
find evidence of prison labour, we found other issues of concern
that had regrettably not been identified by the independent auditor
who had visited the previcus menth. We ceased working with the
factory and supplier and have since reviewed our whole supply
base for cards. Further information is provided in our Modern
Slavery Statement available on our website.

Gender diversity 2019/20 {actual year-end headcount)

. . Male Female

Board of Directars ] 9 £9% 4 %
Senior managers - Directors 376 75% 26 5%
Senior managers - Directors ‘

and Managers 2.809 B63% 1639 37%
All employees ) 180,186 44% 225.320 56%
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Product.

Cur Preduct pillar focuses on addressing issues related to health,
food waste. packaging and animal welfare as we strive to provide
affordable, sustainable. healthy products while ensuring that we
never compromise on product safety.

Tackling food waste.

At Tesco. we have no time for waste and we have committed to
help halve food waste from farm to fork in each of the markets in
which we operate in line with UN SDG Target 12.3. We publish our
food waste data for every market in the Group. Qur target is that
no food that is safe for human consumption will be wasted in our
UK retail operations. Over the course of this year, we have reached
77%" of our target as we have embedded new processes to ensure
our progress is sustainable.

Visit www.tescoplc.com/sustainability
to find out more about our food waste
performance.

Packaging: Remove, Reduce, Reuse, Recycle.

We are committed to only using packaging where it serves a
purpase. This year in the UK we anncunced our Remove. Reduce.
Reuse and Recycie pian to deliver our goals. Since 2018, we have
removea over 10,000 tonnes of hard-to-recycle packaging from
our Own Brand products and we pledged to remove one billion
pieces of plastic from products for sale in UK stores by the end of
2020. (n January we announced the elimination of 350 tonnes of
plastic wrap from 67 million tinned food multipacks.

Healthier food choices.

We continually adjust the recipes of our Own Brand products to
help customers lead healthier lives and respond to changing dietary
preferences. In 2019, we more than doubled the range of our
exclusive plant-based range Wicked Kitchen and also launched new
products within our Tesco branded range, Plant Chef. We now have
aver 300 lines of targeted plant-based products.

As a Peas Please Pledger and a supporter of Veg Power, we are
committed to increasing vegetable consumption and 42% of our
chilled and frozen ready meals now contribute at least 1 of 5 a day,
up from 26% in 2018.

Planet.

Our leng-term success depends on the health of the natural
environment. The climate crisis, global biodiversity loss and the
inefficient way in which resources are consumed present a real
threat to our ability to provide customers with affordable. healthy,
sustainable food. Details on our carbon strategy are provided on
page 67 and our response to the recommendations of TCFD can
be found on page 20.

Halving the environmental impact of the average UK
shopping basket.

In 2018, we launched our ground-breaking partnership with WwF to
make it easier for customers to buy affordable. healthy, sustainable
food. This year we jointly launched the Sustainable Basket Metric,
which will help us track our progress in halving the environmental
impact of the average UK shopping basket against seven key
sustainability issues.

¢ KPMG LLP was engaged to provide independent limited assurance over the selected
food waste data highlighted in this report with a ¢ using the assurance standard ISAE
3000, KPMG has issued an ungualified opinion over the selected data. KPMG's full
assurance statement is available at www tescoplc com/foodwastefigures.



Places.

We are proud o be a vaiued member of thousands of communities
around the worid, and we gre passionate about playing an active
role ‘n he ping these communities thrive  from tne jobs we
provide to the good causes we support This year. across the
Group. we have donatec £98m 1o gooa causes through our cnarity
partners~ ps. comMmurity grart brogrammes ana colleague and
customer fundraising

Record-breaking giving.

wWe continued to support our three naticha reaitn cnar ty
partners Cancer Researcr UK. Diabetes UK and the Britisn

Heart foundation with the aim of iower’ rg the r'sk of heart and
circu-atory d'sease. cancer and Type 2 diabetes. Inthe UK tnis
year. we raised over £6 6m through store events, donations and
fundraising activity A showcase moment was amost 5.000 pecple
taking part in cur biggest fundraising event Dance Beats the
longest dance marathon relay ever at Wembley Stacowum, 30 hours
of conunucus dancirg to claim the GUINNESS WORLD RECORDS®
and donaste £2m to our cCharity partners

Beyond cur corporate cranty partners. we also continued to
support local community groups with our Bags of He'p scheme i
the UK. Community Fund init.ative inlreland and our You Choose.
We Help programme n Central Eurcpe. aillow Ng customers to

Section 172 statement.

Strategic report

decide which local projects recewe furdng To ce'etrate our
{00th birthday. this year we ntroduced increased funding for
‘arger projects with our Bags of Heip Centenary grants in England.
Scotland and Wales and. in Nortnern Ireland. our Tesco Centenary
Fund. We announced that we wil be ntroducing Bags of Help in
Notnernireland in 2020. Tnes Gedicated grant will see community
groups share more tnan £125 600 across the year

Food redistribution.

One of our IMpotant commtments s that no fooo that is safe
for human consumpucn w | be wasted inour UK reta | gperat:ors
10 support of that commitment. we cet nued Gur work w'th
FareSnare to donate surp'us foed from cur stores tarough
Community Food Connect:on Since 2016 we have donated over
48 milhon meals ta pecpie in crisis through this initiat.ve :n the UK
We now run surptus food donatior programmes in al the markets
nwhich we operate

Our Tesce Food Co lection programme encourages customers to
donate .ong-life food 1o our charity partners. Tre Trussell Trust,
who have a network of over 400 foodbanks, ang FareSnare. wro
redistribute surplus food 1o 8 network of charities including
rometess hostels womer’'s refuges and breakfast c'ubs

Sect.on 172 of the Companies Act 2006 reguires a grectcer of a comoany to act 'nthe way he of she cons ders. in good fa:th, would most
ikely promote tne success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole but naving regard to a range of factors set out in
section 172{a) {f} in the Companes Act 2006. In discharging our sectior 172 duty. we have regard for these factors taking them nto
consideration when cecisions are made Examples of how the Directors have oversigrt of stakeholcer matters and nad regard ‘cr trece

matte s when making decis ons are set out on pages 4010 43

Tws Strategic repert ncluding the non fnanc:a reporting statement beicw. whiCh Nas been preparen N accordance « ththe
requirements of the Compan es Act 2006, tas beer approved and signed on behalf of tne Board

Robert Weich
Group Company Secretary
7 &pri 2020

Non-financial reporting statement,

This LHP secton of the Annual Report and tne full LHP report lavadlable at wove tescop'c com/ ttiehe psplar! cont

AN

7 g wige range of

a
~on fnancial informat'or about emplavees. ervrormenta and sacia! matters  from numan ngnts 1o food waste A requ ced unger tne
ron financ al report »g requirements. the table velow sets out where mare infarmation o7 non firancis matters can be founa w.thin tne
rest of the Annua Report and aiso or our website Tre due diligence car-ea out ‘or eacr poCy 15 contaired witn N eaCn respect ve

nolicy’s cocumentation

e L T TPl Tl R Foacvs ing ot g rde wnCn S I oul DR sk RN

Businels model Strategic review 4and5
Business model and KPis 6 and 12
Princ pal risks and uncertarrties 13to 18

friironmertal matters Principal rigks and uncertamties political. reguator, and complance 16
Princ pal risks snd Lncertairties responsiDie sourcing and sopcly cna.r 7
Detal = of our appreach to protecting the envircrment in suoply crars can be ‘ocund or our wensite

Employsec Peancipal risks and uncertairties heaith and safety people 16 and 17
Charman'sietter cuture and inclusion. Compan, purpose ard.a ues 24, 25,26
Directors’ repart employment poicies 66
Stakerclcer ergagement. colieagues 41

Sacia matters Frincipal risk s and uncertanties COVID 19 18
INtormation about Now we& 00 Dusiness, INC.uding Our 3ppreacn totar can be found o our asbute
Directors report Grocernes Supp'y Code of Practice 66

Fecpect for human rgrte FPrincipal «icke ard uncertainties recporsitle sourcing ard supely Chan 7
Detans of cur pohcy as wedl as our apprecach 1o protecting human rights can be foune on our wetsite

Sat Corruptios and art brber, Directors report Mooere Slavery Act anti carrupticn arnd anti briber, matterc 67

Tatters health and tafety

Cur Code of Busmess Conduct and other re ated policies can be found on cur website

IR
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Corporate governance report

Chairman’s letter.

Having an effective corporate governance
framework supports our culture and the
delivery of our strategy.”

Board role and effectiveness.

In my role as Chairman. my respensibility is to provide leadership
and ensure that we have a Board able to make high-quality
decisions and that works effectively for the benefit of our
business and all of cur stakeholders. A key part of that role is

to ensure the Board works collaboratively with the executive
team. providing support and guidance. constructively challenging
management when necessary. and exercising an appropriate tevel
of rigorcus enquiry and intellectual debate. This involves having
Directors with a diverse range of skills, experience and attributes,
which we have across our current Board.

The Board is committed to maintaining the highest standards

of corporate governance in the management of its affairs and
ensuring its activities reflect the culture we wish to nurture with
our colleagues and other stakeholders. Throughout the year.
the Board has focused on four key areas of business, some of
which were considered at each meeting and others reviewed
periodically throughout the year. A breakdown of the time spent
on these key focus areas is set out below:

Operaticnal performance 20%
Financial performance and risk ) 24%
Governance lincluding culture and stakeholder matters) 22%
Strategy 34%

Following the external Board effectiveness review last year,

it was agreed that an internal review be conducted this year.
This assessed progress against the actions agreed as part of

last year's review as well as some current themes and areas of
boardroom best practice. It concluded that the Board continues
to operate in an effective way. with good progress made against
all of the areas identified for improvement last year. For further
information on the Board effectiveness review, see page 37.

Culture and inclusion.

The Group's success depends on our continual commitment to
high corporate governance standards, as well as a strong and
healthy culture both in the boardroom and across the Group.
Ouir culture comes to life through cur three values:

- No one trigs harder for customers;
- We treat pecpie how they want to be treated: and
~ Every fittle help makes a big difference.

Qur values are integral to the way we behave and the way we do
business. They ensure that every colleague at Tesco understands
what is important, how we work together as a team and why
customers are at the centre of everything we do.

The Board and executive management play a key role in ensuring
that our cuiture, strategy and capability are all aligned in a way that
creates sustainable value for our stakeholders.

We manitor our progress against goals and gather feedback from
our stakeholders. Through stakeholder insights. metrics and KPls
we can assess our progress and respond accordingly. The Board
was encouraged by the new colicague-listening programme "Every
Voice Matters”: over 254.000 colleagues completed the new
deep-dive survey in January 2020 and 82% would recommend
Tesco as a great place to work.

The Board recognises the need to create the cenditions that foster
talent and encourage all colleagues to achieve their full career
potentiai in the Group. As part of our overall approach to inclusion,
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we have established an External Advisory Panel to help guide our
inclusion agenda and implemented an Inclusion Strategy which aims
to ensure that everyone feels welcome at Tesco. We also have
several well-established colleague networks supported by an
Executive Committee member, including Women at Tesco, Black
Asian Minority Ethnic Network. Armed Forces Network. Disability
Network and Out at Tesco. each providing support to aliow
colleagues to be themselves at work and develop within the Group.
We also work with the young, retired and those who have been in
long-term unemployment through various external organisations.
providing them with the tocls and canfidence needed tc get back
into the workplace and reach their full potential.

Stakeholder engagement.

The Board is supportive of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code and, in particular, its focus on boards demonstrating how the
views of stakeholders are captured and taken into account whan
making decisions. This is an area where we have strong foundaticns
on which to build.

We have a diverse and global community of stakeholders which
includes colieagues, customers, shareholders and supplier
partners, as well as the communities in which we cperate.

We continue to listen to these stakeholders and their insights

help shape our strategy and the decisions we take. However . it is
not practicable to please all stakeholders all of the time, and & key
part of the Board process s to balance the sometimes conflicting
needs of our stakeholders to ensure all are treated consistently
and fairly. The Board also receives regular updates throughout the
year on engagement with our stakeholders, including feedback
from colleague surveys and engagement forums, discussing
customer and supplier surveys, and details of stakeholder meetings.

During the summer, we heid a Capital Markets Day to share our
thoughts on the untapped value opportunities available to us,
and also held our first environmental, social and governance
event. These provided opportunities to engage with stakeholders
and receive their feedback. which has heiped to inform Board
and Committee decisions.

Board changes.

On 30 September 2020, Dave Lewis will step down as Group
Chief Executive. He wiil be succeeded by Ken Murphy. who will
join us from Walgreens Bocots Alliance. on 1 October 2020. Ken's
appointment follows a thorough and orderly process to identify
and interview prospective candidates.

As part of its discussions on succession planning and regular Board
refreshment, the Board had also planned that Mark Armour would
retire from the Board as a Non-executive Director at the 2020
AGM. However. in the interest of continuity in these turbulent
times, Mark has agreed to continue in his role for a further year

to provige the Board and the Audit Committee with valuable input
during their discussions, especially given his specialisms of risk and
strategy. which make him an important member of the Board and
the Audit Committee during this period. One effect this will have

is on Board diversity levels. It had been intended that, following
Mark's retirement, one third of the Board would be female.
bringing it into line with the target set by the Hampton-Alexander
Review. The Board would like to reiterate their continued strong
commitment to reaching this aim in the very near future, and will
revisit this once the marketplace for directors stabilises.

e
JLV T ' WV o S

John Allan
Non-executive Chairman



Corporate governance

Board leadership and
company purpose.

Company purpose
and values.

Qur values and leadership behaviours
are a vital part of our culture to ensure
that through our conduct and decision-
making we do the right thing for the
business and our stakeholders.

The Board has overall responsibility for establishing the
Company’s purpose. values and strategy te deliver the
long-term sustainable success of the Company and generate
value for shareholders. The Board places great importance
on ensuring these key themes continue to be appropriate
for the businesses and markets in which we operate around
the world, while being aligned with our culture.

The Board recognises that it is accountable to stakeholders
for ensuring that the Group is appropriately managed and
achieves its objectives in a way that is supported by the
right culture and behaviours. Cur purpese is at the heart
of everything we do at Tesco, and the Board is responsible
for ensuring that its activities reflect the culture we wish to
instil in colleagues to drive the right behaviours. The Board
has a responsibility to ensure that colleagues do the right
things in the right way by setting the tone from the top

and leading by example. This means that in decisions taken,
and plans developed, the Directors ask themselves one
simple question: how will it help serve our shoppers a

little better every day?

Cur values are recognised across the Group and support
our culture. They ensure that every colleague at Tesco
understands what is important. how we work together

as a team and how customers are at the centre of what

we do. Leadership behaviours further guide our conduct
and decisicn-making so that we do the right thing for the
business and our stakeholders, with reward being linked to
delivery and performance. This helps create a culture of
inclusivity, where everyone feels welcome, talent is fostered.
and colleagues can achieve their full career potential.

Cur Code of Business Conduct. which defines the standards
and behaviours expected of colleagues. is a fundamental part
of our cufture and supports cur values. The Code of Business
Conduct is supported by Group policies and mandatory
training which includes: anti-bribery and corruption:
competition law: data protection: and supplier legislation.

All new colleagues are reguired to complete training on the
Code of Business Conduct within five days of joining Tesco
and refresher training is required on an annual basis. In
addition, ‘Protector Line'. an independent and confidential
whistleblowing service, allows colleagues and supgliers to
raise concerns regarding misconduct and any breaches of
the Code of Business Conduct. The Board routinely

receives updates on compliance with the Code of Business
Conduct and also receives reports of any matters raised
through Protecter Line which are subject to independent
investigation. Updates on any investigations undertaken

are provided to the Board.

Qur Code of Business Conduct can be found
on our website at www.tescoplc.com.

Our purpose.

Serving
shoppers

a little better
every day.

As a business, serving customers
is at the heart of everything we do.

Our values underpin our purpose
and are recognised across the
Group as the basis of our culture.

The Board sets the strategy for the
Group to align with our purpose.

It oversees the implementation of
that strategy to ensure that the
Group is suitably resourced to
deliver on its strategic objectives.

The Board holds an annual

strategic planning session at which
senior managers present on each of
our global business areas to better
understand market trends, technology
developments, innovation and people
strategies as well as culture, diversity
and inclusion, which support the
long-term planning and strategic
direction of the Group.

Throughout the year, the Board
receives regular updates on these
areas to ensure the delivery of
strategy in line with our purpose.
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Our values

Link to strategy

No one tries harder for customers.

Understanding people — customers, colleagues, communities - and what matters to them is key to
our success at Tesco. To us. making a difference starts with listening to customers and talking to
them using all the tools at our disposal. from Clubcard data to social media, and then acting by
changing and innovating to meet their needs.

Board oversight

Whenever a customer chooses to shop at

identify where consumers and influencers think

Tesco, we want their experience to be better we should be focusing our attention and how
than expected and better than their last well they feel we are addressing these issues
interaction with us. This applies to their entire currently. Across our markets consumers have
Tesco experience. from the quality of the offer told us similar things. They want good. fresh,
to the thoughtfulness of the service. With the affordable food that is produced with respect
skills, expertise and dedication of colleagues for farmers and suppliers. and for all our
worldwide, we are well placed to achieve this. colleagues 1o be treated fairly. These key focus
Issues that matter to our customers also areas for our customers are also key focus
matter to the Board. Independent consumer areas for the Board.
research commissicned each year helps

Cur vgiues

Link to strategy

Board oversight

We treat people how they want to be treated.

We know that looking after our colleagues with respect and compassion is essential to building a
culture of trust, a necessary component to the success of Tesco. We focus on ensuring that our
business is a place where colleagues feel recognised and rewarded for the work they do together,
where ithey have the opportunity to get on and where they are supported in their development as
they move through their careers in the business.

We employ more than 400,000 colleagues

thern succeed by providing them with the

globally and the Board aims to ensure that every flexihility, skills and reward to get on.
one of them has the opportunity to get on. Customers are at the heart of everything we
The Board recognises that getting on means do and every decision we make to ensure we
different things to different colleagues. For offer customers the value, quality and service
some. it's about enabling them to be that they expect and it is delivered in the right
themselves, flexibility that allows them to fit way for them. In support of this, members
work around their lives and being supported in of the Board have spent time engaging with
leading a healthy lifestyle. For others. it means customers. colleagues and a wide range of
developing the skills they need now and in the stakeholders. Through customer, colleague and
future. choices to move roles and opportunities supplier surveys the Board receives insight into
to gain experience. Whatever it is colieagues how Tesco is perceived. what our stakeholders
want to achieve. the Board's aim is to help want and how they want 10 be treated.

Our values

Link to strategy

Board oversight

Every little help makes a big difference.

This value captures how, when we add up all the small things we do. Tesco can make a big
difference to the things customers, colleagues, communities and wider society care about.

It covers the little things we do every day as well as linking these things together to contribute to
the bigger global initiatives in which we are involved. It helps us take the right actions to ensure

trust and transparency in our business.

The philoscphy of how small actions can add
up to make a big difference. plays a key part in
how the Board thinks about its decisions and
actions. trying at all times to make a positive
contribution to the lives of colleagues.
customers and the communities we operate in.

The Little Helps Plan is the embodiment of this
value and identifies the most pressing social
and environmental challenges facing the
business, our customers and our communities.

The Little Helps Plan sets out our
commitments 10 help tackle these challenges.
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Further details can be found on pages 21to 23
and on our website at www tescoplc.com.

Updates and progress on the Little Helps Plan
are reviewed by the Corporate Responsibility
Commitiee, which approves and monitors
changes to the Little Helps Plan. The
Committee further oversees the Group's
conduct with regard to its corporate and
societal obligations as a responsible corporate
citizen. More detail on the Committee’s
activities can be found on pages 44 to 45,



Board of Directors.

John Allan CBE
Non-executive Chairman

Appointed March 2015
Tenure 5 years

0RO

Skills and experience.

John has significant board. retail and financial experience gained
from both the commercial and financial sectors. He was CEO of
Exel PLC and. when it was acquired by Deutsche Post in 2005, he
joired the board of Deutsche Post, becoming CFO in 2007 until his
retirement in 2009. John was chairman of Dixons Retail plc during
its turnaround period. and following its merger with Carphone
warehouse was deputy chairman and senior independent

director of Dixons Carphone until 2015. He was also previously 2
non-executive director of Worldpay Group PLC. Naticnal Grid plc.
the UK Home Office Supervisory Board. 31 plc. PHS Group ple,
Connell plc, Royal Mail plc. Wolseley plc and Hamleys plc and
chairman of London First.

Contribution.

John has extensive leadership experience and a wealth of
knowledge gained across a number of business sectors. including
retail. As Chairman. he has a deep understanding of governance
and what is required to lead an effective Board.

External appointments.

- Chairman of Barratt Developments PLC:

- President of the Confederation of British Industry; and
- Chair ¢f the Council of Imperial College.

Dave Lewis
Group Chief Executive

Appointed September 2014
Tenure 5.5 years

Skills and experience.,

Dave has significant experience in brand marketing. customer
management and general management. Prior to joining Tesco,

he worked for Unilever for nearly 30 years in a variety of different
roles across Europe, Asia and the Americas. He has experience
across many sectors in the UK and overseas. and has been
responsible for a number of business turnarounds. He was
previously a non-executive director of Sky PLC.

Contribution.

Dave’'s extensive international consumer experience and
expertise in change management, business strategy, brand
management and customer development. along with his drive.
enthusiasm and commitment to customers make him a
valuable member of the Board.

External appointments.
- Member of the Governance Commitiee of the Consumer Goods
Forum: and

- Chair of Champions 12.3. a UN programme seeking to add
momentum to the achievement of the UN Sustainable
Development Target 12.3 by 2030.

[
* Corporate governance

Alan Stewart
Chief Financial Officer

Appointed September 2014
Tenure 5.5 years

Skills and experience.

Alan brings to the Board significant corporate finance and
accounting experience from a variety of highly competitive
industries, including retail, banking and travel, as well as executive
leadership experience within a listed company envirenment.

Alan is a non-executive director of Tesco Bank. Prier to joining
Tesco. he was UK CEO and CFO of Thomas Cook Holdings,

group finance director of WH Smith PLC and CFO for AWAS and
Marks & Spencer plc. He was previously a non-executive

director of Games Workshop Group ple.

Contribution.

Alan’s deep understanding of financial operations and risk
management, and his leadership experience and abllity to set
financial strategy make him a valuatle member of the Board.

External appointments.
- Non-executive director of Diageo plc;
- Member of the Advisory Board, Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants; and
- Member of the main committee and chairman of the pension
committee of the 100 Group of Finance Directors.
@O

Mark Armour

Independent Non-executive Director
Appointed September 2013

Tenure 6.5 years

Skills and experience.

Mark has significant strategic planning and financial expertise,
as well as experience of executive leadership. He was CFO of
Reed Elsevier Group plc and its two parent companies.

Reed Elsevier PLC and Reed Elsevier NV {now RELX PLC). from
1995 to 2012. This role has provided him with considerable
experience of digital business transition and operating in a
multi-channel environment. Prior to joining Reed Elsevier,

he was a partner at Price Waterhouse in London, He was
previously a non-executive director and chair of the audit
committee of SABMiller PLC.

Contribution.
Mark’'s background in finance, risk and strategy and associated
sectors make him a valuable member of the Board.

External appointments.
- Member of the Takeover Panel.
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Melissa Betheli OO0,
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed September 2018
Tenure 1.5 years

Skills and experience.

Melissa brings to the Board a wealth of international business
strategy and investment management experience. Melissa is
currently a partner of Atairps, an equity investment fund backed
by Comcast NBCUniversal. She is managing partner of the London
office and responsible for Atairos’ investment activities in Europe.
Melissa was previously a managing director of Bain Capital, where
she worked for over 18 years and was a member of the senior
leadership team responsible for strategy setting, fundraising and
portfolio management. Prior to joining Bain Capital, Melissa worked
in the capital markets group at Goldman, Sachs & Co.. with a
particular focus on media and technology. She was also previously
a director of Ship Midco Limited and served as a non-executive
director of Samscnite Corporation (Samsonite International $.A.),
Worldpay Group PLC and Atento S.A.

Contribution.

Melissa's extensive international corporate experience, with a

focus in the financial sector is invaluable in delivering our strategy.

External appointments.

- Partner at Atairos, an independent, private investment firm and
managing director of Atairos Europe; and

- Non-executive director and chair of the audit committee

of Exar N.V.
M@O

Stewart Gilliland

Independent Non-executive Director
Appointed March 2018

Tenure 2 years

Skills and experience.

Stewart has significant business and management experience in
international markets, specifically those in Europe, having
previously held roles with leading consumer-facing companies,
including Whitbread, Mitchells & Butler and Interbrew. He held the
pasition of chief executive of Maiier Dairies UK and Ireland until
2010. Prior to joining Tesco. he was chairman of Booker Group pic.
Contribution.

Stewart has over 20 years' experience and knowledge in
international marketing, logistics and business management
having heid a number of senjor roles. predominantly in
customer-centric businesses. The breadth and diversity of

his experience benefit the Board.

External appointments.

— Interim executive charman of C&C Group pic:

- Non-executive director and chair of the remuneration
committee of Nature's Way Foods Ltd: and

- Chairman of Curious Brinks Limited.
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Steve Golsby
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed October 2016
Tenure 3.5 years

< ClO,

Skills and experience.

Steve has a wealth of knowledge of operating internationally.
specifically significant leadership experience in Asia. He has a
strong background in consumer marketing and held senjor
executive positions with Bristol-Myers Squibb and Unilever.
before being appointed president of Mead Johnson Nutrition, a
leading global infant nutrition company, in 2004. He was president
and CEO fram 2008 to 2013 and a non-executive director from
2(13 to 2017. He was also previously a nan-executive director of
Beam Inc. His extensive international and board experience give
him invaluable insights and understanding as Chair of the
Remuneration Committee.

Contribution.

Steve's extensive experience of building and developing
international businesses, together with his operational experience
and strong background in consumer marketing, make him a
valuable member of the Board. As Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. he is responsible for setting and implementing the
remuneration policy.

External appointments.

- Advisor to Thai Union Group PLC, a global leader in the seafood
industry:

- Honorary Advisor tc The British Chamber of Commerce Thalland:

=~ Honorary investment advisor to the Thailand Board of
Investment: and

- External advisor to Bain & Company

Byron Grote
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed May 2015
Tenure 5 years

WOR®

Skills and experience.

Byron brings broad financial and international experience to the
Board. having worked across BF PLC in a variety of commercial.
operational and executive roles covering numerous geographies.
Byron's strategic focus and financial experience complements the
balance of skills on the Board and makes him ideai for the role of
Chair of the Audit Committee. He served on the BP PLC board
from 2000 until 2013 and was BP's CFO during much of that period.
He was previously a non-executive director of Unilever PLC.

Contribution.

Byron brings a wide range of experience and skills including finance.
strategy, risk and supply chain logistics through a variety of
executive and non-executive roles. He is Chairman of the Audit
Committee and, as such, is responsible for leading the Committee
to ensure effective internal controls and risk management systems
are in place.

External appointments.

- Vice chairman of the supervisory board of Akzo Nobel N.V.;
- Seniorindependent director of Anglo American PLC; and

- Non-executive director of Standard Chartered FL.C.



Mikael Olsson
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed November 2014
Tenure 5.5 years

®EO

Skills and experience.

Mikael joined the Board after an extensive career at IKEA Group,
hclding a variety of senior roles including being a member of the
executive committee from 1936 untit 2013 and holding the position
of CEO and president from 2009 until 2013, He brings a wealth of
retail and vaiue chain experience as well as knowledge of
sustainability. pecple and strategy in an internationai environment.
He was previously a non-executive director and vice chairman of
Volvo Cars AB.

Contribution.

Mikael brings an extensive range of skills with his strategic. retail
and property experience through his executive and non-executive
directorships. supporting the delivery of the Group’s strategy.

External appointments.

- Non-executive director of tkano S.A ;

- Non-executive director of Lindengruppen AB; and

- Non-executive director and chair of the people committee
(combined nomination and remuneration committee) of The

Rovyal Schighol Group.
WEROO

Deanna Oppenheimer
Senior Independent Director
Appointed March 2012

Tenure 8 years

Skills and experience.

Deanna has significant marketing. brand management and
consumer knowledge and experience, bringing a broad perspective
to the Board. She held several senior roles at Barclays plc, including
chief executive of UK Retail and Business Banking and vice chair of
Global Retail Banking. Deanna was appointed as chair of Hargreaves
Lansdown plc in February 2018. She is the founder of advisory firm,
CamecWorks LLC, which provides bespoke support to early stage
companies. Deanna was previously a non-executive director of
NCR Corporation and Worldpay. Inc.

Contribution.

Deanna’s extensive board. investor ang commercial experience
makes her a strong Senior Independent Director and fundamental
to the effective operation of the Board.

External appointments.

- Chair of Hargreaves Lansdown plc:

- Non-executive director of Whitbreag PLC:

- Founder of consumer-focused boutique advisory firm.
CameoWorks LLC: and

- Senior advisor te Bain & Company.

Corporate governance

®®

Simon Patterson
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed April 2016
Tenure 4 years

Skills and experience.

Simon has extensive knowledge of and years of experience in
finance. technology and global operations gained in various
managerment and leadership roles. He was a member of the
founding rmanagement team of the logistics software company
Global Freight Exchange and has worked at the Financial Times
and McKinsey & Company. He has previously served on the boards
of Skype, MultiPlan, Cegid Group, Intelsat. Gerson Lehrman Group
and N Brown Group.

Contribution.

Simon brings to the Board more than 20 years’ experience in senior
positions. predominantly in the management consultancy,
technology, digital and finance sectors.

External appeintments.

- Managing directer of Silver Lake Partners. a leading global
technology investment firm;

- Board member of Dell Technologies Inc.. Zephyr Holdco Limited
and FlixBus;

— Trustee of the Natural History Museum; and

- Trustee of The Rayal Foundation of The Duke and Buchess of

Cambridge.
RO

Alison Platt CMG

Independent Non-executive Director
Appointed April 2016

Tenure 4 years

Skills and experience.

Alison has extensive experience of leadership in customer-driven
organisations across the healthcare, insurance and property
sectors. As CEQ of Countrywide, a position she held until January
2018. she gained significant business-to-business experience
adding this to the International experience she gained while leading
a number of Bupa's businesses across Asia. Southern and Eastern
Eurcpe and the Middle East. Alison's experience as & CEQ enables
her to provide challenge and advice to the Board across a range of
issues. Alison was previously chair of Opportunity Now and a
non-executive director of the Foreign and Commonweailth Office
and Cable and Wireless Communications PLC.

Contribution.

Alison has gained significant business-to-business and international
commercial experience from working for high-profile consumer-
facing companies. Her membership of the steering group for the
Hampton-Alexander Review provides strategic insights on diversity
and inclusion.

External appointments.
- Member of the steering group of the Hampton-Alexander
Review: and

- Non-executive director of Dechra Pharmaceuticals PLC.
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Board of Directors continued
Lindsey Pownall OBE e
Independent Non-executive Director

Appointed April 2016
Tenure 4 years

Skills and experience.

Lindsey has substantial experience in food. grocery and retail

brand development, having enjoyed a career of more than 20

years at Samworth Brothers, the leading UK supplier of premium

quality chilled and ambient foods. She joined the Samworth board

in 2001 and served as chief executive between 2011 and 2015.

Lindsey is a passionate advocate of supplier relationships,

customers, colleagues and sustainability which directly support

Tesco's strategy and her role as Chair of the Corporate

Responsibility Committee.

Contribution.

Lindsey's in-depth understanding of the food retail sector and

stakeholder focus together with her wealth of experience in

supply leadership and strategic development make her a valuable

member of the Board. As Chair of the Carporate Responsibility

Committee. she is responsible for corporate responsibility

objectives and strategy.

External appointments.

- Non-executive director of Story Contracting Limited;

- Senior Adviser of Paine Schwartz Partrners, LLC: and

- Non-executive director of P and P Food Safety Holdings
{Delaware) Inc.

[ Board Committee key.

Ken Murphy

Group Chilef Executive Desighate

Skills and experience,

Ken wili join the Board of Tesco PLC on 1 Octaber 2020

to succeed Dave Lewls as Group Chief Executive. Ken has
worked for Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc. for over 20 years in

a number of senior management rcles across the business.
Through his role as Executive Vice President, Chief Commercial
Officer and President Global Brands at Walgreens Boots Alliance
Ken had overall responsibility for brand strategy and the
commercial offer in the retail businesses of Walgreens and
Boots. He previously worked for Procter & Gamble and
Coopers & Lybrand.

Contribution.

Ken is a growth-orientated business leader with strong
commercial. marketing and brand experience within retail and
wholesale businesses. He has experience in global preduct brand
management. product development. sales and marketing.
sourcing. manufacturing and distribution.

External appointments.
- Non-executive director of Hatch Beauty LLC.

Robert Welch
Group Company Secretary

Appointed August 2016

Skills and experience.

Robert has worked as a company secretary for over 25 years during
which time he has held the positions of group company secretary
at FirstGroup plc and company secretary at Kazakhmys PLC.
Robert has alsc held senior positions at BPB plc and

Kwik Save Group PLC.

He is a member of the ICSA's Company Secretaries’ Forum and the
Association of General Counsel and Company Secretaries of FTSE
100 companies.

Board and Committee meetings. r
Directors are expected to attend all Board and relevant Committee meetings.

() Nominations and The table below shows the attendance at the scheduled Board and Committee meetings:
| Governance Committes Nominations and Corpr_m’_ate )
(@ Audit Committee Board  Commiios  Dommiee tomemes Commmies
(®) Remuneration Committee John Allan ® &/5 - ® /4 33 474 /
{ o Mark Armour 6/6 5/5 - - -
@ Corperate Responsibility Meliissa Bethal™ 6/6 s - - T T
Committee Stewart Gillland® 6/6 6/5 33 - -
@ Chair of Committee Steve Golsby 6/6 . - ) - 3/3 ® 44
(0 Independent Board Byron Grotfe 6/6 ® 55 4/4 - 4/4 J
membear Dave Lewis™ . & - - - =
Mikael Olsson 6/6 - - % 44
‘ Deanna Oppenheimer 6/6 - 1/4 3/3 a/4
Simon Patterson 6/6 5/5 - - -
Alison Platt™ 6/6 - 3/3 - 4/4
Lindsey Pownall 6/6 - - ® 3/3 - J
Alan Stewart 6/6 ) - - - -

appointment to the Board.

‘ ' Melissa Bethell's absence at a scheduled Committee meeting during the year was due to commitments pre-dating her

v Stewart Gilland and Alison Platt became members of the Nominations and Governance Committee on 18 April 2008,

Board changes' It was announced in October 2019 that Ken Murphy would succeed Dave Lewis as Group Chief Executive.

Dave Lewis will cease 1o be a Director of the Beard on 30 $eptember 2020, Ken Murphy will join the Board an 10ctober 2020, ‘
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Executive Committee.

Dave Lewis

Group Chief Executive

Dave joined the Board and the Executive Commitiee on
1 September 2014. His full bicgraphy appears on page 27.

Alan Stewart

Chief Financial Officer

Alan joired the Board and the Executive Committee on

23 September 2014. His full biography appears on page 27.

Natasha Adams

Chief People Officer

Natasha is responsible for setting the people strategy and plans
at Tesco, including reward. colleague experience and capability.

Natasha joined Tesco in 1998 as a Personnel Manager and has
served in a range of store-focused roles over the last 20 years.
including as Customer Services Director UK, Business Support
Director UK and Group Personnel Manager for Scotland. In 2016
Natasha was promoted to People Director for Tesce's UK and
Ireland stores and joined the UK Leadership Team before being
appointed to her current role of Chief People Officer.

Natasha is a Tesco Pension Trustee.
Natasha joined the Executive Committee on 1 June 2018.

Alessandra Bellini

Chief Customer Officer

Alessandra is responsible for builging the Tesco brand globally
and putting the customer at the heart of everything that we do.

Prior to joining Tesco in 2017, Alessandra worked at Unilever for
cver 21 years, latterly as vice president for the food category in
North America and food general manager for the USA. Previously.
she had a 12-year career in advertising. working both in [taly and
the UK. As an international executive. Alessandra has heid roles in
North America, the UK. Italy and Central and Eastern Europe.

Alessandra joined the Executive Committee on 1 March 2017,

Christine Heffernan

Group Communications Director

Christine is responsible for building trust in the Tesco brand
and its businesses.

Christine joined Tesco in 2014. Since October 2018 she has
supported the Group Chief Executive in delivery cf the corporate
reputation plan for the centenary year and prior to that was the
Corporate Affairs Director for Tesco Ireland. Prior to Tesco,
Christine worked in communications in both the energy and
telecoms sectors.

Christine joined the Executive Committee on 1 March 2019.

Tony Hoggett

Chief Operations Officer

Tony is respensible for developing the operational capability and
strategy across the Group as well as leading the cperations of the UK
business. Tony also has responsibility for Tesce's joint venture in India.

Tony joined Tesco in 1990 and has served in a range of leadership
roles in the UK and Asia over the last three decades. Between 2007
and 207 he held the roles of VP South China, as well as President
North China. before moving to Turkey as Chief Operating Officer
for Tesco Kipa.

in 2011, Tony returned to the UK and held Managing Director roles
across all of our large store formats. He also joined the board of
Tesco Mobile in 2012, In 2014, he joined the UK Leadership Team as
Retail Director and then was appointed Chief Operating Officer UK
in 2016 and CEQ, Asia in 2017. Teny was appointed to his current
role on 1June 2018,

Tony joined the Executive Committee on 1 Aprit 2017.

Corporate governance

Alison Horner

CEO, Asia

Alison is responsible for Tesco's businesses in Thailand and Malaysia.
Alison alsc leads our develeping business partnerships across the region.

Alison joined Tesco in 1999 and worked in a variety of operational
leadership roles running stores and leading change programmes.
prior to being appointed Chief People Officer in 20711, She was
appointed to her current rele on 1 June 2018, Alison is a member
of the Manchester Business School Advisory Board.

Alison joined the Executive Committee on 1 March 2011

Gerry Mallon
Chief Executive, Tesco Bank
Gerry is responsible for leading Tesco Bank.

Gerry joined Tesco in 2018 and has held a number of leadership
roles in financial services. Most recently Gerry served as chief
executive officer of Ulster Bank Ireland where he led significant
change in the business, including broad investment in technology to
modernise the bank. In this role, Gerry was a member of the RBS
personal and business banking executive committee. Before joining
Ulster Bank, Gerry served as chief executive cfficer of Danske Bank
UK (formerly Northern Bank) for eight years, successfulty leading the
crganisation in the aftermath of the financial crisis. Earlier in his
career. Gerry held roles at Bank of Ireland. McKinsey & Company
and the UK Civil Service. Qutside of financial services. Gerry served
as pro-chancellor and chair of council at the University of Ulster,
president of the Institute of Banking in Ireland. and he is currently
chairman of the Irish Football Association.

Gerry joined the Executive Committee on 13 August 2018.

Adrian Morris

Group General Counsel

Adrian Ts responsible for the legal, company secretarial, government
relations. reguiatory and compliance functions across Tesco.

Adrian joined Tesco in September 2012 as Group General Counsel.
Prior to Tesco., Adrian worked at BP PLC as associate general
counsel for refining and marketing and prior to that at Centrica PLC.
initially as European group general counsel and then as general
counsel for British Gas. Adrian is a Tesco Pension Trustee.

Adrian joined the Executive Committee on 6 September 2012

Matt Simister

CEO, Central Europe

Matt is responsible for all of Tesco's businesses in the Czech
Republic, Hungary. Poland and Slovakis.

Matt joined Tesco in 1996 as a marketer. He built on his UK
experience with three years as Commercial Directer for our Czech
and Slovak businesses. Following this, he returned to the UK to set
up our Group Food capability. managing our regionat fresh food and
Tesco Brand sourcing, buying and inbound supply chains for the UK.
ROI, Central Europe and Asia. In April 2017. Matt was appointed to
his current role of CEC, Central Europe.

Matt joined the Executive Committee on 1 April 2017,

Jason Tarry

CEOQ, UK & ROI

Jason is responsible for all of Tesco's businesses in the UK and ROL
Jason joined Tesco in October 1990 on the graduate recruitment
programme. He has held a number of positions in the UK and
internationally across both food and non-food divisions. Jason
became CEO for clothing across the Group in 2012, before being

appointed as Chief Product Officer in January 2(15. In July 2018,
Jason was appointed to his current role of CEO, UK & ROL

Jason joined the Executive Committee on 1.January 2015,
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Corporate governance report continued

Board leadership and company purpose continued

Executive Committee continued

Charles Wilson

CEOQ, Booker

As a member of the Executive Committee Charles contributes to the
broad Tesco strategy agenda. He is specifically respensible for delivering
UK & ROl cost synergies and driving the growth agenda set cut in the
Booker merger agreement. As a member of Jason's UK & ROI
leadership tearn he is responsible for feading the Booker business.

Charles joined Tesco in March 2018 following the merger of Tesco
PLC and Booker Group plc. Charles became an executive director
of Booker Group plc in 1998, which merged with Iceland ple in 2000.
In 2001 he became an executive director of Arcadia Group plc and
in 2004 he became an executive director of Marks & Spencer plc.
In 2005 he was appeinted as chief executive of Booker Group plc.
Charles started his career in 1986 with Procter & Gamble following
which he was a consultant with OC&C Strategy Consultants and a
director of Abberton Associates.

Charles joined the Executive Committes on 5 March 2018.
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Andrew Yaxley

Chief Product Officer

Andrew is respensibie for setting the strategy and policy for the
planning, ranging, sourcing and supply of the products we sell across
the Group. In addition. he has direct responsibility for managing this
for the UK.

Andrew joined Tesco in 2001 from Mars Inc. Be has worked across a
number of product divisions including four years as Commercial
Director for our Czech and Slovak businesses. On returning to the

UK in 2007 he first led the Packaged Division and then in 2010 the
Fresh Division. He became Managing Director of the London business
in 2013, before moving to Ireland as CEQ in April 2015. In July 2018,

he was promoted to Chief Product Officer.

Andrew joined the Executive Committee on 16 July 2018.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code.

The Board is committed to high standards of governance and has applied the Principles set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code
2018 {Code) throughout the pericd under review. The Board has complied with all of the Code's Provisions with the exception of
Provision 38, eligning executive director pension contributions with the workforce. An exptanation of how we will comply with this
Provision in the future is set out on page 53 in the Directors’ remuneration report.

Monitoring compliance with the Code is the responsibility of the Nominations and Gavernance Committee who receive regular updates
from management and report their findings to the Board. During the year. all Committee terms of reference have been reviewed to

reflect the requirements in the updated Code.

!_Bbarrd leadership and company ;;urpose.

Tﬂadit, risk and internal control.

The core objective of the Beard is to create and deliver the
long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating value
for shareholders and contributing to the wider society in a way
that is supported by the right culture and behaviours.

See pages 25 to 26 for mere details on culture, purpose and values.

M)ivision of re;ponsibilities. N

The Board has agreed a clear division of responsibilities between the
running of the Board and running the business of the Group, which is
supparted by the corporate governance framework. Responsibilities
are clearly defined in role statements to ensure that no one
individual has unrestricted powers of decision-making and no smaill
group of Directors can dominate the Board's decision-making.

Committee terms of reference determine the autherity given
to each of the Board's Committees.

For more details on Board composition, leadership and role
statements see pages 33 to 35.

Composition, succession and evaluation.

The Board. with the support of the Nominations and Governance
Committee, keeps under constant review the composition of the
Board and its Committees. succession planning, diversity. inclusion
and governance-related matters.

The Board undertakes a review of its effectiveness and that of its
Committees and Directors annually. Every third year the evaluation
is conducted by an external Board evaluation specialist.

See page 37 for more details on Board effectiveness. The activities
of the Nominaticns and Governance Committee can be found on
pages 38 to 39.
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The Board is accountable to stakeholders for ensuring that the
Group is appropriately managed. The Board sets the Group's risk
appetite and satisfies itself that financial controls and risk
management systems are robust. while ensuring the Group is
adequately resourced. The Board receives regular updates on
audit, risk and internal cantrol matters with detailed oversight
undertaken by the Audit Committee and its findings are reported
to the Board.

See pages 13 10 14 and 46 to 51 for mere details on audit,
risk management and internal control and the work of the
Audit Committee.

Remuneration.

The Board, supported by the Remuneration Committee,
ensures that the remuneraticn policies are designed to support
strategy and promote long-term sustainable success. Executive
remuneration is aligned to the successful delivery of the
Company’s long-term strategy.

See page 59 for more details on the remuneration policy and
implementation of the policy.

Further details demaonstrating how the Principles and Provisions
of the Code have been applied can be found throughout the
Corporate governance report. the Directors’ report. each of the
Board Commiittee reports and the Strategic report.

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC} is responsible for the
publication and periodic review of the UK Corporate Governance
Code and this can be found on the FRC website www.frc.org.uk.



Corporate governance

Division of responsibilities.

Operations of the Board.

The Board is collectively responsible
for the long-term success of the Group
ensuring that it operates within a
framework of effective controls.

The Board is responsipte for setting the overall strategy of the
Group ensuring that value is created over the long-term. There

is & formel schedule of matters reserved for the Board of those
matters that are considered of significance to the Group owing to
their strategic. financial or reputational importance. Further details
are set out below.

Board information.

The Board has a detailed programme that ensures operational and
financial performance, risk. governance. strategy, culture and
stakeholder engagement are discussed at the appropriate time.

At Board meetings, Directors receive and consider papers and
presentaticns frem the Executive Directors. senior management
and subject-matter experts. The Board challenges management to
ensure that the flow and quality of information to the Board is of

a high standard. A review and refresh of Board and Committee
papers was undertaken during the year to ensure that high-quality,
clear and timely information is provided to Directors suppoerting
the Board in its decision-making process.

In the rare event of a Director being unable to attend a meeting,
the Chair of the respective meeting discusses the matters
proposed with the Director concerned wherever possible. seeking
their support and feedback accordingly. The Chair subsequently
represents those views at the meeting,

Board balance.

The cperations of the Board are underpinned by the collective
experience of the Directors and the diverse skills and experience
which they possess. These ensure that leadership and decision-
making is focused and balanced, and is approached with
independent tholught and judgement. With the relationship
between the Directers being one of trust and mutuat respect. open
and frank conversations ensure that even the most challenging
decisions are taken for the benefit of the Company as a whole.
with due consideration for all stakeholders who may be affected.

Role statements.

Role statements set out the division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Group Chief Executive as well as the responsibilities of
the Senfor Independent Director and Non-executive Directors ensuring
challenge. debate and an independent and objective mindset.

Summary of matters reserved for the Board.

- Group strategy, operating plans, long-term plans
and budget:
- Changes to corperate and capital structure:
- Major acquisitions. mergers, joint ventures and disposals:
- Significant capital expenditure and borrowing:
- Material contracts:
- Risk management and internal control:
- Changes to pension scheme:
- Financial repecrting and disclosures:

Chairman

The Chairman is responsible for effective leadership of the Board
and maintaining a culture of openness and transparency at Board
meetings. The Chairman promotes the effective communication
between Executive and Non-executive Directors and ensures all
Directors effectively contribute to discussions and feel
comfortable in engaging in healthy debate and constructive
challenge. The Chairman ensures ail Directors receive accurate.
timely and clear information to assist them to make their
decisions, identifies training and development needs as required.
and ensures appropriately tallored induction programmes are
delivered for new Directors.

Group Chief Executive

The Group Chief Executive has day-to-day responsibility for the
effective management of the Group’s business and for ensuring
that Board decisions are implemented. He plays a key role in
devising and reviewing Group strategies for discussion and
approval by the Board. The Group Chief Executive is tasked with
providing regular cperational updates to the Board on all matters
of significance relating to the Group's business or reputation and
for ensuring effective communication with shareholders and other
key stakeholders.

Senior Independent Director

The Senior Independent Director provides a scunding board for
the Chairman and acts as an intermediary for the Non-executive
Directors, where necessary, and is available to sharehclders
should they have any concerns where communication through
normal channels has not been successful or where such
channels are inappropriate. The Senior Independent Director
meets with the Non-executive Directors at least annually when
leading the Non-executive Directors appraisal of the
performance of the Chairman.

Non-executive Directors

The Non-executive Directors bring insight and experience to the
Board. They have respensibility for constructively challenging the
strategies proposed by the Executive Directors, scrutinising the
performance of management in achieving agreed goals and
objectives and play leading roles in the functioning of the Board
Committees. bringing an independent view to the discussion.
They meet with the Senior Independent Director to review the
Chairman’s performance and other matters.

Group Company Secretary

The Group Company Secretary is secretary to the Board. His
responsibilities inctude ensuring the Board has the information.
time and resources it needs in order to discharge its duties and
function effectively and efficiently.

Review of remuneration policies and
share schemes; and

- Dividend policy and payment.

The schedule of matters reserved for the
Board can be found at www.tescoplc.com.
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Corporate governance report continued

Division of responsibilities continued

Operations of the Board continued

The Group Company Secretary advises the Board on all governance
matters and facilitates induction programmes for new Directors
and provides briefings and guidance on governance, legal and
regulatory matters. The appointment and removal of the Group
Company Secretary is a matter reserved for the Board as a whole.

Time commitment.

Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year ensuring that Directors aliocate sufficient time to
discharge their duties effectively. During the year, the Board held
six scheduled meetings and additional strategy and planning days.
which included presentations by senior management on each of
the business areas. In addition to scheduled meetings. the Board
held additional meetings to consider matters of a time-sensitive
nature, including the proposed sale of the Thalland and Malaysia
businesses. Directors are expected to attend all Board and relevant
Committee meetings. The table on page 30 shows the record of
attendance at the scheduled Board and Committee meetings. The
nature of the Non-executive Director role makes it impossible to
be specific about the maximum time commitment. However, it is
anticipated that at least 20 days per annum after the induction
phase is required plus additional time to devote to preparation
ahead of each meeting. Directors are also required to regularly
update and refresh their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the
Company. It is recognised that at certain times it may be necessary
to convene additional Board. Committee or shareholder meetings.

Prior to appointment, the Nominations and Governance
Committee assesses the commitments of @ proposed candidate.
including other directorships. to ensure they have sufficient time
to devote to the role. Thereafter. the Committee regularly assesses
the time commitments of Directors to ensure that they each
continue to have sufficient time for their role. This assessment

takes into account the number of external commitments each
Director has and considers the potentiai additional time required
in the event of corporate stress. Directors obtain aporoval pricr
to undertaking additional external appointments.

Conflicts of interest.

Directors are required to report actual or potential conflicts of
interest tc the Board for consideration and. if appropriate,
authorisation. If such conflicts exist, Directors excuse themselves
from consideration of the relevant matter. The Company maintains
a register of authorised conflicts of interest which is reviewed
annually by the Nominations and Governance Committee.

Details of the Directors’ service contracts and terms of
appointment, together with their interests in the Company’s
shares, are shown in the Directors’ rermuneration report on
pages 52 to 64,

If Directors have concerns abeut the Company or a proposed
action which cannot be resolved, it is recorded in the Board
minutes. Upon resignation. Directors are encouraged to provide
awritten statement of any concerns for consideration by the
Board. No such concerns were raised in 2019/2C and up to the
date of this report.

Independent advice,

All Directors have access to the advice of the Group Company
Secretary and. in appropriate circumstances, may obtain
independent professional advice at the Company's expense.
No such requests were made in 2019/20.

A Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance policy is maintained
for all Directors and each Director has the benefit of a Deed
of Indemnity.

Corporate governance framework.

The Board is supported by the activities of each of the Board Committees which
ensure the right level of attention and consideration are given to specific matters.

! The Board

R

Corporate
Responsibility
Committee

Audit Committee [
L

Committee roles.

Role of Audit Committee

Provides independent assessment and oversight of financial
reporting processes including refated internal controls, risk
management and compliance. as well as overseeing the
effectiveness of the internal and external audit functions.

For mere information see pages 13 tc 18 and 46 to 51

Role of Corporate Responsibility Committee

Ensures that the Board maintains an adequate focus on
corporate responsibility and sustainability matters, especiaily

those that suppart Tesco’s strategy. For more information
see pages 44 to 45.
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Nominations and
Governance
Committee i

Remuneration
Committee

Reole of Nominations and Governance Committee

Reviews the size. composition, tenure and skills of the Beard,
leads the process for new appointments, monitors Board and
senior management succession planning, considers independence,
diversity. inclusion and Group governance matters. For more
informaticn see pages 38 to 39.

Role of Remuneration Committee
Determines remuneration policy and packages for Executive

Directors and senior managers. having regard to pay across
the Group. Far mare information see pages 52 to 64.



Having an effective corporate governance framework supports
the Board in the delivery of the Group's strategy and supports
long-term sustainable growth. Through matters reserved for the
Board, Committee terms of reference and a robust deiegated
authority framework. it sets out how the business is managed
and ensures effective and efficient decisicn-making through
defined authority levels. Efficient internal reporting. internal
controls and oversight of current and emerging risks are
embedded into our business processes which align to the
Group’s strategy, purpose and values.

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to four key
Board Committees which are each chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, focusing on specific areas of the
Board's responsibilities.

The composition of each Committee is reviewed by the
Neminations and Governance Committee annually and also at
the time of any Board changes. Cross-Committee membership

! Corporate governance

provides visibility and awareness of matters relevant between
the Committees. Each Committee Chair provides a written and
verbal report on Committee activities to the Board after each
Committee meeting and Committee papers and minutes are
shared with all Directors.

The Board delegates responsibility for the day-to-day operational
management of the Company to the Group Chief Executive, who
is supported by the Executive Committee. Group Risk and
Compliance Committee and other committees. When the need
arises, a standing Disclosure Committee is convened to consider
timely and accurate disclosure of sensitive informaticn and the
Board has agreed a Delegation of Authority.

Matters considered by each of the Committees are
@ set out In the Committee terms of reference which

can be foung at www.tescoplc.com.

Composition, succession and

evaluation.

Having a diverse Board with different perspectives, insights and viewpoints
benefits the Group’s stakeholders through better business performance.

Board composition Board gender split
{(number of Directors) (%)

Diversity and inclusion.

The Board sets the tone for inclusion and diversity across the
Group and believes it is important to have an appropriate balance
of skills. knowledge. experience and diversity on the Board and at
senior management level to ensure good decision-making. It
recognises the need to create conditions that foster talent and

enccourage all colleagues to achieve their full potential. To this end.

we are committed to providing an inclusive working environment
where difference is embraced and valued. as evidenced by our
commitment to the Race at Work Charter. More detail on the
Group's employment policies are set out in the Directors’ report
on pages 65 to 66.

Board tenure
{number of Directors)

Board expertise
(humber of Directors)

The Beard, Nominations and Governance Committee, and
Executive Committee receive regular updates on the progress of
diversity and inclusion initiatives across the Group. with the goal of
ensuring alt colleagues have an opportunity to get on. developing
the skills they need for now and the future. whoever they are.
wherever they work and whatever they do.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity and inclusion policy
which sets out its approach te diversity and inclusion on the Board.
This policy sits alongside the Company's equal opportunities and
diversity policy. which sets out the Group’s wider commitment to
diversity and inclusion across Tesco. More information on the
implementation of the Board diversity and inclusion policy can be
found in the Nominations and Governance Committee report on
pages 38 to 39. The policy can be found on the Company’s

website at www.tescoplc.com.
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Corporate governance report continued

Composition, succession and evaluation continued

Board expertise.

The Board's skills matrix supports our approach to diversity by
mapping the broad diversity of the Board in regard to gender,
ethnicity, geographical expertise. professional background,
tenure, age and other distinctions between Directors. linking
these to our strategy. This enables the Board to develop a
refreshment and succession plan for Non-executive Directors
that meets the future needs of the Group. This is vital for
bringing the expertise required and enabling different
perspectives, insights and viewpoints to be brought to Board
and Committee meetings.

As set out in their biographies on pages 27 to 30, each member

of the Board offers & range of core skills and experience that is
relevant to the successful operation of the Group. while providing
a strong independent element to the Board and a solid foundation
for good corporate governance, fulfilling the vital role of corporate
accountability. The oversight each of the Directors provides is
balanced with Individuals contributing a broad range of skills,
diverse experience and knowledge, demcnstrating independence
and constructive challenge.

Non-executive Directors’ independence.

The Nominations and Governance Commitiee considers whether
each of the Non-executive Directors continues to be independent
in character and judgement in line with the definition set out in the
Code. For morg information on the conclusion of the review
undertaken by the Committee see pages 38 to 39.

The Non-executive Directors met with the Chairman without the
Executive Directors being present on a number of cccasions and,
at least annually, Directors meet with the Senior independent
Director to review the Chairman’s performance and cther matters.

Appointment, induction and development.

Non-executive Directors are initially appointed for a three-year
term with an expectation that they will continue for at least a
further three years. Directors are nominated by the Nominations
and Governance Committee and are subsequently approved by
the Board for election or re-election annually by sharehotders at
the Company’s AGM.

After three vears’ service the performance of a Non-executive
Director is rigorously assessed by the Nominations and Governance
Committee. Any development needs identified are discussed by the
Chairman with the Non-executive Director,

All Directors witl submit themseives for election or re-election at
the forthcoming AGM in June 2020. Detailed information on the
contribution that each of the Directors brings to the Board is set
out in the Board biographies on pages 27 to 30 and in the 2020
Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Upon appointment. all new Directors receive a comprehensive
induction prograrmme over a number of monhths which is designed
to facilitate their understanding of the business and is tallored to
their individual needs. The Chairman and the Group Company
Secretary are responsible for delivering the programme covering
the Company's core purpose and values, strategy, key areas of the
business and corporate governance.

The Board believes strongly in the development of its Directors and
the Group's colleagues. The Chairman regularly discusses training
requirements with each Director.
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New Director Induction programme }
is delivered through:

- meetings with senicr managers across the
Group as well as a number of advisors;

- attendance at Committee meetings;

site visits to stores and distribution centres;

- working in a store, providing an opportunity
to meet colleagues and see at first hand the

| operations of a store; and |

- access to a library of reference materials, ‘

In support of the ongeing development of Directors, teach-ins and
technical updates are provided at Board and Committee meetings
to ensure that Directors remain up to date with key deveiopments
in the business environment in which Tesco operates. Directors are
encouraged to attend training sessions to ensure their knowledge
is up to date on relevant legal, regulatory and financial
developments or changes.

The Board receives presentations on each of the business areas to
understand the market conditions and challenges in the different
countries the Group operates in. Directors have spent time
individually and collectively exploring specific operational activities
in detail through presentations, meetings and site visits giving them
the opportunity to meet with local senior management to gain an
insight of the business operations.

The Board visits our overseas business functions on a regular basis
1o gain a greater understanding of the market conditions that the
business operates in and to understand the challenges they face.
This provides in-depth knowledge for the Directors, enabling them
to share their cwn experiences and challenge the business.

Board visit to Thailand.

In June 2019, the Board travelled te Thailland to

meet colleagues and customers, and gain a greater i
understanding of the Thai business operations and ‘
retail market. During the trip, the Board visited cne |
of our Thai hypermarkets in Bangkok taking part in
the "nypermarket reinvention’ programme. The
programme optimises sales floor space to better }
cater Lo today's custemers and their shopping ‘
experience, as well as maximising efficiency and

simplifying store processes.

Further details of the Group’s approach to diversity and
inclusion can be found online at www.tescoplc.com.
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! Corporate governance

Board effectiveness.

Good corporate governance is about implementing the right systems and controls
across the Group to facilitate effective management and sound decision-making.

The Board carries out a review of the effectiveness of its performance and that of its Committees and Directors every year.
The evaluation is externally facilitated every three years. The next external evaluation will be in respect of the 2021/22 financial year.

Progress against 2018/19 actions.
Set out below is the progress made against actions identified through the 2018/19 external Board effectiveness review:

Action Progress
Further shaping the narrative and agreeing the priorities of the Group During the year, the Board held an additional strategy session which
for the longer term. focused on long-term opportunities and threats. Regular updates were

provided throughout the year to the Board and its Committees on
progress against strategic developments and plans.

Continuing to develop and articulate the appetite for risk and A risk appetite framework has been developed during the year and

ensuring it is aligned with the emerging longer-term strategy. formalised risk appetite metrics are being progressed with the business.
Additionat narrative is disclosed on pages 13 1o 14.

Developing a refreshment and succession plan for Non-executive A Non-executive Director composition assessment exercise was

Directors, designed to optimise strategic relevance. diversity of undertaken to enable the Nominations and Governance Committee to

perspective and governance expertise to meet the future needs of plan for the Board changes due to occur in the next few years. A skills

the Group. matrix was developed to ensure that the Board has the necessary skills

to fulfil its strategic objectives.

2019/20 internal evaluation.

During the year, an internal evaluation was led by the Chairman. with the support of the Group Company Secretary using an cnline
guestionnaire to capture the views of each Director. The evaluation was carefully structured but pragmatic. designed to bring about a genuine
debate onissues that were relevant. check on progress against matters identified in the previous evaluation. and assist in identifying any
potential for improvement in the Board's processes.

Internal evaluation themes.
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The internal evaluation concluded that the Board. its Committees and each of its Directors continue to be effective. with high scores being
recorded across each of the themes. All Directors continued to demonstrate a collaborative and constructive mindset, creating a conducive
environment at Board meetings for participation and challenge. The clarity of the strategy together with the understanding of the capabilities
for implementing and monitoring it were regarded highly.

The internal effectiveness review identified some opportunities for the Board and the resulting areas of focus are summarised below:
- greater focus on the impact of technology and the threats and oppertunities of an ever-changing market on the development of a
longer-term strategy:

- further increase the oversight of succession planning at the Board. while maintaining the strong oversight at the Nominations and
Governance Committee; and

- further developing the appetite for risk and ensuring it is aligned with the emerging longer-term strategy.
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Nominations and Governance

Committee.

“It is important to have a diverse Board to bring different
perspectives, insights and viewpoints in decision-making
which ultimately benefits the Group’s stakeholders
through better business performance.”

John Allan
Chairman

Dear Shareholder.

The Committee held four scheduled meetings during the year,
which were attended by all members. Two further meetings were
held to discuss the appointment of Ken Murphy as successor to
Dave Lewis. Committee membership together with attendance at
meetings is detailed in the table on page 30. The Committee's full
terms of reference are available on the corporate website at
www.tescoplc.com.

Committee responsibilities and key activities.

Details of the key areas of responsibility of the Committee and
the time spent on each area during 2018/20 are set cut below:

R

Board composition:

- Review the size and composition of the Board
and its Committees;

~ Review Directors’ skills matrix;

- Recommendation of annual re-election of
Directors; and

- Three-year and six-year review of Non-executive
Directors’ performance.

Succession planning:

- Succession plans for the Board. Executive
Committee and senior management; and

- Talent management.

Effectiveness:

- Review plans for the current year’s
effectiveness review:

- Review progress against the actions identified in
the previous year's effectiveness review;

- Review Nen-executive Director time commitments; and |

- Review of Non-executive Director independence.

Governance:

- Review and approve changes to the Group’s
corporate governance framework:

- Ensure compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code:

- Review of matters reserved for the Board:
- Review Directors’ conflicts of interest: and |
- Assess the Group's approach to diversity and inclusion. !

Focus of Committee activities in 2019/20

Board composition ) 22%
Successionplanning 4%
Effectiveness _ o 28%
Governance 26%
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Board composition and diversity.

The Committee has sought to balance the composition of the
Board and its Committees and to refresh them progressively over
time. In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee regularly
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board and its
Committees, including skills, knowledge. independence and
diversity, to ensure they are aligned with the Group's strategy.

Our Non-executive Directors are drawn from a wide range of
industries and backgreunds, including retail. infant nutrition, retail
and investment banking. property, extractive industry and food
manufacturing, and have a wealth of experience in complex
organisations with global reach.

The Committee recognises the importance of the Board’s
awareness and preparations for the future, and ensuring that the
skills, experience and knowledge of individuals reflect the changing
demands of the business, all while upholding the culture and values
of the Group. During the year, a composition assessment exercise
was undertaken by the Committee and a Non-executive Director
succession plan developed. This provides a structured and
systematic approach tc refreshing the Board, replacing retiring
Non-executive Directors and planning for the future. To support
the succession plan. a skills matrix was also developed to ensure
the Board and its Committees have and maintain the necessary
skills to deliver the Group's strategic priorities.

The Committee strongly believes that diversity and providing an
inclusive culture is a key driver of business success and the
Committee is committed to having a diverse and inclusive
leadership team which provides a range of perspectives. insights
and critical challenge needed to support good decision-making.
helping with risk management and strategic planning at the
current time of crisis.

As set out in the Board's diversity and inclusion policy:

- ali Board appointments are made on merit against a set of
objective criteria. in the context of the skills and experience
needed for the Board to be effective and guard against
‘group think’:

- the Committee will only work with executive search firms
who have sighed up to the UK Voluntary Code of Conduct
on Gender Diversity; and

- the Board supports the recommendations set out in the
Hampton-Alexander Review on gender diversity and the
Parker Report on ethnic diversity.

The Committee will continue to review progress against the Board
diversity and inclusion policy annually and report on progress
against the policy in the Annual Report. As at the date of this
report. 31% of the Board are female and the intention was for this
to rise above the 33% target at the AGM, when Mark Armour was
due to step down. However, Mark's skills in risk and strategy as well
as his knowledge of the business are crucial at the present time.,



and his offer to continue to support the Board through the current
situation was gratefully accepted. This means that the Board will
not be able to reach the Hampton-Alexander target by the time of
the AGM, as hoped, but the Committee will continue to work
towards this in the very near future.

The Committee would like to provide its assurance that it is dedicated
to bringing the Board in line with the target set by the Hampton-
Alexander Review. Alison Platt is helping ensure this commitment is
offered all due attention. given her role on the steering group for the
Hampton-Alexander Review, and in providing leadership on the
Committee’s goals on diversity and inclusicn. The Committee will now
be looking to fulfil this aim through seeking key Board additions when
the director recruitment market returns to normal.

Following the appointment of Melissa Bethell in September 2018.
the Board is in Iine with the Parker Report’s recommendation.
Further details on initiatives to promote and support diversity
and inclusion throughout Tesco ¢an be found on pages 35 to 36.
The Board diversity and inclusion policy is available at
www.tescoplc.com.

Foliowing a formal review of the composition of Board Committees
and discussions with each Non-executive Director, the Board
agreed to a recommendation from the Committee appointing
Stewart Gilliland and Alison Platt to the Nominations and
Gavernance Committee from April 2019. These appointments have
enhanced the experience on the Committee and further
strengthened its capabilities to meet its responsibilities.

In accordance with the Non-executive Directors’ ietters of
appointment. the Committee reviewed the performance of Mark
Armour and Steve Golsby after having been on the Beard for six
and three years. respectively. The review took into account each
Director’'s commitment. contribution and effectiveness on the
Board and relevant Committees. The Committee also considered
the training and development needs of the Directors. The review
concluded that both Mark Armour and Steve Golsby continued to
make a significant contribution to the Board and its Committees.

Succession planning.

Ken Murphy will join the Board from Walgreens Boots Alliance
as CEQO when Dave Lewis steps down from the Board on
30 September 2020, Cur succession process is described below.

When Dave Lewis informed the Board of his intention to leave
the Company. the Committee engaged the Lygon Group, which
specialises in the recruitment of high-calibre executives, to carry
out a targeted search for his successor. Lygon Group has no
connection with Tesco or any commercial connection with any
Director of the Group other than to assist with searches for
executive and non-executive taient.

In conjunction with the Lygon Group. the Committee considered
the role of Group Chief Executive in order to formulate a more
detailed role and person profile. This considered the experience,
knowledge and leadershig characteristics required for the position.

The Lygon Group inftiated a thorough global search against this
profile. which produced a long-list of candidates, which was then
reduced to a shortlist of several candidates. These shortlisted
candidates were interviewed by members of the Committee, the
Group Chief Executive and other members of the Board, and
feedback on each candidate was compiled. Foliewing an in-depth
critigue. an independent leadership assessment and further testing
of the candidates’ credentials. the process culminated with the
Committee meeting to agree a recommendaticn to the Board that
Ken Murphy be appointed as the successor Group Chief Executive.
The recommendation received unanimous Board approval.

On 2 October, the Board announced that Ken Murphy would
succeed Dave Lewis as Group Chief Executive, subject to

© Corporate governance

shareholder approval at the 2020 AGM. Through regular dialogue
with institutional shareholders. we have discussed these changes.

Succession planning continues to be a priority for the Committee
and throughout the year the Committee focused on the successicn
pipeline for the Board and senior management. This is essential to
ensure a continuous fevel of quality in management. It further aids
us in avoiding instability by mitigating the risks which may be
associated with unforeseen events. such as the departure of a

key individual, as well as promoting diversity and inclusion. In this
regard the Committee is pleased to note that Mark Armour
deferred leaving the Beard in order to provide some additicnal
continuity during these challenging times.

The Committee has also continued to focus on talent and the
ability tc retain and progress high-potential colleagues to improve
the overall capability of the Group. This has been facilitated
through regular presentations and discussions with the Chief
People Officer. This has provided the Committee with oversight
of internal talent progress targeted at potential future Executive
Committee members and a broader leadership talent pool, with

a bespoke development glan having been put in place for these
colleagues. The Board also met with high-potential colleagues in
Thailand on its visit to the country in June.

Effectiveness.

As highlighted in my letter on page 24. an internal Board
effectiveness review was conducted during the year. 1t concluded
that the Board and its Committees continued to operate
effectively. The review was overseen by the Committee and full
details are provided on page 37. The Senior Independent Director
also met with the Directors to appraise my own performance.

During the year. the Committee reviewed the independence.
time commitment and potential conflicts of interests of the
Non-executive Directors and concluded that each continued to
demonstrate challenge and independent judgement and to
devote sufficient time to discharging their duties.

Governance.

During the year, the Committee reviewed the matters which
are reserved for the decision of the Board and recommended a
number of updates which were adopted by the Board. The full
schedule of matters reserved for the Board is available at
www.tescoplc.com.

Additionally. the Committee considered recent corporate
governance developrnents and their implications for Tesco.

The new UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 and the

Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 apply to
Tesco for this financial year. An implemeantation plan was put in
place by the Committee for these new requirements. including the
implementation of a new Tesco Corporate Governance Code for
large subsidiary companies. This will allow us to report on them in
2020. including in this Annual Report.

The Committee reviewed compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, While the pension contributions of the current
Executive Directors are not yet aligned with the workforce, the
Remuneration Committee has agreed that the Chief Financial
Officer’s pension contributions wili be reduced to 7.5% by the
end of 2022. Full disclosure on pension arrangements for
Executive Directors can be found on page 53 of the Directors’
remunereation report.

'—rn vu. Auwo

John Allan
Nominations and Governance Committee Chair
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Stakeholders.

Our business was built on a simple mission:
to be the champion for customers. That
mission is the same today. Our customers
want great value products which they can
buy easily. To achieve this we rely on our
customers, colleagues, suppliers,
communities and shareholders.

Culture, underpinned by our values, plays a fundamental role in the
way that we do business and the delivery of our strategic goals and
KPls. Our values ensure that every colleague understands what is
important to Tesco, how we work together as a team and why
customers are the centre of everything we do.

Our Little Helps Plan identifies the most pressing sccial and
envircnmental chalienges facing the business, This provides a
philosophy for how our business should be run in a way that
makes a positive contribution to our colleagues. customers,
supplier partners and communities.

The Board recognises that having ropust governance structures
in place is vital to decision-making. The Board spends a lot of time
listening to and understanding the views of its key stakeholders.
when discussing matters at Board meetings these views form an
integral part of its decision-making.

Customers.

- Customers are at the heart of what we do. Every decision
we take is to ensure we deliver great value and great quality
for our customers.

Colleagues.

- The experience and expertise of our cofleagues is essential
for the delivery of our strategic cbjectives. Operating within
a culture of openness and inclusivity ensures that each
of our colleagues is focused on delivering great service for
our customers.

Suppliers.

- Building trusted partnerships with our suppliers is important
in enabling us to provide the best products at the best prices
for our customers and provides a great platform for our
suppliers to grow.

Shareholders.

- Akey objective of the Board is to create value for sharehalders
and deliver long-term, sustainable growth.

Community.

- The Board is committed to improving sustainakbility and helping
communities thrive by pesitively contributing both socially and
economically. We strive to make sustainable products accessible
and affardabie for all.

A key consideration of the Board in making its decisions is to
balance the sometimes conflicting needs of cur stakehotders to
ensure they are all treated consistently and fairly.

This was demoenstrated through the decisions made when
considering the proposed sale of our Thai and Malaysian
businesses. This decision followed a detailed strategic review in
response to interest received in selling the businesses. Directors
unanimously agreed that it would e in the best interests of all
stakeholders, taking into consideration among other things:

- the impact on our colleagues and customers in Asia recognising
that through the sale. significantly higher value could be
generated for the Asia business from a well-established
retailer in the region than could be achieved through the
continued ownership and investment from Tesco:

- the release of material value which will enable a stronger focus
on driving cash generation and returns to shareholders: and

- a further de-risking of the business by reducing indebtedness
through a significant pension contribution.

Set out on pages 41tc 43 you will find examples of how the Board
and its Committees have oversight of stakeholder considerations,
which are taken into account when making key decisions.

40

Directors’ duty under section 172 of
Companies Act 2006.

In discharging our section 172 duties. Directors are required to
have regard. among other matters, to the:

- likely consequences of any decisions in the long-term:

- interests of the company’s employees;

- need to foster the company's business relationships with
suppliers, customers and others:

- impact of the company’s gperations on the community
and environment:

- desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for
high standards of business conduct; and

- need to act fairly as between members of the company.

In addition to the above. we also have regard to other factors

which we consider relevant to the decision being made. Those

factors include the interests and views of Tesco pensioners and

our relationship with regulators and NGOs,
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The Board acknowledges that every decision it makes will not
necessarily result in a positive outcome for all of the Group’s
stakeholders. By considering the Company’s purpose. vision and
values, together with its strategic priorities and having a process in
place for decision-making the Board does however. aim to make
sure that its decisions are consistent and predictable.

Details on how the Board cperates and the way in which it

reaches decisions. including the matters discussed and debated
during the year, the key stakeholder considerations that were
central to those discussions and the way in which it has had regard
to the need to foster the Company's business relationship with
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders are set out on pages
40 to 43. More detail of the activity undertaken by the Board and
its Committees’ activities can be found on pages 38 to 39. 44 to 64,
together with the Strategic report on pages 1to 23.

]



Colleagues.

Culture, succession planning, diversity and inclusion.

We have more than 400,000 colleagues serving Tesco customers
around the world. We continue to celebrate the diversity within our
business and create an envireonment where colleagues can be
themselves and have an opportunity to get on. The Board

receives updates on key elements of the pecple strategy

which provides insight into a variety cf areas including culture.
diversity and inclusion. succession planning, future capabilities

and colleague engagement.

Workforce engagement.

Building on the long-estaklished forums and conferences at store.
regional and national level. the Board established four ‘Colleague
Contribution Panels’ during the year hosted by an Independent
Non-executive Director. These Colleague Contribution Panels

will normally meet twice a year 1o seek the views of our global
workforce on areas of specific interest to the Board and our
colleagues. The case study below sets out details of the panel
meetings held during 2019, with an overview of the discussions
and cutcomes.

In additicn to the Ceolleague Contribution Panels, we have engaged
with contractors through a survey to cbtain their views as part of
capturing wider workforce engagement. The main cencerns arising
from our centracted workforce was the impact of tax legislation
being extended to cover contractors in the private sector (IR35)
and access to Tesco technology platforms. An action plan was put
in ptace to ensure we were ready to comply with the changes
relating to IR35 and consider the concerns of the contracted
workforce, although the changes that the Government was due

to make to these regulations have now been deferred for a year.

This year, we have also launched cur new colleague-listening
crogramme, Every Voice Matters, across the Group which has
included updated guestions and faster results. This will allcw

more frequent feedback to be provided to the Board on business
priorities and how colleagues are feeling and will also enable timely.
more focused acticn to be taken. More than 254,000 colleagues
completed the new deep-dive survey in January 2020.

Case study.

Colleague Contribution Panels

The purpose of the Colleague Contribution Panels is for elected
colleague representatives to meet with designated Non-executive
Directors te strengthen the colleague veice in the boardroom.
while hetping colleagues to develop a better awareness of Board
matters and business priorities. Colleagues’ views from the first
‘what’s on your mind” focus session saw some key themes
emerging such as managing through growth and change.
opportunities to get on. technology. reward and recognition.

Follewing the Colleague Contribution Panels. the Board considered
the feedback and developed an action plan. Actions inciuded:

- providing colleagues with a deeper understanding of the
context of change:

- greater access to training and opportunities to get on:

~ improvements in technological capabilities:

- simplification through automation: and

- opportunities to further develop our reward strategy.

| Corporate governance

Little Helps Plan commitment,

Qur commitment to helping our colleagues get on is one of the key
pillars of the Little Helps Plan and also aligns to our people strategy.
Through the targets set by the Board. it aims to help colleagues
succeed by providing them with flexibility, skills and a competitive
total reward package. Delivery of the KPIs is overseen and
challenged by the Corporate Responsibility Committee and
reported to the Board.

Whistleblowing.

Oversight by the Audit Committee of the whistleblowing policy and
Protector tine, our independent and confidential whistleblowing
service, provides colleagues and suppliers with the ability to raise
concerns regarding misconduct and breach of the Code of
Business Conduct. The Board routinely receives reports on any
matters raised through Protector Line.

Wellbeing.

Building on insights from the 2019 colleague health survey. this year
we have worked with qur charity partners tc refine the colleague
health strategy and align our ambitions to the wider customer health
goals. Our work focuses on the little steps to wellbeing that colleagues
can take to help them live healthier lifestyles both while at work and
at home. Working alongside the mental health charity. Mind, our
colleagues and their family members have access to a confidential
employee assistance programme. This offers an independent and
unlimited 24/7 telephone support line should they be feeling anxious,
concerned about money, or needing some extra support in their life.
We also offer online learning modules. Mindapples. for colleagues to
explore and understand their own minds better.

Colleague Clubcard.

UK colleagues are offered a package of benefits through our
colleague Clubcard scheme to reward them for their hard work
and commitment to Tesco. The Board receives updates on
Clubcard initiatives, including the introduction of Clubcard Flus.

Health and safety at work.

The Board places great importance on looking after the safety of
colleagues. customers and anyone else impacted by our business.
and is responsible for making Tesco a safe place to work and shop.
Regular health and safety updates are provided to the Board.

Progress updates will be presented to representatives at this
year’s Colleague Contribution Panels and panel representatives
will feed back to colleagues. Our aim is to develop these Colleague
Contribution Panels to facilitate open discussions and ensure that
the Board is aware of the views of the workforce.

Having a designated Nan-executive Directer for each region
allows a deeper understanding of specific workforce-related
matters in each country.

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020
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Stakeholders continued

Customers.

Customer feedback surveys.

The Board values feedback from customers - it helps to ensure we
are providing them with what they want and need from Tesco.
Through customer surveys and engagement. the Board is able to
listen to customer views and take appropriate actions to ensure
improvements are made.

Understanding the customer.

We are innovative in the approaches we use to understand our
customers. We use multiple data sources including Clubcard and
we ensure we spend time with our customers to understand their
needs so that we can develop products and propaositions they witl
like. Insight about our customers is used to inform our decisions
and we evaluate our propositions s¢ that we Can learn and
improve continuousty.

In 2019 we launched Clubcard Plus offering additiconal
rewards for loyalty. Regular updates on custemer insight is
provided to the Beoard.

Competitive market.

The Board receives updates on the competitive market that
we operate in. which helps to form our strategy and goals for
the coming year - ensuring that our customers are at the heart
of what we do.

Through business updates from Tesco Bank, Booker, dunnhumby.
Tesco Mobile and through our regional updates, the Board has
visibility of customer requirements globally and the challenges
within each of their markets. This oversight assists the Board
with its strategic decision-making and enables us to offer the
services our customers need.

Innovation.

Innovation at Tesco can come across through our products, our
online or in-store experiences and the way we interact with cur
customers. It is essential that we keep innovating for the future to
meet the changing needs of our customers. which is why we have
a Group Innovation Team that ensures creativity and continuous
improvement is embedded it our culture.

The Beard receives updates on innovation and techneology
advances 1o ensure that we have the capabilities to meet.
future requirements.
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Shareholders.

Investors’ views and key market issues.

Senior management and the Investor Relations team held regular
meetings with existing and potential institutional investors and
analysts during 2019/20. The Investor Relations team provides the
Board with regular feedback on investors’ views and key market
issues so the Board keeps up to date with market conditions and
ensures shareholder sentiment is understood and considered in
decisions. The Chairman. $enior Independent Director and
Committee chairs hold meetings with institutional shareholders.
when required, to discuss key issues.

Annual General Meeting.

The 2019 AGM was webcast to allow all sharehaclders globally to view
the event. In 2019, all resolutions were passed with votes in favour
ranging from 93.38% 10 99.99%, with an average of 71% of votes
cast. All Directors made themselves available to answer gquestions
from sharehalders.

Store tours,

The Chairman hosts tours of our stores for private shareholders
to provide insight into Tesco's operations and obtain direct
feedback that is passed to the Board. For more detail about the
store tours that took place during 2019. see the case study below.

ESG and Capitat Markets days.

In June 2019, Tesco hosted ESG and Capital Markets days, providing
an opportunity for investars and analysts to hear more about
Tesco's strategy and performance, and ask guestions. Members

of the Board attended the event.

Funding and balance sheet strategy.

Throughout the year the Board has reviewed and approved various
aspects of the Group’s funding strategy. including liability
management, pension scheme deficit. market considerations.
future dividend capability. approval of dividends. capitai allocation,
balance sheet and tax strategy. It considers the views of
shareholders to: provide expected returns; ensure sufficient
capital is retained to invest in the customer offer and grow the
business in Jine with strategy: and ensure there are sufficient
reserves for creditors and supplier payments. Seniar management
maintains regular dialcgue with our relationship banks.

S

Case study.

Store tours

During the year, the Chairman hosted three

tours around the Orpington Extra store. which 1
celebrated its 10th anniversary since opening.

This stcre continues to be a focal point within

the Orpington community. i

The tour gave private shareholders the opportunity

te meet and talk to the Chairman and senior

management, receive a presentation on store

operations and learn about its role in the local ‘

cemmunity. Feedback from attendees enables the

Board to better understand what is important to our

private shareholders and balance this with what our
customers want. |



Suppliers.

Partnerships with suppliiers.
The Board is committed te building trusted partnerships with our

suppliers. which are crucial to delivering many of our commitments.

Through these partnerships. we deliver value and quality tc our
customers, and we help our partners to develop and grow.

With oversight from the Corporate Responsibility Committee.
we conduce initiatives such as working with suppliers to remove
hard-to-recycle plastic packaging material from muiltipacks and
tackling deforestation in our soy supply chains. it is important
that we work closely with suppliers. combining our knowledge
and expertise to help bring solutions to the industry. These
cellaborative activities provide direct insight into the challenges
and provide visibility on supplier progress which helps us to
meet our responsibilities and obligations.

In August 2018, we invited suppliers to a conference to talk
about how we can tackle the problem of packaging waste
together. Over two days, we gave details of our progress and
shared the latest part of our strategy. Updates on progress are
provided to the Board.

Supplier insight.

The Board receives feedback on supplier surveys which seek
suppliers’ views in relation to their interaction and experiences
with Tesco. Management action plans set out focus areas for
further improvements.

A responsible sourcing strategy has been developed to identify key
challenges across the supply chain. The Cerporate Responsibility
Committee continues to monitor progress against the strategy
and reports to the Board on specific matters.

During 2019, the Board visited a number of suppliers in Thailand
to gain a greater understanding of the challenges in the Thai
market and obtained first~hand insight into how farming is
undertaken in the region.

Treating suppliers fairly.

The Board places great importance on ensuring suppliers are
treated fairly. Expected behaviours are set out in Tesco's Code of
Business Conduct. Additionally. Tesco complies with the Groceries
Supply Code of Practice (GSCOP). The Board and Audit Committee
receive updates in relation to compliance with the Code of
Business Conduct, GSCOP and engagement with the Groceries
Code Adjudicator. More information on our compliance with
GSCOP can be found on page 66.

|
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Communities.

Contributing to the community.

The Board places great importance on helping the communities
we serve. The Little Helps Plan targets include supporting local
community projects and facilitating food surplus donations to
provide meals for those in need globally. Progress against these
actions and the impact that these actions have on stakeholders
are reviewed by the Corporate Respeonsibility Committee.

Renewable energy.

We are committed to sourcing 100% of our efectricity from
renewable sources by 2030. The Board regularly reviews our
renewable energy strategy. which is approved on an annual basis.

Sustainability.

Thrcugh the Little Helps Plan, the Board and Corporate
Responsibility Committee have oversight of sustainability
issues facing the business. We weork in partnership with our
stakeholders to contribute to solving some of the global
challenges. such as climate change. sustainability. food waste
and health and wellbeing issues. Through engagement with
customers, suppliers. non-governmental orgenisations and
other stakeholders this ensures alignment of our stakeholder
pricrities and helps us deliver our strategic cbjectives against
our Little Helps Plan KPls. Progress against these actions. and
the impact that these actions have on stakeholders are
reviewed by the Corporate Responsibility Committee.

Charity partnerships.

Through our health charity partnerships approved by the
Board. we support cur ¢clleagues in living healthier lives and
our customers in making healthier choices every time they shop
with us through initiatives such as in-store health events and
our partnership with Jamie Oliver promoting healthier recipes.

With our partner WWF. and overseen by the Corporate
Responsibility Committee. we are working to reduce the overall
environmental impact of the average shopping basket by half.

In order to achieve this, we have developed the Tesco-WWF
Sustainable Basket Metric to enable us to measure the impact of
an average shopping basket and understand how best to reduce it.

Progress against our health-related XPls is reported within the
Little Helps Plan on which the Corporate Responsibility Committee
receives updates. More detailed information on these initiatives
can be found at www.tescopic.com.
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Corporate Responsibility

Committee.

“Through the Little Helps Plan we demonstrate that
‘every little help makes a big difference’ and recognise
the global responsibility Tesco has to the communities
and customers it serves.”

Lindsey Pownall
Non-executive Director

{ Detaiis of the key areas of responsibility of the
Committee and the time spent on each of them
during 2019/20 are detailed below:

l Progress against corporate responsibility

strategy:

- Progress against KPIs

: - Update on Little Helps Plan activity

‘ — Regional updates
- Strategic plan and evolution of the Little Helps Plan

Responsible sourcing strategy:
| — Thailand visit
- Animal welfare
- Leforestation
- Packaging
‘ - Human rights and supply chain
Little Helps Plan communications/marketing
strategy:
i - Engagement with external stakeholders
1 - Oversight of the health charity partnership
i initiatives
- Strategic partnership with WwF
- Community programmes

Governance:

- Committee effectiveness

- Review of terms of reference
Oversight of ESG engagement
- Engagement with stakeholders
- Oversight of TCFD findings

Focus of Committee activities in 2019/20
Progress against corporate responsibility strategy

30%_

Responsible sourcing strategy 25%
Little Helps Plan communications/marketing strategy 25%
Governance 20%
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Dear Shareholder.
Committee responsibilities and key activities.

The Corporate Responsibitity Committes oversees the Group's
social and environmental obligations as a responsible citizen.
ensures its responsibilities are discharged in such a way as 1o build
trust, respect and confidence. and identifies and monitors external
developments which may affect the Group. It is an impertant forum
in the Board's oversight and challenge oh engagement with many of
our stakeholders including: customers: suppliers; NGOs; and health
partnerships.

The Committee held three scheduled meetings during the year,
which were attended by all members. Committee membership
together with attendance at meetings is detailed in the table on
page 30. During the year a review was undertaken to ensure that
the Committee continued to operate effectively and that its terms
of reference delegated from the Board remained relevant. The
Committee’s full terms of reference are available on our website
at www.tescoplc.com.

Progress against our corporate responsibility strategy.

Every little helb makes a big difference is a core value at Tesco.

It is at the heart of the Little Helps Plan and is how Tesco makes a
difference to the social and environmental challenges that matter
most to our customers. colleagues and communities. As part of
the corporate governance framework. the Committee tracks the
progress and potential risks associated with the Little Helps Plan
through regional updetes detailing how we are implementing and
delivering on the targets and actions of the Little Helps Plan. While
good progress has been made so far there is still more to
accomplish and the Committee is excited to be part of the journey.

As part of cur long-term business planning process and in line with
the Group’s principal risks, each country has set a three-year
roadmap for delivery of the Little Helps Plan targets. This year the
Committee reviewed the updated Little Helps Plan strategy and the
appropriateness of the key performance indicators. The evolved
approach will be cascaded across the Group during 2020/21.

Maore information on the Little Helps Plan
can be found on pages 21to 23 and on
our website at www.tescoplc.com.



Responsible sourcing strategy.

One of our business values is to treat people how they want to be
treated. To enable our customers to enjoy affordable, sustainable
and heatthy food in the long term. we need to work hand-in-hand
with our suppliers and customers to respond to the challenges
across the global food industry. We are passionate about leading
the industry in addressing sustainability challenges in our supply
chains, ensuring our preducts are sourced with respect for the
environment and the suppliers who produce them.

As a Committee, we were delighted that Tesco attained a high
score in the Oxfam second annual scorecard for supermarket
efforts on human rights in food supply chains. The Committee
continues to oversee the governance of medern slavery and human
rights and the processes in place to identify high-risk areas.

A responsible sourcing strategy has been developed in consultation
with a range of experts to identify key challenges across the supply
chain. The Committee reviewed the responsible sourcing strategy
and will continue to monitor the progress.

Through cngoing engagement with our stakeholders. Governments
and NGOs, we are committed to achieving net zero deforestation

in key raw materiais by 2020 and are taking the lead on initiatives
where we can make a real difference, although there are challenges
in the global market. In December 2013, we demonstrated our
leadership on deforestation by becoming the first company to
contribute to the Cerrado Initiative. committing £10m over five
years to support soy farmers in Brazil and help end soy-associated
deforestation in one of the most important areas of biodiversity.

We are committed to promoting animal welfare and to delivering
on our commitrment to treat animals hurnanely at all life stages.
The Committee has discussed the Group's position, minimum
standards and challenges faced in each of the countries we serve.
noting the differences from country to country due to differing
local standards and culture. Steps are being taken to address

key issues where it makes good business sense to do s0. The
Committee wilt continue to review the Group's position and drive
change where necessary.

We take the sustainability of our products and packaging extremely
sericusly and elways consider the impact of our business on the
envircnment. In September 2019, we launched a new own-brand
range of affordable plant-based products as part of our
commitment to making foca more sustainable. This delivers on
stakeholder recommendations for more plant-based food options
to be available to the custemer in an effort to improve health, and
regduce emissions and climate change impacts from food products.

In November 2019, we announced we will remove cne billion
pieces of plastic from products for sale in UK stores by the end of
2020 in support of our Remove. Reduce. Reuse, Recycle strategy.
We have remcved carrier bags from our onling deliveries and we
are working towards our packaging becoming part of a closed lcop
system. | visited one of our UK stores trialling some of these
initiatives and was excited by the progress and the enthusiasm of
our colleagues. The Committee discussed the progress being made
in the UK and other aress of the Group, noting feedback from
customers and lessons to be shared across the Group. As aresult
of these initiatives. we announced in January 2020 that we would
remove 67 millicn pieces of plastic through replacing plastic-
wrapped multipacks with plastic-free multibuys on tinned foods.
eliminating 350 tonnes of plastic from the environment.
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Case study.

i During the Committee’s visit to Thailand.

Committee members spent time at the Duang

Prateep Foundation. The Foundation operates a

| number of projects covering education, child abuse
and welfare of both the elderly and slum youths.

i The Committee were able to see how surplus food

donated frem Tesco Lotus is distributed to children

at the Foundation. Tesco Lotus provides fresh food

| from local hypermarkets and packaged food from
distribution centres.

In June 2019, members of the Beard visited Thailand to see the
corperate responsibility work in practice. with a focus on focd
waste and farming. This was an opportunity to observe food
surplus donations at a local Tesco store, meal preparation

using surplus food at the Duang Prateep Foundation and visits to
a local seafood supplier and cther suppliers connected to our
direct sourcing pregramme which strives to improve farming

in the region.

Little Helps Plan communications and
marketing strategy.

During the year, the Committee reviewed the marketing and
comrmunication strategy of the Little Helps Plan. The strategy
demonstrates the dependencies between a successful Tesco
and a thriving society and planet and is designed to show the
value we create acrass all stakeholder groups. Success is
measured through improvements in our YouGov brand health
index and bespoke sharehclder engagements. Since 2016, we
have increased customer trust in every single year.

In 2019/20, a calendar of events was approved by the Committee,
including Dance Beats which culminated in the world's longest
dance marathon relay at Wembley stadium. This was held in
conjunction with our health charity partnerships, British Heart
Foundation. Cancer Research UK and Diabetes UK, to support
the life-changing work of the charities. Over £im was raised

by our cclleagues, customers and other stakeholders. which

was matched by Tesco.

we have also launched a groundbreaking. long-term partnership
with WWF. The aim of the partnership is to improve the sustainability
of food, while ensuring it remains affordable for all. The Committee
has reviewed the key deliverables of the partnership and the
one-year plan tc establish metrics and measure progress. More on
this can be found in our Little Helps Plan report online

at www.tescoplc.com.

LR 00

Lindsey Pownall
Corporate Responsibility Committee Chair
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Audit Committee.

2 “The Committee has continued to support in monitoring the
integrity of financial reporting, the effectiveness of risk

governance and compliance matters.”

{ management and internal controls processes, and in

Non-executive Director

’ Byron Grote

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present this year's Audit Committee report which
provides an insight into the work carried out by the Committee,
our discussions and focus over the past year. The Committee
supperts the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of
monitoring the integrity of financial reporting, the effectiveness of
risk management and internal controls processes and governance
and compliance matters. The Committee alsc recommended the
appointment of the external auditor. Deloitte, as well as monitored
and assessed their effectiveness, objectivity and independence.
further details of this process can be found on page 50. As well as
the key activities undertaken or overseen by the Committee during
the year the Committee has, through a periodic and structured
rolling forward-looking planner, considered a variety of special
focus matters including:

— the accounting judgements used to assess the Group's
international assets, reviewing the store impairment model and
annual property valugtion. the impact of reparting against IFRS 16

- store buybacks and acquisition accounting;

- future cash flows and the management of the Group’s debt
profile: as well as receiving updates on the continuing
transformation programmes.

Looking ahead, these items will remain a key focus in 2020/21

and. as the full impact of COVID-19 emerges, the Committee will
continue to monitor developments and adapt its approach to best
support the Group’s stakeholders.

In October 2019, the Financial Reporting Council published a
thematic review of impairment disclosures. Having reviewed
their recommendations. we strengthened our impairment
disclosures. The Committee continues to oversee the integrity
of financial disclosures, ensuring that financial information is
presented in a fair, balanced and understandable manner.

In November 2019. the Committee held a dedicated product quality
assurance session during which we expiored the Group's adoption
of arisk management and controls framework and reviewed the
mitigations in place far thase principal risks relevant (o product
safety, set out on pages 13 10 18.

In support of the Board’s strategy to simplify the Group and reduce
total indebtedness. the Cemmittee considered an in-depth
valuation report in relation to the disposal of our pusinesses in
Thailand, Malaysia and China, including the recommended pension
contribution and return of funds to shareholders. The Committee
also considered the sale of the Tesco Bank mertgage book, and
debt capital management initiatives.

Committee membership together with attendance
at meetings is detailed in the table on page 30.
The Committee’s full terms of reference are

available at www.tescoplc.com.
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The Committee regularly monitored the Group’s known and
emerging risk exposures in relation to changes in the externai
regulatory and political environment. including the possible
impact of Brexit on the Group's risk management activities and
the recent emerging global spread of COVID-19, and the public
health responses of governments in all markets in which the
Group operates. Further information can be found on pages
13 to 18 of this Annual Report.

e

Byron Grote
Audit Committee Chair

Audit Committee membership.

All of the Committee members are independent Non-executive
Directors and the Board is satisfied that Byron Grote, Mark Armour
and Melissa Bethell have significant. recent and relevant financial
experience. Additionally, Byron Grote and Mark Armour, having
both held Chief Financia! Officer roles for significant pericds, are
considered suitably qualified in accounting and/or auditing. The
Board considers that the Committee members as a whole have
competence relevant to the Company's sector, in addition to
general management and commercial experience. The expertise
and experience of the members of the Committee is set out in
each of their biographies on pages 27 1o 30.

Robert Welch is appointed as Secretary to the Committee. At the
invitation of the Chair of the Committee other regular attendees
include: the Group Chairman, Group Chief Executive, Chief
Financial Officer, Group General Counsel, Chief Audit and Risk
Officer, Beputy Chief Financial Officer and representatives of

the externat auditor, each of whom can be asked to withdraw
from the meeting if necessary.

Audit Committee meetings.

The Committee held five scheduled meetings in the year. Each
meeting has a distinct agenda to reflect the annual financial
reporting cycle of the Group and particular matters for the
Committee’s consigeration.

The Committee has a structured rolling forward-focking planner,
which is designed to ensure that its responsibilities are discharged
in full during the year. This planner is developed with the Group
Company Secretary and its content regularly reviewed with
management and Deloitte. It is developed to meet the changing
needs of the Group as the year progresses.

The Chair of the Committee provides a written and verbal update
to the Board following each meeting and Committee meetings are
generally scheduled close to Board meetings in order to facilitate
an effective and timely reporting process.



Committee members met in private following each Committee
meeting and also held separate private sessions with the Chief
Audit and Risk Officer and the external auditor, in order to provide
additional opportunity for open dialegue and feedback without
management present. The Committee Chair also meets with the
Chief Financial Officer. Chief Audit and Risk Officer and external
auditor on an ad hoc basis and pricr 1o each Committee meeting.

Key discussions in the year.

The Committee carried out a number of in-depth reviews of
specific principal risk areas this year, considered emerging risks
and reported its findings and recommendations to the Board,
including the oversight of various Tesco Bank matters and a deep
dive into product quality assurance. The Committee considered
the significant progress made towards the Group's integration of
Booker and consequently endorsed the retirement of the Beoker
integration and synergy realisation risk from the Group’s principal
risks. More information can be found at page 14. The Committee
received updates from management in relation to: key financial
controls: the Group's transformation programmes; information
technology general controls and system renewals: treasury: tax:
pensions; insurance; and compliance. The Committee also received
update repcrts during the year from the Tesco Bank Audit
Committee, the Disclosure Committee and the Group Risk and
Compliance Committee.

The Committee monitors the activity, role and effectiveness of
internal Group Audit & Advisory (GAA). detailed on pages 48 to &C.
and at each meeting receives a GAA update covering a range of
management issues, including periodic reviews of the employment
of former auditor employees and non-audit services policies. the
internal audit charter. 2020/21 audit plan and executive expenses.

GAA provided regular updates on its work, including findings from
its internal audit programme. the status of management actions
to address such findings and the continued support provided to
the business. The Committee continued its focus on Group
transformetion and the enhancement of internal centrols and
received regular updates from GAA on the work that is being
undertaken to review and strengthen the Group's processes

in these areas.

Additionally, at each meeting the Committee considers reports
from our external auditor. Deloitte, in relation to their interim and
year-end reports, audit plan. audit fees. auditor independence
and non-audit services. early warning report, management letter
observations and updates on their ongoing audit work.

The Audit Committee is monitoring the cutceme of audit
market reform initiatives and accordingly will modify its
approach as required.

Key financial controls

The Committee has overseen the introduction of a number of
enhancements tc the Group's key financial contrals programme
during the year, which included: a refresh of the Key Financial
Controls environment, ensuring centrols remain relevant and
appropriately mitigate financial risk for our core processes: the
inclusion of IT general controls: the introduction of operating
effectiveness testing to strengthen cur contrel rigour: and changing
our organisational structure and resources to strengthen our 2nd
line of defence capability. Enhancements made through the
Finance Transformation programme provide effective tools with
which to menitor and report on our key financial controls. These
changes directiy support our management and mitigation of the
technoicgy and transformation principal risks. Further details can
be found on pages 13to 18.

Corporate governance

Impairment reviews

The Committee regularly received updates on various impairment
reviews across the Group and discussed the asscciated accounting
policies and judgements, underlying valuations. stress testing and
material triggers used in the impairment assessment. in addition.
the Committee considered the goodwill impairment testing and
the impairment of the Groug’s investments in preparation for the
disposals announced prior te publication of this report. The
Committee also reviewed recommendations from the FRC
Thematic Review on impairment reporting to improve disclosure.
See Note 15 for further information.

IT general controls

The Committee has continued to monitor the Group's

emerging risks in relation to technology and progress against its

IT remediation, data collection processes and transformation plans.
including a review of the Group’s technology platforms and systems.
The Committee received regular risk updates from the Chief
Technology Officer, the Chief Audit and Risk Officer and the external
auditors which were discussed in the context of the Group’'s risk
appetite. See cur technology risk on page 16 of this Annual Report.

Cash flow

In support of the Group's focus on managing free cash flow.
throughout the year the Committee received reports from the
Chief Finance Officers for the UK & ROI, Central Europe and Asia
which provided an insight into retail operations and impairment
reviews. The Committee regularly reviewed working capital
management arrangements, including consideration of the Group's
distributable reserves position. Regular updates were provided in
relation to the Group’s commitment to offset the dilution of shares
through the issuance of share-based awards. As part of the
Committee’s oversight of finance policies. reports on the Group’s
interest rate risk management and debt capital management
policies were received.

Brexit

During the year the Committee continued to consider the
management and mitigation of Brexit as a principal risk and
received regular updates on the business’ contingency preparation
with a particular focus on the possible impacts to: working capital:
goods and services for and not for resale; Tesce Bank's metrics:
and the modelling of scenarios as part of the Group's viabllity
assessment. The Committee will continue to monitor the possible
impacts of Brexit closely during the Brexit Transition Period.

Compliance

The Committee recelved and reviewed the annual ethics and
compliance data covering: privacy: fraud: anti-bribery: gifts and
entertainment; and the annual Code of Business Conduct
declarations. The Committee discussed the contrals and mitigating
actions employed to reduce instances cf fraud and compliance
breaches in support of the Group's overall compliance strategy
and culture. The Committee has assessed the effectiveness of the
Group's whistleblowing arrangements and reviewed compliance
with the Groceries Supply Code of Practice (GSCOP).

Product quality assurance

During the year. the Committee held a deep-dive session which
examined the approach 1o risk management controls in product
guality across the Group. The session explored the systern of
technical standards and accompanying assurance framework
which had been in operation across the Group since 2018. The
Committee evaluated the rigorous standards in place to drive focus
on improving food quality and safety standards for all consumers.
The Committee reviewed the business’ mobility and response
protocols in the scenaric of an emergency product withdrawal,

as well as the Impact of social and economic pressures on farming
and the risks in agriculture, especially animal welfare.
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Audit committee continued

Key activities.

Statutory reporting

in relation to the financial statements, the Committee
ensures that Tesco provides accurate, timely financial
results and impiements accounting standards and
judgements effectively. This includes our statusas a

going concern and longer-term prospects and viability.
The Committee reviewed and recommended the approval
of the 2019/20 interim financial statements, the Group’s
2019/20 preliminary resuits and this annual report. It
considered property valuations, impairment reviews.
reviewed the Group’s distributable reserves position in
advance of the declaration of dividends, reviewed corporate
governance disclosures and monitored the statutory audit.
The Committee considered a comprehensive report from
the Group's Disclosure Committee on fair. balanced and
understandable reviews, the Group’s compliance with
relevant regulatory frameworks and validation of
management’s representations to Deloitte.

The Committee is responsible for assisting the Board's
oversight of the quality and integrity of the Group’s financial
reporting and accounting policies and practices.

The Committee considered the viability and going concern
statements, their underlying assumptions and the longer-
term prospects. including the appropriateness of a
three-year period assessment reflecting the dynamic and
changing retail environment in which the Group operates.
see page 19. As part of its review of the financial statements,
the Committee considered, and challenged as appropriate.
the accounting policies and significant judgements and
estimates underpinning the financial statements. Betails
regarding the significant financlal reperting matters and
how they were addressed by the Committee are set out
later in this report.

Risk and control

On behalf of the Board. the Committee oversees the risk
management strategy and appetite and the appropriateness.
effectiveness of internal cantrol processes and UK
Corporate Governance Code compliance, further details of
discussions can be found on pages 13 to 18. The Committee
reviews and approves principal and emerging risks {including
climate change. Brexit and COVID-19) via updates from the
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UK & ROI, Central Europe and Asia Finance Directors.
This includes key financial controls updates, insurable risk
reviews, risk appetite monitoring and review of internal
control effectiveness.

During the year, the Committee has continued to

receive updates regarding the Group's cngoing Finance
Transformation programme and any actions taken to
address observations raised by Deloitte in its letter to
management following completion of the 2018/19 audit. A
number of recommendations have been implemented to
further enhance the Group's financial reporting systems
and controls environment. The Committee has also received
regular updates, including frem Group Audit and Advisory
and Group Finance directors, on the development and
effectiveness of the Group's key internal financial controls.

Risk and control further encompasses People and
Technology Transformation programmes: IT general controls
and security programme updates. Oversight of pensions,
solvency and liquidity, debt capital management, tax. Tesco
Bank lincluding the Bank’s risks} and corporate simplification
updates were also considered during the year.

Compliance

The Committee supports the Board’s in discharging its
responsibilities in relation to anti-bribery, whistleblowing,
GSCOP, annual and Group compliance statements. as well
as GDPR and privacy compliance. The Committee also
monitors anti-fraud, as well as gifts and entertainment
policy compliance.

External audit

The Committee considers the audit scope and auditor's
fees, auditor independence and non-audit fees, as well as
update reports, management letter cbservations and
effectiveness reviews.

Internal audit

The Committee receives update reports detailing progress
against next steps and recommendations. the 2020/21 audit
plan. internal audit charter. review of executive expenses
and an effectiveness review.

Other governance matters
The Committee annually reviews its own effectiveness and
its terms of reference.




Significant financial statement reporting issues.

The Committee considered the following significant issues during
the year. As part of these considerations. the Committee received

updates from management and sought assurance from the internal

and external auditors. The Committee was satisfied with how each

of the significant issues discussed was addressed.

lssue How the issue was adoressed by the Committee

Going concern  The Committee reviewed and challenged

basis for the management’s assessment of forecast cash

financiat flows including sensitivity to trading and

statements and expenditure plans, and for the potential impact

viability of uncertainties including Brexit and the

statement COVID-19 pandemic. The Committee also
considered the Group's financing facilities and
future funding plans. Based on this. the
Committee confirmed that the application of
the going concern basis for the preparation of
the financial statements continued to be
appropriate. and recommended the approval of
the viability statement. For further information
see page 19 of this Annual Report.

Disposals and The Committee considered the key judgements

discontinued made by management regarding the disposal of

operations Tesco Bank’s mortgage business and the disposal
of the Group's 20% share in its associate Gain
Land Limited. including the classification of
assets as held for sale and their valuation, and
the presentation of discontinued operations.
The Committee also carefully considered the
requirements of IFRS 5 'Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations’ regarding
the status of the Group’s strategic review of its
Asia business &t the balance sheet date.
For further information, see Note 1to the
financial statements.

Impairment The Committee reviewed and challenged
management’s impairment testing of goodwill
and the Group's portfolic of store cash-
generating units. The Committee noted that

an impairment modelling tool has now been
deployed in key markets, ensuring a consistent
workflow and approach to the process.

The Committee considered the appropriateness
of key assumptions and methodologies for both
value in use models and fair value
measurements. This included challenging
projected cash flows, growth rates, discount
rates and the use of independent third party
valuations and considering any impacts of the
uncertainties arising from Brexit. The Committee
also reviewed the enhanced impairment
disclosures. For further information, see

Note 15 to the financial statements.

The Committee reviewed and challenged the
estimates used by management in valuing
pension liabifities. including the discount rate.
For further information. see Note 29 to the
financial statements.

Pensions

Corporate governance
-

1s5U€e How the 1ssue was addressed by the Committee

Contingent The Committee further considered

lTabilities management’s assessment of the status of
ongoing regulatory investigations and litigation
relating to prior periods. The Committee
concurred with management’s assessment
that due to the stage of the remaining
matters and the uncertainties regarding the
outcomes, no pravision was required, and
disclosure as contingent liabilities at the year
end was appropriate. See Note 34 to the
financial statements.

Recognition and The Committee reviewed management’s
disclosure of reporting against the controls that exist

commercial over the recognition of commercial income

income across the Group. including Booker, and
considered the appropriateness of accounting
judgements adopted. See Notes 1and 22 to the
financial statements.

Exceptional The Committee considered the presentation of

items the Group's financial statements and, in

particular, the appropriateness of the
presentation of exceptional items. The
Committee reviewed the nature of items
identified and concurred with management
that the treatment was clear. even-handed
and consistently applied across years.
Consideration was also given to the quality of
earnings within underlying results. See Note 4
to the financial statements.

New accounting The Committee considerad the impact of IFRS 16
standards ‘Leases’. on the Group’s financial reporting.
The Committee considered the key judgements
made in determining the impact of IFRS 16 and
reviewed and challenged management's
presentation cf the impact. See Notes 1and 37
to the financial statements.

Internal audit - Group Audit and Advisory (GAA).

GAA is an independent assurance function within Tesco providing
services to the Board and all levels of management. Its remit is to
provide independent and objective assurance and advice to
provide insight. deliver velue, protect and help the organisation
achieve its priorities. GAA helps the organisation accomplish its
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk management.
control, compliance and governance processes.

GAA's responsibilities include supporting management in the
assessment and mitigation of risks to pretect the business,
delivering the annual audit plan as well as reporting on the
effectiveness of the systems of internal control. Management

are responsible for: establishing and maintaining an appropriate
systern of risk identification and internal control: and for the
prevention and detection of irregularities and fraud. GAA facilitates
the Group's risk management processes with the Audit Committee
and the Board. In February 2020, the Committee conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of the GAA function in protecting
the business. This assessment was facilitated by Lintstock Ltd. an
independent company. who distributed a guestionnaire-based
assessment to key stakeholders, collated the anonymous
responses and provided the assessment reports which were
discussed with the Committee Chairman, Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Audit and Risk Officer. This assessment included
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Audit committee continued

consideration of the structure and scope of GAN's work, its
capabilities, independence, the adeguacy and responsiveness
of the audit plan, quality of audit reports and its engagement
with stakeholders.

The Committee discussed the approach and findings of the
assessment. The overall assessment concluded that GAA was highly
effective, with good ratings across all measures. Improvements
noted included the adequacy and delivery of the audit plan and the
opportunity for stakeholders to contribute to it, quality of the audit
reports and the monitoring and follow-up on audit findings and
improved stakeholder relationships. In addition, there was
recognition of the level of independence of GAA and its expertise
and ability to handle difficult issues. The Committee alsc concluded
that GAA is adequately resourced.

Aspects highlighted to focus on included increasing the focus on
risk and responding and adapting 1o Tesco’s priorities and the
external environment. Additionally, a continuing focus on
technology including the use of data analytics to keep pace with
advances was deemed appropriate, Continuing to build on the
sharing of insights and audit learnings through the business was
also highlighted as a focus area alongside increasing the level of
engagement with the business to further develop relationships
within Tesco.

The Committee reviewed and agreed the GAA Charter and 2020/21
Internal Audit Plan in November 2019. Following the recent changes
to the A Code of Practice, the GAA Charter will be updated and
subject for approval by the Committee in July 2020. Due to the
evolving situation with the COVID-19 virus and the impact on the
business, the Internal Audit Plan will continue to be reviewed to
ensure, where necessary. it adapts appropriately to the changing
needs of the business.

External audit.

Deloitte continued as our external auditor for the 2019/20 financial
year. Itis our intention to put the external audit out to tender every
10 vears and to rotate the iead partner at least every five years.
During 2019. Panos Kakoulis. who had been the lead partner since
Deloitte’s initial appointment in 2015/16, retired and Simon Letts.
who had been part of the external audit team since 2015/16, was
appointed as the new lead partner and he tock responsibility for
the 2019/20 audit opinion. John Adam will replace Simon Letts in
April 2020, having undertaken a transition into this role in the
second half of the 2019/20 financial year. The Committee worked
closely with management to ensure that a suitable auditor
onboarding process was in place.

The Committee regularly reviews the role of the external auditor

and the scope of their audit. The Committee considers the

effectiveness of the external auditor on an ongoing basis during

the year. considering, among other things. its independence,

objectivity. appropriate mindset and professional scepticism,

through its own olbservations and interactions with the external

auditor, and having regard to the:

- experience and expertise of the external auditor in their direct
communication with, and support to. the Committee;

- content, quality of insights and value of their reports:

- fulfilment of the agreed external audit plan;

- robustness and perceptiveness of the external auditor in their
handling of key accounting and audit judgements:

- the interaction between management and the external auditor,
including ensuring that management dedicates sufficient time
to the audit process;
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- provision of non-audit services, as set out below;

- review and consideration of the results of the evaluation of
the effectiveness of the external auditor: and

- other relevant UK professionai and regulatory requirements.

The Committee conducted an audit effectiveness review of
Deloitte in February 2020, which was facilitated by an independent
company. Lintstock Ltd, who distributed a questionnaire-based
assessment to key stakeholders, collated the ancnymous
responses and provided assessment reports containing territory or
business-specific feedback to facilitate the evolution of services
provided te the Group. The review concluded that the external
auditor was highly effective and the Committee recommended to
the Board the reappointment of Deloitte at the 2020 AGM.

Deloitte contributed a further independent perspective on certain
aspects of the Group's financial control systems arising from their
work, and reported both to the Board and the Committee. The
process for approving all non-audit work provided by the external
auditor is overseen by the Committee in order to safeguard the
objectivity and independence of the auditor, and compliance with
regulatory and ethical guidance. Where Deloitte has been chosen.
this is as a result of their demonstrating the relevant skills and
experience to make it an appropriate supplier to undertake the
work in a cost-effective manner.

Qur policy for non-audit services reflects the regulations that
prohibit the provision of certain non-audit services, such as payrcll
services, by the external auditor and intreduces a cap on non-audit
fees. In line with the regulations. the Group is required to cap the
level of non-audit fees paid to its external auditor at 70% of the
average audit fees paid in the previous three consecutive financial
vears. The 70% cap will first apply to the Group for the period
ending February 2021, The non-audit fees policy is compliant with
new Ethical Standards for Auditars.

In 2019/20, Deloitte received total fees of £8.7m (2018/19: £12.0m)
consisting of £7.4m of audit fees (2018/19: £8.0m}, and £2.3m for
non-audit and audit-related services (2018/19: £4.0m). which is a
decrease of £1.7m in total fees versus the previous peried. The total
of Deloitte’s non-audit and audit-related fees in the year equated
to 31% of the audit fees. Fees paid to Deloitte are set out in Note 3
ta the financial statements and details of the significant non-audit
work undertaken this year are set out in the table on page 51.

In the period, Delcitte continued to report under the court-
approved Deferred Prosecution Agreement with Tesco Stores
Limited. Safeguards were put In place to mitigate any threats to
Deloitte’s independence by ensuring that work was conducted by
individuals not directly involved in the external audit.

‘We continue to take steps to ensure the level of non-audit fees
going forward is compiiant with the 70% non-audit fee cap rules.



Key.

@ Increase @ No change @ Decrease

External audit fees - non-audit and audit related services.

Level of fees in Level of feesin

| Corporate governance

Nature of service 2018/20 (Em) 2018719 (£ Change Safeguards to preserve independence

Provision of reporting 02 - Engagement team separate te the audit team with

accountant services relating to @ independent reviews and working with informed

Group disposals. working capital management.

and profit forecast reporting

Retail consultancy: provision of - 1.3 @ Engagement team separate to the audit team. The service is

administrative support relating limited to the provision of administrative support. Decision-

to the Group’s markdown price making accountapility remained with management.”

optimisation process™

Forensic services: provision of 0.6 17 @ Careful consideration of the scope of services to ensure the

data repcsitory services for advocacy and management threats are mitigated. together

information needed by the with working with informed management. Clear separation

Group and the SFO of the engagement teams has alsc been established.

SFO Monitor role: Deloitte has 0.6 01 Under the Deferred Prosecution Agreement Deloitte was

been appointed as Monitor by @ appointed to conduct independent reviews by individuals

the SFC under the Deferred not directly involved in the commercial income audits.

Prosecution Agreement. agreed

with Tesco Stores Limited

Other non-audit services: tax 0.4 0.4 Careful consideration of the scope of services to ensure the

compliance and advisory @ advocacy and management threats are mitigated, together

projects relating to businesses with working with informed management. Clear separation

outside of the EU and other of the engagement teams has also been established where

miscellaneous risk and required. From March 2017, no tax services have been

compliance services provided to entities within the EU as required by the
applicable Ethical Standards,

Interim review performed under 0.5 05 The interim review is considered a non-audit service under

International Standards of @ the applicable Ethical Standards. although the objectives of

Review Engagements (UK and the review are aligned with these of the audit.

Ireland) 2410

Total 2.3 4.0

+  Engagement pre-dates Deloitte’s appointment as external auditor,
Deloitte’s work concluded in January 2019,

Appointment of auditor statement.

Following & formal tender process. Deloitte was appointed as
external auditor with effect from the 2015 AGM. The Company is in
compliance with the reguirements of The Statutory Audit Services
for Large Companies Market Investigation (Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit Responsibilities) Order
2014, which relates to the frequency and governance of external
audit tenders and the setting of & policy on the provision of
non-audit services. The Committee reviews and makes a
recommendation to the Board with regard to the reappointment
of the external auditor each year. In making this recommendaticn.

the Committee considers auditor effectiveness and independence,

partner rotation and any other factors that may impact the
Committee’s judgement regarding the external auditor. The
Company intends to conduct a tender process in line with the
regulations and by nc later than 2025.

Fair, balanced and understandable statement.

The Committee considered this Annual Repert and Financial
Statements 2020, taken as a whole, and concluded that the
disclosures, as well as the processes and controls underlying its
production, were appropriate and recommended to the Board
that the Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020 is fair.
balanced and understandable while providing the necessary
informaticn to assess the Company’s position and performance.
business maodel and strategy.

Committee effectiveness review.

The Committee was evaluated this year as part of the Board
evaluation process and rated very highly overall. Further details can
be found on page 37. The review found that the Committee was
operating effectively and that its broad role and remit remained
appropriate for the current needs of the business. In order to
identify opportunities for further improvement, members
discussed how the Committee is functioning in the private
sessions that follow each meeting and agreed that: developing @
risk appetite approach for our principal risks, effective monitoring
of the control environment and overseeing risk management
remained a key focus for 2020/21.
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Directors’ remuneration report.

Annual statement.

“We have been busy this year building on our proud history
of fostering a culture where colleagues feel welcome,
included and fairly rewarded.”

Steve Golsby
Remuneration Committee Chair

]

Dear Shareholder.

| am pleased to present this year's Directors' remuneration report.
This report provides an update on our progress in implementing
the remuneration policy approved at the June 2018 AGM. The
Committee appreciated the high level of shareholder support
that the remuneration policy received. with over 93% in favour,
following constructive dialogue with a number of shareholders,
their representative bodies and the wider stakeholder group.
Overall, the Committee believes the remuneration policy is
operating well, which was reflected in a vote of 97.25% in favour
of the remuneration report at the 2019 AGM. N changes are
proposed to the remuneration policy for 2020/21.

During the year, we continued to review the implementation of

the remuneration policy and the Committee further reviewed
colleague remuneration and related policies throughout the Group
in light of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 {the Code).

As a Committee, we are committed to ensuring that the interests
ot colleagues, shareholders and other key stakeholders are
considered fairly, and in the context of wider societal expectations.

To live up to our purpose, our colleagues need to reflect and
represent the communities that we serve. The Committee has
been busy this year, building on our proud history of fostering a
culture where colleagues feel welcome. included, and fairly
rewarded. During the year, we held our first Colleague Contribution
Panels in each of our three regions, using the opportunity to hear
directly from colleagues across the Group and consider their views
on executive remuneration and other matters of interest to them.
Further details of this engagement are set out in the Corporate
Governance report. The Committee will continue to use the
Colleague Contribution Panels to explain to colleagues how
decisions on £xecutive Director remuneration reflect the Group's
reward principles andg as valuable insight when making wider
remuneration decisions. We have set out in the Reward Principles
section on pages 55 and 56 specific details of how we are
responding to the wider workforce aspects of the Code.

Key Committee decisions in the year.

The Executive remuneration framework has a number of

specific goals. It is designed to be clear, simple and consistent.
The framework must also motivate the leadership team to achieve
the Company’s strategic objectives. to lead and incentivise
colleagues. and to drive value for shareholders and other
stakeholders. It is also designed to be competitive in the markets
in which we operate and to be effective in competing for talent.

There were three key decisions for the Committee in 2018/20:
- setting challenging targets for annual bonus and long-term
incentives;

- determining 2019/20 incentive cutcomes for Executive Directors
and Executive Committee members: and

- remuneration matters relating to the appointment of
Ken Murphy as CEO and the stepping down of Dave Lewis
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Targets for annual bonus and long-term incentives.

Annuaily in November. the Board reviews and adopts the Long
Term Plan (LTP). Thereafter. in February the Comrmittee reviews the
metrics and targets of the annual bonus plan and Performance
Share Plan (PSP) for the one- and three-year performance pericds,
This review takes into account not only the LTP, but also the
performance of the business and market conditions since
November to ensure metrics and targets are approgriately
challenging, support the Group’s culture and strategy, and create
value for stakeholders. The Committee also considers the overall
construct of the remuneration package to ensure that potential
pay outcomes are appropriate and reasconable against different
performance scenarios.

The Committee remains mincdful of the long-term focus of
the business on the four key strategic metrics of: customer
satisfaction. cash profitability. free cash flow and earings
growth. The way in which the annual bonus plan and PSP align
will) and suppuort these metrics. as well as the delivery of the
Big & KPis. is set out below.
Annual bonus PSP
Financial performance performance
performance measure/ measure/
metric . Link to strategy tweighting} (weighting}
Group sales Grow sales {Big 6 KPI) v {20%)
Group Deliver profit (Big 6 KPl) v (50%)
operating profit
before
exceptional
items and
amortisation of
acquired
intangibles
EPS Earnings growth
{key strategic metric)
Improve operating cash v {50%)
flow (Big 6 KP and
Free cash flow
(key strategic metric)

7 (50%)

Free cash flow

No change was made to the guantum or the financial metrics of
the annual bonus during the year. The Committee reviewed the
strategic objectives comprising individual and stakeholder metrics,
which represent 20% of the annual bonus cpportunity. and the
significant progress made, and being made by the business on
stakeholder metrics. It concluded that while stakeholder metrics
continued to be core to the way we do business and would
continue to be used for certain Executive Committee members
who had specific responsibility for them. they would no longer
apply to Executive Directors with their strategic objectives being
based entirely on individual metrics.
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2019/20 incentive cutcomes.

As outlined in the Chairman’s Statement and Group Chief
Executive's review, Tesco has delivered a strong performance
against a backdrop of chalienging external conditions. With every
element of the turnaround plan complete. the Group has been
focused on generating sustainable growth within our disciplined
capital expenditure allocation through the three pillars of Growth,
Innovation and Enabling Technology. Further details can be found
con page 5.

Foliowing the end of the financial year. the Committee met and
reviewed performance under the annual bonus pian and PSP for
the Executive Directors and Executive Committee members. For
the annual bonus. Group sales and Group operating profit were
achieved at 10.9% and 47.9% of maximum, respectively. The
Committee used its judgement in evaluating the strategic
objectives. which varied from executive to executive. This led to an
overall outcome of 75.9% for Dave Lewis and 76.4% for Alan Stewart
of the maximum cpportunity. Further details of the annual bonuses
earned by the Executive Directors are reported on page 58.

For the 2017 PSP award. the Committee tock all relevant factors
inte consideration to ensure that the outturn was a fair reflection
of performance. In particular, the Commitiee considered the
appropriateness of the TSR benchmark in view of significant
changes in the retail landscape that were unforeseen when the
targets were set. As Ocado has seen a significant shift away from
being a retail-focused business towards a technology-focused
business during the performance period. the Committee decided
to remove Ocado from the TSR benchmark from 16 May 2018,
This was the date on which a clear pattern emerged of Ocado
pursuing a technology strategy.

The Committee also noted that during the performance period
management had taken decisions in the best interests of the
Company that resuited in lower cash flow. It therefore adjusted the
cash generation cutcome for the rightsizing of the Poland business.
In this way. the improvement in cash profitability, which has been a
key strength of Tesco’s successful turnaround, is reflected
appropriately in the 2017 PSP outcome.

In combination with the consistently strong performance across
all stakeholder measures, the overall outcome for the 2017 PSP is
48,8% of maximum opportunity. with awards vesting later in the
year. The Committee considered this outcome to be a fair and
proportionate result.

Appointment of new Group Chief Executive,

Dave Lewis will be stepping down as Group Chief Executive on

30 September 2020. Ken Murphy will be appointed to the Board
as Group CEO on 10ctaber 2020. Details of leaving and joining
arrangements for Dave Lewis and Ken Murphy can be found on
page 60. In summary. the Committee has approved good leaver
status for Dave Lewis and his unvested annuat bonus share awards
will continue to vest at their normal time, with unvested PSP
awards subject to pro-ration. No PSP award will be granted to him
in 2020, but he will receive a pro rata annual bonus for 2020/21.
The reward package for Ken Murphy has been set in line with the
existing remuneration policy. There are nc buyout arrangements.

Implementation of the remuneration policy in
2020/21 and fairness.

The Committee remains sensitive tc the issues affecting
executive remuneration and the views expressed by investors.
the UK Government and the wider public. particularly regarding
restraint when setting quantum. The Committee believes such
restraint is the right approach. while ensuring remuneration

remains reflective of the wider business environment and contains
appropriate incentives for senior executives to achieve the Group’s
business objectives.

In keeping with this approach. the base salary and maximum
annual benus and PSP cpportunities for Alan Stewart will remain
unchanged for 2020/21. The Committee is however cognisant of
the current market volatility and negative impact on shareholders
of the recent COVID-19 outbreak. while we do not believe it is
possible at this stage to make a sensible and informed adjustment
to the incentives, the Committee will use the discretion available to
it under the remuneration policy when determining the final annual
bonus and PSP outcomes and will make any necessary adjustments
to ensure that the Executive Directors do not tenefit unduly from
windfall gains when the market recovers. and determine a fair
outcome based on the performance of the Group.

The Committee will be reviewing the pension contribution rate
of Alan Stewart, currently 25% of base salary. In line with ocur
established reward principle of fairness throughout the
organisation and the pension contribution rate for Ken Murphy of
7.5% of base salary. we will ensure that the pension provision of
Alan Stewart is reduced to that available to the wider workforce,
currently 7.5% of base salary. by the end of 2022. The approach
for moving to this position will be set out In next year's
remuneration policy to be put before sharehaolders.

Dave Lewis’ base salary, maximum annual bonus opportunity and
pension contribution rate for 2020/21. until his departure, will
remain unchanged.

Given that the remuneration policy will expire at the 2021 AGM,
this year the Committee will undertake a review of Tesca’s
remuneration arrangements. This review will take into
consideration the governance gevelopments and emerging
market practices since the current policy was approved.
However, we plan to undertake a more fundamental review of
the policy in 2021/22 cnece Xen Murphy has had some time in
role, s¢ that his views can be expressed in the policy design.
This policy would then be put before sharehaolders at the 2022
AGM. We plan to continue regular dialogue with shareholders
and will hold meetings with Tesco’s largest investors on both
policies to cbtain their views and feedback.

Conclusion.

The Committee will endeavour to report remuneration matters
with clarity and transparency. We welcome any suggestions on
how we can add to these gualities in the future and any comment
you may have on this report.

S Gatsoy

Steve Golsby
Remuneration Committee Chair
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Governance summary.

Operation of the Remuneration Committee.

The Committee determines the Company’s framework and policy
for executive remuneration, as well as setting the remuneration
of the Chairman, Executive Directors, Executive Committee
members, Chief Audit and Risk Officer and Company Secretary.
The Committee also reviews the remuneration arrangements for
Group employees whose salaries exceed specified levels and
administers the Group's share incentive plans. In addition. the
Committee has regard to workforce remuneration, related
policies and the alignment of incentives and rewards with

culture when setting Executives’ remuneration.

The Committee maintains an active dialogue with shareholders
and their representative bodies and its terms of reference
were reviewed during the year.

Committee composition.

The Committee consists of Steve Golsby (Chair), John Allan. Byron
Grote, Mikael Glsson. Deanna Cppenheimer and Alison Platt, who
are all independent Non-executive Directors, except John Allan
who is Non-executive Chairman. Meetings attendance is set out on
page 30. No member of the Committee has any persona! financial
interest in the matters decided, other than as a sharehaslder, nor
do members have any day-to-day involvement in running the
business of Tesco. Rabert Welch, Group Company Secretary, is
Secretary to the Committee. Dave Lewis, Group Chief Executive,
and Natasha Adams. Chief People Officer, attend meetings at the
invitation of the Committee, The Committee is supported by the
Reward. Corporate Secretariat and Finance functions. No Directors
or Executives are involved in determining their own remuneration.

Risk management.

When developing the remuneration structures, the Committee
considered whether any aspect of these might encourage
risk-taking or behaviours that are Incompatible or inconsistent
with Tesco's values. environmental and sustainability objectives.
and the long-term interests of shareholders and other

Remuneration Committee activities 2019/20.

stakeholders. If necessary, the Committee would take appropriate
steps to address this. The Committee also has the discretion to
apply malus and clawback in certain circumstances.

Relations with Tesco Bank.

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority, Tesco Bank has a
separate, independent remuneration committee. The Commitiee
is consulted on. and makes recommendations in relation to. the
remuneration arrangements for Tesco Bank colleagues. with the
aim of encauraging consistency with the Group remuneration
policy. The Committee. however. does not make decisions in
relation to, or direct, how remuneration is managed within

Tesco Bank.

Committee advisers.

The Committee appeints an independent remuneration
consultant to provide advice on particular matters.

During the year, the Committee conducted a competitive
tendering exercise and agreed to retain PwC as its remuneration
consultant. PwC is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants’
Code of Conduct.

In 2019/20. PwC provided advice and commentary on a range

of topics including remuneration trends. the leaving terms of

Dave Lewis and joining terms of Ken Murphy. consulting with
shareholders and corporate governance. PwC fees for advice
provided to the Committee were £144,400 (2018/19: £120.700).
Fees are charged on a time and materials basis. PwC also provided
general consuitancy services to management during the year and
separate teams within PwC provided unrelated advisory services in
respect to corporate tax compliance. technology consulting and
internal audit services. However. the Committee is satisfied that
these activities do not compromise the independence or
objectivity of the advice it has received from PwC.

The Committee met seven times during the year and the following provides a summary of the key areas of focus:

Base salaries - reviewed base salaries in accordance with the remuneration policy and in the broader colleague context

Annual bonus - 2019/20 annual bonus: reviewed performance agaf‘nét targets

- 2020/21 annual bonus: reviewed and set metrics and targets to ensure continued alignment to strategy

— 2020/21 annual bonus: agreed to align threshold vesting level at 25% for both financial metrics

Performance share plan - 2017 PSP: reviewed performance against targets

- 2019 PSP: set challenging targets to drive perfermance
Governance and other - approved leaving terms for Dave Lewis and joining terms for Ken Murphy T
matters - reviewed pension provision for Alan Stewart

~ considered 2018/19 Directors’ remuneration report
- reviewed shareholder feedback on 2018/19 Directors’ remuneration report

- evaluated the Committee’s performance

- reviewed the Committee's terms of reference

Shareholder voting.

The table below sets out the voting outcome for the remuneration report at the 2019 AGM and the remuneration policy at the 2018 AGM.

Votes For Votes Against votes withheld

Nu}nber of shares Percent-é-ge }:Jumber of shares Percentage Number of shares

(millions} of votes Imillions) af votes i {rmillions}

Remuneration report ) 6989 97.25 198 2.75 1.5
Remuneration policy 6.732 93.15 495 5.85 35
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Reward principles.

The principles of a fair workplace.

To live up to our purpose. our colleagues need to reflect and represent the communities we serve. Tesco aims to be a place where colleagues
can get on, as they wish, irrespective of their background. We are proud of our long history of nelping colleagues develop their careers in Tesco.
Our approach to reward is guided by the following principles:

- Competitive: setting pay with reference to internal relativity and external market practices.
- Simple: helping all colleagues to understand how they are rewarded.

- Fair: achieving consistent outcomes through flexibie and transparent policies.

- Sustainable: aligning reward to business strategy and performance.

How our principles are brought to life.

Tesco provides colleagues across the Group with a competitive reward package. The Committee has responsibility for reviewing remuneration
and related policies of colleagues througheut the Group. This ensures the reward. incentives and conditions available to colieagues are taken
inte account when deciding the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior management.

In Tesco's UK business in 2019/20 colleagues received a reward and penefits package in llne with the elements set cut in the table beiow. The
purpose of each element is the same for all colleagues. which creates a consistent cascade throughout the organisation.

WLI-3®
Executive Hourly-paid
Committee  colleagues in Other
Element of pay Purpose and WL4-5 __stores colleagues
Base salary Base salary supports the recruitment and retention of colleagues of the calibre. capability and v v v
experience needed to perform their role. Base salary provides fixed remuneration and reflects the
size. scope and complexity of individual role responsibilities.
Benefits A market-competitive level of benefits for colleagues. which enhance the reward package and ' ' <
provide other reasons to work at Tesco, such as discount in store.
Pension The opportunity to save for retirement. with the employing company providing a match to employee v < v
contributions.
All-colleague  The opportunity to purchase shares in Tesco. v v '
share plans
Annual bonus  The chportunity for colleagues to receive an annual bonus for the delivery of business and personal F b s
goals. Annual bonus opportunity provides colleagues with a balance between fixed and variable pay
related to market practice based on role. At senjor levels a proportion of any bonus is deferred into
Tesco PLC shares to provide additional alignment with shareholders’ experience.
Performance Colleagues with responsibility for long-term Group performance are incentivised to achieve Tesco’s v

Share Plan strategy and create sustainable shareholder value.

* WL refers to Work Levels, which are Tesco's internal grading system.
o |t was agreed jointly with our unions in 2019 that hourly-paid colleagues in stores waould no longer receive annual bonus. replacing it with a higher rate of base pay.

The balance between the different elements of remuneration
depends largely on the rcle and senicrity of colleagues. Junior
colleagues’ remuneration is principally fixed pay. reflecting our
principle of helping to support a decent standard of living, where
regular pay levels help with personal budgeting and planning. For
more senior colleagues. remuneration is weighted more towards
variable pay. which can increase or decrease based on the
performance achieved against our goals. This approach to

pay design also reflects each individual's ability to influence
Tesco’s performance.

So while the balance of the elements of remuneration may differ.
we have a consistent overall principle that all colleagues should
be paid competitively against the relevant pay benchmark

Colleagues across the Group are regularly asked how they feel
about pay and benefits at Tesco. In our 2020 survey, 71% of
colleagues agreed that the total reward package at Tesco is

competitive. which is well ahead of relevant external benchmarks.

In addition. 85% said that they are able tc work flexibly and 76%
agreed that Tesco supports their health and wellbeing.

Over the last year, Tesco has continued te focus on building a fair
workplace, providing colleagues with the flexibility, skilis and reward
to get on as part of our overall employee value proposition. Our
ongoing initiatives include:

- helping our colleagues be at their best through our health and
wellbeing offerings:

- heiping young people start their careers, with increased
apprenticeships and support for developing employability in
partnership with the Prince’s Trust and Institute of Grocery
Distribution (1GD); and

- building skills for the future, with many online learning
programmes, creating greater choice for colleagues to work
flexibly and own their own careers.

In March 2020, we announced a 10% bonus for front-line colleagues
in the UK & ROI to recognise their incredible contribution in helping
customers get the products that they need during the COVID-19
pandemic. with similar colleague recognition schemes in Central
Europe and Asia.

we will continue to invest in our colleagues to ensure we remain an
employer of choice.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Reward principles continued

Group Chief Executive pay compared to pay of UK employees.

Tesco is a retail business with one of the largest workforces in the UK, employing over 300,000 colleagues, mostly in customer-facing rcles in
store or working in our distribution network. Given the workforce profile. all three of the Group Chief Executive pay ratic reference points
compare our Group Chief Executive’'s remuneration with that of colleagues in mainly customer-facing roles and there is relatively little
difference in the outcomes as shown below. Whatever the Group Chief Executive pay ratio. Tesco will continue to invest in competitive pay

for all colieagues.

The following table shows the ratio batween the single total figure of remuneration {STFR} of the Group Chief Executive for 2019/20 and the
lower quartile, median and upper quartile pay of our UK colleagues. The median pay ratias for 2018/18, which we voluntarily disclosed in last

year’'s Directors’ remuneration report, are shown for comparison.

Total pay ratia

25th percentile 50th percentile 75th percentile

Financial year Method pay ratio pay ratic pay ratio
2018/19 Option C 2471 226:1 209:1
2018/20 Option C 3651 3051 2791

Total pay and benefits amounts used to calculate the ratic

25th percentile pay ratio

50th percentile pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratic

Total pay and
Financial year Method benefits

Total salary benefits

Total pay and
Total satary benefits Total salary

Total pay and

2013/20% Option C

£18.086

£17.025 £21,057 £15.692 £23.046 £20.135

'* The total FTE pay and benefits for the relevant colleagues is based on the peniad from 10 February 2019 to 8 February 2020,

The reporting regulations offer three calculation approaches for
determining the pay ratio - Options A, B and C. The table above
was calculated using the approach determined by Qotion C, which
is deermed the moest appropriate methodology for Tesco.

As more than half of Tesco's colleagues work part-time, the
exercise required to determine full-time equivalent (FTE) is
extensive and particularly complex, making it not feasible to adopt
Option A. Option B was not considered appropriate because the
definition of pay for Gender Pay Gap (GPG} purposes is very
restrictive compared to the FTE pay and benefits used for this
exercise. This could result in socme unusual results for the best
equivalents chosen on the basis of GPG data alone (for example
the ratio for the P50 colleague being lower than that of the

P75 colleague).

Tesco decided to use Option C as it has completed comprehensive
data collation and analysis of all relevant colleagues for the purpose
of GPG reporting and was able to use additional pay data which is
not used for GPG reporting (including overtime, salary sacrifice
values and employer pension contributions). This approach
minimised the differing definitions of pay for STFR and GPG to
enable Tesco to select the 'best equivalents’ of P25, P50 ang P75.

The only adjustments made to determine the pay and benefits of
the colleagues identified as P25, P50 and P75 related to working
hours, basing amounts on a 36-hour working week.

Tesco believes the ‘best equivalent’ colleagues identified are
reasonably representative of the 25th. H50th and 75th percentiles as
Tesco has compiled pay on an FTE basis by using the most recent
GPG data, then adding further pay and benefits data to ensure the
STFR reflects total pay paid throughout the financial year. Tesco
reviewed pay across a sample of employees at each percentile
before selecting the employee which was most representative.

As set out on page 55. our reward framework across the Group (s
based on a consistent set of principles for all - that overall
remuneration should be competitive when compared to similar
roles in other prganisations from which we draw our talent,
Colleague pay is therefore determined using the same principles as
the pay for cur Executive Directors. On this basis. we believe the
median ratio is consistent with the Company’s wider policies on
employee reward. pay and progression.
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In the case of the Group Chief Executive, his total remuneration
comprises a significant proportion in variable pay and therefore
the single figure will vary considerably depending on the level of
performance against the metrics which drive the annual bonus and
PSP. In 2018/19 the annual bonus and PSP paid out at 52.5% and
28.8% of maximum potential compared to 75.9% and 48.8% in
2019/20, which has resulted in an increase in the pay ratio.

Gender pay.

Tesca's gender pay report for the year to April 2019 shows that the
median gender pay gap has reduced from 8.9% to 8.0%. This is
significantly below the UK national average of 17.3%. The median
bonus gap has reduced from 31.1% t0 25.4%.

These improvements indicate that the actions we are taking are
working. The remaining gap is largely driven by twe factors:

- male colleagues are choosing to work premium hours {Sundays,
bank holidays and night work), which attract higher rates of pay.
more often than female colieagues. If these premium hour
payments were to be removed from the calculation. then
Tesco's median gender pay gap would reduce to 3.6%: and

- & higher proportion of men are in more senior roles. As a
member of the 30% Club, we are improving the balance and are
committed 1o achieving a minimum of 30% of women in our
senior roles. This has already been achieved on our Board and
Executive Committee.

We will continue to focus our efforts across three core pillars:

- support and attract talented women: initiatives like the “Women
at Tesco’ network and ‘Own Your Career’ programme provide
opportunities for women to drive their careers forward. We also
monitor recruitment practices and insist on gender-balanced
hiring;

- equip and empower our leaders: all cur business leaders,
directors and managers have completed diversity and inclusion
training programmes: and

- sustain an inclusive culture: we review our policies and practices
to ensure a truly inclusive colleagus experience.

Through these actions. Tesco is creating a diverse and inclusive
workplace. where everyone is welcome.

Further information is set out in the Tesco Gender
Pay Gap Repert at www.tescoplc.com/genderpay.
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Annual report on remuneration.

Guided by our remuneration policy. we aim to reward colleagues responsibly and fairly sc that all our people are rewarded competitively
against the relevant pay benchmark for their role.

Tesco focuses on executive pay in the context of the overall spend on remuneration across the Group:

- Between 2015/16 and 2018/20, we have invested significantly in pay for our customer-facing colleagues, and the hourly-rate for UK store
colleagues has increased by 14%. Over the same period. the base salary of Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart has remained unchanged as set out
in the chart on page 62.

- Since July 2014, Executive Committee base salary costs as a proportion of the total Group spend on remuneration have fallen by 27% and
now represent 0.1% of total Group wage costs. During this pericd. the average total reward package for colleagues across the Group.
inclusive of variable pay outcomes, has risen by about 15%, as set out in the chart below.

- Share-based incentive awards to our Executive Committee are linked to performance. and the Committee remains sensitive to the views
of investors and other stakeholders, particularly regarding restraint when determining the potential size of awards.

Executive remuneration and all-colleague costs

Single total figure of remuneration - Executive Directors (audited).
The following table provides a summary single total figure of remuneration for 2019/20 and 2018/18 for Executive Directors.

Dave Lewis Alan Stewart
o 2019720 201819 4727019/2() 2018419

Fixed pay T
Base salary (£'000) 1,250 1,250 750 750
Taxable benefits {£'000) 62 61 62 59
Pension {£'000) 313 313 188 188
Total fixed pay (£'000) 1,625 1624 1,000 997
Variable pay o o
Annual bonus (short-term pay) 2,372 1641 1,289 834
PSP (long-term pay)® 2,428 1,513 1,324 825

Value delivered thirough corporate performance (£'000) 1,762 1.01 961 551

Value defivered through share price growth performance (£°000) 666 502 363 274
Total varisble pay (£000) 4,800 3.154 2,613 - 1659
Single total figure of rermuneration (£'000) 6,425 T 4778 3,613 2,656

' The PSP figures for 2018/19 have been adjusted, in fine with statutory reporting requirements. following last year's report to show the actual value upeon vesting of the award in June 2019
based on the then share price of 238p. The estimated value shown In the table for 2019720 1s based on the three-month average share price at 29 February 2020 of 248p. Values include
dividend equivalents added in shares since the date of grant.

“ The difference between the share price at grant of the 2017 PSP award. which will vestin 2020, of 180p and the three-month average share price at 29 February 2020 of 248p has been
used to calculate the value delivered through share price growth.

2019/20 fixed remuneration.
Salary

The salaries shown in the table above reflect a 2019/20 salary. Salaries are normally reviewed annually. with changes being effective from

1 July. The Committee considered the Group Chief Executive’'s and Chief Financial Officer's salaries dguring 2019 taking into account pay review
budgets across the Group. As a result. the Committee determined that the salaries for the Group Chief Executive and the Chief Financial

Officer would remain unchanged in 2018/20.

Benefits
Benefits are provided at an appropriate level, taking into account market practice and the level of benefits provided to cther colleagues in the

Company. Core benefits include a car or cash allowance and the benefit of a driver. private health insurance and life assurance. Executive

Directors participate in the Company’s all-employee share schemes on the same terms as other colleagues.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Annual report on remuneration continued

Pension

Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart received a cash allowance in lieu of pension of 25% of base salary paid in four weekiy instalments. As set cut on
page 53. the pension contribution rate of Alan Stewart will be reduced to align it with that available to the wider workforce, currently 7.5% of
base salary. by the end of 2022.

2019/20 variable pay.

2019/20 annual bonus outcomes {audited)
Annual bonuses for 2019720 will be paid In May 2020, Annual bonus is determined by financial metrics and strategic objectives designed to
support the achievement of certain strategic outcomes. The breakdown of annual bonus metrics and the payout for each Executive Director
is set out below. Half of the annual bonus payment is subject to compulsory deferral into Tesco PLC shares for a three-year period.

Performance targets {and % payout)

Weighting - CEQ payout CFO payout
{% of total (as a % of total (a3 a % of total
annual bonus Actual annual bonus annual bonus
Financial performance metric opportunity) Threshold Target Stretch achievemernt opportunity) opportunity)
Group sales™ 30% £65,988m £67,137m £68,285m £56,353m 10.9% 10.9%
(30% payout) 150% payout) (100% payout)
Group operating profit before 50% £2,579m £2,766m £2.953m £2.937m 47.9% 47.9%
exceptional items gnd amortisation {0% payout) (50% payout) (100% payout)
of acquired intangibles”” _
Qther metric 7 .
Strategic objectives 20%  See 2019/20 achisvement of individual objectives below 7.1% 17.6%
Total (% of total annual bonus
opportunity} 100% 75.9% 76.4%

" Actual achievement is based on performance over 52 weeks at constant foreign exchange rales 1o align with targets. Outcomes at actual foreign exchange rates were £56.527m (Group
sales) and £2,959m {Group operating profit). Areconciliation to statutory financial results 15 provided in the Glossary commencing on page 67

2019/20 achievement of individual objectives

Executive Director

Portfolio review {5.65%}

Dave Lewis

In February 2020, the Group completed the sale
of its stake in its joint venture in China. and in
March 2020 announced the proposed sale of its
Asia husiness for $10.3bn. This resulted in a
payout slightly below stretch of 6.0%.

Group-wide talent and
succession planning review (6.66%)

Capital allocation framework (6.66%)

Succession and talent management plans were put
in place for senior management during the year.
High potential WL3 colleagues were also identified
and development plans put in place, This resulied in
a payout between target and stretch of 4.5%.

During the year. the Group's priorities for
allocating capital were communicated te
the market. These were well understood
and accepted. This resulted in a payout
at stretch of 6.6%.

Finance transformation (6.66%)

Paymem strategy (6.66%)

Capital allocation review (6.66%)

Alan Stewart

During the year, significant progress was made
on the rollout of the finance transformation
programme. with projects belng delivered on
time and within budget. This resulted in a payout
between target and stretch at 5.0%.

During the year, a customer trial was conducted of As above, payout at stretch of 6.6%.

a concept loyalty and payment tool to further
enhance the customer offer. This resultedin a
payout slightly below stretch of 6.0%.

The performance outcome resulted in the following bonus payouts:

Stretch bonus

Deferred into

opportunity Actual bonus Actual bonus shares
Executive Director (% of base salary) (% of base salary] {(E'000) (50% of bonus)
Dave Lewis 250% 189.8% 2372 1186
Alan Stewart 225% 171.9% 1,289 645
2019 PSP award grant (audited)
The following summarises the PSP awards made to Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart in 2019/20:

Face value Threshold vesting Stretch vesting

Executive Director Tywd Date of_awarq Shares granted (% of base satary) Facevalue (£)" (% of face value) {% of face vaiue) vesting date
Dave Lewis Conditional award  20/06/2019 1,492,747 275% 3.437.498 25% 100% 20/06/2022
Alan Stewart Conditicnal award  20/06/201% 595.648 275% 2,062,500 25% 100% 20/06/2022

* The face value has been calculated using the market price on grant of 230p (20 June 2019}

© The awards have a three-year performance pernod which will end on 26 February 2022 and are subject te malus and clawback Details
o the awards were set out in last year's Annual Report.

" The vested shares. net of any tax liabihties, will be subject to a post-vesting halding period of two years.
The table shows the maximum number of shares that could be released if awards were to vest in full,

Details of the PSP award made to Alan Stewart in 2020 will be reported in next year’s Annual Report.

Dividend equivalents

of the performance measures and targets applying

Awards will incorporate the right to receive the value of dividends between grant and vest in respect of the number of shares that vest.

The calculation of dividend equivalents will 2ssume reinvestment of those dividends in Tesco PLC share
reinstatement of dividends in 2017, dividend equivalents on awards have been paid in shares.

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2020
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2017 PSP vesting (audited)

The PSP award granted in 2017 will vest in May 2020 based on performance over three years up to and including the 2019/20 financial year.
In determining a fair and proportionate ocutcome. the Committee discussed the TSR comparater group in view of significant changes in the
retail landscape cver the performance period. Since the awards were granted in 2017, Ocado has experienced significant share price growth
which analysis shows is directly correlated to the sales of its technology platform as opposed to its focd business. As a result of Ocado’s
divergence from the retall market (and hence as a direct comparator fer Tesco). the Committee decided to remove Ocado from the TSR
comparator group for the 2017 PSP after 16 May 2Z018. This was when Ccado signed its third major technelogy deal. establishing a clear
pattern of pursuing a technology strategy.

The Committee alse noted that during the performance period management had taken decisions in the best interests of the Company that
resulted in lower cash flow. It therefore adjusted the cash generation cutcome for the rightsizing of the Poland business. In this way. the
improvement in cash profitability. which has been a key strength of Tesco's successfuf turnaround, is reflected appropriately in the PSP
outcome. Taking all factors into account. the 2017 PSP perfermance outcome was as follows:

Payout Payout
Actugl (vesting (% of Number of
Performance targets land % payout] perfarmance level) maximum) shares to vest'*
_ - Dave Alan
Metrics (% maximum} Threshold Target Stretch Lewis Stewart
Relative TSR (50%) Performance - 6% p.a. 3.3% pa. 66.8% 33.4%
egual to the outperformance  outperformance
index of the index of the index
125% payout) - [100% payout)
Cumulative cash generation* [30%) £10.676m £11.176m £11.676m £10.738m 28.0% 8.4%
125% payout)  150% payout) (100% payout) o
Stakeholder: 0% payout) - {100% payout)
Customer {6.66%) Tpts - 20pts 14pts 54.1% 36%
Supplier (6.66%) 77% - 81% 78% 25.5% 16%
Colleague:
Great place to work [3.33%) 81% - 84% 82% 33.0% 1.1%
Great place to shop {3.33%) 45pts - 50pts 46pts 21.0% 0.7%
Total 48.8% 979,113 534,061

13

For the equivalent value in cash see the Single total figure of remuneration table on page 57

TSR was assessed against a benchmark index made up of FTSE 350 Food and Drug Retaflers lexcluding Tesco) and FTSE 350 General Retallers weighted 85% and 15%. respectively Ccado
was removed from the benchmark index for the ZQT7 PSP awards for the reasons set out above. The impact of the removal of Ocado from the TSR comparator group was to change the
actual perfarmance from (4.21% to 3.3% of the index.

The cash generation outcome was adjusted upwards by £240m to reflect the rightsizing of the Poland business. It may also be appropriate for adjustments to be applied in respect of cash
flow measures in the 2018 and 2019 PSP awards when they vest in future years.

As disclosed in last year's Directors’ remuneration report, the cash generation targets were adjusted in relation to Booker and the SFO fine and sharehelder compensation scheme
payments, as well a5 1o take Into account IFRS 16

Implementation of policy in 2020/21.

We have set out below how the Committee intends to implement the remuneration policy for 2020/21. We note that when determining the
final cutcomes under the annual bonus and PSP awards, the Committee will take into account any share price movements and underlying
Company performance and make any necessary adjustments to ensure that the level of payout is fair and appropriate and avoid any windfalf
gains, in particular those arising as a result of COVID-19. The full remuneration policy, as approved at the 2018 AGM, can be found on the Tesce
website at www.tescoplc.com/investors/corporate-governance.

Fixed pay.

Element of remuneration Dave Lewis™ Alan Stewart Ken Murphy .

Annual base salary £1.250.000 £750,000 £1,350.000

Pension Cash allowance in lieu of pension Cash allowance in lieu of pension Cash allowance in lieu of pension
of 25% of base salary of 25% of base salary of 7.6% of base salary

* Dave Lewis will receive his base salary and cash ailowance in lieu of pension until he departs on 30 September 2020, More detail on his leaving arrangements can be found on page 60,
= Asdisclosed elsewhere n the report. Ken Murphy will be joining as Group Chief Executive on 1 October 2020. He will recerve his base salary and cash allowance in leu of pension from this
date. More detail on his jgining arrangements can be found on page 60

Annual bonus.

Elermnent of remuneration Dave Lewis' Alan Stewart . Ken Murphy'-
Quantum+ Maximum of 250% of base salary Maximum of 225% of base salary  Maximum of 260% of base salary
Annual bonus deferral 509% of bonus awarded deferred intc Tesco PLC shares for three years

Annual bonus performance metrics  Group saies (30%)
Group operating profit before exceptional items and amartisation of acquired intangibles {50%)
Individual objectives (20%)
Group operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles underpin. below which no
portion of the bonus will be paid.

Annual bonus awards made in 2020/2110 both Dave Lewis and Ken Murphy will be pro rata to reflect the time of their service as Group Chief Executive In the year.

Annual bonus targets are considered by the Board to be commercially sensitive as they ceuld inform Tesca's competiters of its budgeting. Therefore. we do not publish details of the
targets on a prospective basis. However. we will provide full and transparent disclosure of the targets and the performance against these targets on a retrospective basis in nesl year’'s
Annua! Report at the same time that the bonus cutcome is reported.

To simplify the anhual bonus and better align 1t with market practice. the threshold vesting level for both Group sales and Group operating profit before esceptional items and
amortisation of acquired intangibles have been aligned at 25% (previously 30% and 0%, respectively).

The 2020/21 1argets were set based on 2019/20 average actual foreign exchange rates. Perfermance against these targets will be measured based on the same rates in order to ensure
consistent treatment of foreign exchange in both targets and actual performance
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Directors’ remuneration report continued
P

Annual report on remuneration continued

2020 PSP award grant

. Dave Lewis Alan Stewart Ken Murphy

Quantum No grant in 2020'' Maxirmnum of 276% No grant in 2020

of base salary
PSP term Three-year perforrﬁance period and two-year post-vest holding period

Weighting Performance targets {and % payout)

Threshold (26% payout) Streten 100% payout)
PSP performan_ce metrics and targe‘ts'”‘“’- EPS . ) 50% 16.5p i 24.7p B
Free cash flow (three years)  50% £4,435m £6.653m

* As Dave Lewis will leave the Company on 30 September 2020, he will not be awarded a 2020 PSP grant.

' As Ken Murphy will commence employment on 10ctaber 2020. he will not be awarded a 2020 PSP grant From 2021/22. he will receive a maximum PSP award of 275% of base salary
= Both performance metrics are defined in the same manner as the reported alternative perfarmance measures as set out on pages 164 1o 166.

Both PSP performance metrics have straight-line vesting between threshold and stretch.

T

Maius and clawback

The Committee has the discretion to scale back deferred share awards and PSP awards prior to the satisfaction of such awards in the event that:

- results are materially misstated: or

- the participant has contributed to serious reputational damage of the Company or one of its business units; or

- the participant’s conduct has amounted to serious misconduct. fraud, dishonesty, a breach of the Code of Business Conduct or material
wrongdoing; or

- the determination of the vesting or value of an award has been affected by an underlying incorrect figure in the accounts; or

- an errar or miscalculation in determining the vesting or value of an award is identified.

Where PSP awards are settled prior to the fifth anniversary of the grant of the award, the Committee shall have the discretion to claw back
awards up to the fifth anniversary of the grant of awards in the circumstances described above.

Cash bonus payments can also be clawed back in the circumstances described above up to the third anniversary of payment.

Leaving arrangements for Dave Lewis.

As announced on 2 October 2019, Dave Lewis will be stepping down as Group Chief Executive and as an Executive Director of Tesco PLC. His
last day as a Director and Group Chief Executive will be 30 September 2020.

Severance
As Dave Lewis [s a voluntary leaver, he will not receive any severance payment or pay in lieu of notice when he leaves the Company.

Annual bonus

Dave Lewis will be eligible for an annual bonus (cash and deferred shares) under the 2020/21 annual bonus plan. Any bonus paid would be
pro rata to reflect his period of service as Group Chief Executive up to 30 September 2020 and will be disclosed in full in next year’s
Directors’ remuneration report.

Unvested share awards

The Caommittee has determined that Dave Lewis will be treated as a good leaver in respect of his outstanding awards under Tesco's
discretionary share plans. Accordingly. his unvested deferred bonus awards will vest in full in accordance with their original time frames
Any shares released from the 2019 deferred bonus award may be subject to a post-employment shareholding requirement. with post-tax
vested shares being held until 30 September 2022. Additionally, the 2018 and 2019 PSP awards will vest on their original vesting dates to the
extent that the performance conditions are met and, on vesting, would be pro rata to reflect his period of service as Group Chief Executive
until 30 September 2020. The vested pro rata shares will be subject to a post-vesting helding pericd of two years.

Joining arrangements for Ken Murphy.

Ken Murphy will join Tesco on 1 October 2020. All pay and benefits for Ken Murphy have been set in line with the current remuneration policy.
The salary has been set at a level that the Commitlee regards as appropriate for the size and scope of the role, noting that the incumbent’s
salary had not been increased since 2014,

In line with the remuneration policy. Ken Murphy will also receive benefits, including relocation assistance for a period of 24 moenths and
relocation support in the event of him deciding to move his main residgence from Ireland to the UK. He will be required to build up &
sharehciding of 400% of base salary and to retain all shares that are vested to him. net cf any tax flabilities, until the requirement is satisfied.
He will also be subject to Tesco's pest-employment shareholding requirement. There are ne buyout arrangements. A summary of the
remuneration arrangements for Ken Murphy can be found on page 59 and above.

His service agreement is terminable on 12 months' notice by either party.

Additicnal Remuneration disclosures for Executive Directors.

Executive Directors’ interests in shares and shareholding guidelines (audited)

The Committee wants to incentivise Executive Directors to take a long-term. sustainable view of the performance of the Company. For this
reason, when the Committee locks at the remuneration paid in the year, it also locks at the total equity Executive Directors hold and its value
based on the performance of the Company. The table opposite sets out the shares held by the Executive Directors and their connected
persons {including beneficial interests) and a summary of cutstanding share awards. Both Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart exceed their relevant
shareholding guideline.
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Unvested deferred

annual bonus

Vested but
unexercised nil

1 Corporate governance

Crdinary shares Ordinary shares oplions/awards Unvested PSP cost options. not
beneficially owned beneficially owned subjectto  awards subject 1o subject to Current Shareholding
at 24/02/2019 at 29/02/2020 continued performance perfoermance shareholding requirement
Executive Director {value of shares}- {value of sharesl® " employment” conditions - conditions” (% of base salary] (% of base salary)™"'
Dave Lewis 167.691 173.160 1.533.613 4.904.848 4,383.629 65/% AD0%
(£415,874) (£429.437) )
Alan Stewart 16.576 120555 814.723 2.757.694 2,094,947 550% 300%
1£289.108) {E298.976)

¢ value of Executive Directors’ shareholdings based on the three-month average share price to 29 February 2020 of 248p
“ Between 28 February 2020 and 7 April 2020. Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart acquired 61and 62 partnership shares. respectively, under the ali-empioyee Share incentive Plan. No other

changes in Executive Director share interests occurred in the period.

Vested and unvested options and awards include dividend equivalents added as shares since the date of grant.
~ The Group Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer are required to establish and maintain a minimum personal shareholding of 400% and 300% of base salary. respectively
= Shares used to determine the shareholding guideline are shares beneficially owned and shares held in plans which are not subject to performance conditions on a net of tax basis.

Executive Committee members are required te build ug and maintain & sharehclding of at least 200% of base salary In Tescc PLC shares. this

is monitored regularly by the Committee.

Executive Directors’ interests in share awards

Awards vesting in financial year 2(14/15 2015718 2016417 2017718 2018718 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Dave Lewis™

Vested options© 475154 638.709 640.967 493,639 493,887 1,641,273 - - -
Options/awards subject to service - - - - - - 655,815 477,485 336,028
Options/awards subject to performance and

service (PSP) - - - - - - 1909722 1,340,103 1492747
SAYE options lexercise price 188p) - - - - - - - - 9574
Alan Stewart's' )

Vested options™"™ - 265.670 343.638 266,564 329,222 889,853 - - -
Options/awards subject to service - - - - - - 347,906 261.808 170.740
Options/awards subject to performance and

service (PSP) - - - - - - 1041666 730965 895648
SAYE opticns (exercise price 188p} - - - - - - - - 9.574

" No options were exercised by Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart in 2019/20. In 2018/19 both Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart macie a gain of £8,463 on the exercise of 11.920 shares under the

Company's SAYE plan

¥ 1.538,921and 839.411 ni! cost options granted under the PSP in 2016 to Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart. respectively. lapsed in 2018/20.
All vested options expire 10 years after grant. except SAYE options which expire six months after maturity.

" Vested options include dividend equivalents added as shares since the date of grant

* The range of the Company's share price for the year was 213p tc 258p. The year-end price was 229p.

Change in remuneration of colleagues and Directors

Trhe table below shows the percentage change in the remuneration of Directors and the average UK colleague from 2018/13 tc 2019/20.

As the only employees of the Company are its Directors, the Committee decided to use the average UK colleague as the appropriate
comparator group as they represent the majority of Tesco colleagues and the Group Chief Executive is predominantly based in the UK.

Salary or fees Benefits Bonus
{% change from (% change from (% change from
2018/19 to 201819 to 2018719 to
2019/20) 2019/20) _ 2019/20)
Average UK colleague . 3.0% 0% __100y%”
Dave Lewis 0% 16% _ 44.5%
Alan Stewart ) 0% 51% _ 546%
John Allan o 2.5% 63% o
Mark Armour . 2.8% 100% -
Melissa Bethell ] 2.8% 100% -
Stewart Gilliland o 2.9% 300% -
Steve Golsby ) 2.1% 3% -
Byron Grote o - 2.3% 100% -
Mikael Olsson 2.9% (601% -
Deanna Cppenheimer B 2.5% (50)% -
Simon Patterson . . 2.8% 100% -
Alison Platt B - - 2.9% 0% -
Lindsey Pownall B o 1.9% (20)% -

@It was agreed jointly with our unions in 2019 that hourly-paid colleagues in stares would no longer receive an annual bonus, replacing it with a higher rate of base pay.

Further details of fees and taxable expenses paid to Non-executive Directors are set out on page 64.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Annual report on remuneration continued

The chart below shows that between 2015/16 and 2019/20 the hourly-rate paid to UK store colleagues increased by 14%. The base salaries of
Dave Lewis and Alan Stewart were unchanged.

Total Sharehclder Return (TSR)

The graph below illustrates the Company's TSR performance {share price growth plus dividends paid} against the performance of the FTSE 100
over a ten-year period tc 29 February 2020. The FTSE 100 index has been chosen because it is a broad-based index of which the Company has
been a constituent member throughout the period.

While total shareholder returns have been increasing for Tesco in recent years, the period covered by the chart reflects a period of corporate
change. including the decision to make a significant reinvestment in our customer offer and withdraw the dividend in 2015, in order to focus
on improving the competitiveness of the core UK business and protecting and strengthening the balance sheet. The sector more broadly has
faced a number of challenges in recent years, including consumer uncertainty. price competition and cost inflation. Tesco is in a strong
position to geal with these challenges and, reflecting improving performance and confidence in the future prospects for the Company. the
Board reinstated the dividend in 2017, The turnaround goals shared in October 2016 were completed this year and the full-year dividend
payout ratio reached 50%. The many opportunities available to Tesco for further profitable growth were set out at the Capital Markets day in
June 2019 and the business continues at pace to implement these opportunities.

Group Chief Executive remuneration history

2010/ 201412 2012/13 201314 201815 2015/16 2016/17 201718 2001819 2019/20

Sir Terrry Philip Philigs Philip Philip 7 Dave Dave Dave Dave Dave Dave
o Leahy Clarke™  Clarke Clarke Clarke l:ewis‘ ! Lewis Lewis Lewis _Lewis  lewis
Group Chief Executive single figure of
remuneration (£'000) 7.160 4,595 1.280 1.634 764 4133 4,632 4147 513 4,600 6.425
Annual bonus outturn [% of maximum award) 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% - 96% 6% 73%  525% 759%
PSP vest (% of maximum award) 75%  46.5% 0% 0% 0% - - - 30% 288% 488%
Share option vesting {% of maximum award) 100% J00% 0% - - - - - - - -

" Philp Clarke elected not 1o take 2 bonus for 2011/12 and left the Board on 15eptember 2014

" The single figure total for 2014/15 includes one-off buyout awards made to Dave Lews to compensate him for awards forfeited from his previous employer. The awards were made based
on the expected value of the awards forfeited. taking inte acceunt performance at his previous employer and delivered in nil cost options which vest subject to continued employment by
Tesco. Since these were awards related to previous employment. and were not subject to Tesco performance conditions. there 15 no direct alignment with Tesco’s performance in
2014/15. The awards had no impact on the single figure for 2015/16 or any future years
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Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below indicates how the earnings of Executive Directors compare with cther financial dispersals.
2018/19 2019/20 %
-~ o £m £m change
Executive Directors’ remuneration® 7.4 0.0 35.1%
Dividends to shareholders® 357 656 83.8%
Total taxes paid'® 347 380 9.5%
Colleague costs™ 7.646 7.386 (3.31%

= Calculated on the same basis as the Single total figure of remuneration on page 57
Dividends to shareholders include interim and final dmdends paid in each financial year (see Note B of the financial statements for further information)
= Asset oul inthe Income Statement {see Note € of the financial statements for further information).
" Employee costs includes wages and salaries. social security, pension and share-based costs at actual éxchange rates (see Note 3 of the financial statements for further information).

For every £1 spent on Executive Directors’ remuneration by the Company in 2019/20. £66 was made in dividend payments, £38 was paid in tax
and £740 was spent on colleague costs.

Payments to former Directors and for loss of office (audited)

The former Group CEQ, Philip Clarke, who stepped down from the Board in September 2014 and ceased employment with the Company in
January 2075, opted on 15 March 2020 to receive a one-off cash lump sum in exchange for his contractual SURBS pension entitlement (the
Company's contractual unfunded retirement benefit scheme, which was closed to new entrants in April 2011). Philip Clarke’s pension from his
SURBS was previously disclosed alongside his pensicn from the Tesco pension scheme in his single total figure of remuneration in the relevant
annual report on remuneration until he stepped down from the Board in 2014. The value of the lump sum payment was £10.7m, recognising his
40 years with the business, and is valued based on the SURBS scheme transfer value minus employer National Insurance costs. This payment
brings to a close the Company's pension liabilities toward Philip Clarke in respect of both his Tesco pension scheme pension and SURBS
pension. No additional pension value above his contractual entitlement has been provided by the Company. The option of providing SURBS
members with an exchange for their annual pension of a one-off cash lump sum helps to de-risk the potential liabilities under the scheme
when it is chosen. There were no other payments made to former Directors that exceeded the de minimis threshold of £10,000 set by the
Company. There were no payments for loss of office made to Directors in the year.

Outside appointments
In 2019/20. Alan Stewart received £123,000 (2018/19: £122,000) in fees and a product allowance as a non-executive director of Diageo plc.
He does not receive any fees as a director of Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC {Tesco Bank),

Executive Directors’ service agreements

The Executive Directors’ service agreements, including arrangements for early termination. are carefully considered by the Committee and
are designed to recruit, retain and motivate Executive Directors of the calibre required to manage the Company. The Committee’s policy is for
Executive Directors’ service contracts to be terminable on no more than one year’s notice from the Company. The details of existing Executive
Directors’ service contracts are summarised in the table below.

Notice period

Date of service Notice period from txecutive
Executive Director agreement from Company Director
Dave Lewis 19 July 2014 12 months & months
Alan Stewart 9 July 2014 12 months & months

Funding of equity awards

where shares are newly issued. the Company complies with Investment Association dilution guidelines on their issue. These guidelines provide
that overall dilution under all plans should not exceed 10% over a 10-year period in relation to the Company's issued share capital. with a
further limitation of 5% in any 10-year period for executive plans. The current dilution usage of discreticnary plans is 1.23% of shares in issue.
wWhere shares are purchased in the market. these may be held by Tesco Employees’ Share Scheme Trustees Limited or Tesco International
Employee Benefit Trust (together, the Trusts) in which case the voting rights relating to the shares are exercisable by the Trustees in
accordance with their fiduciary duties. At 29 February 2020. the Trusts held 89.072.821 shares.

Remuneration disclosures for Non-executive Directors.

Non-executive Director fees

The fees for the Chairman and the Non-executive Directors are reviewed each year and may be increased if considered appropriate. The
Chairman's fee is reviewed by the Committee (without the Chalrman present) and the Non-executive Directar fees by a committee comprising
the Chairman, Group Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer. In 2019. following a review of independently sourced data, it was deemed
appropriate to increase the Chairman’s fee by 2.5% and the average Non-executive Director fees by 2.6%, from 1 September 2019. This is
below the average increase for broader UK colleaguss and is set out below.

1 November 2018 From

to 31 August 2019t September 2019

R . o o Iper annum! Iper annum}

Chairman T £670.000 £687.000

Non-executive Director fee £75,000 £77.000
Additional fees:

Senior Independent Director £27.000 £27.000

Chairs of the Audit, Corporate Responsibility and Remuneration Committees £31.000 £31,000

Membership of Audit. Corporate Responsibility. Nominations and Governance and Remuneration Committees £13,600 £14,000
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Annual report on remuneration continued

Fees paid to Non-executive Directors during 2019/20 (audited)
The following table sets out the fees paid to the Non-executive Directors for the year ended 29 February 2020. Non-executive Directors are
not paid a pension and do not participate in any of the Company’s variable incentive schemes.

2018/20 2018719
Taxable Taxable
expenses? expenses”
Nan-executive Director Fees (£'000} (£000) Total (£'000) Fees (£'000) {2000 Total (£°000)
John Allan ; 677 13 690 655 8 663
Mark Armour 90 2 92 B 86 - 86
Melissa Bethell™ 90 1 9 33 0.5 335
Stewart Gilliland™« m 2 103 7 0.5 71.5
Steve Golsby” ) 121 17 138 93 13 nz
Byron Grote 134 1 135 129 - 129
Mikael Qlsson 103 2 105 98 ] 103
Deanna Oppenheimer 144 9 153 156 18 . 174
Simon Patterson 20 0.5 90.5 86 - 86
Alison Platt®® 101 0.5 1015 .86 05 B6.5
Lindsey Pownall 107 8 U5 104 10 114

Taxable expenses include expense relmburserments relating to travel. accommodation and subsistence in connection with the attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the year. which

are deermed by HMRC to be taxable in the UK. John Allar also has the benefit of home security and healthcare for himself and his partner. The amounts in the table above include the grossed-up
cost of UK tax paid by the Company on behalf of the Non-executive Directors. Non-takable expense reimbursements have not been included in the table above.

®  Stewart Gilliland and Melissa Bethell joined the Board on & March 2018 and 24 September 2018, respectively,

¥ Steve Golsby became Chair of the Remuneration Committee on 1 February 2019, and Stewart Gilllland and Alisen Platt became members of the Nominations and Governance Committee

©n 18 Aprit 2019.

Beneficial share ownership {audited)

The table below outlines the current share interests of the Non-executive Directors. Shareholdings include shares held by connected persons.
Non-executive Directors are subject to the same share dealing policy as Executive Directors and there were no changes to their share
interests between 29 February and 7 April 2020. Non-executive Directors are expected to build up and maintain a personal shareholding in
the Company equal to the value of their base fee over a period of five years following appointment.

Crdinary shares held at

Ordinary shares held at

Current shareholding

Cornpliance with

Non-executive Director 24 February 2019 29 February 2020 (% of base fee) shareholding guideline
John Allan®™ 306,082 306.082 E v
Mark Armour 50,000 50.000 65 v
Melissa Bethell® B 2533 25.335 g4 X
Qwart Gillland ' 43,398 44 630 148 v
Steve Golsby 42,796 42,296 140 v
Byron Grote™ 280,500 280.500 928 v
Mikael Oisson ] 30.418 46,278 153 v
Deanna Oppenheimer® 110.820 114.048 377 v
Simaen Patterson 100.060 100.000 3 ¥
Alison Platt T 34266 35.246 7 v
Lindsey Pownall 70.000 70.000 231 v

* John Allan also held 388.000 bonds in the Company at 28 February 2020 and 24 February 2018

~ Melissa Bethelt has until September 2023 10 meet the sharehaolding guideline

' Byron Grote and Deanna Oppenheimer held their shares in the form of American Depositary Receipts {ADRs) Each ADR is equivalent to three Ordinary shares of 5p each in the Company.

Non-executive Directors’ dates of appointment

Value of Non-executive Directors’ sharehaidings is based on the three-month average share price to 29 February 2070 of 248p,

Appointment end
date in accordance with

Total length of service
as at 28 February 2020

Non-executive Director Date of appointment Notice period letter of appointment {years)
John Allan ) ~ VMarch 2015 None AGM 2020 5.0_
Mark Arrmour ) ) 2 September 2013 None AGM 2020 65
Melissa Bethell 24 September 2018 _None AGM 2020 14
Stewart Gilliland i 5 March 2018 None AGM 2020 2
Steve Golsby 10ctober 2016 ) None AGM 2020 3.4
Byron Grote . 1 May 2015 None AGM 2020 - 4.8
Mikael Olsson : _ 1 November 2014 N None AGM 2020 5.3
Deanna Oppenheimer t March 2012 None AGM 2020 8.0
Simon Patterson B 1 April 2016 B None AGM 2020 389
Alison Platt 1 April 2016 None AGM 2020 39
Lindsey Pownall ) 1 April 2016 None AGM 2020 3.9

Approved by the Board on 7 April 2020.

Steve Golsby
Remuneration Committee Chair
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their report, together with the audited
accounts for the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020.

Dividends.

The profit for the financial year, after taxation, amounts to £935m
(2018/1%: £1.270m) from continuing operations. The Directors have
declared dividends as follows:

Ordinary shares £m
Paid interim dividend of 2.65 pence per share® 257
(2018/19: 1.67 pence per share)
Proposed final dividend of 6.5 pence per share™ 637
(2018/19: 4.10 pence per share)
Total dividend of 9.5 pence per share for 2019/20 B94

(2018/19: 5.77 pence per share)

# o Excludes £3m dividends waved (2018/19 £2m)

= Subject to shareholder approval at this year’'s AGM, the final ordinary dividend will be
pald on 3 July 2020 to all shareholders on the Register of Members at the close of
business on 22 May 2020.

Certain nominee companies representing our employee benefit

trusts hold shares in the Company in connection with the

operation of the Company's share plans and evergreen dividend

waivers remain in place on shares held by them that have not been

allocated to employees.

Share capital and control of the Company and
significant agreements.

Details of the Company's share capital, including changes during
the year in the issued share capital and details of the rights
attaching to the Company's Crdinary shares are set out in

Note 30 on page 137.

No sharehclder holds securities carrying special rights with regards
ta control of the Company and there are nc restrictions on voting
rights or the transfer cf securities in the Company and the
Company is not aware of any agreements between holders of
securities that result in such restrictions.

The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2012 AGM
to purchase its own shares in the market up to a maximum of
approximately 10% of its issued share capital. No shares were
purchased under that authority during the financial year. The
Company is seeking to renew the authority at the forthcoming
AGM, within the fimits set out in the notice of that meeting and in
line with the recommendations of the Pre-emption Group.

Shares held by the Company’s Share Incentive Plan Trust,
International Employee Benefit Trust, Employees’ Share Scheme
Trust, Tesco treland Share Bonus Scheme Trust and Booker Group
2010 Employee Benefit Trust rank pari passu with the shares in
issue and have no special rights. Voting rights and rights of
acceptance of any offer relating to the shares held in these

trusts rests with the trustees, who may take account of any
recommendation from the Company. Voting rights are not
exercisable by the employees on whose behalf the shares are
held in trust.

The Company is not party to any significant agreements that would
take effect. alter or terminate following a change of control of the
Company. The Company dogs not have agreements with any
Director or officer that would provide compensation for loss of
cffice or employment resulting from a takeover, except that
provisions of the Company's share plans may cause options and
awards granted under such plans to vest on a takeover.

Major shareholders.

Information provided to the Company by major shareholders
pursuant to the FCA's Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules
(DTR) are published via a Regulatory Information Service and are
available on the Company’s website. As at 29 February 2020 and
the date of this report. the Company had received notification

of the following interests in voting rights pursuant to Chapter 5

of the DTR:

% of voting rights®

BlackRock. Inc. 6.64
Schroders plc 4.99
Naorges Bank 3.99

»  Pergentages are shown as a percentage of the Company's total voung nghts as at the
date the Company was notified of the change in holding

Articles of Association.

The Company's Articles of Association may only be amended by
special resolution at a general meeting of the shareholders.

Directors and their interests.

The biographical details of the current serving Directors are set
out on pages 27 to 30. The Directors who served during the year
were: John Allan: Mark Armour: Melissa Bethell; Stewart Gilllland:
Steve Golsby: Byron Grote: Mikael Qlsson; Deanna Oppenheimer;
Simon Patterson; Alison Platt; Lindsey Pownall; Alan Stewart; and
Dave Lewis who will stand down fram the Board on 30 September
2020. Ken Murphy will take up the role of Group Chief Executive on
10ctober 2020, subject to sharehclder approval at the
forthcoming AGM, and will join the Board on the same date.

The interests of Directors and their immediate families in the
shares of Tesco PLC. slong with details of Directors’ share options,
are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report set out on
pages 52 to 64.

At no time during the year did any of the Directors have a material
interest in any significant contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. A qualifying third-party indemnity provision. as defined
in Section 234 of the Companies Act 20086, Ts in force for the
benefit of each of the Directors and the Group Company Secretary
{who is also a Director of certain subsidiaries of the Company) in
respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office. to the
extent permitted by taw. In respect of those liabilities for which
Directors may not be indemnified. the Company maintained a
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the
financial year.

Employment policies.

We have continued to focus on ensuring that our policies are
simple, helpful and trusted. so that our colleagues are able to
source the information they need quickly and easily. We are
transitioning to online cclleague self-service which is now
available to all UK colleagues. as this supports and enables an
honest and transparent culture. The development of our
colleague help service puts informaticn into the hands of
colleagues themselves. ensuring policies are better utilised. and
available to all. These new platforms previde helpful feedback and
analytics which facilitate our understanding of how and where we
can continue to improve our offer.
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Directors’ report continued

Cver the last year we have continued to work with our recognised
trade unian in the UK. Usdaw, to improve our policies so that they
address the needs of all our colieagues. In particular. we have
doubled cur provision for paid paternity leave from two weeks to
four and also increased the ameount of paid maternity leave we
offer. Qur local and national forums are invaluable for giving
colleagues a voice and ensuring they are engaged with business
decisions that are made. Such feedback helps us drive our
business forward as our colleagues are closest to our customers.
To supplement these forums we have also set up Colleague
Contribution Panels which give our colleagues the opportunity to
share their views directly with our Non-executive Directors who
then relay these onto the Board for discussion and action.

Cur equal opportunities. diversity and inclusion policies support
managers and colleagues in creating a diverse and inclusive culture
where everyong is welcome. Our policies demonstrate our
commitment 1o providing equal opportunities to all colleagues.
irrespective of age, disability lincluding colleagues who may have
become disabled during service), gender. marriage and civil
partnership. pregnancy or maternity. race, religion or belief, sex,
or sexual orientation. To further strengthen cur commitment in
this area. we have recently commenced a review of all of our
family-friendly, flexible working and reasonable adjustments
policies across the Group to establish common minimum standards
that we can adopt in excess of legislative requirements. This is with
a view to improving diversity and inclusion outcomes across all our
companies and the geographies that we cperate in.

We offer a range of colleague networks which we have relaunched
this year, to maintain a culture of inclusivity, including: Qut at
Tesco; Women at Tesco; Black Asian Minority Ethnic Network;
Armed Forces Network; and Disability Network. We are proud to
be a Disability Confident Employer as part of the UK Government's
Disability Confident scheme. a Global Diversity champion with
Stonewall and a gold member of the UK Government’s Armed
Forces Covenant. This demonstrates Tesco’s commitment to
ensuring we create an environment where all colleagues have

the oppartunity to get on.

We actively encourage colleagues to become involved in the
financial performance of our business through a variety of share
and bonus schemes. While we have recently agreed with our unions
to consolidate the colleague bonus scheme inta basic pay for
colleagues in stores, we continue to operate such schemes

for ather colleagues in the business.

Political donations.

The Group did not make any political donations (2018/19: £nil) or
incur any political expenditure during the year (2018/19: £nil).

Compiiance with the Groceries (Supply Chain
Practices) Market Investigation Order 2009 and the
Groceries Supply Code of Practice {the Codel.

The Code regulates aspects of the commercial relationship
between 13 designated grocery retailers in the UK and their
suppliers of grocery products. The aim of the Code is to establish
and embed the overarching principles of fairness and lawfulness
within retailer and supplier relationships. Specific supplier
protections under the Code include: the obligation for agreements
to be in writing and copies retained: reasonable notice to be given
of changes 1o the supply chain or reduction in the volume of
purchases; and a number of provisions relating to payments by
suppliers, including obligations for retailers to pay suppliers in full
and without delay.

Retailer compliance with the Code is overseen by the Groceries
Code Adjudicator {GCA}. In 2019/20 we continued to engage
constructively and positively with the GCA and her office around
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new areas of interest: crates and trays; buying alflances; and our
approach to the Code compliance risk management. in addition to
longstanding topics such as delays in payment.

We have an established Code compliance programme at Tesce.,
One Stop and Booker which is embedded throughout our business.
we train relevant colleagues across our Product and other
functions in the UK and in Bengaturu on their obligations under the
Code. In this financial year, we trained 174 new starters and 953
colleagues completed our annual refresher training. Where
required. face-to-face training sessions were also completed.

At the date of reporting. 7,248 UK-based office colleagues have
completed their annual Code of Business Conduct declaration,
and those colleagues who work with grocery suppliers have also
completed a declaration to confirm they have complied with the
Code during 2018/20.

We continued to strengthen and transform the way we work with
suppliers through our product change programme. simplifying how
we do business and improving our supplier relationships. We have
implemented various new and/or improved supplier-facing
systems to improve transparency with cur suppliers. These
developments are having a positive impact on our supplier
relationships. In the GCA’s annual suppilier survey for 2018, 84%
of our suppliers recognised that we comply ‘consistently well’ or
‘mostly well” with the Code. In our own Supplier Viewpoint survey
for the second half of 2019/20, we are pleased that the results
continue to reflect the progress we have made with suppliers.
Both our total Group and UK & ROI score for suppliers rating their
satisfaction with Tesco as either ‘extremely satisfied’ or “very
satisfied” were our highest score to date of 77.8% and 80.2%
respectively. In relation to the areas discussed to this response,
our strongest scare in Viewpoint continues to be 'Tesco pays
promptly lwithin policy terms)’ at 89.7%. In addilion, ‘Madin Tescu
contact communicates well and is avallable when needed’ and
‘Tesco values our cooperation and treats us with respect’ saw
82.3% and 80.4% of our suppliers as either “extremely satisfied
or ‘very satisfied’ respectively.

This year, 45 Code-related issues {44 Tesce and one Booker) were
raised by suppliers. of which 39 related to de-listing and six to no
delay in payment, in addition to five issues carried over from
2018719, There were no issues raised by One Stop suppiiers in
2019/20. We received two formal Disputes (as defined by Part 5,
Article 11 of the Order); both matters were resolved between
Tesco and the supplier without the need for arbitration.

In line with feedback sent by the GCA to &ll designated retailers.

we have updated our internal repeorting framewaork to capture all
Code-related issues raised by suppliers with any member of staff.
Therefore. the scope of issues captured has widened for reporting
purposes. As at the end of the reporting period. we had resolved
45 of the concerns following further discussion between the buying
team and the relevant supplier. or between our Code Compliance
Officer and the supplier. Of the five remaining complaints to be
resolved. we continue our discussions with these suppliers, with

a view to resolving these matters in the near future.

Going concern, longer-term prospects and viability
statement.

The Directers consider that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable
future and have therefore continued to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements. The UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018 requires the Directors to assess and report
on the praspects of the Group over a longer period. This longer-
term viability statement is set out on page 19.



Events after the balance sheet date.

On 7 March 2020, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Best
Food Logistics (trading name of BFS Group Ltd). which will be

accounted for as a business combination. More information can be
found on page 8 in the Strategic repcrt and in Note 36 on page 142.

On © March 2020, the Group announced the proposed sale of the
Group's businesses in Thailand and Malaysia to a combination of CP
Group entities for net cash proceeds of $10.3bn (equivalent to
£8.0bn) before tax and other transaction costs. The transaction is
subject to shareholder and customary regulatory approvals and is
expected to complete during the second half of calendar year
2020. More informaticn can be found in the Strategic report on
pages 1to 23 and in Note 36 on page 142.

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization declared
COVID-19 a pandemic, the UK Government moved to a ‘celay’
phase on 12 March. announced social distancing measures on 16
March, and unprecedented 'stay at home' restrictions on 23 March.
More informaticn can be found in the Strategic report on pages 1to
23 and in Note 36 on page 142.

Directors’ statement of disclosure of information to
the auditor.

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of
this Annual Repoart confirms that:

- 30 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and

- the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have
taken as a Director in order to make himseif/herself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company's auditer is aware of that infermation.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking
information.

where this Annual Report contains forward-looking statements.
these are based on current expectations and assumptions and
speak only as of the date they are made. These statements should
pe treated with caution due to the inherent risks, uncertainties and
assumptions underlying any such forward-looking information. The
Group cautions investers that a number of facters. including matters
referred to in this docurment. could cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking
statement. Such factors inctude, but are not limited to, those
discussed under principal risks and uncertainties on pages 13 to 18.

Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of
relevant terminctogy including the words: ‘may’. ‘will’, ‘seek’, "aim’".
‘anticipate’. ‘target’. ‘projected’. *expect’. ‘estimate’, “intend’,
‘plan’. "goal’. ‘believe’ or other words of similar meaning and include
all matters that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of
places throughout this Annual Report and include statements
regarding the intentions. beliefs or current expectations of our
officers, Directors and employeas concerning, among other things.
the Group's results of operations, financial conditicn, liquidity.
prospects, growth, strategies and the business.

Neither the Group. nor any of the officers, Directors or employees,
provides any representation, assurance or guarantee that the
occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward-
locking statements in this Annual Report will actually occur. Undue
reliance should not be placed on these forward-looking statements.
Other than In accordance with our legal and regulatory obligations.
the Group undertakes nc obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result 6f new infermation,
future events or otherwise.

i Corporate governance

Climate change.

We have a longstanding commitment to reducing carbon emissions
from our operations and in 2017 we became the first company
worldwide to commit te science-based targets that are aligned
with the Paris Climate Agreement recommendation of limiting
global warming to 2 1.5°C trajectory. To achieve this, we need to
reduce absolute carbon emissicns frem our operations by 100%
from 2015716 levels. reaching ambitious milestones on the way:
35% by 2020, 60% by 2025, 85% by 2030 and 100% by 2050. In our
UK cperations, the ambition is to reach net zerc by 2035. Further
information on our climate strategy can be found in our Little Helps
Plan available on our website www.tescoplc.com/littiehelpsplan.

Greenhouse gas emissions.
Global tonnes of COe

BESE:[-E:;I:
2013/20 2018/19 2015716
Scope 1 1,252,038° 1378543  1388.168
Scope 2*
Market-based method 916,616" 1.045.760"  2.053.703
Location-based methad 1,597.144" 1.831.835° 2.609.983
Scope 1end 2 carbon intensity 19.157 20.837 29.57
kg CO:e/sq. ft. of stores and DCs)
Scope 3 819,984" 813.802° 1129342
Total gross emissions 2,988,638° 3.288.104° 4.572.832
CO.e from renewable energy exported 5167 593" 1.513
to the grid
Total net emissions 2,988,122 32875127 4.571.319
Overall net carbon intensity 26,397 28 847 3927

(total net emissions kg CO:e/5q ft.
of stores and DCs)

*  KPMG LLP was engaged to provide independent limited assurance over the selected
greenhouse gas emissions data highlighted in this report with a * using the assurance
standards 1SAE 3000 and 3410. KPMG has issued an unqualified opinion aver the
selected data. KPMG's full assurance statement is available at: www.tescoplc.com/
carbonfigures.

Our method statement is available at www.tescoplc.com/carbonmethod. Tesco uses
the market-based method for calculating scope 2 emissions for our total emissions to
account for our efforts in generating and purchasing low-carben energy. The location-
based method is provided for disclosure only and all intensity, net and gross emissions
shown are calculated using scope 2 market-based method.

Modern Slavery Act.

As per section 54{1) of the Modern Stavery Act 2015, our Modern
Slavery Statement is reviewed and approved by the Board on an
annual basis and published on cur Group website. The statement
covers the activities of Tesco PLC and its subsidiaries and details
policies. processes and actions we have taken tc ensure that
slavery and human trafficking are not taking place in our supply
chains or any part of our business. More information on our
statement can be found on our website.

Anti-bribery matters.

We have a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and our anti-bribery
programme operates around the Group. The programme is built
around a clear understanding of how and where bribery risks affect
our business and comprises key controls such as: policies
{anti-bribery, gifts and entertainment, conflicts of interest,
charitable denaticns): procedures such as conducting due diligence
on suppliers (in particular those who will engage public officials on
our behalfl: training colleagues on bribery risks every year: and
ongoing assurance programmes to test that the controls are
functioning effectively. Bribery risk management is discussed at
senior leadership groups in each business unit, including at the
Group level, and also twice a year with the Audit Committee.
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Directors’ report continued

Additional disclosures.

Other information that is relevant to the Directors’ report, and
which is Incorparated by reference into this report, can be locateq
as follows-

S
Events after the reporting period 142
Future developments 11023
Research and development 4105
Financial instruments and firancial nsk management 116 1o 130
Corporate governance report 24t0 51
Colleague engagement 4
Stakeholder engagement 40tc 43
Section 177 statement 23

Disclosures required pursuant to |:sting Rule 9.8 4R can be found
on the following pages.

)

Statement of capitatised interest w7
Allotment for cash of equity securities 137
Wanver of dividends €5

The Company nas chosen, in accordance with Section 414C(11M) of
the Companies Act 2008, and as noted in tnis Directors’ report. to
INclude certa.n mattersin its Strategic repart that wouid otherwise
be required 1o be disctased in this Directars’ report The Strategic
report can be found on pages 1to 23

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities.

The Directors are responsible for prepar.rig the Arnual Report
and the financial statements in accordance wth appicable law
and regutations,

Cormpany law requires the Directors to prepare financ.a:
statements for each financial year. Under tnat law the

Directors are required to prepare the Groun firancial statements
in accordance with Interrational Financial Reportung Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union ang Article 4 of the
Internationa: Accounting Standard (IAS} Regulation and nave also
chosen to prepare the Parent Company financiai statements in
accordance with Financia Reporting Standard (FR5]*01 Reduced
Drsclosure Framework, Under company law the Directors must not

approve the financia' statements unless they are satisfled that they

gve a true and far view of the state of affairs of the Compary and

of tre proft or loss of the Compary o that period

In preparing tre Parent Compary financial statemeris. the

Directors are required to

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently:

- make [udgemerts and accounting estimates that are
reasaonable and prudent:

- state whether FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has
teen followed. subject to any rmaterial departures disclosed
and explained inthe financial statements: and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate ta presume that the company will
continue in business,
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in preparing the Parent Company financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

- properly select and apply accounting policies:

- present information. including accounting policies. in a manner
that provides relevant. reilable. comparab'e and understandable
information:

- provide ado:tional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are nsufficient to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions. other events
and conditions on the entity’s financal position and financiat
performance: and

- make an assessment of the Company’s ablity to continue as a
going concern.

The Directors are responsibie for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
frnancial pesition of the Company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006
Tney are aisc responsible for safeguard.ng the assets of the
Company and rence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregutarities. The Directors are
responsible for tne maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and finarcial information incluged on the Company's website
Legislation in the Un'ted K'ngdom governing the preparation and
wssemination of financial statemenits may differ from legislation
inctner urisdictions Each of the Directors, whose names arg
functions are set out on pages 27 to 30, confirm that. to the best
of their knowledge

- thefinancial statements. prepared In accordance with the
re‘evant finranc.a reporting framework. give a true and fa ~ view
of the assets. -abiities. financial pos't-on and profit or loss of the
Compary and the undertak.rgs includen in the consoldst.arn
taken as awhole

— the strategc report includes a farr review of the devetopmeant
and per formarce of the bus ness ang tne position of the
Company and the Lndertakings included in the consoiidation
taken as a whiole, 1ogether with a description of the princiga
risks and uncertant es that they face: and

- the Annual Report and Financial Statements taken as a who'e.
are fair, balarced and understandable ard provide the
wformation necessary for shareho'ders to assess the Company s
position and performance, busiress mede! and strategy

By order of tre Board

AN AT
Robért elch

Group Company Secretary
7 April 2020

Tesco PLC
Registerea rumber 30445740



Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Tesco PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- the financial statements of Tesco PLC {the *Parent Company’} and
its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's and of the Parent Company's affairs as at 29 February
2020 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;

- the Parent Company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting
Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework™ and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

- the Group income statement;

- the Group statement of comprehensive income:

- the Group and Parent Company balance sheets;

— the Group and Parent Company statements of changes in equity:
- the Group cash flow statement: and

— the related Notes 1to 37 of the Group financial statements and
Notes 1to 17 of the Parent Company financial statements.

The financial reperting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law
and IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Union. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of
the Parent Company financial statements is applicable law and
United Kingdom Accounting Standards. including FRS 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted cur audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)} and applicable law.

Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK. including the Financial
Reporting Council’s (the *FRC’s’} Ethical Standard as applied to
listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
confirm that the non-sudit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group or the Parent Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
ang appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identifted in the current year were:

@ proposed disposal of the Asia business:

© store impairment review;

© recognition of commercial income:

© pension obligation valuation:

© contingent liabilities:

© presentation of the Group's income statement:

© Tesco Bank loan impairment: and

© retail technotogy environment. including IT security.

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

@ Newly identified
© Similar level of risk

Materiality

We have considered a number of benchmarks and determined that
it is appropriate to base materiality on profit before tax before
exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles. The
materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was
£85m (2018/19: £80m} which equates to 4.3% (201819 5.1%
restated) of profit before tax before exceptional items and
ameortisation of acquired intangibles. Refer to page 94 for further
details of exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles.

Scoping

Qur audit scoping provides full scope audit coverage of 96%
(2018/19: 95%} of revenue and 92% (2018/1%: 84% restated)
of net assets.

Significant changes in our approach
Qur 2019/20 report includes a new key audit matter relating to
the proposed disposal of the Asia business.

We ng longer report the following as key audit matters:

- Booker IFRS 3 acquisition accounting judgements and
presentation of results - as the related judgements were
concluded upon in 2018/19; and

- IFRS 16 presentation and disclosure key audit matter - as the
key estimates and judgements underpinning management’s
IFRS 16 impact assessment and related transition disclosures
were concluded upon in 2018/13.

There are no other significant changes in our approach except for
changes in key audit matters as described above.

Conclusions relating to going concern, principal risks
and viability statement

Going concern

We have reviewed the directors’ statement on page 68 1o the
financial statements about whether they considered it appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them
and their identification of any material uncertainties to the Group's
and company’s ability to continue to do so cver a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We considered as part of our risk assessment the nature of the
group. its business model and refated risks including where relevant
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and Brexit. the requirements
of the applicable financial reporting framework and the system of
internal control. We evaluated the directors’ assessment of the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. inciuding challenging
the underlying data and key assumptions used to make the
assessment, and evaluated the directors’ plans for future actions
in relation te their going concern assessment.

Wwe are required to state whether we have anything material to
add or draw attention to in relation to that statement required by
Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) and report if the statement is materially
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

Going concern is the basis of preparation of the financial
staterments that assumes an entity will remain in operation for a
period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the
financial statements.

we confirm that we have nothing material to report. add or draw
attention to in respect of these matters.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Tesco PLC continued

Principal risks and viability statement

Based solely on reading the directors' statements and considering
whether they were consistent with the knowledge we obtained in
the course of the audit, including the knowledge obtained in the
evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and the
company’s ability tc continue as a going concern, we are required
to state whether we have anything material to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

- the disclosures on pages 13 to 18 that describe the principal risks.
procedures to identify emerging risks. and an explanation of how
these are being managed or mitigated;

- thedirectors’ confirmation on page 13 that they have carried out
a robust assessment of the principal and emerging risks facing
the Group. including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity; or

- the directors’ explanation on page 19 as to how they have
assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they
have done 50 and why they consider that period te be
appropriate. and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet. its fiabilities as they fall due over the pericd
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary gualifications or assumptions.

We are also reguired 10 report whether the directors’ statement
relating to the prospects of the Group required by Listing Rule
9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained
in the audit.

Viability means the ability of the Group to continue over the time
horizon considered appropriate by the directors.

We confirm that we have nothing material to report. add or draw
attenticn to in respect of these matters.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in cur audit of the

financial statements of the current pericd and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the
allocation of resources in the audit: and directing the efforts of
the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinicn thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

How the scope of our audit
responded 10 the key audit matter Key observations

fey audit matter description
© Proposed disposal of the Asia business

As described in Note 1 (Accounting policies. judgements and estimates)
and Note 36 (Events after the reporting period} of the financial

statements, on 9 March 2020, the Group announced the proposed sale of

its Asia business for net cash proceeds of $10.3 billion (equivalent tc £8.0
billion) before tax and other transaction costs. | he transaction is subject
to shareholder and regulatory approval and is expected to complete
during the second half of calendar year 2020.

Under IFRS 5— Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. the Group is required to assess whether the Asia business
should be presented as ‘Held for sale” and the financial results of the
busirness be included within ‘Discontinued operations”,

We identified a key audit matter relating to management's judgement

that the Group was not committed to the disposal as at 29 February 2020

and therefore the results continue to be presented within continuing
operations.

As disclosed in Note 1of the financial statements, the Group has
concluded that at the balance sheet date the criteria for held for sale
were not met and consequently the financial results of the Asla business
have not been classified as discontinued operations.

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key audit matter is set
out on page 49.

Our audit hrocedures included chailenging We are satisfied that the

whether the presentation of assets and Group was not committed to
liabilities in the balance sheet and a disposal of the businesses
financial results in the income statement  as at 29 February 2020 and
of the Asia business was in line wilh Lhe Lherefore the results of the

requirements of IFRS 5, which would have  Asia business are

required the sale to be approved by the appropriately presented
Board before year-end. In order to assess  within continuing operations.
this. we discussed the matter with

members of the Board and reviewed

minutes of the relevant Board meetings.

© Store impairment review

As described in Note 1 {Accounting policies, judgements and estimates)
and Note 11 {Property. plant and equipment) of the financial statements.
the Group held £19,234m (2018/19: £13,186m) of property, plant and
equipment and £6.874m of right of use assets (2018/19: £7.713m) at

29 February 2020.

Under IAS 36, the Group is required to complete an impairment review
of its store pertfolio where there are indicaters of impairment or
impairment reversal.

Judgement is required in identifying indicators of impairment and
estimation is required in determining the recoverable amount of the
Group's store portfolio. Additionally, there is judgement in relation to
triggering the reversals of impairments recognised in previous periods.

Our audit brocedures Included obtaining ‘We concluded that the
an understanding of relevant controls assumptions in the
around the impairment review processes.  impairment models,

In relation to the Group's value-in-use specificaily In the value-in-

assessment our procedures have use calculations., were within
included: an acceptable range, and

that the overall level of net
impairment charge was
reasonabile.

- challenging the key assumptions
utilised in the cash flow forecasts with
reference to historical trading
performance, market expectations and
the reasonableness of management’s
forecasts:
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Key audit matter description

How the scope of our audit
responded to the key audit matter

. Financial statements
L R -

Key observations

Store impairment review continued

There is a risk that the carrying value of stores and related fixed assets
may be higher than the recoverable amcunt. Where a review for
impairment, or reversal of impairment. is conducted. the recoverable
amount is determined based on the higher of ‘value-in-use’ or ‘fair
value less costs of disposal’.

The two areas which are key to management’s impairment review are
as follows:

- value-in-use derived from cash flow projections. which rely upon
Directors” assumpticns and estimates of future trading
performance. including the Group's ability to realise forecast
cost savings: and

- fair value of properties or sublet rental potential supporting the
carrying value of store assets in each of the Group’s territories.

As disclosed within Note 15 of the financial statements. the Group has
incorporated a Brexit risk adjustment in the UK & ROl segment and a
Covid-18 risk adjustment for all segments to reflect the associated
risks in the Group’s modelling based on reasonable and supportable
information available to management at year end.

As a result of the Group’s store impairment review compieted during

the year, a net impairment charge of £312m (2018/19: net impairment
reversal of £129m) was recognised.

The Audit Committee's discussion of this key audit matter is set
out on page 49.

- reviewing and challenging the adequacy of
management’s sensitivity analysis in
relation to key assumptions to consider
the extent of change in those assumptions

that either individually or ¢oilectively would

ke required for the assets to be impaired,
in particular forecast cash flows and
property fair values and sublet rentaf
potential: and

- assessing the extent to which the need for
large scale government intervention in
response to Covid-19 was evident as at
29 February 2020.

With the involvernent of our property
valuation specialists we challenged the
assumnptions used by the Group in
determining the fair market value including
those completed by external valuers and
assessed whether appropriate valuation
methodologies have been applied.

@ Recognition of commercial income

As described in Note 1{Accounting policies. judgements and estimates)
and Note 22 (Commercial income} of the financial statements, the
Group has agreements with suppliers whereby volume-related
allowances, promotional and marketing allowances and various other
fees and discounts are received in connection with the purchase of
goods for resale from those suppliers. As such. the Group recognises
areduction in cost of sales as a result of amounts receivable from
those suppliers.

In accordance with IFRS 15, commercial income should only be
recognised as income within the income statement when the
performance conditions associated with it have been met, for
example where the marketing campaign has been held.

The variety and number of the buying arrangements with suppliers
can make ft complex to determine the performance conditions
associated with the income, giving rise to a requirement for
management judgement. As such we have identified this as a key
audit matter and considered that there was a potential for fraud
through possible manipulation of this income.

The Audit Committee's discussion of this key audit matter is set
out on page 49.

Our audit procedures included obtaining an
understanding of relevant controls the Group
has established in relation to commercial
inceme recognition.

in addition. we performed the following:

- testing whether amounts recognised were
accurate and recerded in the correct
period, by agreeing to the contractual
performance obligations in a sample of
individual supplier agreements:

- testing commercial income balances
included within inventories and trade and
other receivables. or netted against trade
and other payables {as set out in Note 22)
via balance sheet reconciliation
procedures:

- circularising a sample of suppliers to test
whether the arrangements recorded were
complete. Where responses from
suppliers were not received. we
completed alternative procedures such as
agreement to underlying contractual
arrangements:

- holding discussions with a sample of the
Group's buying personnel to further
understand the buying processes:

- using data analytics to profile commercial
income, identify deals which exhibited
characteristics of audit interest upon
which we completed detailed audit testing:

- reviewing the Group's ongoing compliance
with the Groceries Supplier Code of
Practice (GSCOP). Additionally. reviewing
the reporting and correspondence to the

Group’s supplier hotline in order to identify

any areas of non-compliance which may
require further investigation: and

- considering the adequacy of related
disclosure within the Group’s financial
statements.

The results of our testing are
satisfactory. We consider the
disclosure given around
supplier rebates to provide
an appropriate
understanding of the types
of rebate income received
and the impact on the
Group's balance sheet.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Tesco PLC continued

Key audit matter description

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Key observations

© Pension obligation valuation

As described in Note 1{Accounting policies.
judgements and estimates! and Note 29 (Post-
employment benefits) of the financial statements.
the Group has a defined benefit pension plan in the
UK retail business. At 29 February 2020. the Group
recorded a net retirement cbligation before
deferred tax of £2,998m (2018,/19: £2,808m),
comprising scheme assets of £17,513m (2018/19:
£15.054m} and scheme liabilities of £20.511m
(2018/19: £17.862m).

The pension obligation valuation is material,
dependent on market conditions, and sensitive to
changes in key assumptions. The key audit matter
specifically relates to the foliowing key assumptions:
discount rate. inflation expectations and life
expectancy assumptions.

The setting of these assumptions is complex and
requires the exercise of significant management
judgement with the support of third party actuaries.

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key audit
matter is set out on page 48.

Cur audit procedures included obtaining an
understanding of relevant controls in relation to the
pension obligation valuation process.

in addition, we performed the following:

- worked without internal pension actuarizl specialists
to review the key actuarial assumptions used, both
financial and demographic. and considered the
methodology utilised 1o derive these assumptions:
and

- benchmarked and performed a sensitivity analysis on
the key assumption determined by the Directors.

We are satisfied that the
overall methodology is
appropriate and the
assumptions applied in
relation to determining the
pension valuation are

within an acceptable range.

The actual discount rate
applied of 1.93% is within
the market range. The
methodology used by the
Group applies a different
approach to estimating
yields of longer-term high
quality corporate bonds
compared to the majority
of companies, which
results in a discount rate
which is at the optimistic
end of the market range.

© Contingent liabilities

As described in Note 1lAccounting policies, judgements
and estimates) and Note 34 (Contingent liabilities} of the
financial statements, the Group has a number of
contingent labilities. Judgement is required in assessing
the itkelihocd of outflow, the potential quantum of any
outflow and the associated disclosure requirements.

This key audit matter specifically relates to the following
exposures:

- in 2016/17 UK sharehalder actions were initiated
against the Group linked to the overstatement of
expected profits in 2014 which may result in legal
exposures:

- following the sale of Homeplus in 2015 the Group has
received claims from the purchaser relating to the
sale of the business: and

- Tesco Steres Limited has received claims from
current and former store colleagues alleging that
their work is of equal value to that of colleagues
working in the Group's distribution centres and that
differences in terms and conditions relating to pay
are: not objectively justifiable.

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key audit
matter is set out on page 49.

Our audit procedures included assessing the design and
implementation of relevant controls in relation to the
monitoring of known exposures.

In assessing the potential exposures to the Group. we have

completed a range of procedures including:

- assessing the risks the business faces:

- reading Board and other meeting minutes to identify
areas subject to Group consideration:

- meeting with the Group’s internal legal advisors to
understand ongoing and potential legal matters and
reviewing third party correspondence and reports:

- assessing the reasonableness of management’s
likelihood and quantification of outflow assessment: and

- reviewing the proposed accounting and disclosure of
actual and potential legal liabilities, drawing on third
party assessment of open matters.

We conclude that the
Group’s contingent liabilities
disclosure is complete.
Specifically. the accounting
and disclosures in relation to
the ongoing UK shareholder
actions. claims from the
purchasers of the Homeplus
business and the Group's
equal pay matter are
appropriate.

© Presentation of the Group’s income statement

One of the Group's key performance indicators is
‘Group operating profit before exceptional items and
amortisation of acquired intangibles’ (2019/20:
£3,005m. 2018/19: £2.607m).

Refer to Note 2 (Segmental reporting) of the financial
statements for management’s reconciliation of this
key performance indicator to the Group's statutory
profit measure.

Management judgement is required when applying

this accounting policy and when determining the
classification of items as exceptional within the Group’s
income statement. Additionally, we have considered the
impact of the 2019/20 financial period being a 53-week
year on the disclosures.

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding
of key controls which address the risk of inappropriate
presentation of the Group's income statement.

In order to address this key audit matter we have
completed audit procedures including:

- considering exceptional items disclosed by the Group
and the existence of any further potential exceptional
items included within the Group’s underiying profit
measures:

Consistent with other
businesses of a similar scale
to the Group, there are
non-recurring income and
expense items included
within profit before
exceptional items and
amortisation of acquired
intangibles which do not
meet the Group's definition
of exceptionai items and
which largely offset.
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Key audit matter description

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Financial statements

Key observations

Presentation of the Group’s income statement continued

We have determined that there was a potential
for fraud through possible manipulation of the
Group's income statement presentation due to
the level of judgement involved and remuneration
targets being linked to the key performance
indicator.

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key
audit matter is set out on page 49.

- assessing whether any bias exists in management’s
presentation of results and assessing consistency of
application across multiple financial years:

- assessing transactions completed cutside of the normal
course of business:

- assessing the appropriateness of excluding amertisation of
intangible assets acguired in business combinations from
Group's operating profit alternative performance measure:
and

- evaluating the impact of the 2019/20 financial period being a
53 week year.

‘We concur that these have
been appropriately included
within profit before
exceptional items and
amartisaticn of acquired
intangibles.

We have reviewed the
calculation of the Alternative
Perfarmance Measures
which have been calculated
on a 52-week basis. where
relevant, and arg satisfied
that this has been done on
an appropriate basis.

© Tesco Bank loan impairment

As described in Note 19 (Loans and advances to
customers and Banks) the Group he!d an
impairment provision in respect of loans and
advances to customers of £488m at 29 February
2020 (2018/19: £485m). The expected credit loss
on these loans and advances was £178min the
year to 29 February 2020 (2018/19: £163m). The
Impact of further deterioration in the economic
outlook on expected credit losses (ECLs) after the
reporting date 1s discussed in note 36 {Events
after the reporting pericd).

Loan impairment remains one of the most
significant judgements made by management
particularly in light of the uncertain economic
outlook in the UK and, at the reporting date the
potential impact of the glcbal Covid-19 outbreak.
As described in Note 1 {Accounting policies,
estimates and judgements) management's
provisioning methodology is based on an
*expected loss™ mode! as required under IFRS 9
‘Financial Instruments’

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key
audit matter is set out on page 49.

Our audit procedures included assessing the design and
implementation of key controls which relate to the
determination of loan impairments.

In oreler to address this key audit matter we have completed
audit procedures including:

- with support from internal economic modelling experts,
challenging the macre-economic scenario forecasts that were
incorporated into the ECL model;

- challenging how management had assessed the impact of
Covid-19 within the ECL model to assess whether that it was
sppropriately considered in the measurement of ECLs at year
end. in particular, we challenged Management’s assessment of
the likelihood of a severe economic downturn caused by
Covid-19 at the reporting date with reference 1o the
reasonable and supportable information available to
management at that date:

- considering whether events arising after the reporting date.
such as the declaration of the cutbreak as a global pandemic
by the World Health Crganization on 11 March 2020, nationwide
lockdowns, and the fiscal and monetary policy responses to
combat the economic effects of Covid-12. provided evidence
that such events were pessible future events which
management could assign an appropriate probability to at
the reporting date, based on reasonable and supportable
information available to management at that date:

- challenging whether management's severe downside
macro-economic scenario adequately captured the potential
macro-economic downside risks arising as a result of the
Covid-19 outbreak. based on reasonable and supportable
information available to management at the reporting date:

- assessing management's methodology, including the
refinements macde, against the requirements of IFRS 9 with
input from our internal credit risk-modelling specialists and we
tested the application of that methodology within the
impairment models:

- challenging the quantitative and qualitative triggers used to
identify significant increases in credit risk to assess whether
they were consistently applied. and whether they were based
on reasonable informaticn indicative of a significant increased
risk of default since initial recognition;

- assessing and challenging the key assumptions used by
management to estimate the expected life of both credit
cards and unsecured personal loans using historical
observed data: and

- challenging the apprepriateness and completeness of
management overlays, 25sessing and independently
recalculating thase which were included.

Based on our audit
procedures above. we
concluded that
management's provision is
reasonably stated. and is
supported by a methodology
that is consistently applied
and compliant with IFRS 9.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Tesco PLC continued

Key audit matter description

How the scope of our audit responded to the key audit matter

Key observations

© Retail technology environment, including IT security

The Group's retail operations utilise a range of
information systems. In 2015/16, 2016/17, 2017/18
and 2018/19 we reported deficiencies in certain IT
controls. These deficiencies could have an adverse
impact. on the Group's controls and financial
reporting systems.

IT rernediation is a complex. multi-year project
invalving management judgemertt and activities
which are at risk of being inappreopriately designed,
executed or at risk of error. These areas include:

- inappropriate controls in place to govern the IT

chianges such a5 inappropriate approvat contrals:

and

- appropriateness of remediated access controls
and whether the remediated controls address
previously identified deficiencies.

The Audit Committee’s discussion of this key audit
matter is set out an page 49.

We have continued to challenge and assess
changes to the IT envircnment through the
testing of remediated controls and concluding on
the sufficiency and appropriateness of
management’s changes.

During the year we have assessed the design and
implementation of the Group’s relevant controls
aver the information systems that are important
to financial reporting, including the changes made
as part of the Group’s replacement programme.

Consistent with 2018/19, in 2019/20 we did not
plan to take a control reliant audit approactt in
the retail business due to the ongoing
weaknesses in the IT environment.

Accordingly, we extended the scope of cur
substantive audit procedures in response to the
deficiencies which affected the applications and
databases within the scope of our audit.

Although management’s
remediation plan is designed to
address our concerns. given the
complexity of the underlying
systems the planis a multi-year
programme and not yet
complete, and therefore
weaknesses remain in the
centrol environment.

Management’s actions have
reduced the number of
deficiencies in the year by closing
the deficiencies relating to batch
management and change
management controls linked to
the Group’s financial reporting.
Further remediation work is
Ongoing.

Our application of materiality
Materiality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the
financial statements that makes it probable that the economic

decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed
or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our
audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement. we determined materiality
for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group Parent Company financial
financial statements statements

£85m (2018/19: £80m)

Materiality

£52m)

Basis for 4.3% (2018/19: 5.1% restated)  Materiality represents
determining  of profit before tax before less than 1% (2018/19:
materiality exceptional items and less than 1%) of net

amortisation of acguired assets,

intangibles of £1.961m

12018/19 restated: £1.564m).

Refer to Note 4 for additional

details of profit before tax

before exceptional items and

amortisation of acquired

intangibles and manragement’s

reconciliation to the Group's

statutory measure.
Rationale Profit before tax before As this is the Parent
for the exceptional items and Company of the
benchmark amortisation of acquired Group, it does not
applied intangibles is an appropriate generate significant

revertues but instead
incurs costs.

metric since it is g key
perfermance indicater and is
not impacted by any potential
volatility which may be caused
by exceptional items and
amortisation as a result of
acquired intangibles
recognised under IFRS 3.

Net assets are of
most relevance to
users of the financial
statements.

The materiality selected
represents 0.6% (2018/19: 0.6%
restated) of the Group’s net
assets.
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£55m (2018/19:

Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at & level lower than materiality

to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial
statements as a whole. Group performance materiality was set at
B66% of Group materiality for the 2019/20 audit (2018/19: 70%).

As we continue to be unable to rely on internal controls inthe
retail business we have used a lower percentage of materiality to
determine our performance materiality for 2019/20. In determining
performance materiality. we have also considered the uncorrected
misstatements identified in the previous period.

Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Committee all audit differences in excess of £4.25m {2018/19: £4m)
for the Group and the Farent Company. as well as differences
telow that threshold that, in our view, warranied reporting on
qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on
disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit

QOur Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the
Group and its environment, including Group-wide controls, and
assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.
The Group has subsidiary grocery retail operations in eight
countries, together with interests in a number of other
businesses both in the UK and internationally.



The Group's accounting process is structured around loca! finance
functions and is further supported by a shared service centre in
Bengaluru, India which provides accounting and administrative
support for the Group’s core retail operations. Each local finance
function reports into the central Group finance function based at
the Group’s head office. Based on our assessment of the Group.
we focused our Group audit scope primarily on the audit work on
eight significant retail locations (UK. Booker, Republic of Ireland.
Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Thailand) and Tesco
Bank. The operations in Czech Republic, Hungary. Poland and
Slovakia are managed as one combined business. All of these were
subject to a full audit and represent 96% (2018/19: 95%) of the
Group’'s revenue, 92% (2018/19: 93%) restated of profit before tax
and 92% (2018/19: 94% restated) of net assets.

In addition, three other businesses (Malaysia, dunnhumby and
Tesco Mobile) were subject to specific audit procedures on
material account balances, where the extent of our testing was
based on our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
and of the size of the Group's operations at those locations.
The three businesses accounted for 2% (2018/19: 3%) of the
Group's revenue, 8% {2018/19: 3% restated) of profit before tax
and 6% (2018/19: 6% restated) of net assets.

Revenue

Profit before tax

Net assets

At the Group level we also tested the consolidation process and
carried cut analytical procedures to confirm our conclusion that
there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the
aggregated financial information of the remaining components
not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances.

The most significant component of the Group is its retail
business in the UK. As such, there is extensive interaction
between the Group and UK audit team to an appropriate level of
direction and supervision in this audit work. During the course of
our audit, the UK audit team visited 52 (2018/12: 50} retail stores
in the UK to attend either inventory counts or in order to
complete store control visits, and 5 (2018/19: 4) distribution
centre inventory counts.

Financial statements

The Group audit team visited 7 (2018/19: 7} of the 8 (2018/19: 8)
significant locations set out above, in addition to Tesco Bank and
the Group’s shared service centre in Bengaluru. with the Group
audit partner visiting 5 (2018/13: 3} of these locations. We aiso had a
dedicated audit partner of the audit team focused on overseeing
the role of the component audit teams located outside of the UK
and the Republic of Ireland, ensuring that we applied a consistent
audit approach to the operations in the Group's internaticnal
business.

The audit visits by the Group audit team were timed to enable us
to be involved during the planning and risk assessment process in
addition to the execution of detailed audit procedures. During our
visits. we attended key meetings with component management and
auditors, and reviewed detailed component auditor work papers.

Subseguent to the travel restrictions being put in place as a result
of the Covid-19 pandemic. we arranged for the component audit
files to be reviewed remotely and held regular calls with the local
teams to discuss the results and resolve any gueries.

In addition. all key component audit teams were represented
during a centralised two-day planning meeting led by the Group
audit team and held in the UK prior to the commencement of cur
detailed audit work. The purpose of this planning meeting was to
provide a good level of understanding of the Group's businesses, its
core strategy and a discussion of the significant risks and workshops
on our planned audit approach. Group management alsc attended
part of the meeting to support these planning activities.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annuai
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Cur apinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and. except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report. we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, cur
responsibility is to read the cther information and. in doing so.
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements. we are required to determine whether thereis a
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If. based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

In this context, matters that we are specifically required to report
to you as uncorrected material misstatements of the other
information include where we conclude that:

— Fair, balanced and understandable - the statement given by
the directors that they consider the annual report. and financial
statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance.
business model and strategy. is materially inconsistent with our
knowledge obtained in the audit; or

- Audit committee reporting - the section describing the work of
the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee; or
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independent auditor’s report to the members of Tesco PLC continued

- Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code - the parts of the directors’ statement
required under the Listing Rules relating to the company’s
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code containing
provisions specified for review by the auditor in accordance with
Listing Rule 9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclase a departure from
a relevant provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities

statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give & true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary 10 enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstaterment, whether
due tc fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are respensible
for assessing the Group's and the Parent Company’s ability to
cantinue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or the Parent Company or 1o cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial staterments as a whaole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate.
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Details of the extent to which the audit was considered capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations are set out below.

A further description of cur responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:

www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of cur auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. whether due to fraud or error, and then
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
1o provide a basis for our opinicn.

Tesco PLC Annuat Report and Financial Statements 2020

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to
irregularities

I identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in
respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with
laws and regulations, we have considered the following:

- the nature of the industry and sector, control envircnment and
business performance including the design of the Group's
remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration,
bonus levels and performance targets;

- results of our enquiries of management. the Group’s Internal
Audit function, the Group's Security function. the Group’s
Compliance Officer. the Group’s General Counsel and the Audit
Committee, about their own identification and assessment of
the risks of irregulatities:

- any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the
Group's documentation of their policies and procedures
relating to:

- identifying, evaluating and complying with faws and regulations
and whether they were aware of any instances of non-
compliance;

- detecting and responding to the risks cf fraud and whether
they have knowledge of any actual. suspected or alleged fraud:

- the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or
non-compliance with laws and regulaticns including the
Group’s controls relating to Group's ongoing compliance with
the Groceries Supplier Code of Practice (GSCCP)
requirements:

- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team
including significant component audit teams and involving
relevant internal specialists. including IT. tax. valuations and
pensions actuarial specialists regarding how and where fraud
might oceur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities
and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas:
timing of recognition of commercial income. posting of unusual
journals and complex transactions and manipulating the Group’s
alternative performance profit measures and other key
performance indicators tc meet remuneration targets and
externally communicated targets. In common with all audits
under ISAs (UK}, we are also required to perform specific
procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also abtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory
frameworks that the Group operates in. focusing on provisions

of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the
determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this
context included Group’s ongoing compliance with the GSCOP,

UK Companies Act. Listing Rules. employment law, health and
safety, pensions legislation and tax legislation.

In addition. we considered provisions of other laws and regulations
that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but
compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group's ability
to operate or to avoid a material penalty.



Audit response to risks identified

As a result of performing the above, we identified presentation of
the Group's income statement. accounting for the UK customer
loyalty scheme and recognition of commercial income as key audit
matters related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters
section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also
describes the specific procedures we performed in response to
those key audit matters. In relation to acceunting for the UK
customer loyaity scheme, which is not a key audit matter. our
procedures included:

- obtaining an understanding of relevant controls relating to the
UK customer loyalty scheme;

- re-calculating the average fair value of unredeemed points and
assessing the appropriateness of the methodology applied:

- agreeing the inputs to the UK lovalty scheme calculation.
recalculating the year end accrual and assessing whether the
redemption percentages used in the calculation were
reasonable: and

- @ssessing that the accounting entries have been recorded in
accordance with IFRS 15: Revenue.

In addition to the above. our procedures to respond to risks
identified included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to
supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions
of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct
effect on the financial statements;

- enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house
legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims:

- performing analytical procedures 1o identify any unusual or
unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to fraud:

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance.
reviewing Internal audit reports and reviewing correspondence
with HMRC; and

- in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of
controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other
adjustments: assessing whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationaie of any significant transactions
that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and
potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including
internal specialists and significant component audit teams, and
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the aydit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinfons on other matters prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the directors’ remuneration report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2008.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit:

- the information given in the strategic report and the
directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and

- Financial statements

- the strategic report and the directors’ report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group
and the Parent Company and their environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to you if,
in our opinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us: or

- the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in
our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not
been made or the part of the directors’ remuneration report 10 be
audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other matters

Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were
appointed by the Group's shareholders on 26 June 2015 to audit
the financial statements for the year ended 27 February 2016 and
subsequent financial periods. The pericd of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and reappeointments of
the firm is five years. covering the years ending 27 February 2016
to 29 February 2020.

Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to
the Audit Committee

Qur audit cpinion is consistent with the additional report to

the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accerdance
with ISAs (UK},

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members. as a body.

in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the company's members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members as a body, for our audit work. for this report.
or for the opinions we have formed.

Simon Letts {Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Londen. United Kingdom

7 April 2020
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Group income statement

52 weeks ended
23 February 2019 (restated”)

53 weeks ended
29 February 2020

78

E;.sfore

Exceptional Before Exceptional
exceptional iterns and exceptional items and
itemsand  amortisation itemsand  amortisation
amortisation of acquired amortisation of acquired
af acquired intangibles of acquired intangibles
intangibles {Note 4} Total intangibles {Note 4) Total
Notes £m £m im £m Em Em
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 64,760 - 64,760 63,911 - 63,91
Cost of sales } (59.871) (309) 60,180} (58.325) 110 {69.215)
Gross profit/{loss) 4,889 (309) 4,580 4,586 110 4,696
Administrative expenses (1,884) {178} {2,062) {1.979) 68} (2.047)
Operating profit/(loss) 3,005 (487) 2,518 2,607 42 2,649
Share of post-tax profits/{losses) of joint ventures and associates 14 26 8) 18 21 1 32
Finance income 5 23 - 23 25 - 25
Finance costs 5 1.093) 151) (1,244) (1,089 - {1.089)
Profit/(loss) before tax 1.961 {646) 1,315 1,564 53 1,617
Taxation ) 6 (433) .53 (380) {397) 50 (347)
Profit/lloss) for the year from continuing operations 1,528 (593) 935 1,167 103 1,270
Discontinued operations
Profit /lloss) for the year from discontinued operations 7 - 38 38 - - -
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,528 {555] 973 1,167 103 1,270
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 1,626 (555) a71 1.169 103 1272
Non-controlling interests 2 - 2 (2) - 2
1,528 (555) 973 1,167 103 1,270
Earnings/(losses} per share from continuing
and discontinued cperations
Basic 9 9.99p 13.13p
Diluted 9 9.93p 13.04p
Earnings/{losses) per share from continuing operations
Basic 9 9.60p 13.13p
Diluted 9 9.54p 13.04p

The notes on pages 84 to 147 form part of these financial statements.

*
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Restated for the adoption of IFRS 16 and reclassification of profits/llosses) arising on property-related iterns as explained in Note 1and Naote 37.



Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss)

Financial statements

53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019
{restated”)
- Notes £m £m
Items that will not be reclassified to the Group income statement
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension schemes 29 (466) 364
Net fair value gains/(losses) on inventory cash flow hedges 49 -
Tax on items that will not be reclassified ~ 6 71 61
— (3486) 303
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to the Group income statement
Change in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 9 0o
Currency translation differences:
Retranslation of net assets of overseas subsidiaries. joint ventures and associates 68) 90
Gains/llosses) on cash flow hedges:
Net fair value gains/(losses) 57 130
Reclassified and reported in the Group income statement &) {57}
Tax on items that may be reclassified S} (9 5
(18) 158
Total other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year (364) 461
Profit/{loss) for the year . 973 1.270
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 609 1,731
Attributable to:
Gwners of the parent 607 1733
Non-controliing interests 2 2)
Total comprehensive income/l{ioss) for the year N 609 1,731
Total comprehensive income/{loss) attributable to owners of the parent arising from:
Continuing operations 569 1.733
Discontinued operations B 38 -
607 1,733

The notes on pages 84 to 147 form part of these financial statements.

-

Restated for the adoption of IFRS 16 and reclassification of profits/llosses) arising on property-related items as explained in Note 1and Note 37.
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Group balance sheet

29February 23 Fepruary 2% February
2020 2018 208
{restated”; {restatec”;
Notes £m £mr [1d
Non-current assats
Goodwill ard other intangible assets W0 €.119 6.264 2,66
Property, plart ard equipmert - 19.234 '9.185 8.7°2
Right of use assets 2 6.874 7.3 1,527
Investment property 3 26 36 00
Investmerts in joint vertures and associates ‘4 Q7 602 597
Firancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive Ircome € 866 978 860
Trade and ather receivables ‘B 66 243 2'7
Loans and a0vances 10 customers ana banks 9 4N 7,868 6.885
Derivative financial irstruments 25 1.083 1,178 17
Deferred tax assets 6 292 25" 401
39,138 44,320 39,077
Current assets
Financial assets at fair vaiue through other compreher sive income ‘6 202 67 €8
Inventories 7 2,433 2,687 2,264
Trade and other receivabies 8 1,396 550 1,4'8
Loars and advances to customers ard barks 19 4 280 4 882 4 637
Derivative financial instrumerts 25 63 52 27
Current tax assets 2 € 2
Short-term investmenrts 20 1.07¢ 350 i.029
Cash and cash equwvalerts 20 3,408 2916 4.05%
12,879 12,480 13,5M
Assets classified as held for sale 7 285 98 149
13,164 12,578 13,660
Current lisbliities
Trade ard cther payables 2 (8.922) (9731 (8.773)
Borrowings 23 (*.430) (1.563) (*.46/)
Lease labilities 3 (598) (646] {12)
Derivative financial Irstruments 25 6y {250] j{31=)]
Custemer deposits and geposits from barks 26 (6,377 B,832) (7.8°21
Current tax liabilities (324) 325) {338
Provisions 27 1155} (226) {4'8)
117,927) (20,973) {19,584)
Net current lisbilities 4,763) 8,395) (5,924}
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 (170} {365) (364!
Borrowirgs 23 6.005) 15.5801 (7.032)
Lease liabilities ‘Z (8.968) 9,859) (9,860)
Derivative finarcial instrumerts 75 (887) (389) (594)
Customer deposits ana deposits from barks 26 {*.830) {3,296) (2.972)
Post-employment berefit obligatiors 29 {3.085) (2,808} (3.282)
Deferred tax liabilties 6 {40) (49) 82)
Provisions 27 {137) {147) 29
(21,122) 122,493) (24,015)
Net assats 13,253 13,432 9,138
Equity
Share capital 30 490 490 4'0
Share premium 5,165 565 530/
All other reserves 3658 3.770 77
Retained earnirgs 3.962 4.0 2.92€
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 13,275 13,456 9,160
Non-cortroiting interests (22} {24) 22)
Total equity 13,253 13,432 9,138
* Hestateg tor tre adoption of IFRS '€ a5 exp airec ir hote ' arg hote 47
The notes on pages 84 to 147 form part of these financiai statements.
Dave Lewis \
Alan Stewart . \ : = ~
Directors —————
Y

The financial statements on pages 78 10 147 were approved and authorised for issue by the Directers on 7 April 2020.
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Financial statements

Group statement of changes in equity

All other reserves

Currency o Capital Cwn Non-
Share Share basis redemption Hedging Translation shares Merger  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve held reserve earnings Total  interests equity
) £m £m £rr £m £m £m £rm Enrj* £m £m £m m
At 23 February 2019 490 5,165 (5} 16 18 758 (179) 3,090 5,405 14,858 (24) 14,834
{as previously reported)
Cumuiative aqjustment to - - - - - (28} - - (1.374)  (1.402) - (14021
opening balances from
applicaticn of IFRS 16
(net of tax)
At 23 February 2019 490 5,165 (5} 16 18 730 179) 3,090 4,031 13,456 (24) 13,432
{restated’} -
Profit/(loss) for the year - - - - - - - - a7 9 2 973
Other comprehensive
income/{loss}
Currency translation - - - - - 168) - - - (68) - 68)
differences
Change in fair value of debt - - - - - - - - 9 9 - 9
instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income
Remeasurements of defined - - - - - - - - (466) (466) - (466}
benefit pension schemes
Gains/llosses) on cash flow - - 12) - m - - - - 99 - 99
hedges
Tax relating to components of - - 2 - 1 1 - - 70 62 - 62
other comprehensive income _
Total other comprehensive - - (10) - 100 ®7 - - (3879 (364) - (364)
income/(loss)
Total comprehensive - - {10) - 100 67) - - 584 607 2 809
income/(loss) L
Inventory cash flow hedge -
movements
Gains/(losses) transferred to - B - - 64) - - - - 64) - {64)
the cost of inventory _
Total inventory cash flow - - - 64 - - - - (64} - (64)
hedge movements
Transactions with owners
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - (221 - - 221 - (221}
Share-based payments - - - - - - 150 - 5 155 - 155
Dividends - - - - - - - - (656) 656) - £56]
Tax on items charged to equity - - - - - - - - (2) (2) - (2)
Total transactions with - - - - - - Ty - {653 (724 - g4
owners
At 29 February 2020 490 5,165 (15) 16 154 663 (250) 3,090 3,962 13,275 (22) 13,253

The notes on pages 84 to 147 form part of these financial statements.
*  Restated for the adoption of [FRS 16 as explained in Note 1 and Note 37,
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Group statement of changes in equity continued

Al ather reserves

Currency Capital Cwn Non-
Share Share basis redemption Hedging Translation shares Merger Retamed controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve held reserve earnings Total  interests equity
L £m Em £m £Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 24 February 2018 410 5,107 - 16 40 655 (16) 40 4,250 10,502 (22) 10,480
(as previously reported)
Adjustment on intial application ~ - - - - 1) - - 1.324) (1,342) - (.342)
of IFRS 16 (net of tax) - ’
At 25 February 2018 (restated’) 410 5,107 - 16 40 637 (16} 40 2,926 9,160 (22) 9,138
Adjustment on initial application - - 1 - V)] - - - 77 a7n - n7n
of IFRS 9 {net of tax) o
At 25 February 2018 410 5107 1 16 39 637 (16) 40 2,749 8,983 (22) 8,961
Profit/lloss) for the year ~ - - - - - - - 1.322 1,322 {2) 1,320
las previously reportea)
IFRS 16 adjustment to profit/ - - - - - - - - (50) (50) - (501
{loss) for the year o
Profit/(loss) for the year ~ - - - - - - - 1,272 1,272 20 1,270
(restated”)
Other comprehensive
income/{logs}
Currency translation - - - - - 100 - - - 100 - 100
differences (as previously
reported)
IFRS 16 adjustment to currency - - - - - (10) - - - (10} - (100
transiation differences -
Currency translation - - - - - 80 - - - 0 - a0
differences (restated”)
Change In fair value of financial - - - - - - - - {10} no - (10}
assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Remeasurements of defined - - - - - - - - 364 364 - 364
benefit pension schemes
Galns/llcsses) on cash flow - - (6) - 79 - - - - 73 - 73
hedges
Tax relating to components of - - - - - 3 - - (59 {56) - {56)
other comprehensive income . -
Total other comprehensive - - 6 - 79 93 - - 295 461 - 461
income/(loss) {restated”) ) . . B
Total comprehensive - - (6) - 79 93 - - 1,567 1,733 {2 1,731
income/(loss) (restated™)
Transactions with owners
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - 1277 - - (277 - (277)
Share-based payments - - - - - - n4 - &7 181 - 181
Issue of shares 80 58 - - - - - 3.050 - 3.188 - 3,188
Dividends - - - - - - - - (357) (357 - {357)
Tax on items charged to equity - - - - - - - - 5 5 - 5
Total transactions with awners 1) 58 - - - - (163) 3,050 (285) 2,740 - 2,740
At 23 February 2019 (restated’) 490 5,65 (5} 16 118 730 {179) 3,090 4,031 13,456  (24) 13,432

The notes on pages 84 to 147 form part of these financial statements.
* Restated for the adoption of IFRS 16 as explained in Note 1 and Note 37
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Group cash flow statement

Financial statements

53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019
{restated”)
o Notes £m im
Cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities
Operating profit/lloss) 2.018 2.649
Depreciation and amaortisation 2157 2.050
{Profit)/loss arising on sale of property, plant and equipment. investment property. intangible assets and assets 170) 131)
classified as held for sale and early termination of leases
{Profit)/loss arising on sale of financial assets (31 {8)
{Profit)/ loss arising on sate of joint ventures and associates 68) -
Net impairment loss/(reversall on property. plant and equipment, right of use assets, intangible assets and 302 (14)
investment property
Impairment of joint ventures 47 -
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge g 45
Cther defined benefit pension scheme payments 29 (267) [266)
Share-based payments g7 77
Tesco Bank falr value movements included in cperating profit/{loss) 100 127
Retail (increasel/decrease in inventories 178 1
Retail (increase)/decrease in development stock 1 2}
Retail (increasel/decrease in trade and other receivables 175 108
Retait increase/{decrease) in trade and other payables (391 (310
Retail increase/{decrease) in provisions 87 197)
Retail (increase)/decrease in working capital 1124) {390}
Tesco Bank (increasel/decrease in loans and advances to customers and banks 127 (1.585)
Tesco Bank (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables N0 4
Tesco Bank increase/{decreasel in customer and bank deposits. trade and other payables (3.849) 1.348
Tesco Bank increase/(decreasel in provisions 5 (25)
Tesco Bank (increase)/decrease in working capital 3,407 (268)
Cash generated from/{used in} operations 1,181 3,781
Interest paid 803} 859}
Corporation tax paid N L (340) [370)
Net cash generated from/(used in} operating activities . o 38 2,552
Cash flows generated from/{used In) Investing activities -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment. investment property. intangible assets and assets classified 3.965 286
as held for sale
Purchase of property. plant and equipment and investment property {1,003} (1,101
Purchase of intangible assets (201 (191
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 4 8
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - (715}
Disposal of associate 33 277 -
Net (increasel/decrease in loans to joint ventures and associates 8 5
Investments in joint ventures and associates 9) 1n
Net linvestments in)/proceeds from sale of short-term investments (687) 639
Net {investments in}/proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 8] 122)
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 42 41
Interest received 18 21
Net cash generated from/lused in) investing activities 2,408 {1,140)
Cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 30 - &0
Own shares purchased 149 {206)
Repayment of obligations under leases (634) (608)
Increase in borrowings 1.332 §75
Repayment of borrowings (1.788) 2,471
Net cash flows from derivative financial instruments (17) 35
Dividends paid to equity owners 8 {656) (357)
Net cash generated from/lused in) financing activities (1,912) 2,570)
Net increase/(decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 534 {1,158}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2916 4.059
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (42) %5
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20 3,408 2,916

The notes on pages 84 te 147 form part of these financial statements.
*  Restated for the adoption of IFRS 16 as explained in Note 1and Note 37,
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies, judgements and estimates
General information

Tesco PLC (the Company) is a public limited company incorporated
and domiciled in the United Kingdom (UK} under the Companies Act
2006 {Registration number 445790). The address of the registered
office is Tesco House. Shire Park, Kestrel Way, Welwyn Garden City.
AL7 1GA, UK.

The main activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (together.
the Group) are those of retailing and retail banking.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated Group financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as endorsed by the European Unicn (EU), and those parts of
the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under
IFRS. The consolidated Group financial statements are presented
in Pounds Sterling, generally rounded to the nearest million.

They are prepared on the historicat cost basis, except for

certain financial instruments, share-based payments and

pension assets that have been measured at fair value.

The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial
statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and
the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements.

Unless otherwise stated. the accounting policies set out below
have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consclidated financial statements.

The following standards and amendments were adopted inthe
current financial year, and further details of their impact on the
Group financial statements are given in Note 37 and Note 25
respectively:

- IFRS 16 ‘Leases’. which has been applied fully retrospectively; and
- ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’ amendments, which have been
adopted early.

Other standards. interpretations and amendments effective in the
current financial year have not had a material impact on the Group
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any other standards. interpretations or
amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
impact of the following is still under assessment:

- IFRS 17 'Insurance contracts’.

Other standards. interpretations and amendments issued but not
yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated Group financial statements consist of the
financial statements of the ultimate Parent Company {Tesco PLC).
all entities controlled by the Company {its subsidiaries} and the
Group’s share of its interests in joint ventures and associates.

The financial year represents the 53 weeks ended 29 February
2020 (prior financial year 52 weeks ended 23 February 2019). For
the UK and the Republic of Ireland (UK & RCI). the results are for
the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 (prior financial year 52
weeks ended 23 February 2019). For all other operations, the
results are for the calendar year ended 29 February 2020

{prior calendar year ended 28 February 2019).

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group’s financial statements
from the date that control commences untit the date that
control ceases.

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income
and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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Joint ventures and associates

The Group’s share of the resuits of jeint ventures and associates is
included in the Group income statement and Group statement of
comprehensive income/(loss) using the equity method of
accounting. Investments in joint ventures and associates are
carried in the Group balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition
changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the entity, less
any impairment in value. The carrying values of investments in joint
ventures and associates include acquired goodwill. If the Group's
share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or exceeds its
investment in the joint venture or associate. the Group does not
recognise further losses. unless it has incurred obligations to do so
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.
Dividends received from joint ventures or associates with nil
carrying value are recognised in the Group income statement as
part of the Group's share of post-tax profits/llosses) of jeint
ventures and associates.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures
and associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the entity.

Prior period reclassifications

The Group no longer presents ‘Profits/{losses) arising on property-
related items’ separately in the Group income statement.
Amounts previously reported within ‘Profits/(losses) arising on
property-related items’ are presented within 'Cost of sales’ or
‘Administrative expenses’. ltems previously determined to be
exceptional by virtue of their size and nature continue to be
reported within ‘Exceptional items and amortisation of acquired
intangibles’ in the Group income statement, with further details of
such items proviged in the notes to the financial statements. Prior
period comparatives have been reclassified to align to the current
period presentational approach.

Following the adoption of IFRS 16, the Group now presents right of
use assets and lease liabilities on the face of the Group balance
sheet. Assets previously held under finance leases have been
reclassified from ‘Property. plant and equipment’ to ‘Right of use
assets’ and the associated lease liability has been reclassified from
‘Borrowings’ to ‘Lease liabilities’.

Revenue

Revenue is income arising from the sale of goods and services in
the ordinary course of the Group's activities. net of value added
taxes. Revenue is recognised when performance cbligations are
satisfied and control has transferred to the customer. For the
majority of revenue streams, there is a low level of judgement
applied in determining the transaction price or the timing of
transfer of control.

Sale of goods

The sale of goods represents the vast majority of the Group’s
revenue. For goods sold in store, revenue is recognised at the
point of sale. For online or wholesale sales of goods, revenue is
recognised on coltection by. or delivery to. the customer.

Revenue is reduced by a provision for expected returns (refund
liahility). An asset and corresponding adjustment te cost of sales is
recognised for the Group's right to recover goods from customers.

Cilubcard (customer loyaity programme)

Clubcard points issued by Tesco when a customer purchases
goods are a separate performance cbligation providing a materizal
right to a future discount. The total transaction price (sales price of
goods) is allocated to the Clubcard points and the goods sold based
on their relative standalone selling prices, with the Clubcard points
standalone price based on the value of the points te the customer,
adjusted for expected redemption rates (breakage). The amount
allocated to Clubcard points is deferred as a contract liakility within
trade and other payables. Revenue is recognised as the points are
redeemed by the customer.

Financial services
Revenue consists of interest. fees and income from the provision
of retail banking and insurance.



Interest income on financial assets that are measured at amortised
cost is determined using the effective interest rate method.
Cailculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees
receivable that are an integral part of the instrument’s vield.
premiums or discounts on acquisition or issue. early redemption
fees and transaction costs. interest income is calculated on the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset unless the financial asset
is impaired. in which case interest income is calculated on the
amertised cost. after allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs).

The majority of the fees in respect of services (credit card
interchange fees. late payment and ATM revenue) are recognised at
the peint in time at which the transaction with the customer takes
place and the service is performed. For services performed over
time. payment is generally due monthly in line with the satisfaction
of performance obligations.

The Group generates commission from the sale and service

of motor and home insurance policies underwritten by Tesco
Underwriting Limited. or in a minority of cases by a third-party
underwriter. This is based on commission rates. which are
independent of the profitability of underlying insurance policies.
Similar commission income is also generated from the sale of
white label insurance products underwritten by other third-party
providers. This commission income is recognised on a net basis as
such policies are sold.

In the case of some commission income on insurance policies
managed and underwritten by a third party, the Group recognises
commission inccme from policy renewals as such policies are sold.
This is when the Group has satisfied all of its performance
cbligations in relation to the policy sold and it is considered highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue
recognised will not occur in future periods. This calculation takes
into account both estimates of future renewal volurmes and
renewal commission rates. A contract asset is recognised in
relation to this revenue. This is unwound over the remainder of
the contract with the customer, in this case being the third-party
insurance provider.

The end policy holders have the right to cancel an insurance policy
at any time. Therefore. a centract liability is recognised for the
amount of any expected refunds due and the revenue recognised
in relation to these sales is reduced accordingly. This contract
refund liability is estimated using prior experience of customer
refunds. The appropriateness of the assumptions used in this
calculation is reassessed at each reporting date.

Cemmercial income

Consistent with standard industry practice. the Group has
agreements with suppliers whereby volume-related allowances,
promotional and marketing allowances and various other fees and
discounts are received in connection with the purchase of goods
for resale from these suppliers. Most of the income received from
suppliers relates to adjustments to a core cost price of a product.
and as such is considered part of the purchase price for that
product. Sometimes receipt of the income is conditional on the
Group performing specified actions or satisfying certain
performance conditions associated with the purchase of the
preduct. These include achieving agreed purchases or sales volume
targets and providing promotional or marketing materials and
activities or prometicnal product positioning. While there is no
standard industry definition. these amounts receivable from
suppliers in connection with the purchase of goods for resale

are generally termed commercial income.

Commercial income is recognised when earned by the Group,
which occurs when all cbligations conditional for earning income
have been discharged. and the income can be measured reliably
based on the terms of the contract. The income is recognised as
a credit within cost of sales. Where the income earned relates to
inventories which are held by the Group at the reporting date. the
income is incfuded within the cost of those inventories. and
recognised in cost of sales upon sale of those inventories.

Financial statements

Amounts due relating to commercial income are recognised within
trade and other receivables, except in cases where the Group
currently has a legally enforceabte right of set-off and intends to
offset amounts due from suppliers against amounts owed to those
suppliers. in which case only the net amount receivable or payable
is recognised. Accrued commercial income is recognised within
accrued income when commercial income earned has not been
invoiced at the reporting date.

Finance income

Finarnce income, excluding income arising from financial services,
is recognised in the period to which it relates using the effective
interest rate method.

Finance costs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying assets
are those that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
prepare for their intended use. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the Group income statement in finance costs.
excluding those arising from financial services. in the period in
which they occur. For Tesco Bank, finance cost on financial
liabilities is determined using the effective interest rate method
and is recognised in cost of sales.

Business combinations and goodwill
The Group accounts for all business combinations by applying the
acquisition method. All acquisition-related costs are expensed.

On acquisition, the assets lincluding intangible assets), liabilities
and contingent liabilities of an acquired entity are measured at
their fair values. Non-controlling interests are stated at the
non-controlling interests’ proportion of the fair values of the
assets and ligbllities recognised.

Goodwill arising on consclidation represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the net fair value of the Group's
share of the net assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired subsidiary. joint venture or associate and the fair value
of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree. If the consideration
is less than the fair value of the Group's share of the net assets.
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity (i.e. a
bargain purchase), the difference is credited to the Group income
statement in the period of acquisition.

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goedwill acquired is
recognised as an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units expected to
benefit frem the business combination’s synergies and to the
lowest level at which management monitors the goodwill.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of joint ventures and
associates is included within the carrying value of the investment.
On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or asscciate. the
attributable amount of goodwilt is included in the determination
of the profit or loss on disposal.

where the Group abtains control of a jeint venture or associate.
the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity is
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain
or loss, if any. is recognised in the Group income statement.

Cloud software licence agreements

Licence agreements to use cloud software are treated as
service contracts and expensed in the Group income statement.
unless the Groug has both a contractual right to take possession
of the software at any time without significant penalty, and the
ability to run the software independently of the host vendor.

In such cases the licence agreement Is capitalised as software
within intangible assets.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, such as software. acquired customer
relationships and pharmacy licences, are measured initizlly at
acquisition cost or costs incurred to develop the asset. Intangibie
assets acguired in a business combination are recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies, judgements and estimates
continued

Following initial recognition. intangible assets with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. They are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of three to 10 years for
software and up to 10 years for customer relationshios.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development,
expenditure incurred on an individua! project is capitalised only
if specific criteria are met.

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any reccgnised impairment in value. Property,
plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis to its
residual value over its anticipated useful ecanomic life:

- freehold buildings - 10 to 40 years: and
- fixtures and fittings. office equipment and motor vehicles -
three to 20 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually by assessing
the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit, or group of
cash-generating units, to which the goodwill relates. For all other
non-financial assets {including other intangible assets. property.
plant and equipment and right of use assets) the Group performs
impairment testing where there are indicators of impairment.
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets., the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal, and value in use. When the recoverable amount is less
than the carrying amount. an impairment |oss is recognised
immediately in the Group income statement.

Goodwill impairments are not subsequently reversed. Where an
impairment loss on other non-financial assets subseguently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amcunt does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined

if no impairment loss had been recoghised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately as a credit to the Group income statement.

Investment property

Investment property assets are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. The
depreciation policies for investrment property are consistent
with those described for property. plant and equipment.

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods and development properties held for
resale. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and fair value
less costs to sell using the weighted average cost basis. Directly
attributable costs and incomes (inciuding applicatie commercial
income} are included in the cost of inventories.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Group balance sheet consist of
cash at bank, in hand, credit and debit card receivables. demand
deposits with banks, loans and advances to banks, certificates of
deposits and other receivables together with short-term deposits
with an original maturity of three months or less.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Non-current assets {or disposal groups) are classified as assets
held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly
probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.
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The net results of discontinued operations are presented
separately in the Group income statement (and the comparatives
restated). Refer to Note 7 for further details.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is. or contains a lease at
inception of the contract. A lease conveys the rignt to direct the
use and cbtain substantially all of the economic benefits of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as alessee
Aright of use asset and corresponding lease liability are recognised
gt commencement of the lease.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease
payments, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease, orif that
cannot be readily determined, at the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate specific to the term, country, currency and start
date of the lease. Lease payments include: fixed payments: variable
lease payments dependent on an index or rate, initially measured
using the index or rate at commencement; the exercise price
under a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise; penalties for early termination if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising & break option: and payments in an optional
renewal period If the Group Is reasonably certain to exercise an
extension option or not exercise a break option.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. It is remeasured. with a
corresponding adjustment to the right of use asset. when there is
a change in future lease payments resulting from a rent review.,
change in an index or rate such as inflation, or change in the
Group’s assessment of whether it is reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or break option.

The right of use asset is initially measured at cost, comprising: the
initial lease liability: any lease payments already made less any lease
incentives received: initial direct costs; and any dilapidation or
restoration costs. The right of use asset is subsequently
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
term or the useful life of the underlying asset. The right of use asset
is tested for impairment if therc arc any indicators of impairment.

Leases of low value assets and short-term leases of 12 months or
less are expensed to the Group income statement, as are variabig
payments dependent on performance or usage. ‘out of contract’

payments and non-lease service components.

The Group as alessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as cperating leases.
Where the Group s an intermediate lessor. the sublease
classification is assessed with reference to the head fease right
of use asset. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases

are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group's net
investment in the lease. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to refiect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group's net investment in the lease. Rental income
from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction is where the Group sells an asset
and immediately reacquires the use of the asset by enteringinto a
lease with the buyer. A sale occurs when control of the underlying
asset passes to the buyer. Alease liability is recognised, the
associated property, plant and equipment asset is derecognised,
and a right of use asset s recognised at the proportion of the
carrying value relating to the right retained. Any gain or loss arising
relates to the rights transferred to the buyer.

Post-employment obligations
For defined benefit plans. obligations are measured at discounted

present value (using the projected unit credit method) while plan
assets are recorded at fair value.



The operating and financing costs of such plans are recognised
separately in the Group inceme statement: service costs are
spread systematically over the expected service lives of employees
and financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they
arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the
Group statement of comprehensive income/{loss).

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an
expense as they fall due.

Share-based payments

The fair value of employee share option plans, which are all
equity-settled. is calculated at the grant date using the
Biack-Scholes or Monte Carlo mogel. The resulting cost is
charged to the Group income statement over the vesting
pericd. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected
and actual levels of vesting.

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Group income statement consists
of current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the financial year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date. Tax expense is recognised in the Group
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in the Group statement of comprehensive income/
(loss) or directly in the Group statement of changes in equity, in
which case it is recognised in the Group statement of
comprehensive income/{loss) or directly in the Group statement
of changes in equity, respectively.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liahility method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the pericd when the liability is settled or the asset realised
based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or
credited in the Group income statement, except when it relates
to items charged or credited directly to the Group statement of
changes in equity or the Group statement of comprehensive
income/tloss), in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in
equity. or other comprehensive income. respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised te the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced 10 the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other
when there is a legally enforceable right 1o set off current taxation
assets against current taxation liabilities and it is the intention to
settle these on a net basis.

Tax provisions are recognised for uncertain tax positions where

a risk of an additional tax liability has been identified and it is
probable that the Group will be reguired to settle that tax.
Measurement is dependent on management’s expectation of the
outcome of decisions by tax authorities in the various tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. This Is assessed on a
case-by-case basis using in-house tax experts, professional firms
and previcus experience. Refer to Note 6.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds

Sterling, which is the ultimate Parent Company’s functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

Financia! statements

At each balance sheet date. monetary assets and liabilities that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retransiated to the
functional currency at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet
date. Exchange differences are recognised in the Group income
statement in the period in which they arise, apart from exchange
differences on transactions entered into 1o hedge certain foreign
currency risks, and exchange differences on monetary items
forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

The assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are
translated into Pounds Sterling at exchange rates prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Profits and losses are translated at average
exchange rates for the relevant accounting periods. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the Group statement of
comprehensive income/(loss) and are included in the Group’s
translation reserve. Such translaticon differences are recognised
as income or expenses in the periocd in which the operation is
disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group
balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are classified as
either fair value through profit or loss. fair vaiue threugh other
comprehensive income, or amortised cost. Classification and
subsequent remeasurement depends on the Group's business
model for managing the financial asset and its cash flow
characteristics. Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows, where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are recognised
initially at fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method. less allowance for ECLs.

Investments

Debt instruments are classified at fair value through other
comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
except for impairment gains or losses. interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses. which are recognised in the Group
income statement. When the debt instrument is derecognised.
cumulative ameunts in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the Group income statement.

Equity investments have been irrevocably designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, and are not subsequently reclassified

to the Group income statement, including on derecognition.
Impairment losses are not recognised separately from other
changes in fair value. Dividends are recognised in the Group
income statement when the Group’s right to receive payment

is established.

L oans and advances to customers and banks

Loans and advances are initially recognised at fair value plus
directly related transaction costs. Subseqguent ta initial recognition.
these assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any ECLs.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a ferward-looking basis the ECLs
associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost
and debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The ECLs are updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies, judgements and estimates
centinued

The three-stage model for impairment has been applied to loans
and advances to customers and banks, debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income. and loan receivables
from joint ventures and associates. The credit risk is determined
through modelling a range of possible cutcomes for different ioss
scenarios, using reasonable and supportable information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future events andg
economic conditions and taking into account the time value of
money. A 12-month ECL is recognised. unless the credit risk on the
financial asset increases significantly after initial recognition. when
the lifetime ECL is recognised.

For trade and other receivables, contract assets and lease
recelvables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted
by IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’, with lifetime ECLs recognised

from initial recognition of the receivable. These assets are grouped,

based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due, with
ECLs for each grouping determined based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for facters specific to each
receivable, general economic conditions and expected changes

in forecast conditions.

Interest-bearing borrowirigs

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at
falr value, net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost with any difference between proceeds and
redemption value being recognised in the Group income statement
over the period of the borrowings on an effective Interest basis.

Trade payables

Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are recognised initialiy
at fair value and subseguently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange, inflation. interest rate and
commodity risks arising from operating, financing and investing
activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair
value. Where derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any
gains or losses on remeasurement are immediately recognised in
the Group income statement. Where derivatives qualify for hedge
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on
the nature of the hedge relationship and the item being hedged.

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group
documents the risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. the nature of the risks being hedged and
the economic relationship between the item being hedged and the
hedging instrument. including whether the change in cash flows of
the hedged item and hedging nstrument are expected to offset
each other.

As permitted under IFRS 9, the Group has elected to continue to
apply the existing hedge accounting requirements of 1AS 39
‘Financial instruments: Recognition and rmeasurement’ for its
pertfolio hedge accounting untit a new macro hedge accounting
standard is implemented.

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than
one year from the reporting date are disclosed as non-current.

Fair value hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges
when they hedge the Group's exposure to changes in the fair value
of a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges are recognised
in the Group income staternent within finance income or costs.
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together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that
is attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges
when they hedge the Group's exposure to variability in cash flows
that are either attributable to a particular risk asscciated with a
recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecasted
transaction. The effective element of any gain or loss from
remeasuring the derivative designated as the hedging instrument is
recognised directly in the Group statement of comprehensive
income/{loss) and accumulated in the hedging reserve. Any cost of
hedging, such as the change in fair value related to forward points
and currency basis adjustment is separately accumufated in the
currency basis reserve. The ineffective element is recognised
immediately in the Group income statement within finance income
or costs.

Where the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset such as inventory, the amounts accumulated in
the hedging reserve and currency basis reserve are included in the
initial cost of the asset. For all other cash flow hedges. the amounts
accumulated in the hedging reserve and currency basis reserve are
recognised in the Group income statement when the hedged item
or transaction affects the Group income statement.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold. terminated or exercised or no longer meets the
Group’s risk management objective. The cumulative gain or loss in
the hedging reserve and currency basis reserve remains until the
forecast transaction occurs or the original hedged item affects the
Group income statement. If a forecast hedged transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss in the hedging
reserve and currency basis reserve is reclassified to the Group
income statement,

Net investment hedging

Financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges when
they hedge the Group’s net investment in an overseas operation.
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from
remeasuring the instrument is recognised directly in ather
comprehensive income. Any ineffective element is recognised
immediately in the Group income statement. Gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are inciuded in the
Group income statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the Group balance sheet when there is a current legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense. Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when
the Group believes that the unavoidable costs of meeting or exiting
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under the contract.

Supplier financing arrangements

Suppliers can choose to access supplier financing arrangements
provided by different third-party banks in different countries.
Commercial requirements, including payment terms or the price
paid for goods. do not depend on whether a supplier chooses to
access such arrangements. The arrangements support our
suppliers by giving them the option to access funding early, often
at a lower cost than they could obtain themselves.

Under the arrangernents, suppliers may choose to access payment
early rather than on cur normal payment terms, at a funding cost
to the supplier that is set by the provider banks but based on
Tesco's credit risk and the appropriate country risk premium. If



suppliers choose not to access early payment. the provider banks
pay the suppliers cn our normal payment terms. The Group pays
the previder banks on our normal payment terms. regardless of
whether the supplier has chosen to access funding early.

Management reviews supplier financing arrangements to determine
the appropriate presentation of balances outstanding as trade
payables or borrowings. dependent on the nature of each
arrangement. Facters considered in determining the appropriate
presentation include the commercial rationale for the
arrangement. impact cn the Group’s working capital positions.
credit enhancements or other benefits provided to the bank and
recolrse exposures.

Balances outstanding under current supplier financing
arrangements are classified as trade payables. and cash flows are
included in operating cash flows. since the financing arrangements
are agreed between the supplier and the banks. and the Group
does not provide additional credit enhancement nor obtain any
working capital benefit from the arrangements. Refer to Note 21.

Judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated Group financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions in applying the Group's accounting policies to
determine the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis, with revisions to accounting
estimates applied prospectively.

Critical accounting judgements

Critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations. that
are applied in the preparation of the consclidated financial
statements are discussed below:

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

On 27 September 2018. the Group completed the sale of the
majority of Tesco Bank's mortgage portfolic to Bank of Scotland.
which Ts part of Lloyds Banking Group. As is customary in such a
transaction. the Group continued to recognise a small element

of the mortgage business. representing new advances to existing
mortgage customers. unti! migration of ail mortgage accounts to
the purchaser, which took place on 30 March 2020. The remaining
assets and liabilities of the mortgage operations were classified as
a disposal group held for sale in the Group batance sheet. Based
on the relative size of the mortgage business to the Group.
management concluded that it does not represent a separate
major line of business or gecgraphical area and hence has not been
classified as a discontinued operation.

On 9 March 2020, the Group reached agreement on the terms

of a proposed sale of its operations in Thailand and Malaysia. The
transaction is subject to shareholder and regulatory approval and

is expected to complete during the second half of 2020. As at the
balance sheet date. the Beard had not fermally received final offers.
including. for example. pricing and commercial terms, details of
bidders’ secured financing, or indications of the level of activities to
be undertaken regarding competition clearance. Discussions were
also ongoing regarding the level of a possible one-off contribution
to the Group's pension scheme from any sale proceeds. The

Board had therefore not given approval for any sale to proceed.
Management therefore concluded that these cperations did not
meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale as at the balance
sheet date. and consequently they have not been classified as
discontinuad operations. It is expected that these operations will
meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale and presented as
discontinued operations in the 2020/2021 interim financial statements.

Leases

Management exercises judgement in determining the likelihood of
exercising break or extension options in determining the lease
term. Break and extension options are included to provide
operational flexibility should the economic outlook for an asset be
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different to expectations. and hence at commencement of the
lease. break or extension options are not typically considered
reasonably certain to be exercised. unless there is a valid business
reason otherwise.

The discount rate used to calculate the lease liability s the rate
implicit in the lease. if it can be readily determined, or the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate if not. Management uses the rate
implicit in the lease where the lessor is a related party (such as
leases from joint ventures) and the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate for all other leases. Incremental borrowing rates are
determined monthly and depend on the term, country, currency
and start date of the lease, The incremental borrowing rate is
determined based on a series of inputs including: the risk-free
rate based on government bond rates; a country-specific risk
adjustment: a credit risk adjustment based on Tesco bond yields:
and an entity-specific adjustment where the entity risk profile is
different to that of the Group.

Refer to Note 12 for additional disclosures relating to leases.

Joint ventures and associates

The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements under
IFRS 11 *Joint Arrangements’ and determined them to be joint
ventures. These assessments required the exercise of judgement
as set out in Note 14.

Alternative performance measures (APMs) - Exceptional items
Management exercises judgement in determining the adjustments
to apply to IFRS measurements in order to derive APMs which
provide additional useful information on the underlying trends,
performance and position of the Group. This assessment covers
the nature of the item, cause of occurrence and the scale of
impact of that item on reported performance. Reversals of previous
exceptional items are assessed based on the same criteria.

An analysis of the excepticnal items included in the Group income
statement. together with the impact of these items on the Group
cash flow statement. is disclosed in Note 4.

Refer to pages 164 to 169 for further details on the Group’s APMs.

Impact of CQVID-13

In light of the rapidly escalating COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
considered whether any adjustments are required to reported
amounts in the financial statements.

As at the 29 February 2020 balance sheet date. no global pandemic
had been declared. the UK was still in the 'containment’ ghase, large
global share price falls had not yet occurred, and larger-scale
outbreaks were only apparent in China, Republic of Korea, Iran and
northern ltaly where the Group does not have operations. The full
ramificatiocns of COVID-19. and the extent of Government
interventions in response, were not apparent. To the extent that
there were indicators of scme level of disruption observable at the
balance sheet date, these have been factored in to the Group’s
financial statements as at 29 February 2020, in particular assessing
the impact of incorporating an additional COVID-19 risk factor in to
discount rates used n impairment testing of goodwill and non-
current assets and incorpoerating an additional downside scenario in
to ECL calculations in Tesco Bank.

Subsequent to the balance sheet date. the World Health
Organization declared a pandemic on 1 March. the UK Government
moved tc a ‘delay’ phase on 12 March. announced social distancing
measures on 16 March, and unprecedented ‘stay at home’
restrictions on 23 March. The first Jarge falls in stock markets
oceurred in early March, and Tesco introduced a '3 items only’ limit
on purchases on 19 March in response to customer demand. The
Group has therefore concluded that the necessity for large-scale
government interventions (both in the UK and the other countries in
which the Group cperates) in response to CCVID-19 only became
apparent after the balance sheet date and therefore that the
consequences of such interventions represent non-adjusting post
balance sheet events. However, given these events are of such
significance, further disclosures. including additional sensitivities. are
given in Note 36.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies, judgements and estimates
continued

Key sources of estimatior uncertainty

The key assumptions about the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting period end that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financiai year are
discussed below:

Post-employment benefit cbligations

The present value of the post-employment benefit obligations
depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in
determining the net cost/(income) for pensions include the discount
rate. inflation rate and mortality assumpticns. Any changes in these
assumptions will impact the carrying amount of post-employment
benefit obligations. Key assumptions and sensitivities for post-
employment benefit cbligations are disclosed in Note 29.

Impairment

The Group treats each store as a separate cash~generating unit for
impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right of
use assets. Where there are indicators of impairment.
management performs an impairment test. Recoverable amounts
for cash-generating units are the higher of fair value less cost of
dispasal, and value in use.

Value in use is calculated from cash flow projections based on the
Group’s three-year internal forecasts. The forecasts are
extrapolated to five years based on management’s expectations.
and beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates.
Fair value is determined with the assistance of independent.
professional valuers where appropriate. Key estimates and
sensitivities are disclosed in Note 15.

Commercial income

Management is required to make estimates in determining the
amount and timing of recognition of commercial income for some
transactions with suppliers. In determining the amount of
volume-related allowances recognised in any period. management
estimates the probability that the Group will meet contractual
target volumes. based on historical and forecast performance.
There Is limited estimation involved in recognising income for
promotional and other allowances.

Management assesses its performance against the obligations
conditional on earning the income, with the income recognised
either over time as the obligations are met. or recognised at the
point when all obligations are met. dependent on the contractual
requirements. Commercial income is recognised as a credit within
cost of sales. Where the income earned relates to inventaries
which are held by the Group at period ends, the income is included
within the cost of those inventories. and recognised in cost of sales
upon sale of those inventories. Management views that the cost of
inventories sold {which is inclusive of commercial income) provides
a consistent and complete measure of the Group income
statement impact of the overall supplier relationships.

Managermert considers the best indicater of the estimation undertaken
is by reference to commercial income balances not settled at the
balance sheet date and has therefore provided additional disclosures
of commercial income amounts reflected in the Group balance sheet.
Refer to Note 22 for commercial income disciosures.

Tesco Bank ECL measurement

The measurernent of ECLs for Tesco Bank financiai assets requires
the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future
macroeccnomic conditions and credit behaviour, such as the
likelihcod of customers defaulting and the resulting losses.

Key assumptions and sensitivities for Tesco Bank ECLs are
disclosed in Note 25.

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will
be confirmed only on the occurrence or non-ocecurrence of
uncertain future events cutside the Group's control. or present
obligations that are not recognised because it is not probable that
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a settlement will be required or the value of such a payment cannot
be reliably estimated. The Group dees not recognise contingent
llabilities but discloses them. Refer to Note 34 for the disclosures.

APMs

In the reperting of financial information, the Directors have adopted
various APMs. These measures are not defined by IFRS and
therefere may not be directly comparable with other companies’
APMs. including those in the Group's industry.

APMs should be considered in addition to, and are not intended to
be a substitute for, or supericr to, IFRS measurements.

Purpose

The Directors believe that these APMs assist in providing additicnal
useful information on the underlying trends, performance and
position of the Group.

APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of information
between reporting periods and geographical units (such as
like-for-like sales), by adjusting for non-recurring or uncontrcllable
factors which affect IFRS measures. to aid users in understanding
the Group’s performance.

Consequently. APMs are used by the Directors and management
for performance analysis. planning, reporting and incentive-
setting purposes.

Changes to APMs

As with many retail businesses. the Group has a 53-week

financial year every five to six years. As the financial year to

29 February 2020 is a 53-week pericd, APMs are presented on a
52-week basis excluding week 53, in order to provide comparability
with the prior year,

Retail operating profit is introduced as a measure of the Group's
operating profit from the Retail business excluding Tesco Bank. It is
based on Retail operating profit from continuing operaticns before
exceptional items and amartisation of acquired intangibles.

As a result of adopting IFRS 16 in the current financial year, the
Directors and management have applied the following changes to
the Group’s APMs:

- Free cash flow and Retail free cash flow have been redefined to
include ‘Repayments of obligations under leases’. The impact of
adopting IFRS 16 has been to replace rental payments presented
within operating profit with a combination of interest payments
and capital repayments of the lease obligation. with no overall
change in total cash flow for the Group. Redefining Free cash flow
and Retail free cash flow to include the capital repayments of
obligations under leases ensures that the Group's reported free
cash flow measures are consistent with those previously reported.
Retail EBITDA is introduced as a measure of the Group’s operating
performance and cash profitability. It is based on Retail operating
profit from continuing operations before exceptional items,
excluding Retail depreciation and amortisation. It is also now used
to derive the Total indebtedness ratio and Fixed charge cover
APMs. Rent expense is now de minimis following the adopticn of
IFRS 16, and so the Total indebtedness ratio dencminator has
changed from EBITDAR {(Retail EBITDA before Retail rent expense)
to Retall EBITDA, consistent with the Group’s use of Retail EBITDA
as a measure of operating performance and profitability. Similarly,
the Fixed charge cover numerator has changed from EBITDAR to
Retail EBITDA.

- Total indebtedness has also been redefined to no fonger include
the present value of future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases. Following the adoption of IFRS 16,
the Group’s measure of Total indebtedness includes lease liabiiities
(with the exception of short-term and low value asset leases).

- The Fixed charge cover denominator has also been redefined to
exclude interest on lease liabilities from net finance costs and
include all lease liability payments made in the period. Amending
the calculation ensures that all cash payments made in the
period with respect to the Group's lease liabilities continue to be
included in the calculation of Fixed charge cover.

Refer to the Glossary on pages 164 to 169 for a full list.
comprehensive descriptions and purpose of the Group’s APMs.



Note 2 Segmental reporting

Financial statements

The Group's operating segments are determined based on the Group's internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker ({CODM}.
The CODM has been determined to be the Group Chief Executive. with support from the Executive Committee. as the function primarily
responsible for the allocation of resources to segments and assessment of performance of the segments.

The principat activities of the Group are therefore presented in the following segments:

- Retailing and associated activities (Retail} in:

- UK & ROI - the United Kingdom and Republic of Irelang;
- Central Europe - Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland, Stovakia: and

- Asta - Malaysia and Thailand.

- Retail banking and insurance services through Tesco Bank in the UK (Tesco Bank).

This presentation reflects how the Group's operating performance is reviewed internally by management.

The CODM uses operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangitles. as reviewed at monthly Executive

Committee meetings, as the key measure of the segments’ results as it reflects the segments’ underlying performance for the financial year
under eveluation. Operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles is a consistent measure within the Group
as defined within the Glossary. Refer to Note 4 for exceptiona! items and amertisation of acquired intangibles. Inter-segment revenue

between the operating segments is not material.
Income statement

The segment results and the reconciliation of the segment measures to the respective statutory items included in the Group income

statement are as follows:

Total at Total
Central Tesco constant Foreign at actual
53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 UK & ROI Europe Asia Bank exchange exchange exchange
At constant exchange rates £m £m £m fm  _fm £m £m
Continuing operations
Group sales 45,784 5.447 4,896 1.068 57.195 75 57.370
Revenue 52,93 5.695 4,896 1.068 64,590 170 64,760
Operating profit/(loss) before exceptional items 2,23 160 398 193 2,982 23 3,005
and amortisation of acquired intangibles
Exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles 286) (73} (11 119) (489) 2 487)
Operating profit/(loss) 1,945 87 387 74 2,493 25 2,518
Operating margin 4.2% 2.8% 8.1% 18.1% 4.6% 4.6%
Tatal
Central Tesco at actual
53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 UK & ROI Europe Asia Bank exchange
At actual exchange rates £m £m }L £m £m
Continuing operations
Group sales” 45752 5.332 5.218 1.068 57.370
Revenue 52.898 5.576 5.218 1.068 64.760
Operating profit/{loss) before exceptional items 2,230 156 426 193 3,005
and amortisation of acquired intangibles”
Exceptional items and amortisation of acguired intangibles {?86) 71 1 (119) {487)
Operating profit/(loss) 1,944 85 415 74 2,518
Operating margin” - 4.2% 2.8% 8.2% 18.1% 4.6%
Share of post-tax profits/llosses) of joint ventures and associates 18
Finance income 23
Finance costs o . = . o 11.244)
Profit/{loss) before tax ) ) 1,315

*  Refer to page 167 for a reconciliauen from Group sales. Operating profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acauired intangibles and Operating margin shown above 1o the

Group's 5Z-week alternative performance measures.

Total

Central Tesco at actual
52 weeks ended 23 February 2018 {restated) UK & RO Europe Asia Bank exchange
At actual exchange rates £m £m £m £m . Em
Continuing operations
Group sales 44,883 6,030 4,873 1.097 56.883
Revenue 51643 6,298 4.873 1.097 63,91
Operating profit/{loss} before exceptional items 1,868 2 319 199 2,607
and amortisation of acquired intangibles
Excepticnal items and amortisation of acquired intangibles - a1 58 67) @0y 42
Operating profit/lloss) 1,949 279 252 169 2,649
Operating margin L 3.6% 3.5% 6.5% 18.1% A4.1%
Share of post-tax profits/{losses) of joint ventures and associates 32
Finance income 25
Finance costs o o (1.089)
Profit/{loss) before tax 1,617

Tesco Bank revenue of £1.068m {2019: £1.097m) comprises interest and similar revenues of £733m (2013: £729m} and fees and commissions

revenue of £335m {2019: £368m).
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 2 Segmental reporting continued
Baiance sheet

The following tables showing segment assets and liabilities exclude those balances that make up net debt (cash and cash eguivalents,

short-term investments. jeint venture loans and other receivables, bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities. derivative financial instruments
and net debt of the disposal group). With the exception of lease liabilities which have been allocated to each segment. all other components

of net debt have been included within the unatlocated segment to reflect how the Group manages these balances. Intercompany transactions
have been eliminated other than intercompany transactions with Tesco Bank in net debt.

Central Tesca

UK &ROI Eurcpe Asia Bank Unallocated Total
At 29 February 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Goodwill and other intangible assets 4.892 28 285 914 - 6.119
Property. plant and equipment and investment property 14,635 2,199 2,365 61 - 19.260
Right of use assets 5719 491 850 4 - £6.874
Investments in joint ventures and associates " 1 208 87 - 307
Non-current financial assets at fair value through other 7 - - 859 - 866
comprehensive income
Non-current trade and other receivables 65 - 13 65 - 143
Non-current loans and advances to custemers and banks - - - 417 - 4171
Deferred tax assets 129 33 61 69 - 292
Non-current assets™ ) 25,458 2,752 3,582 6,240 - 38,032
Inventories and current trade and other receivables ! 2,678 410 384 252 - 3.724
Current loans and advances to customers and banks - - - 4.280 - 4,280
Current financial assets at fair value through other comprehiensive income - - - 202 - 202
Total trade and other payables (7.215) (639) (989} (249) - (8.092)
Total customer deposits and deposits from banks - - - (8,207) - (8.207)
Total provisions (161 {25) 49) (57) - 292)
Deferred tax liabilities (4 {36) - - - (40)
Net current tax (270) ] (16} (26} - {303)
Post-employment benefits (3,0586) - 29 - - (3.085)
Assets classified as held for sale 75 65 - 45 - 285
Net debt lincluding Tesco Bank)™ (8.203) 663) (667) 47 (2.765) 12,251
Net assets 9,302 1,973 2,216 2,527 (2,765} 13,253

"= Excludes loans to joint ventures of £23m (2019 £105m) which form part of net debt
" Excludes dervative financial instrument non-current assets of £1.083m (2019 £1.178m).

' Excludes netinterest and other recervables of £1m {2019: £1m} which form part of net debt.

@ Excludes loans to joint ventures of £104m {2019: £28m) which form part of net debt.

¥ On adoption of IFRS 16, lease liabilities included within net debt have been presented within their respective segments Previously the Group's finance lease liabilities were presented

within the Unallocated segment. The prior financial year has been restated. Refer to Note 37,

Central Tesco

UK & ROI Europe Asla Bank Unallocated Total
At 23 February 2019 {restated) £m £m £m £m £m £m
Goodwill and other intangible assets 4927 27 284 1.026 = 6.264
Property, plant and equipment and investment property 14,017 2.694 2.449 62 - 19.222
Right of use assets 6,537 479 682 15 - 7713
Investments in joint ventures and associates 2 1 503 86 - 602
Non-current financial assets at fair value through other 3 - - 976 - 979
comprehensive income
Nen-current trade and other receivables™ 100 5 4 ] - 138
Nen-current loans and advances to customers and banks - - - 7.868 - 7.868
Deferred tax assets 86 34 7 60 - 251
Non-current assets® 25,682 3.24'07 4,003 10,112 - 43,037
Inventories and current trade and other receivables'="' 2.998 482 372 285 - 4,138
Current loans and advances to customers and banks - - - 4.882 - 4.882
Current financial assets at fair value through ather comprehensive income - - - 67 - 67
Total trade and other payables {7.452} (806! {1.016} {228t - {8.456}
Total customer deposits and deposits from banks - - - (12.128) - (12,128)
Total provisicns (245) (27 (49} 52 - {373)
Deferred tax liabilities 15) (24} ao) - - {49)
Net current tax (265) 12 Al (31 - (319)
Post-employment benefits (2.788) - (20 - - (2.808)
Assets classified as held for sale £8 30 - - - 98
Net debt {including Tesco Bank)™ } (9.060) {728) 682) 413) [2.734) (13.617)
Net assets B 8,924 2,161 2,587 2,434  (2,734) 13,432

# = Refer to prévious table for foolnotes
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Other segment information

Financial statements

Central Tesco
UK & ROI Europe Asia Bank Total

53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 £rn £m £m Em £m
Capital exbend'\ture {including acquisitions through business combinations):

Property, plant and equipment#' 1674 97 128 7 1.906

Goodwill and other intangible assets™ 145 12 6 44 207
Depreciation and amortisation:

Property, ptant and equipment 77 (137) 221 9) (1,138)

Right of use assets 537 {45) {67) 2) (651)

Investment property 4 - - - {1

Other intangible assets (218) (13} ) n3o (367)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial asset net (loss)/reversal 4 - 3 (179) {180)

Central Tesco
UK & RQOI Europe Asia Bank Total

52 weeks ended 23 February 2019 (restated) £m £m £m £m fm
Capital expenditure (including acquisitions througﬁ business combinations):

Property, plant and equipment™ 1.028 n3 228 4 1.373

Goodwill and other intangible assets™ 4,005 7 3 27 4.052
Depreciation and amortisation:

Property, plant and equipment (756) (157 222) (10} (1.139)

Right of use assets (319) {40) (54} 2) 615]

Investment property [0} - - - )

Other intangible assets 201 (14) 7) 173) {295)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial asset net {loss)/reversal (20} - {1) (164) (185)

v

Includes £914m related to obtaining control of The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership.
Includes £nil (2015: £326m) acquired through business combinations.

' Includes £nif (Z079: £3.86Tml acquired through Business combinations.

Refer to Note 33 for further details.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 2 Segmental reporting continued
Cash flow statement

The following tables provide further analysis of the Group cash flow statement. including a split of cash flows between Retail and Tesco Bank.

Tesco
Retail Bank Group
Befare o Before T
exceptional  Exceptional exceptional  Exceptional
items and items and items and items and
amortisation amortisation amortisation amortisation Tesco
cf acquired  of acquired Retail of scquired  of acquired Bank
intangibles Intangibles Total intangibles intangibles Total Total
53 w:eeks ended 29 February 2020 . £m £m £m £m _ _Em £m £m
Operating profit/(loss) of continuing operaticns 2,812 (368) 2,444 193 (119) 74 2,518
Depreciation and amortisation 1.937 79 2,016 77 64 141 2,157
ATM net income (34 - (34) 34 - 34 -
(Profit)/loss arising on sale of property. plant and equipment, 5 n7s) (170) - - - n7o)
investment property. intangible assets and assets held for sale and early
terminaticn of leases
(Profit)/loss arising on sale of financial assets - - - - 3) 3 {3)
(Profit)/loss arising on sale of joint ventures and associates - (68) (68) - - - 68)
Net impairment loss/{reversal) on property. plant and equipment, right - 302 302 - - - 302
of use assets. intangible assets and investment property
Impairment of joint ventures - 47 47 - - - 47
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge 9 - 9 - - - 9
Other defined benefit pension scheme payments (267) - 267 - - - 1267)
Share-based payments 86 - 86 1 - 1 a7
Tescao Bank fair value movements included in operating profit/lloss) - - - ~ 100 - 100 100
Cash flows generated from operations excluding working capital 4,548 {183) 4,365 405 (58] 347 4,2
(Increase)/decrease in working capital 77 47 (124) (3.422) 15 (3.407) (3.531)
Cash generated from/{used in) operations=" 4,471 (230) 4,241 (3,017) 43)  (3,080) 1,181
Interest paid {795) - (795) 8 - 8) 803)
Corporation tax paid (271 - (271 (69) - 69) 1340)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities 3,405 (230} 3,175 {3,094) (43)  {3,137) 38
Proceeds from sale of property. plant and equipment. invastment property, 3 266 269 - 3.696 3.696 3,865
intangible assets and assets classified as held for sale
Purchase of property. plant and equipment and investment property 136) (36) 72 - - - (172)
- store buybacks
Purchase of property. plant and equipment and investment property (828) - (828) {8) - (5) 831
- other capital expenditure
Purchase of intangible assets (162) - (162 (39 - (39 (201
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 4 - 4 - - - 4
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired - - - - - - -
Disposal of associate (Note 33) - 277 277 - - - 277
Net (increasel/decrease in loans to joint ventures and associates - - - 8 - 8 8
Investments in joint ventures and associates (9 - Q) - - - 19
Net (investments inl/proceeds from sale of short-term investments 687) - (687) - - - 687)
Net (investments inl/proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value (3 - (3) (3) - {3) 6
through other comprehensive income
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 26 - 26 16 - 6 42
Dividends received from Tesco Bank 50 - 50 50} - 50} -
Interest received 18 - 18 - - - 8
Net cash generated from/[used in) investing activities )  1,722) 507  (1,215) {73} 3,696 3,623 2,408
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital - - - - - - -
Qwn shares purchased (148) - (149) - - - 1149)
Repayments of obligations under leases (632) - (632} @ - 2 (634)
Add: Cash outflow from major acquisition r - - - - - - -
Less: Net increase/{decrease) in loans to joint ventures and associates - - - (8} - (8) 8],
Less: Net investments in/(proceeds from sale of) short-term investments 687 - 687 - - - 687
Free cash flow' 1,589 277 1,866 (3,177) 3,653 476 2,342
Increase in borrowings 1.082 - 1,082 250 - 250 1,332
Repayrment of borrowings {1.378) - 11.378) (410} - {410) (1.788)
Net cash flows from derivative financial instruments (7 - (17) - - - a7
Dividends paid to equity holders ) (656} - (656) B - - = 656)
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,760} - {1,750} (162} - {162) 1,912)
Intra-Group funding and intercompany transactions B 3 - 3 3 - 3 -
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7 (84 277 23 (3,332} 3,653 3 534
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1873 1.043 2.916
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ) a2 - (42)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,044 1,364 3,408

* Refer to page 189 for a reconciliation from Retail operating cash flow. Retail free cash flow and Free cash flow shown above Lo the Group's 52-week alternative perfarmance measures.
* "Retall operating cash figw™ of £4.241m (2019: £3.637m {restated)} is the cash generated from operations of the continuing Retail business
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" Financial statements

Tesco
Retail Tesco Bank Group
" “Before Before T
exceplional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional
items and items and items and items and
amortisation  amortisation amortisation  amortisation Tesco
of acquired of acquired Retail of acquired of acquired Bank
intangibles intangibles Total intangibles Intangibles Total Toral
52 weeks ended 23 February 2013 {restated! £m fm _ &m £m £m £m ___imi
Operating profit/lloss) of continuing cpérations 2,408 72 2,480 199 (30} 169 2,649
Depreciation and amartisation 1.887 78 1.965 85 - 85 2.050
ATM net income {34) - (34} 34 - 34 -
[Profit)/loss arising on sale of property. plant and equipment., (19) (104) 023 18} - 8) (131
investment property, intangible assets and assets held for sale and early
termination of leases
{Profit}/loss arising on sale of financial assets m 7 (8 - - - {8
Net impairment loss/(reversal) on property. plant and equipment, right 3 {1 m4) - - - m4)
of use assets. intangible assets and investment property
Impairment of joint ventures - - - - - - -
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge 45 - 45 - - - 45
Other defined benefit pension scheme payments (266) - 1266) - - - (266)
Share-based payments 82 - 82 5 - (5) 77
Tesco Bank fair value movements included in operating profit/{loss} - - - 127 - 127 127
Cash flows generated from operations excluding working capital 4,099 (2} 4,027 432 (30) 402 4,429
(Increase)/decrease in working capital (306) (84) {390) (223) (35) (258) 648)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations - 3,793 (156} 3,637 209 65) 144 3,781
Interest paid 851 - (851 18 - (8 (859)
Corporation tax paid 1302 - {1302 68) - (68) (370)
Net cash generated from/(used in} opera_ti_ﬁg activities 2,640 {156) 2,484 133 [65) 68 2,552
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment. investment 22 263 285 1 - 1 286
property. intangible assets and assets classified as held for sale
Purchase of property. plant and equipment and investment property Nn3e) - {1381 - - - nae}
- store buybacks
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property 962) - (962) 13 - 3) (965)
- other capital expenditure
Purchase of intangible assets {164) - (164) (27 - 27 (191
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 8 - 8 - - - 8
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (715) - (715) - - - (715}
Net {increase)/decrease in foans to joint ventures and associates - - - 5 - 5 5
Investments in joint ventures and associates m - (1 - - - m
Net {investments in}/proceeds from sale of short-term investments 6339 - 639 - - - 639
Net {investrments inl/proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value ) 7 2 (124) - 1n24) (122)
through other comprehensive income
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 31 - 31 10 - 0 41
Dividends received from Tesco Bank 50 - 50 (50) - 150) -
Interest received - 21 - 21 - - - 21
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 1,222) 270 (952} (188} - (188) (1,140}
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 60 - 60 - - - 60
Own shares purchased 1206) - (206} - - - {206)
Repayments of ohligations under leases 605) - 605) {0 - t} (B06)
Add: Cash outflow from major acquisiticn 747 - 747 - - - 747
Less: Net increase/{decrease) in loans to joint ventures - - - 18} - (5) {5,
and associates
Less: Net investrnents in/(proceeds from sale of) 639) - (639) - - - 1639),
short-term investments ‘
APM: Free cash flow™ 775 N4 889 en {65) (126) 763 |
Increase in borrowings 704 - 704 N - 2n 975
Repayment of borrowings {2.046) - (2,046) {425) - (425) (2.471
Net cash flows from derivative financial instruments 35 - 35 - - - 35
Divigends paid to equity holders (357) - (357) - - - (357)
Net cash generated from/(used In) financing activities (2,415) - (2,415) {155) - (155) (2,570)
Intra-Group funding and intercompany transactions {14) _ - (14) L 14 -
Net increase/ldecrease) in cash and cash equivalents (I,O11T 114 (897) (196)  [65) (261) (1,158}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 2.755 1,304 4.059
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes - 15 = 5
Cash anmﬁufv_ale}\?'ét the end of the year o 1,873 1,043 2,916

*  Free cash flow has been redefined to inciude 'Repayments of obligations under leases’ due to IFRS 16. This results in a miner adjustment of £17m. restating previously reported Retail free
cash flow of £906m to £889m. There is no overall iImpact to cash and ¢ash equivalents at the end of the year
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 3 Income and expenses
Auditor’s remuneration

53 weeks 52 weeks

2020 2019

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company's auditor and Tts associates for the audit of the Company and Group financial statements 18 1.6

The audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries 5.8 6.4

Total audit services 7.4 8.0

Audit-related assurance services 0.5 0.5

Total audit and audit-related assurance services B 7.9 8.5

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

Transaction services 0.2 -
All other non-audit services . 16 35

Total hon-audit services 1.8 3.5

Total auditor’s remuneration 9.7 12.0

Other non-audit services of £1.6m (2019: £3.5m) represents: retail consultancy services £nil (2019: £1.3m), provision of data repository services
for information needed by the Group and Serious Fraud Office (SFO) £0.6m (2019: £1.7m}. SFO Monitor role £0.6m (2019: £0.1m}, and other
services £0.4m {2019: £0.4m). In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditor received fees of £0.1m (2019: £0.2m) for the audit of the
main Group pension scheme. Additional information cn the non-audit services provided by the auditor is provided in the Audit committee

report on page 50, including how objectivity and independence Is safeguarded,
Employment costs, including Directors' remuneration

Continuing operations _ . Notes

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Post-employment defined benefits'
Post-employment defined contributions
Share-based payments expense
Termination benefits™

Total

53 weeks 62 weeks

2020 208

£m £m

6.266 6.447

497 520

29 45 78
29 343 332
28 123 na
116 151

7,396 7,646

* Includes Enil {2019: £43m) past service cost related to guaranteed minimum pensions (GMPs) This is treated as an exceptional itern. Refer 1o Note 4 and Note 28

* includes £110m (2019, £145m) of redundancy costs included within exceptional items. Refer to Note 4

Fost-employment defined contribution charges include £116m {(2019: £110m) of salaries paid as pension contributions.

The table below shows the average number of employees by operating segment during the financial year.

Average nunniben ol enipluye g

Average number of
full ume oguivalents

Continuing operations 2020 2019 . 2020 2019_
UK & RO ’ ’ ' 319.303 344117 710.768 223,542
Central Europe 44,199 54,301 40.864 50,068
Asia 56.003 62,403 39,026 44.473
Tesco Bank 3.587 3.684 3.305 3407
Total ] 423,092 464,505 293,963 321,490
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Note 4 Exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles
Group income statement

53 weeks ended 29 February 2020
Profit/{loss) for the year included the following exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles:

Totel exceptional

tems and
amortisation of  Share of joirn
acquired venture and Exceptional
intangibies associates items within
Administrative included within profits/ discontinued
Exceptional items and amortisation Cost of sales expenses operating profit ({losses)  Finance costs Taxation operations
of acquired intangibles included in. £m m £m £m _ W[_rn . £m £m
Exceptlonal items:
Net restructuring and redundancy costs'™ (138) 13) 151 - - 21 -
Property transactions® Bb - 55 - - 15 -
Booker integration costs® ns) (8] (23) - - 4 -
Derivative restructuring® - - - - 1180) 34 -
Acquisition of property joint venture'* (136} - (136} - - L3 -
Net impairment loss of non-current assets” 19} 4 {15) - - 17 -
impairment of investment in India joint venture®' - (47) (47 - - - -
Disposal of China associate™ - 37 37 - - (300 -
China land penalties” - - - 12 - - -
China tax liability release” - - - - - - 38
Other corporate activity costs™ - (22 (22) - - - -
Tesco Bank mortgage book disposal” 8} 3 (5) - 29 (14) -
Tesco Bank current accounts'™ - 156) 156} - - 4 -
Provision for customer redress™ (45) - 145) - - - -
Ogden rate change™ . - - - 4 - - -
Total exceptional items :__ _ (309) (99} (408) 8) (151) 38 38
Amartisation of acquired intangibles: ’
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (Note 10} - {79) 79 - - 15 -
Total exceptional items and amortisation of {3089} (178} (487} 8) 151 53 38

acquired intangibles

s

This charge relates to simplification of our operating model in Tesco Bank £(13)m. Central Europe £(43}m. and the UK & ROI£(95}m.
As part of the Group's strategy to maximise value from property. the Group disposed of surplus properties which generated a profit in Central Europe £26m and the UK & ROI£29m.
Caosts incurred in integrating Booker within the Tesco Group, mainly focused on aligning distribution networks and operating platforms

The Group is subject to inflation risk on certain lease liabilities with its joint ventures. which increase annually with LPIRPI restricted to a rangs of 0-5%j. In order to mitigate this inflation
risk to the Group. a restructure of derivatives held with external counterparties was undertaken during the year. This resulted in the remeasurement of the far value of these derivatives.
giving rise 1o a non-cash excepticnal charge of £0180Im.

' The Group obtained control of The Tesca Atrato Limited Partnership, previously accounted for as a joint venture, through the acquisition of the other partner’s 50% interest in the

partnership for a net consideration of £36m. The acquisition, which is treated as an asset acquisition, increases the Group's owned property portfolio and borrowings, replacing the
Group's associated right of use assets and |lease liabilities. Refer to Note 33 for further details.

Net impairment Ioss relating to the Group's non-current assets Refer to Note 15 for further details

Investments in our offer to remain competitive in the market, combined with a strategic decision to reduce store expansion. have impacted our profit expectations of the jpint venture
resulting in an impairment charge in the year

Gain from completing the sale of the Group's 20% share of Gain Land to China Resources Holdings Refer to Note 33 far further details.

The Group's China associate recognised certain penalties in the year relating 1o delays in property development. This charge represents the Group's 20% share of these penaities.
During the current financial year, the Group reached a settlement with the Chinese tax authority relating to a withholding tax ligbility arsing on the formation of the Gain Land associate
with China Resources Holdings n 2014 As a result of the settlement, the Group has released the remaining withholding tax liability of £38m - this has been classified within discontinued
operations. consistent with the classification of the original liability in 2014

Inciudes costs incurred relating to the announced sale of the Group's operations in Asia and other corporate activity during the current financial year

The Group completed the majority of the transfer of the beneficial ownership of Tesco Bank's mortgage book to Lioyds Banking Group. of which £30m 15 related to the gain on the
disposal, which is offset by the Group dispasing of a proportion of Tesco Bank's goodwill amounting to £(27)m The Group also incurred £(8)m related to accelerated amortisation and
generated a £29m fair value remeasurement gain

" Following the decision to close the Bank's current accounts ta new customers. aceelerated depreciation was charged on related intangible and fixed assets. resulting in an additional

charge of £(56)m.
The charge of £(45)m relates to additional costs in respect of Payment Protection Insurance (PPI) as a result of higher ciaim rates ahead of the deadline of 29 August 2018,

The Group's share of the results for the period of its joint venture, Tesco Underwriting. reflects a credit adjustment to insurance reserves following a revision to the Ogden tables. which
are used to calculate future losses In personal injury and fatal accident claims,
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 4 Exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles continued

52 weeks ended 23 February 2019

Profit/(loss) for the year included the following exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles:

Tetal exceptional tems

Share of joint

and amorusation of venture and Exceptional
acquired intangibles associates 1items within
Administrative included within profits/ discontinued
Exceptional items and amortisation Cost of sales expenses operating profit tlosses) Taxation operations
of acquired intangibles ncluded in: £m £m £m £m £m £m
Exceptional items (restated):
Tesco Direct closure costs 138) - 138) - 7 -
Net restructuring and redundancy costs (159) 23 182 - 30 -
Provision for customer redress (18 - gl - - -
Release of amounts provided in relation to FCA obligations - 17 17 - - -
Insurance recovery of amounts in relation to FCA obligations - 20 20 - - -
Property transactions” 87 7 104 H 7 -
Tesco Bank FCA charge - {16) (18) - - -
Bogker imtegration costs {8 (7} (15} - 3 -
Freetime VAT provision release 76 - 176 - (33) -
Lazada contingent proceeds - 7 7 - - -
GMP equalisaticn 37 6 (43) - 7 -
Net impairment reversat of non-current assets and onerous 105 1 106 - 14 -
property provisions”
Total exceptional items 10 10 120 1 35 -
Amortisation of acquired intangibles:
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (Note 10) - (78) (78) - 15 -
Total exceptional items and amortisation of acquired Intangibles 110 (68) 42 1 50 -
* Reclassified for the change in presentation of profits/llosses) arising on property-related items as explained in Note 1.
Group cash flow statement
The table below shows the impact of exceptional items on the Group cash flow statement:
Amortisation of acquired intangibles does not affect the Group's cash flow.
Cash flows frorm Cash flows from
operating activities investing activities
53 weeks 52 weeks 53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019 2020 2019
{restated)
£m £m £m £m
Payments relating to Tesco Direct closure R - (38) - =
Prior year restructuring and redundancy costs {133 60 - -
Current year restructuring and redundancy costs 691 {(30) -
Onerous contract provisions - ] - -
Property transactions® - - 266 263
Settlement of claims for customer redress in Tesco Bank (38) (49) - -
DPA/shareholder compensation scheme payments - 143] - -
Freetime VAT refuna® - 12 - -
Tesco Bank FCA settlement payment - (16) - -
Insurance recovery of amounts in relation to FCA abligations - 16 - -
Booker integration cash payments (23 12) - -
Proceeds from sale of Tesco Bank's mortgage book - - 3.696 -
Proceeds from sale of Lazada - - - 7
Acquisition of property joint venture (Note 33) - - 136) -
Proceeds from dispesal of China associate (Note 33) - - 277 -
Corporate activity costs ) (10 - - -
Total ) (273) (221} 4,203 270

" These relate to proceeds from disposal of properties primarily in UK & ROl and Central Europe
™ VAT recovered in relation to the appeal against HMRC regarding the treatment of VAT on Clubcard rewards.

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financia! Statements 2020



Note & Finance income and costs

Financial statements

53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2013
Irestated)
Continuing operations Notes £m f£m
Finance income
Interest receivable and similar income 19 27
Finance income receivable on net investment in leases o 4 3
Total finance income ] 23 25
Finance costs
GBP MTNs and loans (147) (144)
EUR MTNs (59) 77
USD bonds (m 17
Finance charges payable on lease labilities (541) (561}
Cther interest payable (25} (4%}
Capitalised interest 11 - 1
Fair value remeasurements of financial instruments” B (244) (153)
Total finance costs before exceptional items and net pension finance costs 1,022} (1,000}
Net pension finance costs L 29 71 (89)
Total finance costs before exceptional items {1,093} (1,089)
Fair value remeasurement loss on derivative restructuring 4 (180) -
Fair value remeasurement gain on Tesco Bank mortgage book disposal o 4 29 -
Total finance costs L (1,244) (1,089)
Net finance costs {1,221} 1,064)
*  Fair value remeasurements of financial instruments included £(65/m (2019 £1121)m) relating to the premium paid on the repurchase of long-dated bonds.
Note 6 Taxation
Recognised in the Group income statement
53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019
{restated)
Continuing operations £m £m
Current tax (credit)/charge
UK corporation tax 254 ol
Overseas tax 154 131
Adjustments in respect of prior years (41 8
o 367 344
Deferred tax (credit)/charge ’ N
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 30 3
Adjustments in respect of prior years (17) -
- B 13 3
Total income tax (credit)/charge o B 380 347

The Finance Act 2016 included legislation to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax from 20% to 19% from 1 April 2017 and to 7%

from 1 April 2020. These rate reductions were substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and therefore included in these financial
statements Temporary differences have been measured using these enacted tax rates. Legislation has been substantively enacted after
the current financial year balance sheet date to repeal the reducticn of the main corporation tax rate thereby maintaining the current rate
of corporation tax at 19%. The Group expects to recognise a charge of £30m in the Group income statement for the rate change impact
from remeasuring opening temporary differences to be reported in the financial year ending 27 February 2027.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation continued
Reconciliaticn of effective tax charge

53 weeks 52 weeks

2020 09

(restated)

_ £m £m

Profit/{loss) before tax 1,315 1,617
Tax credit/{charge) at 19.0% (2019: 19.0%) (250) (3071

Effect of:

Non-qualifying depreciation (34) (35)
Expenses not deductible™ [58) (26)
Unrecognised tax losses 135) (10}
Property items taxed on a different basis to accounting entries’ (3) 2
Impairment of non-current assets (36) 20
Barking surcharge tax m (18)
Cifferences in pverseas taxation rates q 13
Adjustments In respect of pricr years' 58 1
Share of losses of joint ventures and associates 3 7
Irrecoverable withholding taxes 18 a3
Total income tax credit/(charge) (380] 347}
Effective tax rate 28.9% 21.5%

'* This includes current year movemnents on uncertain tax positions, Prior year includes the release of amounts pravided for in relation to DPA and FCA obligations.
* This includes property items where the carrying values differ from their valuation for tax purposes and recognition of capital losses on property asset disposals.

“' This includes adjustments to prior years’ uncertain tax pasitions.

Recenciliation of effective tax charge on profit before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles, net pension

finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financiai instruments

Effect of:

53 weeks 52 weeks

2020 2019

(restated)

} ; £m i £m

Profit/{loss) before tax before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired Intangibles 1,961 1,564
Tax credit/(charge) at 19.0% (2019: 19.0%) (373) (297)
Non-qualifying depreciation (34) (35)
Expenses not deductible® (40) (24)
Unrecognised tax losses (13} 9
Banking surcharge tax (7} (19)

Differences in overseas taxation rates 4 3
Adjustments In respect of prior years'™ 53 8)

Share of losses of joint ventures and associates 5 5
Irrecoverable withholding taxes B 4]} 13)
Total income tax credit/(charge) before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles {433) (397)

Effective tax rate before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles B ) 22.1% 25.4%
Tax charge on net pehsion finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments at 19.0% on £315m (2079: (601 (46)

19.0% on £242m)

Change in tax rate ) 2 2
Total income tax credit/(cha?gel before exceptional items; net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements (491 {441
of financial instruments —_

Effective tax rate hefore exceptional items, net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of 21.6% 24.4%

financial instruments™

This includes current year movements on uncertain tax positions and expenses not qualifying for tax relief,
This includes adjustments to prigr years’ uncertain tax positions,

2

the Group's 52-week alternative performance measure.
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Financial statements

Tax on items credited directly to the Group statement of changes in equity

53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019
£m o Em
Current tax credit/(chargel on: T N

Share-based payments 1 2
Deferred tax credit/(charge) on:

Share-based peyments . (3) 3
Total tax on items credited/(charged) to the Group statement of changes in equity (2) 5
Tax relating to components of the Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss}

53 weeks 52 weeks
2020 2019
£fm £m
Current tax credit/(charge) on:

Foreign exchange movements 1 3
Deferred tax credit/(charge) on:

Pensions 7 {61)

Fair value of movement on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 4] 2

Fair value movements on cash flow hedges 9 -
Total tax on items credited/(charged) to Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss} 62 {56)
Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax {liabilities}/assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior
financial years.

Property- Post- Share- Shert-term
related Acquired employment based timing Financial
itemns®  intangibles benefits”  payments differances Tax losses  instruments Total
L £m £m £rm ) £m £m £m £m Em
At 25 February 2018 (restated) (414) - 554 43 143 1 (8) 319
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 - - - - - - 59 59
{Chargel/credit to the Group income statement 53 15 [23) - (28) 2 122) [3)
{Chargel/credit to the Group statement of changes in equity - - - 3 - - - 3
{Chargel/credit to the Group statement of comprehensive - - (61 - - - 2 159)
incorme/loss)
Disposals 4 - - - - - - 4
Business combinations 5] (128} - 4 3 3 - (126)
Foreign exchange and cther movements"' - = - 1 3 - 1 5
At 23 February 2019 [restated) {364) “may 470 51 121 6 3z 202
{Chargel/credit to the Group income statement 37 14 (31 2 (28) (2) 5 (13)
{Chargel/credit to the Group statement of changes in equity - - - (3) - - - (3}
{Charge)/credit to the Group statement of comprehensive - - 7 - - - 110} 61
income/(loss)
Disposals 1 - - - - - - 1
Foreign exchange and other movements' 1 - 2 1 - - - 4
At 29 February 20209 {325) (100} 512 51 93 4 7 252

“ Property-related iterns include a deferred tax liability on reiled-over gains of £291m (2019: £287m). deferred tax assets on capital losses of £166m (2018: £140m} and deferred tax assets on IFRE
16 transitional adjustments of £276m (2019 £306m). The remaining balance relates to accelerated tax depreciation The Group dees not expect a material reversal in the next financial year.
' The deferred tax asset on post-empioyment benefits is expected to reverse as additional funding contributions are made to the closed defined benefit scheme. Refer to Note 29.

' The deferred tax charge for foreign exchange and other movements is a £4m credit (2019, £5m credit) relating to the retranslation of deferred tax balances at the balance sheet date and
is included within the Group statement of comprehensive Income/{loss) under the heading “Currency translation differences’

" Remeasurement of temporary differences for the UK corporation tax rate change substantively enacted post the balance sheet date will increase the opering deferred 1ax asset in the
financial year ended 27 February 2021 by £23m.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation continued

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to do so. The following is the analysis of the
deferred tax balances after offset:

2020 2019

Irestated)

. B £m £m

Deferred tax assets 292 251
Deferred tax liabilities (40) {49)
252 202

No deferred tax liability is recognised on temporary differences of £6.8bn (2019 revised: £6.0bn} relating to the unremitted earnings of
overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of these temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. The deferred tax on unremitted earnings at 23 February 2020 is estimated to be
£237m (2019: £237m) which relates to taxes payable on repatriation and dividend withholding taxes levied by overseas tax jurisdictions. UK tax
legislation relating to company distributions provides for exemption from tax for most repatriated profits, subject to certain exceptions.

Unrecoghised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in relation to continuing operations have not been recognised in respect of the following items because it is not probatle
that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group can utilise the benefits in the relevant locations:

2020 2019

. £m £m
Deductible temporary differences 78 90
Tax losses 226 199
) B 304 289

As at 29 February 2020, the Group has unused traging tax losses from continuing operations of £1.016m (2019: £894m) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of £25m {2019: £35m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the remaining £991m (2019: £859m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of £219m that will expire by 2024 (2019: £69m in 2023) and £142m that will expire between 2025 and 2040
(2019 £139m between 2024 and 2039). Other losses will be carried forward indefinitely.

Changes in tax law or its interpretation

The Group operates in a number of territories which leads to the Group's profits being subject to tax in many jurisdictions. The Group
monitors income tax developments in these territories {which include the OECD Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS} initiative and European
Union's state aid investigations) which could affect the Group’s tax liabilities.

Note 7 Discontinued operations and assets classified as held for sale
Assets classified as heid for sale

2020 2019
£m £m
Assets classified as held for sale 205 o8

The assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties in the UK and Central Europe due to be sold within one year and the
remaining assets of Tesco Bank's mortgage operations of £45m {2019: £nil). Refer to Note 1Critical accounting judgements for further details
on the maortgage hook disposal.

Discontinued operations

During the current financial year, the Group reached a settlement with the Chinese tax authority relating to a withholding tax liability arising
on the formation of the Gain Land Limited associate with China Resources Holdings in 2014. As a result of the settlement, the Group has
released the remaining withholding tax liability of £38m - this has been classified within discontinued operations. consistent with the
classification of the original withholding tax liability in 2014. Refer to Note 4 for further details.

Note 8 Dividends

2020 2019
o Pence/share £m Pence/share £€m
Amounts recognisad as distributions to owners in the financial year: i )
Prior financlsl year final dividend™ 4.0 399 2.00 195
Paid interim dividend" 269 257 167 162
Dividends paid to equity owners in the financial year 6.75 6-567 ) 367 357
Proposed final dividend at financial year end ) ) 6.50 637 4.10 402

" Excludes £3m prior financial year final dividend wawved (2013: £nilk.
v Excludes £3m interim dividend waived {2018 £2mi.

The proposed final dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 7 April 2020 and is subject to the approval of shareholders at the
AGM. The proposed dividend has not been included as a liability as at 29 February 2020, in accordance with IAS 10 ‘Events after the reporting
period'. It will be paid on 3 Juiy 2020 to shareholders who are on the Register of members at close of business on 22 May 2020

A dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) is available to shareholders who would prefer to invest their dividends in the shares of the Company. For
those sharenolders electing to receive the DRIP, the last date for receipt of a new election is 12 June 2020.

The Group has a share forfeiture programme following the completion of a tracing and notification exercise to any shareholders who have not
had contact with Tesco PLC (the Company) over the past 12 years. in accordance with the provisions set out in the Company's Articles of
Association. £nil (2019: £nil) of unclaimed dividends in relation to these shares have been adjusted for in retained earnings. Refer to Note 30
for further details.
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Note 9 Earnings/(losses) per share and diluted earnings/(losses) per share

Basic earnings/(losses) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/{loss) attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted
average number of Ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

Diluted earnings/{losses) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit/{loss) attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted

average number of Ordinary shares in issue during the financial year adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options, The dilutive effect
is calculated on the full exercise of all potentially dilutive Ordinary share options granted by the Group. including performance-based opticns
which the Group considers to have been earned.

For the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 there were 67 million (201%: 72 million) potentially dilutive share options. As the Group has

recognised a profit for the year from its continuing operations. dilutive effects have been considered in calculating diluted earnings per share.

2020 2019 (restated)
Potentiafly Potentially )
dilutive share dilutive share

Basic opticns Di]UAtEE“ . A Basic options" . Diluted
Profit/(loss) (Em)
Continuing operations” 933 - 933 1.272 - 1.272
Discontinued operations 38 - 38 .z - —
Total 971 - 971 1,272 ) - 1,272
Weighted average number of shares {millions) 9,716 67 9,783 9,686 72 9,758
Earnings/{losses) per share (pence) N
Continuing operations .60 {0.086) 9.54 13.13 (0.09) 13.04
Discontinued operations 0.39 - 0.39 - - -
Total 9.99 [0,06) 9.93 13.13 [0.09} 13.04

-

Excludes profits/(losses] from non-controlling interests of £2m (2018, £(2)m).

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles,
net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments

53 weeks 52 weeks
{restated)
- Netes 2020 2019
Profit before tax from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles (£m) 1,961 1.564
Add: Net pension finance costs (Em) 5 7 89
Add/lless): Fair value remeasurements of financial instruments (£m) 5 244 153
Profit before tax from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles, 2,276 1,806
net pension flnance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments [Em)®
Profit before tax from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles. net 2.273 1.806
pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments attributable to the owners of the
parent (Em)
Taxation on profit from continuing operations before exceptional iterms and amortisation of acquired intangibles. net {490} (439)
pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments attributable to the owners of the
parent {(Em) ) N A
Profit after tax from continuing operatiohs before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles, 1,783 1,367
net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments attributable to the owners of
the parent (Em) . —. —_—
Basic weighted average number of shares (millions) 2.716 9,686
Basic earnings per share from conﬁnhing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired 18.35 14.11
intangibles, net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments (pence) -
Diluted weighted average number of shares Imillions) e o 9.783 9.758
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired 18.23 4.0

intangibles, net pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instruments (pence)™

Refer to page 168 for a reconciliation from Profit before tax from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acguired intangibles. net pension finance costs and
fair value remeasurements of financial instruments and Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations before exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangibles. net

pension finance costs and fair value remeasurements of financial instrurnents shown above to the Group's bZ-week alternative performance measures
Excludes profit before tax attributable to non-controlling interests of £3m 12019, £nil)
Excludes tax charges on profits attributabie to nen-controlling interests of £(Im (2019: £(2)m),
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Customer Intangible
Gooawifl Software' retationships assels Total
£ £m £m im £m

Cost
At 23 February 2019 5,550 1,840 5 A47 8,552
Foreign currency translation 15) 2 - 0 (8)
Additions - 188 - 19 207
Reclassification - 40 - {8} 35
Disposals®™ 27 asg) - (2} (227)
At 29 February 2020 5,518 1,868 715 458 8,559
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 23 February 2019 641 1,254 72 3n 2,288
Foreign currency translation {4) m - - (B)
Charge for the year - 281 76 10 367
Impairment losses' - 15 - 12 27
Reversal of impairment losses™ - 31 - m (38
Reclassification - 2 - {3) m
Disposals - 196} - (2) (198)
At 29 February 2020 637 1,324 148 n 2,440
Net carrying vaiue B
At 29 February 2020 4,881 544 567 127 6,119
At 23 February 2019 4.909 586 643 126 6.264

“  Software includes £341m (2019- £297m) of internally generated development costs,
The disposal of goodwill relates to the sale of Tesco Bank's mortgage book

i

' Of the £86m {2019: £85m) amartisation of customer relationships and other intangible assets, £79m {2019: £78m) has been included within exceptional items and amortisation of intangible
assets. £76m (2019: £74m) of this balance arises from amortisation of intangible assets recognised upon the Booker acquisition. Refer 1o Note 4 for further details.

'» Referto Note 15.

Customer Intangble
Goodwl| Software! relattonships assets Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost i )
At 24 February 2018 2,458 3,166 - 39 6,016
Foreign currency translation 6} 1 - m ®)
Additions - 167 - 24 191
Acquired through business combinations 3.088 - 715 48 3.861
Reclassification - 140) - 2 138)
Disposals - (308) - 15} 1323
Fully-amortised assets - (1.046) - (3) 1.049)
At 23 February 2019 5,550 1,840 s 447 8,552
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 24 February 2018 662 2,378 - 315 3,355
Foreign currency translation (21 - - 2) 23
Charge for the year® - 210 72 13 295
Impairment lossesl - 15 - 27 42
Reversal of impairment losses™ - {2) - (24) (26}
Disposals - (300 - 5] (306
Fully-amortised assets - {1.046) - 3) {1.049)
At 23 February 2019 641 1,254 72 321 2,288

" Refer to previous table for footnotes.
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

Financial statements

Lend and
buildings Other= Total

o £m £m £m
Cost
At 23 February 2019 {restated) 24,484 6,993 31,477
Foreign currency translation (69) 15) 84)
Additions®"=' 1285 621 1.906
Rectassification z4) (28) 52)
Classified as held for sale (589) 136) (625)
Disposals o (219) ©10) (829)
At 29 February 2020 _ 24,868 6,925 31,793
Accumulated depreclation and impairment losses
At 23 February 2019 (restated) 7,523 4,768 12,291
Foreign currency translation (23 n (34
Charge for the year 525 613 1138
Impairment losses'> 611 m 722
Reversal of impairment losses'™ (39M (104) (495)
Reclassification LA (23) 8
Classified as held for sale (298) (34) (332)
Disposals (147) (602} (749)
At 29 Februa_ry 2020 7,841 4,718 12,559
Net carrying value'
At 29 February 2020 T 17,027 2,207 19,234
At 23 February 2019 (restated) L 16,961 2.225 19.186
Construction in progress included above'®
At 29 February 2020 T 88 14 202
At 23 February 2019 - 37 109 146

2 net carrying vatue of £250m (2018 £201m),

Cther assets consist of fixtures and fittings with a net carrying vaiue of £1,712m (2019: £1.720m). office equipment with a net carrying value of £245m (2019 £304m) and moter vehicles with

Includes £nil (2012, £1m) in respect of interest capitalised. principally relating to land and building assets The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of finance costs capitalised
during the financial year was 4.3% (2019: 4.5%), Interest capitalised is deducted in determining taxable profit in the financial year in which it 15 incurred.

= Includes £914m of land and buildings rejated to obtaining contral of The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership, which was impaired by £287m on acquisition. Refer 1o the breakdown of assets

and liabllities acquired within Note 33
'* Refer to Note 15.

Pension Scheme (refer to Note 291,
P Construction in progress does net include land.

Includes £1.406m {2019 £803m) of assets pledged as security for secured bonds {refer to Note 23} and £478m (2019 £489m) of property held as security in favour of the Tesco PLC

tand and
buildings Other * Total
£m £m £m

Cost (restated) o
At 25 February 2018 23,018 10,852 33,870
Foreign currency translation 24 36 60
Additions™ 514 533 1.047
Acquired through business combinations 258 68 326
Reclassification 926 (796) 130
Classified as held for sale (48] 5 (43}
Disposais 73) {450) (523}
Fully-depreciated assets” (135) (3.255) (3,390}
At 23 February 2019 24,484 6993 31,477
Accumulated depreciation and itpairment losses (restated)
At 25 February 2018 6,559 8,599 15,158
Foreign currency translation (3 18 12
Charge for the year 542 597 1139
Impairment losses™ 421 167 588
Reversal of impairment lossas™ (568) (141 {709
Reclassification 780 (796) (6)
Classified as held for sale (20) 5 115)
Disposals 60) 1426) (486)
Fully-depreciated assets™ i 135) (3.258) (3,390)
At23February2019 7,523 4,768 12,291
Net carrying value 16,961 2,225 19,186

= Refer to previous table for feotrotes,

.

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses relating to those fully-depreciated assets which are no longer in use by the Group.

Buring the prior financial year, the Group performed a comprehensive review of all fully-depreciated assets held in the Group's fixed assel registers. and removed £3.330m of cost.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 12 Leases

Group as lessee

Lease liabilities represent rentals payable by the Group for certain retall, distribution and office properties and other assets such as motor
vehicles, The leases have varying terms. purchase options. escalation clauses and renewal rights. Purchase options and renewal rights. where
they occur, are at market value. Escalation clauses are in line with market practices and include inflation-linked, fixed rates. resets to market
rents and hybrids of these.

In prior years. the Group entered into several joint ventures, and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures over 20-
to 30-year terms. On certain transactions. the Graup has an option to buy back either the leesed asset or the equity of the other party, at
market value and at a specified date, typically at year 10. On some of these transactions the Group also has a lease-break option, which is
exercisable if the buyback option is exercised and the associated debt in the joint venture is repaid. The lease liability in respect of these
Ieases assumes that the lease-break option is not exercised.

0On 13 September 2018, the Group exercised its option to buy back the 50% eguity holding in The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership held by the
other joint venture partner. The acguisition completed on 23 September 2019. at which point the associated property leases from the joint
venture became intercompany leases and are eliminated on consolidation. Refer to Note 33 for further details.

Right of Lise assets

Land and
buildings Other Tetal
£m £m £m
Net carrying value at 23 February 2019 7.561 152 7.7113
Additions (including through business combinations) 146 58 204
Depreciation charge for the year (584} (67) 651
Impairment losses® (267) - (267}
Reversal of impairment losses'™ 182 - 182
Derecognition on acquisition of property joint venture (Note 33) (335) - (335)
Other movements™ ) 3 (3 28
Net carrying value at 29 February 2020 6,734 140 6.874

@ Refer to Note 15
"' Other movements include lease terminations. modifications and reassessments, foreign exchange. reclassifications to assets held for sale and entering inte finance subleases.

Land and
buildings Other Total
: ~ i £m £m £m
Net carrying value at 25 Febrdary 2018 7.362 165 75827
Additions (including acquisitions through business combinations) 619 44 663
Depreciation charge for the year (556) 59 1815)
Impairment losses'™ 195) - {195)
Reversal of impairment losses™ 203 - 203
Other movements'”! - B . 128 2 130
Net carrying value at 23 February 2019 ) 7.561 152 7,713

w tRefer to footnotes In table above,

Lease fiabilities
The following tables show the discounted lease liabilities included in the Group balance sheet and a maturity analysis of the contractual
undiscounted lease payments:

2020 2019
{restated)
- _ _ _ £m £m
Current 598 646
Non-current ) B ~ B8.968 9.859
Total lease Jiabilities 9,566 10,505
2020 2019
{restated)
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted lease payments ) B B . . £m } £m -
Wwithin one year 1.081 1202
Greater than one year but less than five years 3.958 4.218
Greater than five years but less than ten years 4178 4539
Greater than ten years but less than fifteen years 2.810 3.267
After fifteen years ) - ) 2,596 - 3209
Total undiscounted lease payments 14,623 16,435
A reconciliation of the Group’s opening to clasing lease liabilities balance is presented in Note 32.
Amounts recoghised in the Group income statement
53 weeks 57 weeks
2020 209
{restated)
- 3 B 7 . £m £m
Interest on lease liabilities 541 561
Variable payment expenses not included in iease liabilities 6 9
Expenses relating to short-term leases 19 16
Expenses relating to leases of low valus assets (excluding amounts already included in short-term leases above) 1 2z
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Amounts recognised in the Group cash flow statement

53 weeks 52 weeks

2020 2018

{restated)

- _ £m fm

Total cash outflow for leases” 1175 1167

* Includes £5m (2019: £4m) related 1o Tesco Bank
Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability

Some leases contain break clauses or extension options to provide operational flexibility. Potential future undiscounted lease payments not
included in the reasonably certain lease term, and hence not included in lease liabilities., total £11.8bn (2019: £12.0bn).

Future increases or decreases in rentals linked to an index or rate are not included in the lease liability until the change in cash flows takes

effect. Approximately 72% (2019: 73%) of the Group’s lease liabilities are subject to inflation-linked rentals and a further 12% (2019: 12%) are
subject to rent reviews. Rental changes Inked te inflation or rent reviews typically occur on an annual or five-yearly basis.

The Group is committed to payments totalling £93m (2019: £42m} in relation to leases that have been signed but have not yet commenced.
Sale and leaseback

In October 2019. the Group compieted a sale and leaseback transaction in respect of a store and mall in Poland. Cash proceeds of £24m were
received and a gain of £11m was recognised. The store and mall are being leased back over a three-year lease term at market rentals.

Group as lessor
The Group ieases out owned properties and sublets leased properties under operating and finance leases. Such properties include malls, mall
units, stores, units within stores, gistribution centres and residential properties.

Amounts recognised in the Group income statement

53 weeks 57 weeks
2020 2019
{restated}
7 o £m £m
Finance lease - interest income' N ' 4 3
Operating lease - rental income'™ 341 328
" Includes £4m (2019 £3ml of sublease interest income,
' Includes £74m (2019: £70m) of sublease rental income
Finance iease payments receivabie
The finance lease receivable (net investment in the leasel included in the Group balance sheet is £48m (2019 £564m).
Operating lease payments receivable maturity analysis
2020 2019
{restated)
£m £m
Within one year 220 223
Greater than one year but less than two years 128 138
Greater than two years but less than three years 71 75
Greater than three years but less than four years 38 40
Greater than four years but less than five years 27 23
Greater than five years but less than ten years B3 77
Greater than ten years but less than fifteen years a4 40
After fifteen years 82 84
Total undiscounted operating lease payments recelvable 693 705
Note 13 Investment property
2020 2019
Em £m
Cost B -
At the beginning of the year 118 208
Foreign currency translation 4] (3}
Reciassification (1 m
Disposals 6) (B6)
At the end of the year 100 18
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses T 7
At the beginning of the year 82 108
Forelgn currency translation M 12)
Charge for the year 1 1
Impairment losses for the year” 5 1
Reversal of impairment losses for the year” (4) 2]
Reclassification {4) 2
Disposals 7 ) (5) i
At the end of the year _ , 74 82
Net carryiﬁé vaiue at the end of the year 26 36
Rental income earned from investment properties under operating leases 1l 18
Direct operating expenses incurred on rental-earning investment properties (3} 119}

* Referto Note 15,

The estimated fair value of the Group's investment property is £0.2bn (2019: £6.2bn). This fair value has been determined by applying an
appropriate rental yield to the rentals earned by the investment property. A valuation has not been performed by an independent valuer.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 14 Group entities

The Group consists of the ultimate Parent Company. Tesco PLC, and a number of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates held directly or
indirectly by Tesco PLC. See pages 155 to 160 for a complete list of Group entities.

Subsidiaries
The accounting year ends of the subsidiaries consolidated in these financial statements are on or around 28 February 2020.

Consolidated structured entities

The Group has a number of securitisation structured entities established in connection with Tesco Bank's credit card securitisation
transactions. Although none of the equity of these entities is owned by the Group, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with these entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over them under contractual agreements.
As such, these entities are effectively controlled by the Group. and are therefore accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group.

These entities have financial year ends of 31 December. The management accounts of these entities are used tc consolidate the results to
29 February 2020 within these financial statements.

Unconsolidated structured entities

In prier years, the Group sponsored a number of structured entities. The Group led the formation of the entities and its name appears in the
name of the entities and/or on the debt issued by the entities. The structured entities were set up te finance property purchases by scme of
the UK property joint ventures in which the Group typically holds a 50% equity interest. The structured entities obtain debt financing from
third-party Investors and lend the funds to these joint ventures, who use the funds to purchase the properties.

The liabilities of the UK property joint ventures include the loans due to these structured entities. The Group's exposure to the structured entities
is limited to the extent of the Group's interests in the joint ventures. The liabilities of the structured entities are non-recourse to the Group.

The Group concluded that it does not control. and therefore should not consclidate. these structured entities since it does not have power
aver the relevant activities of the structured entities, or exposure to variable returns from these entities.

Interests in joint ventures and associates

Principal joint ventures ond associates

The Group’s principal joint ventures and associates are:

Share of issued
share capital, [oan

Nature of capital and debt Country of Principal area
relationship Business activity securities incorporation of cperation
Included in ‘UK property joint ventures’: ) ) T
The Tesco Coral Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Blue Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Passaic Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Navona Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Sarum Limited Partnership Jeint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Dorney Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment 50% England United Kingdom
The Tesco Property (No. 2) Limited Partnership Joint venture Property investment HU% Jersey United Kingdun
The Tesco Arena Unit Trust Joint venture Property investment 50% Jersey United Kingdom
Included in ‘Other joint ventures and associates’:
Tesco Mabile Limited Joint venture Telecommunications 50% England United Kingdom
Tesco Underwriting Limited Joint venture Insurance 49.9% England United Kingdom
Trent Hypermarket Private Limited Joint venture Retail 50% India India
Tesco Lotus Retail Growth Freehold Associate Property investment 25% Thailand Thailand

and Leasehold Property Fund

The accounting period end dates of the joint ventures and associates consolidated in these financial statements range from 3! December 2019
to 29 February 2020. The accounting period end dates of joint ventures differ from those of the Group for commercial reasons and depend
upon the requirements of the joint venture partner as well as those of the Group. The accounting period end dates of the associates are
different from those of the Group as they depend upon the requirements of the parent companies of those entities.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures and associates to transfer funds to the parents, other than those imposed
by the Companies Act 2006 or equivalent Iocal regulations, and for Tesco Underwriting Limited. regulatory capital requirements.

Prior to the Group's sale of its 20% share in Gain Land Limited (Gain Land). management applied judgement in determining that Gain Land was
an associate of the Group. The Group had significant influence by virtue of holding 20% equity interest which presumed significant influence
per 1AS 28, together with having a contractual right to appoint two out of 10 directors. while taking into account that the remaining 80%
interest was held by one other party.

The UK property joint ventures involve the Group partnering with third parties in carrying out some property investments in order to enhance
returns from property and access funding. while reducing risks associated with sole ownership. These property investments generally cover
shopping centres and standalone stores. The Group enters into leases for some or all of the properties held in the joint ventures. These leases
provide the Group with some rights over alterations and adjacent land developments. Some leases also provide the Group with optiens to
purchase the cther joint venturers’ equity stakes at a future point in time. In some cases the Group has the ability to substitute properties in
the joint ventures with alternative properties of similar value. subject to strict eligibility criteria. In other cases. the Group carries out property
management activities for third-party rentals of shopping centre units.

The property investment activities are carried out in separate entities, usually partnerships or limited liability companies. The Group has
assessed its ability to direct the relevant activities of these entities and any impact on Group returns and concluded that the entities qualify as
joint ventures since decisions regarding them require the unanimous consent of both equity holders. This assessment included not only rights
within the joint venture agreements, but also any rights within other contractual arrangements between the Group and the entities.
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The Group made a number of judgements in arriving at this determination, the key ones being:

- since the provisions of the joint venture agreements require the relevant decisions impacting investor returns to be either unanimously
agreed by both joint venturers at the same time. or In some cases 1o be agreed sequentially by each venturer at different stages. there is
joint decision-making within the joint venture:

- since the Group's leases are priced at fair value. and any rights embedded in the leases are consistent with market practice, they do not
provide the Group with additional control over the joint ventures nor da they infer an obligation by the Group to fund the settlement of
liabifities of the joint ventures:

- any options to purchase the other joint venturers' equity stakes are priced at market value. and only exercisable at future dates. hence they
de not provide control to the Group at the current time;

- where the Group has a right to substitute properties in the joint ventures, the rights are strictly limited and are at fair value. hence do not
provide control to the Group; and

- where the Group carries out property management activities for third-party rentals in shopping centres, these additionai activities are
controlied through joint venture agreements or iease agreements, and do not provide the Group with additional powers over the joint venture.

Summarised financial information for joint ventures and associates

The summarised financial infermation below reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant joint ventures and
associates. and not the Group's share of those amounts. These amounts have been adjusted to conform to the Group's accounting poficies
where required. The summarised financial information for UK property joint ventlres has been aggregated in order to provide useful
information to users without excessive detall, since these entities have similar characteristics and risk profiles largely based on their nature of
activities and geographic market.

UK property jointrvrentures Gain Land Limited
2020 2019 2020 2019
(restated)
£m £m £m £m
Summarised balance sheet
Non-current assets™ 3.242 3.786 - 6,380
Current assets [excluding cash and cash equivalents} 101 o8 - 2.238
Cash and cash equivalents 28 40 - 649
Current liabilities* (487) (359} - {6.102)
Non-current liabilities™ 3.621) 14.529) - (3.313)
Net assets/(liabilities) o B 73 (964} - (168)
Summarised incoine statement
Revenue 258 289 8.551 9.038
Profit/(loss) after tax T . - {95} (64}
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
Opening balance - - 263 274
Foreign currency translation - - (4} 2
Share of profits/(losses)’ 12 15 19} (13
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates (12) {15) - -
Disposals*! - - (240} -
Closing balance T - ] ' - - 7 263
Group's share in ownership 50% 50% - 20%
Group's share of net assets/{liabilities) (369) (482) - (34}
Goodwill - - - 297
Deferred property profits offset against carrying amounts [(53}] 61 - -
Cumulative unrecognised losses®’ 2056 183 - -
Cumulative unrecognised hedge reserves® 225 360 - -
Carrying amount T - - - 263

* The non-current asset balances of UK property joint ventures are reflected at historical depreciated cost to conform to the Group's accounting palicies. The aggregate fair values in the
financial staterments of the UK property joint ventures are £4.338m (2018: £6.053m),

= The current and non-current fiabillties of UK property jaint ventures fargely comprise loan balances of £3.616m (2019 £3.809m} and derivative swap balances of £452m (2019: £720m)
entered into to hedge the cash flow variability exposures of the joint ventures.

The share of profit for the year tor UK property joint vemtures related to £12m dividends receved from joint ventures with £nif carrying amounts. £3m of losses and £37m of increases in
the fair values of derivatives arising from these entities have been included in cumulative unrecognised losses and cumulative unrecognised hedge reserves respectively

The Group completed the sale of its 20% investment in Gain Land Limited on 28 February 2020 for & consideration of £277m, Refer to Note 33 for further details.
As at 29 February 2020, the Group has £106m (2019: £105m) loans to UK property joint ventures.

Other joint ventures and associates
The Group also has interests in a number of individually immaterial joint ventures and associates excluding UK property joint ventures.

Joint ventures Associates
020 2019 2070 2019
i £m 7 £m £m £m
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immatsrial joint ventures and associates 230 T o275 77 64
Group's share of profits/(losses) for the year 14 15 n 15
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 15 Impairment of non-current assets

Impairment losses and reversals

No goodwill impairment iosses were recognised by the Group in 2020 (2019: Enilj.

The table below summarises the Group's pre-tax impairment losses and reversals on other non-current assets and investments in joint ventures
and asscciates. with the former aggregated by segment due to the large number of individually immaterial store cash-generating units. This
excludes any losses recognised on classifying an asset or disposal group as held for sale. Impairment losses and reversals are presented gross,
and prior financial year comparatives have been re-presented on the same basis and restated following adoption of IFRS 16. ‘Leases’.

UK & RO Central Europe Asia Tesco Bank Total*

Impairment  Impairment Impairment  Imparment Impairment  Impairment Impairment  Impairment Impairment \m::\airment
63 weeks ended loss reversal loss reversal ioss reversal loss reversal loss reversal
29 February 2020 £m £m £m m £m £m . £m £m £m £m
Group balance sheet
Other intangible assets (27 36 - 2 - - - - 27) 38
Property, plant and (428} 272 (266) 195 28} 28 - - {722) 495
equipment
Right of use assets (242) 142 (10) 28 115) 12 - - 1267 182
Investment property (5) - - 4 - - - - (5) 4
Other non-current assets (702} 450 (276} 229 {43} 40 - - (1,021 719
Investments in joint - - - - 4z - - - {47) -
ventures and associates . _
Total impairment {loss)/ (702) 450 (276) 229 (90) 40 - - 1,068) it}
reversal —
Group income statement
Cost of sales — underlying - - (5) 8 2) - - - 2] 8
Cost of sales - 658) 407 271 217 47 40 - - (9700 664
exceptional
Administrative expenses (44) 43 - - - - - - (44) 43
- underlying
Administrative expenses - - - 4 (47) - - - (47) 4
- exceptional .
Total impairment tlossy/ (702) 450 (276) 229 (2Q) 40 - - (1,068) 79
reversal

* Ofthe £302m other non-current assets net impairment koss for the Group (2019: £114m reversal), a net foss of £302m (201%: £111m reversalt has been classified within exceptional items, of which a
net loss of £251m (2019, £109rm reversal) related ta the UK & ROL, anet loss of £50m (2019: £44m reversail reldted to Central Europe and & net loss of £1m (2019 E42m loss) related to Asia,

UK & RO Central Europe Asla Tesco Bank Total®

impairment  Imparment impairmernt impafrmenrti tmpairment  imipairment - fmparrment/ fmpairmernt ) fmparmert fﬁpafrment
52 weeks ended loss reversal loss reversal loss reversaj loss reversal loss reversal
23 February 2019 Irestated) Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Group balance sheet )
Other intangible assets (28) 2 (18) 5 - - - - 42) 76
Property, plant and (426) 534 (128} 163 (34) 12 - - 588) 709
equipment
Right of use assets (147) 150 {25) 49 {23) 4 - - (195) 203
Invesstment property - 2 [} - - - - - (0] 2
Other non-current assets (599) 707 (170} 217 (57 16 - - (826} 940
Investments in joint - - - - - - - - - -
ventures and associates _ . -
Total impairment (loss)/ (599) 707 (170) 217 (57 16 - - (826) 940
reversal -
Group income statement
Cost of sales - underlying - - (1 1 - - - - il 1
Cost of sales - (597) 704 (162) 206 56) 15 - - (815) 925
exceptional
Administrative expenses 12 1 71 10 - 1 - - (9} 12
- underlying
Administrative expenses - 2 - - m - - - n i
~ exceptional ] ] : - ] ,
Total impairment (loss)/ (599) 707 (170) 217 {57) 16 - - (826} 940
reversal

* Refer to previous table for foolncte

The impairment loss in UK & ROl includes an impairment loss of £287m (2019: £nil) in the UK in respect of the Group obtaining control of
The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership. Refer to Note 33 for further details.

The impairment loss/reversal in Central Europe includes an impairment loss of £220m (2019: £nil) and reversal of £142m (2019: £nit) in Poland
following the announcement in July 2019 that Tesco Poland will refocus its business on its best performing smalier store formats, converting
its fargest hypermarkets into smaller compact hypermarkets, which will be run alongside its existing smaller supermarkets. A full impairment
review was conducted in Poland at the time of the announced changes.

The remaining Other non-current assets impairment losses and reversals for the Group largely reflect normal fluctuations expected from
store-level performance, property fair values and changes in discount rates, as well as any specific store closures.

The Group recognised an impairment loss of £47m (2019: £nil) against its investment in its joint venture Trent Hypermarket Private Limited in
India, reflecting investments in our offer to remain competitive in the market, combined with a strategic decision to reduce store expansion.
which has impacted our profit expectations of the joint venture.
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Net carrying value of non-current assets

The net carrying values of Other non-current assets and recoverable amounts of impaired Other non-current assets for which an impairment
loss has been recognised or reversed have been aggregated by segment due to the large number of indivigually immaterial store cash-
generating units. The amounts below exclude assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale.

UK & ROI Central Europe Asia Tesco Bank Total
At 29 February 2020 _ N £m £m £m . £m £m
Net carrying value
Other intangible assets 1.055 28 16 139 1238
Property, plant and equipment 14,612 2.196 2.365 61 19,234
Right of use assets 5719 4, 650 14 6.874
investment property - 23 3 - - 26
Other non-current assets : 21,409 2,718 3,031 ) 214 27,372
Goodwill™ 3.837 - 269 775 4.881
Investments in joint ventures and assorigtes™ i 1 208 87 307
Net carrying value of non-current assm-e—ts 25,257 2,719 3,508 1,076 32,560
Recoverable amount of impaired Other non-current assets for
which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed,
supported by:
Value in use 3,448 254 163 - 3.865
Fair value less costs of disposal™ 2,105 269 209 - 2,583

} 5,553 523 372 - 6,448

* Goodwill of £4.881m (2019 £4,908m) consists of UK £3.834m (2019 £3.834m), ROI £3m (2019: £3m). Thalland £193m (2019: £193m). Malaysia £76m (2019 £77m) and Tesco Bank £775m
{2019: £802m}.

= The carrying value of the Group's investments include: Gain Land Limited £nil (2019: £263m). Trent Hyperrmarket Private Limited £59m (2019 £102m) and Tesco Underwriting Limited £87m
{2019 £86my.

Due to the individual nature of each property, fair values are classified as Level 3 within the fafir value hierarchy.

UK & ROI Central Eurcpe Asia Tesce Bank Total

At 23 February 2019 (restated) £m £rm £m £m £m
Net carrying value
Other intangible assets 1.090 27 4 224 1.355
Property. plant and equipment. 13.988 2,687 2.449 62 19.186
Right of use assets 6,537 479 682 15 7713
Investment property 29 7 - _ - 36
Other non-current assets o B 21,644 3,200 3,145 301 28,290
Goodwill® 3,837 - 270 802 4,909
Investments in joint ventures and associates™ 12 1 503 86 802
Net carrying value of non-current assets 25,493 5301 3,918 1,189 33,801
Recoverable amount of impaired Other non-current assets for
which an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed,
supported by:
Value in use 3.31 426 184 - 3,911
Fair value less costs of disposal™ 1.976 438 213 - 2.687

i 5,287 T 924 397 - 6,608

' Refer to previous table for footnotes.

Impairment methodology

Cash-generating units

The Group treats each store as a separate cash-generating unit for impairment testing of other intangible assets, property. plant and
equipment. right of use assets and investment property. Refer to Note 1for further details. The Group allocates goodwill to groups of
cash-generating units, where each country represents a group of cash-generating units for the Group’s retail operations, as this represents
the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored by management. Tesco Bank represents a separate cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of each store cash-generating unit is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. The
recoverable amount of a group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated is determined based on value in use calculations.

Head cffice and central assets such as distribution centres and associated costs are allocated to store cash-generating units based on level
of use. estimated with reference tq sales. Customer fulfilment centres and associated costs that are part of a store are included in the store
cash-generating unit. Standalone customer fulfilment centres and associated costs are allocated to the store cash-generating units in the
area that they serve to match the customer base, based on level of use. estimated with reference to sales.

Value in use

Estimates for value in use calculations include discount rates, long-term growth rates and expected changes to future cash flows. including
volurnes and prices. Estimates are based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. including the prevailing
economic climate and global economy, competiter activity. market dynamics. changing customer behaviours. structural challenges facing
retail and the resilience afforded by the Group’s operational scale.

Cash flow projections are based on the Group’s three-year internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The forecasts
are extrapolated to five years based on management’s expectations. and beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth
rates. Long-term growth rates for the Retail business are based on inflation forecasts by recognised bodies. The long-term growth rate for
Tesco Bank is based on inflation and GDP growth forecasts by recognised bodies.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the market assessment as at the balance sheet date of the time vaiue
of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating units. including a Brexit risk adjustment in the UK & ROi segment. and a COVID-19 risk
adjustment to the discount rates for all cash-generating units to reflect the impact of increased volatility in forecast cash flows observable at
that time. The pre-tax discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital. as adjusted for the specific risks
relating to each geographical regicn. Risk-free rates are based on government bond rates in each geographical region and equity risk premia are
based on forecasts by recognised bodies.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 15 Impairment of non-current assets continued

Fair value less costs of disposal

Fair values of owned properties are determined with regard to the market rent for the stores or for alternative uses with investment yields
appropriate to reflect the physical characteristics of the property, location, infrastructure, redevelopment potential and other factors. In
some cases, fair values include residual valuations where stores may be viable for redevelopment. Fair values of leased properties are
determined with regard to the discounted market rent for the property over the remaining period of the lease. reflecting the condition and
lacation of the property and the local rental market. Fair values of the Group's properties were determined with the assistance of
independent professional valuers where appropriate. Costs of disposal are estimated based on past experience in each geographical region.

Investments in joint ventures and associates
The recoverable vaiues of investments in joint ventures and associates are estimated taking into account forecast cash flows, equity
valuations of comparable entities and/or recent transactions for comparable businesses.

Key assumptions and sensitivity

Key assumptions

For value in use calculations, the key assumptions toe which the recoverable amounts are most sensitive are discount rates. long-term growth
rates and the impact on cash generated from operations from year one sales growth (incarporating sales and costs. as well as volumes and
prices). For fair value less costs of dispasal calculations, the key assumption is property fair values.

The discount rates and long-term growth rates for each group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are:

UK ROI Thailand Malaysia Tesco Bank
2020 2018 2020 2019 2020 019 2020 2019 2020 2018
% % % % % % % % % %
Pre-tax discount rates 8.0 i 8.8 8.1 85 9.0 9.6 n.b .8 9.7 10.4
Post-tax discount rates 6.6 7.1 71 7.4 7.2 77 8.7 9.0 7.2 7.8
Long-term growth rates 2.0 2.0 1.9 1.9 1.6 1.9 2.4 2.4 1.8 2.0

The discount rates and long-term growth rates for the Group's portfelio of store cash-generating units, aggregated by segment due to the
large number of individually immaterial store cash-generating units. are:

UK & RO Central Europe Asia Tesco Bank
2020 2009 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2000
% % % % % % % %
Pre-tax discount rates 80-81 85-88 7.0-93 74-98 90-15 96-18 9.7 104
Post-tax discount rates 66-71 71-74 55-83 59-84 7.2-87 77-90 7.2 78
Long-term growth rates 19-2.0 19-2.0 20-30 20-27 1.6-2.4 19-24 1.8 2.0

Sensitivity
The Group has carried out sensitivity analyses on the reasonably possible changes in key assumptions in the impairment tests for (a) each
group of cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated and (b) for its portfolio of store cash-generating units.

a. Neither a reasonably possible one percentage point increase in discount rates, a one percentage point decrease in year one sales growth
nor a one percentage point decrease in long-term growth rates would indicate impairment in any group of cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated.

b. While there is not a significant risk of an adjustment to the carrying amount of any one store cash-generating unit that would be materiai
to the Group as a who'e in the next financial year, the table below summarises the reasonably possible changes in each key assumption
and its impact on the impairment of the Group’s entire portfolio of store cash-generating units, presented in aggregate due to the large
number of individually immaterial store cash-generating units:

0207 2019

Impact on (restated]

Key assumption Reasonably possible change impairment . £m £m
Post-tax discount rates Increase of 1.0%pt for each geographic region Increase {482) (477)
- Decrease of 1.0%pt for each geographic region Decrease ABS 406

Year one sales growth Increase of 1.0%pt for each geographic region Decrease 61 51
) ) 7 Decrease of 1.0%pt for each geographic region Increase (61 (62)

Long-term growth rates Increase of 1.0%pt for each geographic region Decrease 445 379
o Decrease of 1.0%pt for each geographic region - Increase 410} (404)
Property fair values increase of 5.0%pt for each geographic region Decrzase 105 ) 129
Decrease of 5.0%pt for each geographic region Increase (105] 1130)

These sensitivities are presented on a consistent basis with the prior financial year to aid comparability Commentary on additional sensitivities adjusted for the impact of increased
volatility as a result of COVID-19 15 given in Note 36

Note 16 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprenensive income comprise investments in debt and equity instruments of other entities.

2020 2019

£m £m

Investrnents in debt instruments 1.058 1,040

investments in equity instruments i 10 3]
Total financlal assets at fair value through other cdmprehensive- income ’ } 1,068 1,046

Cf which: )

Current 202 67

Non-current 866 879

) ) ) 1,068 1,046
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Note 17 Inventories

; Financial statements

2020 209

£m £m

Goods held for resale . 2.429 26N
Developrment properties 4 6
2,433 2,617

Goods held for resale are net of commercial income. Refer to Note 22,

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense for the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 was £48,260m (52 weeks ended 23 February 2019:
£48,124m). Inventory losses and provisions recognised as an expense for the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 were £1.320m {52 weeks ended

23 February 2019: £1,399m).
Note 18 Trade and other receivables

2070 2019

Irestated)

£m £m

Trade receivabies 495 598

Prepayments 192 279

Accrued income' 262 297

Other receivables 439 449

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (Note 311 174 170

Total trade and other receivables B 1,562 1,793

Of which:

Current 1.3%6 1.550
Non-current 166 243

1,562 1,793

' Accrued income includes contract assets of E60m (2019: £54m) primanly related to insurance renewal ncome. The expected credit loss was immaterial as at 29 February 2020 (2015,

irmrmaterial).
"~ Expected credit losses on amounts owed by joint ventures and associates is not material

Trade and other receivables include commerciat income. Refer to Note 22. Trade and other receivables are generally non-interest-bearing.
Credit terms vary by country and the nature of the debt. ranging from seven to 60 days.

The tables below present the ageing of receivables and related allowances for expected credit losses:

Upto Greater than
six manths  Six to 12 months i2 moniths
Not past due past due past due past due Total
At 29 February 2020 £m £rn £m £m tm
Trade receivables 438 70 6 15 529
Other receivables - 431 7 4 7 459
Trade and other receivables 869 77 10 32 988
Allowance for expected credit losses: _
At the beginning of the year (5) ) 14} (29) (59}
Foreign currency {ranslation - 1 - - 1
Increase in allowance, net of recoveries, charged to the Group income 12} - 4 13) i
statement
Amounts written off . - l . 2 _ 2 5
At the end of the year (7} )] {8) 30) (54)
Upto Greater than
sxmonths  Six to 12 months 12 manths
Not past due past due past due past due Total
At 23 February 2019 o £m £m frr . £m _ £m
Trade receivables 499 106 18 7 640
Other receivables - 435 . ® ? 13 466
Trade and other receivables 934 122 20 30 1,106
Aliowance for expected credit losses: . . _
At the beginning of the year 3) (§{v)] {16} (17} (46}
Increase in allowance. net of recoveries. charged to the Group income (2 (2 - 17 {21
statement
Amounts written off - 1 2 - 5 8
At the end of the year (5) {11 {14} (29) (59)
Note 19 Loans and advances to customers and banks
Tesco Bank has loans and advances to customers and banks, as follows:
2020 2019
o £m £m
Current 4.280 4.882
Non-current . o 4.1 7.868
8,451 12,750
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 19 Loans and advances to customers and banks continued
The maturity of these loans and advances is as follows:

2020 2019

__Em . £m

Repayable on demand or at short notice 4 4

within three months 4,543 4.858

Greater than three months but less than one year 86 323

Greater than one year but less than five years 3.322 3,087
After five years 984 4.993

8,939 13,235

Expected credit loss allowance for loans and advances ta customers and banks (438) (489

8,451 12,750

At 29 February 2020, £3.5bn (2019: £3.2bn) of the credit card portfolio had its beneficial interest assigned to a securitisation structured entity,
Delamare Cards Recelvables Trustee Limited, for use as collateral in securitisation transactions. The total encumbered portion of this
portfolio is £0.8bn {2019: £2.3bn).

At 29 February 2020, Delamare Cards MTN Issuer pic had £2.0bn (2019: £2.4bn) notes in issue in relation to securitisation transactions. of
which £0.6bn (2019: £0.9bn) was externally issued. The Group owned £1.2bn (2019: £1.10on) class A credit card-backed notes and £0.2bn (2019:
£0.3bn) class D credit card-backed notes,

Of the total £1.2on (2019: £1.1bn} class A notes. £nil (2019: £0.5bn) is held in a distinct pool for the purposes of collateralising the Bank of
England's Term Funding Scheme drawings. All other prepositioned assets with the Bank of England are held within their single ccllateral pool.

Refer 1o Note 25 for aliowance for expected credit losses disclosures.
Note 20 Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
Cash and cash equivalents

2020 2019

_ £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 3.251 2.683
Short~term deposits 187 233

3.408 2,916

Short-term investments

2020 2mg

. } £m £m

Money market funds 1.076 390

Cash and cash equivalents includes £35m (2019: £62m) of restricted amounts mainly relating to the Group’s pension schemes and employee
benefit trusts.

Note 21 Trade and other payables

2020 2019

(restated)

£m Em

Trade payables 5.579 5.750

Other taxation and social security 477 521

Other payables 1,793 1552

Amounts payable to joint ventures and associates (Note 31) 26 20

Accruals 841 1.230

Contract liabilities . 376 423

Total trade and other payables ' _ ] ~ 9,092 " 9,496

Of which: '

Current 8.922 9131
Non-current 170 365

7 ) ' ' ' 9,092 9,496

Trade and other payables are net of commercial income. Refer to Note 22.

Contract lisbilities represent consideration received for performance obligations not yet satisfied, predominantly in relation to Clubcard
points. Substantially all of the revenue deferred at the current financial year end will be recognised in the following financial year.

Trade payables include £393m (2019: £348m) that suppliers have chosen to early-fund under supplier financing arrangements. Refer to Note 1.
Amounts in trade payables that are overdue for payment to the provider banks are immaterial.

Note 22 Commercial income

Below are the commercial income balances included within inventories and trade and other receivables, or netted against trade and other
payables. Amounts received in advance of income being earned are included in accruals.

2020 209
£m E_m_
Current assets
Inventories (55) B9}
Trade and other receivables
Trade/other receivables 138 183
Accrued income 157 155
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Trade payables 292 327
Accruals (31 (4}
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Note 23 Borrowings

Borrowings are classified as current and non-current based on their scheduled redemption date. and not their maturity date. Repayments of
principal amounts are classified as current if the repayment is scheduled to be made within one year of the balance sheet date.

Current
2020 28
(restated)
Par value Maturity £m A £Em
Bank loans and overdrafts - - M3 387
1.375% MTN £726m Jul 2008 - 636
5.5% MTN £97m Dec 2019 - 98
1% RPI Tesco Bank Retaill Bond* £73m Dec 2019 - 72
2.125% MTN® €296m Nov 2020 255 -
1m USD LIBOR + 0.70% Tesco Bank Bong 5350m Nov 2020 273 -
5% Tesco Bank Retail Bond £200m Nov 2020 202 -
LIBOR + 0.65% Tesco Bank Bond® £350m May 2021 - 350
LIBOR + 0.53% Tesco Bank Bond"™ £300m Oct 2022 299 -
5.5457% Secured Bond™" £312m Feb 2029 22 20
6.0517% Secured Bond®™ £471m Cct 2039 26 -
) ’ 1,490 1,563
Non-current
2020 2019
restated)
o Par value Maturity £m £m
2.125% MTN® £296m Now 2020 - 436
1m USD LIBOR + 0.70% Tesco Bank Bong 8350m Nov 2020 - 262
5% Tesco Bank Retail Sond £200m Nov 2020 - 203
6.125% MTN™ £417m Feb 2022 416 567
LIBOR + 0.53% Tesco Bank Bond™ £300m QOct 2022 - 299
5% MTN® £93m Mar 2023 103 183
1.375% MTN £750m Oct 2023 660 658
2.5% MTN £750m Jul 2024 653 658
2.5% MTN £400m May 2025 418 -
3.5% Tesco Bank Senior MREL Notes'! £250m Jul 2025 250 -
3.322% LPI MTN" £354m Nov 2025 3568 349
0.B76% MTN €750m May 2026 640 -
5.5457% Secured Bond'™ £312m Feb 2029 281 303
6.067% Secured Bond® £200m Feb 2029 192 191
LIBOR +1.2% Secured Bond" £60m Feb 2029 38 34
6% MTIN' £48m Dec 2029 58 19
5.5% MTN™ £109m Jan 2033 133 186
1.882% RPI MTN™ £294m Mar 2036 297 288
6.15% USD Bond $525m Nov 2037 555 428
6.0517% Secured Bond'®": £471m Oct 2038 590 -
4 875% MTN"' £20m Mar 2042 20 32
5.125% MTN £356m Apr 2047 316 319
5.2% MTN% £30m Mar 2057 29 n
T o 6,005 5,580

The 1% RP| Tesca Bank Retail Bond 15 redeamable at par. indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the bond.

Dunng the year, the Group undertook a tender for cutstanding bonds and as a result the following notional amounts were repaid early, 2.126% MTN Nov 2020 €204m. 6 125% MTN Feb
2022 £14m. 5% MTN Mar 2023 £78m. 6% MTN Dec 2029 £60m, 5.5% MTN Jan 2033 £41m. 4 8756% MTN Mar 2042 £12m and 5 2% MTN Mar 2057 £43m.

This bond was issued on & June 2014 and was redeemed on 1ts s¢cheduled redemption date in May 2019
This bond was fssued on 7 November 2017, The scheduled redemption date of this bond is October 2020

" The bonds are secured by a charge over the property. plant and equipment held within the Tesco Property Limited Partnership. a 100% owned subsidiary of Tesco PLC. The carrying
amount of assets pledged as securily for secured bonds is £794m {23 February 2013: £803m).

" Thisis an amortising bond which matures in Feb 2023, £22m (23 February 2019: £20m) 15 the principal repayment due within the next 12 months, The remainder is payable in quarterly
instalments until maturity in Feb 2029.

£ This bond is secured by a charge over Lhe property, plant and equipment held within The Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership. & 100% owned subsidliary of Tesco PLC. The carrying armount of
assets pledged as security for secured bonds 15 £612m.

This is an amortising bond which matures in Oct 2039, £26m 15 the principal repayment due within the next 12 menths, The remainder is payable in quarterly instalments until maturity in
Oct 2038,

These Notes are Tesco Bank MREL compliant senior debt and were issued on 25 July 2019, The scheduled redemption date is July 2024,
The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par. indexed for increases in the RP| over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%, with a minimum of 0%
' The 1.982% RPI MTN is redeemable at. par. indexed for increases in the RP| over the Iife of the MTN
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 24 Financial instruments
The carrying value and fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities are set out below:

2020 2019
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
. £m £m fm E_m_
Assets
Loans and advances to custemers and banks - Tesco Bank 8.451 B.672 12.750 12.931
Joint ventures and associates loan receivables” 127 193 133 205
Liabilities
Short-term borrowings:
Amortised cost (1.015) {S28) (1,491} (1,499)
Bonds in fair value hedge relationships (475) 1478) 72) 170)
Long-term borrowings:
Amortised cost 14,049} (4.714) (3,954} 14.369)
Bonds in fair value hedge relationships 1.956) (1.954) {1.626) 11.622)
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank (7.707) 7. (10,465} 10,427
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank {500) (500) (1.663) {1,663)

*  Joint ventures and associstes loan receivables carrying amounts of £127m (2019: £133m) are presented in the Group balance sheet net of deferred profits of £54m (2019 £54m) historically
arising from the sale of property assets to joint ventures

The above table excludes cash ang cash equivalents, short-term investments. trade and other receivables/payables, derivative financial
instruments and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income where the carrying values are either fair value or
approximate fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments and derivatives have been determined by reference to prices available from the markets on which the
instruments are traded, where they are available. Where market prices are not available. the fair value has been calculated by discounting
expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

The expected maturity of financial assets and liabilities is not considered to be materially different to their current and non-current
classification.

Financial assets and liabilities by category

The accounting classifications of each class of financial assets and liabilities at 29 February 2020 and 23 February 2019 are as follows:

Financial assets

at farr value
through other  Fimancial assets/ Falr vaiue
comprehensive (liabilities) at through profit

income amortised cost ar lpss Totak

Al 29 February 2020 i £m £m £m . £m

Cash and cash equivalents ) ' - 3.382 26 3.408

Loans and advances to customers and banks - Tesco Bank - 8.451 - 8.451
Short-term investments - 1.076 - 1,076
Fimancial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,068 - - 1.068
Jaint ventures and associates foan receivables - 127 - 127
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank - 7.707) - 12.707)
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank - 500} - (500}
Short-term borrowings - (1.490) - 1.490)
Long-term borrowings - (6.005) - (6.0058)
Lease liabilities - 19,666) - (9,566)

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instrumerits - - {z3) (23}

Cross-currency swaps - - 497 4397
Index-linked swaps - - [275) 275)
__Forward contracts ) - ) - . - 4 _m
) ) 1,068 112,232) 224 {10,940}
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Financial assets

at fair value
through other  Financiaf assets/ Fair value
compretiensive (liabilities) at through profit
Income amortised cost or ioss Total
At 23 February 209 Irestated} £m £rm £m £m
Cash and cash eguivalents - 2.885 31 2,916
Loans and advances to customers and banks - Tesco Bank - 12.750 - 12,750
Short-term investments - 390 - 390
Financial assets at fair value through sther comprehensive income 1.046 - - 1.046
Joint ventures and associates loan receivables - 133 - 133
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank - (10.465) - (10.465)
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank - (1.663) - 1.663)
Short-term borrowirgs - (1.563) - 1.563)
Long-term borrowings - (5.5801 - (5.580)
Lease liabilities - (10.505) - 110.505]
Derivative financial instruments:
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - - (29 (29
Cross-currency swaps - - 325 325
Index-linked swaps - - 292 292
Forward contracts - - 3 3
1,046 13,618) 622 {11,950)

The above tables exclude trade and other receivables/payables that are classified under loans and receivables/other financial liabilities.

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 29 February 2020 and 23 February
2019, by level of fair value hierarchy:

- quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1):

- inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is. as prices) or
indirectly {that is. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

- inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservabie inputs) (Level 3).

Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 29 February 2020 ) £m Em £m £m
Assets 7
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1.058 - 10 1.068
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 26 - 26
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - 47 - 47

Cross-currency swaps - 497 - 497

Index-linked swaps - 541 - 51

Forward contracts ) - 61 - 61
Total assets 1,058 1172 10 2,240
Liakilities
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - 170) - (70

Index-linked swaps - (816) - (816)

Forward contracts o - 62) - (62)
Total Habilities o - (948! - (948)
Net assets/liabilities] 7"‘ 1,058 224 10 1,292

tevell Level 2 Level 3 Total

At 23 February 2019 £m £m £rm £m
Assets
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 1,040 - 6 1.046
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 3 - 3
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and simitar instruments - 38 - 38

Cross-currency swaps - 342 - 342

Index-linked swaps - an - 81
_ Forward contracts - - 39 - 39
Total assets - 1,040 1,261 6 2,307
Liabilities T
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - 67) - 67

Cross-currency swaps - (17) - (17

Index-linked swaps - (519) - (519)

Forward contracts - (29) 17) 36)
Total liabilities . - le32) 7} {639)
Net assets/(liabilities) 1,040 629 (1 1,668
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 24 Financial instruments continued

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the 53 weeks ended 29 February 2020 and 52 weeks ended
23 February 2018

2020 2019

- £m £m

At the beginning of the year [4)] 5
Gains/llosses) recognised in the Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss) 1 1
Addition of financial instrument at falr value through profit or loss (7

Disposal of financial instrument at fair value through profit or foss & -

Addition of financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 4 -
At the end of the year 10 n

During the financial year. there were no transfers (2019: no transfers) between Level 1and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers

inte and out of Level 3 fair value measurements {Z013: no transfers).

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables show those financial assets and liabllities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

agreements.
Gross amounts of Related amounts not offset in the
Gross amounts ot financial assets/ Net amounts Group balance sheet
recognised  [liabilities] offset presented
financial assets/ in the Group in the Group Financia}

liabilities) balance sheet balance sheet Instruments Collateral Net amount
At 29 February 2020 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,137 (729) 3.408 - - 3.408
Derivative financial instruments 1.146 - 1146 (168} - 978
Total trade and other receivables™ ) 1.802 (240) 1.562 - - 1.562
Total assets ) 7,085 (969) 6,116 ) (168) - 5,948
Financial liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts {1.142) 774 (413) - - 4131
Derivative financial instruments {948) - {948) 168 45 1735)
Total trade and other payables™ o (2.332) 240 (9.092) - - 19.092}
Total liabilities (11,422} 969 (10,453} 168 45 {10,240)
= Total trade and other receivables includes £132m (2019 £278m} of prepayments.
" Total trade and other payables incluges £376m (2019, £423mi of contract llabilities

Gross amounts of Related amounts not offset in the
Gross amounts of  financial assets/ Net amounts Group balance sheet
recognised  {liabilities) offset presented
financial assets/ in the Group in the Group Financial

liabilities) balance sheet balance sheet Instruments Collateral Net amount
At 23 February 2079 [restated) £m £m ) £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4.227 n.3n 2.916 - - 2.916
Derivative financial instrumertts 1.230 - 1.230 {223 {12} 935
Total trade and other receivables®™ 2.063 270) 1793 - B - 1.793
Total assets 7,520 (1,581) 5,939 (223) . (12) 5,704
Financial liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts 1.698) 130 387 - - 387)
Deposits from banks - repurchases, securities lending 1324) - (324) - 3,006 2,682
and similar agreements (Note 26)
Derivative financial instruments 1639) - (639) 223 33 {383)
Total trade and other payables*™ t9.766) 270 _19.498) - } - (9.496)
Total liabilities (12,427} 1,581 {10,846} 223 3,039 (7.584)

#1'Refer to previous tabie for footnotes.

For the financial assets and liahilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements above, each agreement between the Group and the
counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. in the absence of
such an election. financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting agreement or simitar

agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.
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Note 25 Financial risk management

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. the risk of default by counterparties
to financial transactions and the availability of funds to meet business needs. The management of these risks is set out below.

Financial risk management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved and delegated by the Board of Directors.
The Board provides written principles for risk management.

Derivatives are used to hedge exposure to market risks and those that are held as hedging instruments are formally designated as hedges as
defined in IFRS 9.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group balance sheet as follows:

2020 2018
Asset Liability Asset Liapility
£m £m £m frn
Current o 63 ) 52 (250)
Non-current ) 1.083 (887) 1,178 (389)
- 1,146 (948) 1,230 1639)

The Group's hedging policies are further described below. The main sources of hedge ineffectiveness are the effect of the counterparties’
and the Group's own credit risk ¢n the fair value of derivatives.

Fair value hedges
The Group maintains interest rate and cross-currency swap contracts as fair value hedges of the interest rate and currency risk on fixed-rate
debt issued by the Group.

These derivative contracts receive a fixed rate of interest and pay a variable interest rate. These are formally designated in fair value hedging
relationships and are used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of debt which has been issued by the Group at fixed rates.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the terms of the swap contracts match the terms
of the fixed-rate borrowings, including notional armount, maturity, payment and rate set dates. The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1
for the hedging relationship as the underlying risk of the swap contract is identical to the hedged item.

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to transactional foreign currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which sales,
purchases. receivables and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional currencies of Group entities.

The Group uses forward contracts to mainly hedge the foreign currency cost of future purchases of goods for resale and designates the spot
element of these contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk. and designates the spot compenent of foreign currency forwards in hedge
relationships.

Under the Group’s hedging policy. the critical terms of the forward contracts must align with the hedged items, The foreign currency forwards
are denominated in the same currency as the highly probable future sales and purchases. which are expected to occur within a maximum
24-month period, therefeore determines the hedge relationship to be 1:1.

The Group also uses index-linked swaps to hedge cash flows on index-linked debt, interest rate swaps to hedge interest cash flows on debt
and cross-currency swaps tc hedge cash flows on fixed-rate debt denominated in foreign currencies. During the current financial year,

a bond tender took place relating to the Eurc 2.125% €500m 2020 MTN which was in a cash flow hedge relationship. Of the outstanding
€500m, €204m of the bond was bought back and the associated hedging instrument was monetised. As the interest payment cash flows
on the bought back element will now not take place. cash flow hedging was discontinued on this portion.

Commodity price risk
The Group is affected by the price of certain commodities, and uses forward contracts te hedge future purchases of diesel for own use,
which are forecast to occur within a 12-month pericd.

Net investment hedges

The Group uses Euro-denominated borrowings to hedge the exposure of a portion of its net investments in overseas operations which have a
Euro functional currency. against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The hedged risk in the net investment hedge is
the risk of a weakening Euro against Pound Sterling that will result in a reduction in the carrying amount of the Group’s Euro net investments.

To assess hedge effectiveness. the Group determines the economic refationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item by
comparing changes in the carrying amount of the debt that is attributable to a change in the spot rate with changes in the investment in
foreign operations due to movements in the spot rate.

The Group has established a hedge ratio of 1:1 as the underlying risk of the hedging instrument is identical to the hegged risk component.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management continued

The details of the hedging instruments and movements in cumulative losses on net investment hedges in other comprehénsive income are set
out below:

Movement on Movement on

continued discontinued

Notional hedges hedges

Gains/llosses) on net investment hedges £m £m £m
At 24 February 2018 1,368 58) 1978)
Borrowings - movement 18 2
At 23 February 2019 1,281 42) (976)
Borrowings - mavement 48 189)
At 29 February 2020 1,281 6 (1,065)

During the current financial year. the €726m 1.375% MTN matured in July 2019 which reduced the amount of net investment hedging. In
November 2019, the Group issued the €750m 0.875% MTN. maturing in May 2028. which was designated as a net investment hedge at
inception, thereby increasing net investment hedging. There were no reclassifications from foreign currency translation reserve and net
investment hedge ineffectiveness was £nil (2019: £nil} during the year.

IBOR reform

The Group has early adopted the ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’ amendments in the current financial year. These allow the Group to
continue hedge accounting for its benchmark interest rate exposures during the period of uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark
reforms. The Group will continue to apply these amendments until the uncertainty arising from interest rate benchmark reform is ne longer
present with respect to the timing and amount of the interest rate benchmark cash flows.

None of the Group's current GBP LIBCR- or EURIBOR-linked contracts include adequate and robust fallback provisions for a cessation of the
referenced benchmark interest rate. The Group is monitering the market and the output from various industry working groups managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates, and will foak to implement faliback language for different instruments and IBORs when
apprepriate. For the Group's derivatives, the International Swaps and Derivatives Association’s (ISDA) fallback clauses were made available at
the end of 2019 and the Group will begin discussion with its banks with the aim to implement this language into its ISDA agreements in 2020.

Details of the hedging relationships for which the Group has applied the ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’ amendments are given below. These
relate to the utilisation of derivatives to achieve the desired mix of fixed and fioating debt.

The following table sets out the extent of the risk exposure associated with managing the fixed and floating debt mix as at 29 February 2020.

Carrying value

Interest rate

Hedging instrument Naotional Asset Liability benchmark Hedged item Heage reiationship
Interest rate swaps 645 7 - EURIBOR MTN Fair value hedge
Interest rate swaps 3.469 30 (51) LIBOR MTN Fair value hedge
Cross-currency interesi rate swaps 409 232 - LIBOR MTN Fair value hedge

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting

The Group's policy does not permit use of derivatives for trading purposes. However, some derivatives do nat qualify for hedge accounting, or
are specifically not designated as a hedge where gains and losses on the hedging instrument and the hedged item naturally offset in the Group
incame statement. These instruments include index-linked swaps and forward foreign currency contracts.

The fair value and nctional amounts of derivatives analysed by hedge type are as follows:

2020 2019
Asset Liability - Asset Liabibity
Fair value Notional Fair value Notional Fair value Notional Fair value Notional
£m £m £m im £m £m Lm £m

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 47 1.710 (51 2,404 37 3.844 (49) 2,70
Cross-currency swaps 232 409 - - 126 180 8} 222
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - - (19} 50 - - 07 1o
Cross-currency swaps 280 1.477 - - 216 1.384 9 272
Index-linked swaps 186 649 - - 187 697 - -
Forward contracts ) . 38 1133 129} 954 32 1,558 (18) 1010
Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship ) )
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - 35 - 13 1 432 (1 244
Cross-currency swaps - - - - - - - -
Index-linked swaps 355 3.025 (816 5,130 624 3.589 519 3,589
Forward contracts 23 1139 (33) 1.416 7 901 (18] 181
Total B 1,146 9,577 (948} 9,967 1,230 12,580 (639} 9,659
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The following tables set out the maturity profite and average interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates of the hedging instruments
used in the Group's non-dynamic hedging strategies.

2620 2019

Upto One to five More than Upto One to five More than
Maturity profile one year years five years one year years five years
Fair value hedges
Interest rate risk
Interest rate swaps - GBP
- Notional amount {£m) 953 1.910 607 1.383 4.351 160
— Average net interest rate [payl/receive 1.08% 0.84% 1.39% (0.83%) 1.00%) 4.12%
Interest rate swaps - EUR
— Notional amount {Em) - 645 - - 651 -
- Average net interest rate (pay)/receive - 063% - - 0.55% -
interest rate/Foreign currency risk
Cross-currency swaps {GBP:U5D)
- Notional amount (£Em) - - 409 - - 402
- Average exchange rate - - 150 - - 1.50
- Average net interest rate [payl/receive o - - 3.15% - - 3.04%
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate risk
Index-linked swaps
— Notional amount (Em) - - 649 60 - 632
- Average net interest rate (pay)/receive - - (4.22%) (1.99%} - 4.22%)
Interest rate swaps
- Notional amount (£m) - - 50 [1¢] - 50
- Average net interest rate (pay)/receive - - (4.23%) 1.57% - 14.12%)
Interest rate/Foreign currency risk
Cross-currency swaps (GBP:USD) floating
- Notional amount (Em) 272 - - - 272 -
- Average exchange rate 129 - - - 1.29 -
- Average net interest rate (pay)/receive 0.84% - - - 162% -
Cross-currency swaps (GBP:EUR) fixed
- Notional amount {£m) 254 645 306 - 434 960
- Average exchange rate 119 1.25 1.47 - 119 1.31
- Average net interest rate (pay)/receive (0.87%} (1.46%) 0.32%) - {0.87%) (1.09%)

AL 25 February 2020. forward foreign currency transactions. designated as cash flow hedges, equivaient to £2.1bn were outstanding (2013:
£2.6bn). These forward contracts are largely in relation to purchases of Euro {notional €£0.8bn} (2019: notional €2.0bn) and US Dollar (notional
$0.90n) (2018: notional $1.1bn) with varying maturities up to August 2021. The notional and fair values of these contracts is shown on page 120.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management contiriued
The following table sets out the details of the hedged exposures covered by the Group's fair value hedges.

AL 29 February 2020

Fair value hedges
Interest rate risk
Fixed-rate loans®
Fixed-rate savings
Fixed-rate investment securitiss'™™
Fixed-rate bonds™

Accumulated amounts of fair value Changes in fair
Carrying amount adjustments on hedged item vaiue for
calcylating hedge Residual hedge
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities ineffectiveness adjustments™
£m £m _ £m &m £m £m
4,416 - 10 - 12 &
- {3.003) - il i)} m
650 - 2 - 7 -
- (2,348} - (216) 140 134)

1% Classified as Borrowings.

At 23 February 2019

* Accumulated amount of fair value nedge agjustments remaining in the Group balance sheet for any hedged items thal have ceased te be adjusted for hedging gains and losses.
® Classified as Loans and advances to customers and banks.

Fair value hedges

Interest rate risk
Fixed-rate loans and mortgages'’™
Fixed-rate savings
Fixed-rate investment securities™
Fixed-rate bonds"!

Accurulated amounts of fair value Changes in fair
Carrying amount adjustments on hadged item value for
calculating hedge Residual hedge
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities ineffectiveness adjustments®
£m £m £m £m £m £m
7.974 - {3) - 14 -
- (3.691 - - il -
473 - (5) - (3) -
- (1.778) - 95 157) {59

1 Refer to previous table for footnotes.

The following tables set out infarmation regarding the change in value of the hedged item used in calculating hedge ineffectiveness as well as
the impacts on the cash flow hedge reserve and currency basis reserve.

At 29 February 2020
Interest rate risk
Index-linked bonds
Borrowings
Foreign currency risk
Trade payables
Interest rate/Foreign currency risk
MTNs

Cumulative impact on Cash flow
hedge reserve and Currency basis

reserve”
Change invalue  Change in value
of hedging of hedged item
{nstrument for for calcuiating
calculating hedge hedge Continuen Discontinued
Ineffectiveness ineffectivengss hedges hedges
Hedging instrument, £m £m £m £m
Index-linked swaps 22 22) 69 -
Interest rate swaps 2) 2 (4) -
Forward contracts 55 (55) B -
Cross-currency swaps 28 (28} 137 {44)

*  Excludes deferred tax,

ﬁt 23 February 2019

Interest rate risk
Index-linked bonds
Borrowings

Foreign currency risk
Trade payables

Interest rate/Foreigh currency risk
MTNs

Cumulative impact on Cash flow
hedge reserve and Currency basis

. raserve”

Changeinvalue  Change in vaiue

of hedging of hedged item

instrument for for calculating
calculating hedge hedge Continued Discontinued
ineffectiveness ineffectiveness hedges hedges
Hedging instrument £m £m £m £m
lndex-linked swaps n 1 72 -
Interest rate swaps - - - -
Forward contracts - - 22 -

Cross-currency swaps 9 9 83 {46)

* Excludes deferred tax.
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The following table sets out information regarding the effectiveness of hedging relationships designated by the Group. as well as the impacts
on profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

2020 2018

Hedge Hedge

tine item in Group ineffectiveness Ineffectiveness

income statement recognised in profit recognised in profit

that includes hedge of loss or loss

ineffectiveness £m £m

Cash flow hedges Finance income/costs - -

Net investment hedges Finance income/costs - -
Fair value hedges - interest rate risk

- Borrowings Finance income/costs (3] (22)

- Derivatives Finance income/costs - -

The following table presents a reconciliation by risk category of the Cash flow hedge and Currency basis reserves and an analysis of other
comprehensive income in relation to hedge accounting:

2020 2019
Cash flow Currency Cash flow Currency
hedge reserve  basis resarve hedge reserve  basis reserve
£rm £m Line item £m £m Lineitem
Opening balance 118 {5} 40 -
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 (net of tax) - - (1) 1
Opening balance {restated) ‘18 (5} 39 1
Interest rate risk
index-linked swaps
- Net fair value gains/llosses) i - 30 -
- Amount reclassified to Group income statement 2} - Finance income/costs (20) - Finance income/costs
Interest rate swaps o
- Net fair value gains/llosses) 2} - {1 -
- Amount reclassified to Group income statement (1} - Finance income/costs - - Finance income/costs
Interest rate/Forelgn currency risk
Cross-currency swaps
- Net fair value gains/liosses) 70 (12) 5 (6)
- Amount reclassified to Group income statement 4 - finance income/costs 8 - Finance income/costs
Foreign currency risk T
Forward contracts
- Net fair value gains/{losses) 49 - 92 -
- Amount reclassified to Inventories i (64) - Inventories (45) - Inventories
Tax B n 2 "_'ﬁ - -
Closing balance 154 (15} 118 {5)

Interest rate risk

Debt issued at variable rates. as well as cash deposits and short-term investments, expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Debt
issued at fixed rates exposes the Group to fair value risk.

The Group’s policy is to target fixing a minimum of 50% of interest costs for senicr unsecured debt and a range of 55% to 85% for fixed-rate leases
of the Group excluding Tesco Bank. At 29 February 2020, the percentage of interest-bearing debt at fixed rates was 68% (2019: 78%). The weighted
average rate of interest paid on senior unsecuyred debt this financial year. excluding joint ventures and associates. was 3.30% (201%: 3.76%).

Forward rate agreements, interest rate swaps, caps and floors may be used to achieve the desired mix of fixed and floating rate debt.

The Group has RPI-linked debt where the principal is indexed to increases in the RPI. RPi debst is treated as floating rate debt. The Group also
has LPI-linked debt. where the principal is indexed to RPI, with an annual maximum increase of 5% and a minimum of 0%. LPI debt is treated
as fixed-rate debt. RPI-linked debt and LPl-linked debt are hedged for the effects of inflation until maturity.

For interest rate risk relating to Tesco Bank. refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on page 127. During 2020 and
2019, Group net debt was managed using Gerivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk.

2020 2019 (restated)
Fixed_ Floating Total Fixed Floating Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents - 3,408 3.408 - 2.916 2.916
Loans and advances to customers and banks - Tesco Bank 4.370 4,081 8.451 8,328 4,422 12,750
Short-term investments - 1.076 1.076 - 390 390
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 668 409 1.068 475 871 1.046
Joint ventures and associates loan receivables 106 21 127 6 57 133
Lease liahilities §.568) - (9.566) (10,505) - (10,505}
Bank and other borrowings {6,260) 11,235} (7.495) (5.810 (1.333) (7.143)
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank {3.164) 4.543) (7.707} (3.714] {6,751 (10.465)
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank (5C0) - 1500} (1663} - (1.663)
Derivative effect:
Interest rate swaps 11.082) 1.092 - {5.899) 5.899 -
Cross-currency swaps 410 410} - 402 (402 -
Index-linked swaps (294) 294 - {345) 346 -
Total - (15,331) 4,193 {n,138) (18,656) 6,115 {12,541
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management continued

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations leading to a financial loss for the Group. Credit risk arises from Cash and
cash equivalents. Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments), Derivative financial instruments. Loans and advances to customers
and banks, Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and Short-term investments.

For financial assets (other than Trade and other receivables), the Group holds positions with an approved list of investment-grade rated
counterparties and monitors the exposure, credit rating, outiook and credit default swap levels of these counterparties on a regular basis.
Counterparty credit limits are reviewed on an annual basis, and may be updated throughout the financial year. The limits are set to minimise
the concentration of risk and are set taking into account the type and value of the specific financial asset.

For Trade and other receivatles. credit risk is managed with various mitigating controls including credit checks. credit insurance and master
netting agreements. Due to the nature of the Retail business. there is little concentration of risk due to the large number of customers which
are spread across wide geographical areas,

The net counterparty exposure under derivative contracts is £1.0bn (2019: £1.0bn). The Group considers its maximum credit risk to be £15.6bn
(2019: £19.7bn) largely based on the Group's total financial assets.

The low credit risk exemption has been applied to Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term investments and Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income &s these are held with counterparties with investment-grade ratings {BBB or above) or are short term
in nature.

A reconciliation of the Group's expected credit loss (ECL) allowance on loans to related joint ventures and associates is provided below:

£m
24 February 2018 las pfeviously reported) ’ -
Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 13
25 February 2018 (restated) 13
Increase/(decreass) in the allowance recognised in the Group income statement 03
23 February 2019 -
Increase/ldecrease] in the aliowance recognised in the Group income statement during the current financial year 2
29 February 2020 2

Gross loans to related parties of £183m (2019: £200m) are presented net of loss allowances of £2m (2019: £nil) and deferred profits of £54m
{2019: £54m) on the Group balance sheet. The ECL is determined by multiplying together the probability of default (PD). exposure at defauit
(EAD} and the loss given default (LGD) for the relevant time period and for each specific loan.

For credit risk relating to Tesco Bank. refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on pages 127 to 129.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities.

The Group finances its liquidity position and finances its operations by a combination of retained profits. disposals of assets, debt capital
market issues, commercial paper. bank borrowings and leases. |he policy is to maintain a prudent level of cash together with sufficient

committed bank facilities to meet liquidity needs as they arise. to maintain a smooth debt profile and maturing senior unsecured debt will not
exceed £1.5bn in any 12-month period.

The Group retains access to capital markets so that maturing debt may be refinanced as it falls due. The Group has a £15.0bn Euro Medium
Term Note programme. of which £4bn was in issue at 29 February 2020 (2019: £4.2bn). plus £0.4bn equivalent of USD-denominated notes
issued under 144A documentation (2018: £0.4bn).

Liquidity risk is continuously monitored by short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts. In addition, the Group has the following undrawn
committed facilities which mature between 2020 and 2021.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the foliowing undrawn committed facilities available at 29 February 2020. in respect of which all conditions precedent had
been met as at that date:

2070 2019

o £rm £m

Expiring in less than one year - ’ 38 38
Expiring between one and two years 3.000 -
Expiring in more than two years ) ) - 3.000
) ) 3,038 3,038

The undrawn committed facilities include £0.4bn (2019: £0.4bn) of bilateral facilities and a £2.6bn (2019: £2.6bn} syndicated revolving credit
facility. Al facilities incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at flcating rates.

For liguidity risk relating to Tesco Bank. refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors on page 127.

The following is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities and derivative Habilities taking into
account contractual terms that provide the counterparty a choice of when (the earliest date) an amount is repaid by the Group. The potential
cash outflow of £19.3bn is considered acceptable as it is offset by financial assets of £16.8bn {2013: £21.3bn offset by financial assets of
£19.7bn).

The undiscounted cash flows will differ from both the carrying values and fair values. Floating-rate interest is estimated using the prevailing
rate at the balance sheet date. Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated using spot rates at the batance sheet date.
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Due between

Due between

! Financial statements

Due between

Due within 1andg 2 2and 3 Jand4 4and 5 Due beyond
1year years years years years 5 years
5&29 February 2020 £m e ETA, E_nj e £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank &nd other borrowings (1.391 (467) 53 (795) (956) (3,776}
Interest payments on borrowings (227 {208) (181 {179} {159) 11.237)
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank (6.426) (797) (233) 187 ms) -
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank 3 m (501 - - -
Lease liabilities (1.081) (1.018) (996) 1933} {951 {9.584)
Trade and other payables™ 18.922) (22) (18 (2} m (127}
Derivative financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts - receipts 10 n 467 16 - 25
Net settled derivative contracts - payments 7 {42 470} (148} 160} na)
Gross settled derivative contracts - receipts 2.534 - - - - -
Gross settled derivative contracts - payments (2.585) - - - - -
Total (18,808) {2,544) (1,985) (2.188) 12,342) (14,717}
Due between Due between Due between Due between
Due withir Tand 2 Z2and 3 3and 4 dang 5 Due beyond
tyear years years years years Hyears

At 23 February 2019 (restated! £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank and other borrowings (1.515) {1,221 (556) (28} (854) (3.18)
Interest payments on borrowings (258) (205) (176) 42 (147 (1.267)
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank (8.569) {1.348) 1336) (108) 186} [iH
Deposits from banks - Tesco Bank (337 410) 1945) - - -
Lease liabilities (1.202) {1.107) 1n.071 (1.034) 1.006} (1.015)
Trade and other payables” 9,131) 128) 22) (m [} (293)
Berivative financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts - receipts S 3 2 - - -
Net settled derivative contracts - payments (291} (340} 159} {79 G 201
Gross settled derivative contracts - receipts 2.438 (262} 14 - - -
Gross settled derivative contracts - payments (24600 260 143} - - .
Total (21,319) (4,658) (3,192) (1,402) 2,204) 15,714)

* Trade and other payables ncludes £376m {2019: £423m) of contract latulities. Refer to Note 21,

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is expased to foreign exchange risk principally via:

- transactional exposure that arises from the cost of future purchases of goods, where those purchases are dencminated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the purchasing company. Transactional currency exposures that could significantly impact the Group
income statement are hedged. These exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency contracts or purchased currency options. which
are designated as cash flow hedges and the policy is to have minimum (20%) and maximum (80%) hedge level of forecast uncommitted
exposure within the next 12 months:

- net investment exposure arises from changes in the value of net investments denominated in currencies other than Pounds Sterling.

The Group's poticy is to hedge a part of its investments in its international subsidiaries via foreign currency derivatives and borrowings in
matching currencies. which are formally designated as net investment hedges. During the current financial year, currency movements
decreased the net value, after the effects of hedging. of the Group’s overseas assets by £70m (2019: increased by £100m). The Group also
ensures that each subsidiary is appropriately hedged in respect of its non-functional currency assets; and

- loans to non-UK subsidiaries in currencies other than in the Group’s functional currency. The Group’'s palicy is that 100% cf the foreign
exchange risk is hedged. The risk exposure is managed by the use of foreign currency derivatives and borrowings in matching currencies.
These are not formally designated as hedges as gains and losses on hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset.

Sensitivity analysis

The impact on the Group financial statements from foreign currency, inflaticn and interest rate volatility is discussed below.

The analysis excludes the impact of movements in market variables on the carrying value of pension and other post-employment obligations
and on the retranslation of overseas net assets as required by IAS 21 'The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates’. However. it does
include the foreign exchange sensitivity resulting from iocal entity non-functional currency financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt. the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt and
derivatives portfolio, and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations
in place at 29 February 2020. It should be noted that the sensitivity analysis reflects the impact on income and equity due to financial instruments
held at the balance sheet date. It does not reflect any change in sales or costs that may resuft from changing interest or exchange rates.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management continued
The foliowing assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

- the sensitivity of interest payable to movements in interest rates is calculated on net floating rate exposures on debt. deposits and
derivative instruments with no sensitivity assumed for RPI-linked borrowings, which has been swapped to fixed rates:

- changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges from movements in interest rates or foreign
exchange rates have an immaterial effect on the Group income statement and equity due to compensating adjustments in the carrying
value of debt:

- changes in the carrying value of financial instruments designated as net investment hedges from movements in foreign exchange rates are
recorded directly in the Group statement of comprehensive income/{loss):

- all other changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are fully effective with no
impact on the Group income statement; and

- the floating leg of any swap or any floating rate debt is treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change in interest
rates affects a full 12-month period for the interest payable portion of the sensitivity calculations.

Using the above assumptions, the following table shows the quantitative effect on the Group income statement and Group statement of
changes in equity that would result, at the balance sheet date, from changes in interest rates. inflation rates and currency exchange rates
that are reasonably possible for major currencies where there have recently been significant movements:

20207 2019 —
ncome gain/ Equity Income gain/ Equity
loss} gain/{loss) {loss} gain/{loss)
£ £m £m £m
1% increase in interest rates (2019: 1%) 39 {42} 58 (32)
10% appreciation of the Euro (2019: 10%) 1 7 1 96)
10% appreciation of the US Dollar (2019: 10%) 5 78 - 100
25 basis points parallel upward shift in the forward inflation curve (2019: 25 basis points) 86 - - -

= These sensitivities are presented on a consistent basis with the prior financial year to aid comparability. Cormmmentary on additional sensitivities adjusted for the impact of increased
volatility as a result of COVID-19 is given in Note 36,

A decrease in interest rates. depreciation of foreign currencies and downward shift in the forward inflation curve would have the opposite

effect to the impact in the table above.

The impact on the Group income statement resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates against GBP in refation to financial instruments {excluding
those arising on consolidation) are minimal as Group policy dictates that all material income statement foreign exchange exposures are hedged.

During the current financial year. the Group entered into a number of derivative index-linked contracts with external counterparties. to
economically hedge a proportion of the Group's exposure to index-linked lease liabilities with its joint ventures. These are specifically not
designated as accounting hedges, but are economic hedges. However, the gains and losses on the hedging instrument and hedged item do not
naturally offset in the Group income statement. This mismatch arises due to different accounting outcomes of {FRS 9 and IFRS 16 which
results in a timing difference.

The impact on the Group statement of comprehensive income/(loss} from changing exchange rates results from the revaluation of financial
liabilities used as net investment hedges. The impact on the Group statement of comprehensive income/{loss) will largely be offset by the
revaluation in equity of the hedged assets in the Group statement of changes in equity.

Capital risk

The Group's objectives when managing <apital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. while protecting and strengthening the Group
balance sheet through the appropriate balance of debt and equity funding. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it, in fight of changes to economic conditions and the strategic objectives of the Group.

To maintain or adjust the capitai structure. the Greup may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders. buy back shares and cancel them. or
issue new shares.

The Group raises finance in the public debt markets and borrows centrally and locally from financial institutions, using a variety of capital
market instruments and borrowing facllities to meet the requirements of each local business.

In line with the Group’s objectives, during the current financial year. the Group issued a £400m bond maturing in 2025 and €750m bond
maturing in 2026.

Refer to Note 32 for the value of the Group's net debt (£12.3bn; 2019: £13.2bn). and the Group statement of changes in equity for the value of
the Group’s equity (E13.3bn; 2019: £13.4bn).

Insurance risk
The Group is exposed to the risk of being inadequately protected from liabilities arising from unforeseen events. The Group purchased assets,
earnings and combined liakility protection from the open insurance market for higher value losses only.

The risk not transferred to the insurance market is retained within the Group with some cover being provided by the Group's captive
insurance company, ELH Insurance Limited in Guernsey, which covers Assets, Earnings and Combined Liability.
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Tesco Bank

interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises mainly where assets and liabilities in Tesco Bank’s banking activities have different repricing dates and from
unexpected changes to the yield curve. Tesco Bank is exposed to interest rate risk through dealings with retail customers as well as through
lending to and borrowing from the wholesale market. Tesco Bank has established limits for risk appetite and stress tests are performed using
sensitivity to fluctuations in underlying interest rates in order t¢ monitor this risk. Tesco Bank alsc use the Capital at Risk {CaR} approach
which assesses the sensitivity (value change) of a reduction in the Bank’s capital to movements in interest rates.

The scenarios considered include both parzallel and non-parallel movements of the yield curve and have been designed to assess impacts
across a suitable range of severe but plausible movements in interest rates. Interest rate risk is primarily managed using interest rate swaps as
the main hedging instrument.

Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Tesco Bank has insufficient liquidity resources to meet its obligations as they fall due. Funding risk is the risk that
Tesco Bank does not have sufficiently stable and diverse sources of funding.

Tesco Bank operates within a Liquidity Risk Management Policy Framework (LRMP} to ensure that sufficient funds are available at all times to
meet demands from depositors. to fund agreed advances. tc meet other commitments as and when they fall due, and to ensure the Board's
risk appetite is met.

Liquidity and funding risks are assessed through the Individual Liquidity Adeguacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) on at least an annual basis.
Formal limits are set within the LRMP to maintain liquidity risk exposures within the Liguidity Risk Appetite set by Tesco Bank’s Board of
Directors and key liquidity measures are monitored on a regular basis. Tesco Bank maintains a conservative liquidity and funding profile to
confirm that it is able to meet its financial obligations under normal, and stressed, market conditions.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a retail customer or counterparty tc a wholesale transaction will fail to meet its obligations in accordance with
contractuslly agreed terms and Tesco Bank will incur losses as a result. Credit risk principally arises from the Bank's retail lending activities but
also from the placement of surplus funds with other banks and money market funds, investments in transferable securities and interest rate
and foreign exchange derivatives. In addition, credit risk arises from contractual arrangements with third parties where payments and
commissions are due to the Bank for short periods of time. To minimise the pctential exposure to bad debts that are outside risk appetite.
processes. systems and limits have been established that cover the end-to-end retail credit risk custoemer life cycle. These include credit
scoring, affordability, credit policies and guides, and monitoring and reporting. The Bank is also exposed to wholesale credit risk primarily
through its treasury activities. Controls and risk mitigants include daily monitoring of exposures, investing in counterparties with investment
grade ratings, restricting the amount that can be invested with one counterparty and credit-rating mitigation technigues. Assessment of the
expected credit loss (ECL) on loans and advances to custamers has taken intc account a range of macroeconomic scenarics.

The tables below present the reconciliations of ECL allowances on lcans and advances to customers.

2020
Stage ! Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

29 February 2020 . _E_m £m £m £m
Gross exposure 7.688 953 289 8,930
Loan commitments 11.755 N6 1 11,872
Total exposure 19,443 1,069 290 20,802
Allowance for expected credit losses _ o
At 23 February 2019 ' (t-.}] (229} 172 {485}
Transfers:
Transfers from stage 1to stage 2 n {in - -
Transfers from stage 7 to stage 1 64] 64 - -
Transfers to stage 3 3 50 (63) -
Transfers from stage 3 (2} (2) 4 -
Movements recognised in the Group income statement:
Net remeasurement following transfer of stage 38 (23) (93 (78)
New financial assets originated (27 21 no (58)
Financial assets derecognised during the current financial vear 9 12 3 24
Changes in risk parameters and other movements 32 (63) 60) 9/
Other movements:
Write-offs and asset disposals - 3 195 198
Reclassification of mortgage book balances to fair value through profit or loss 1 1 - P
At 29 February 2020 7 (83) {19} (186) {488)
Reconciliation to Group balance sheet o
Gross exposure T ' 7 688 953 289 8,930
Allowance for expected credit losses o (83) (219) ALY (488)

T 7,605 734 103 8,442
Fair value adjustment - o o 9
Carrying value at 29 February 2020” 8,451

*  Excludes loans and advances to banks of £nil (2019- £324m). Refer to Note 19.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management continued

2019
Stage 1 Stage 7 Stage 3 Total
23 February 2019 £m fm Im £m
Gross exposure 11,464 1.179 27 12,914
Loan commitments 12,115 10 1 12,226
Total exposure ] _ 23,579 1,289 272 25,140
Allowance for expected credit losses
At 24 February 2018 (95) (1 “s1 {457
Transfers:
Transfers from stage 1to stage 2 il () - -
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 (46) 46 - -
Transfers to stage 3 3 4 (44) -
Movements recognised in the Group income statement;
Net remeasurement following transfer of stage 26 {19) (90) {83)
New financial assets originated (28} (36) (1 (75)
Changes in risk parameters and cther movements 45 (1) (38) {32
Other movements:
Write-offs and asset disposals 2 1 60 183
Transfer from provisions for liabilities and other charpes {2) 1 - §H
At 23 February 2019 ) ) 84) (229) (172) (485)
Reconciliation to Group balance sheet
Gross exposure 11,5:64 1179 n 12.914
Allowance for expected credit losses 84) (229) 72 (485)
) 11,380 950 99 12,429
Fair value adjustment i 7 ) (3}
Carrying value at 23 February 2019 12,426

* Refer to previous table for footnote.

The Bank defines four classifications of credit quality for all credit exposures: high, satisfactory, low and below standard. Credit exposures are
segmented according 1o the probability of default (PD). with credit impaired reflecting & PD of 100%. At 29 February 2020 the guality of the
Bank's loans and advances to customers was high for 75% of the total exposure (2019: 83%). satisfactory for 17% (2019: 11%), low for 5% (2019:
4%) and below standard for 3% (2019: 2%). The quality of the loan commitments was high for 97% of the total exposure (2019: 98%),
satisfactory for 3% (2019: 2%), low for 0% (2019: 0%) and below standard for 0% (2019: 0%).

Expected credit losses (ECL)

The ECL is determined by multiplying together the PD. exposure at default {EAD) and loss given default (LGD) for the relevant time period and
for each asset category and by discounting back to the balance sheet date. The ECL calculation and the measurement of significant
deterioraticn in credit risk both incorperate forward-looking information using a range of macrececonomic scenarios, with key variakles being
the Bank of England base rate, unempioyment rate. house price index and gross domestic product.

The ECL calculation and the measurement of significant deterioration in credit risk both incorporate forward-locking information using a
range of macroeconomic scenarios. The key economic variables are based on historical patterns observed over a range of economic cycles.

The Group has engaged a third-party supplier to provide reievant economic data for this purpose which, prier to incorporation into the ECL
calculation, is subject to internal review and challenge with reference to other publicly available market data and benchmarks. From this data.
a base case scenario has been developed, together with four additional scenarios, each of which have been assigned a relative probability.
The base case represents an estimate of the most-likely outcome while other scenarios represent more cptimistic (upside) and more
pessimistic [downside) outcomes. Downside scenario 1 reflects an economic downside caused by the UK being unable to secure a favourable
trade deal with the EU. while Downside scenario 2 represents a more severe recession. As a result of COVID-13 developments at the bzlance
sheet date. a fifth scenario was introduced which used Downside 2 as a proxy, to reflect the increased risk of an adverse impact on the
economy from the COVID-19 pandemic. The scenarios have been assigned weightings of 40%, 20%. 30%. 5% and 5% respectively. which is
considered to be appropriate for the calculation of unbiased ECLs.

Default

An account is deemed to have defaulted when the Group considers that a customer is in significant financial difficulty and that the customer

meets certain quantitative and qualitative criteria regarding their ability to make contractual payments when due. This includes instances
where:

- the customer makes a declaration of significant financial difficulty:

- the customer or thirg-party agency communicates that it is probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy or ancther form of financial
restructure such as insolvency or repoessession:

- the accaunt has been transferred to recoveries and the relationship is terminated:

- anaccount’s contractual payments are more than 90 days past due; or

- where the customer is deceased.
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Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date. the change in credit risk of the financial asset is observed using a set of quantitative and qualitative criteria. together
with a backstop based on arrears status. For each financial asset, the Group compares the lifetime PD at the reporting date with the lifetime
PD that was expected at the reporting date at initial recognition (PD threshold). The Group has established PD thresholds for each type of
product which vary depending on initial term and term remaining. A number of qualitative criteria are in place such as: forbearance offered to
customers in financial difficulty; risk-based pricing post-griginaticn; credit indebtedness:; credit limit decrease: and pre-delinguency
information. As a backstop. the Group considers that if an account’s contractual payments are more than 30 days past due then a significant
increase in credit risk has taken place. The Group has used the low credit risk exemption in respect of its portfolio of investment securities in
Both the current and prior year.

The sensitivities in the ECL allowance. to reascnably possible changes in the following key assumptions. are set out below:

Reasonably 20207 2019

Key assurrption » possible change £m £m
Probability of default Increase of 2.5% 11 9
Decrease of 2.5% (an 9)

Loss given default - Increase of 2.5% 12 12
Decrease of 2.5% 12} 012}
Macroeconomic factors Upside scenario 41 (33)
Base scenario (28} va)]

Downside scenario | 40 &7

Downside scenario 2 103 -

7 COovID-19 103 -
Frobabiiity of default threshold (staging) Increase of 20% 7 )
Decrease of 20% 21 10

*  These sensitvities are presented on a consistent basis with the prior financial year to aid comparability. Commentary on additional sensitivities adjusted for the impact of increased
volatilty as a result of COVID-19 s given in Note 36.
Tesco Bank could be exposed to unacceptable levels of bad debt and also suffer reputational damage if it did not provide adequate support to
customers who are experiencing financial difficulties. Forbearance is relief granted by a lender to assist custormners in financiat difficulty.
through arrangements which temporarily allow the customer tc pay an amount other than the contractual amounts due. These temporary
arrangements may be initiated by the customer or the Group where financial distress would prevent repayment within the original terms and
conditions of the contract. The main aim of forbearance is to support customers in returning to a position where they are able to meet their
contractual obligations.

Tesco Bank has adopted the definition of forbearance in the European Banking Authority’s (EBA) final draft Implementing Technical Standards
(ITS) of July 2014. The Group reports all accounts meeting this definition. providing for them appropriately.

Controls and risk mitigants

Tesco Bank has well defined forbearance policies and processes. A number of forbearance options are made available to customers by the
Group. These routinely. but not exclusively. include the following:

- arrangements to repay arrears over a period of time. by making payments above the contractual amount. that ensure the loan is repaid
within the original repayment term:

- short-term concessions, where the borrower is allowed to make reduced repayments {or in exceptional circumstances, No repayments) on
a temporary basis to assist with short-term financial hardship: and

- for secured products. it may also be acceptable to allow the customer to clear the arrears over an extended period of time, provided the
payments remain affordable.

Gross loans and Forbearance programmes as a Proportion of Forbearance
advances subject to proportion of total loans and programmes covered by allowance

Forbearance programmes advances by category for expected credit losses
2020 2009 2020 2019 2020 2018
£m _Em % % % %
Credit cards — UK 1076 92.8 2.5 2.0 48.7 533
Credit cards - Europe - - - - - -
Credit cards - Commercial 01 0.1 4.7 4.8 241 90.8
Loans 48.9 48.4 1.0 11 44.3 48.0
Mortgages - 6.0 - 0.2 - 1.2
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 25 Financial risk management continued

Insurance risk

Tesco Bank is indirectly exposed to insurance risks through its ownership of 49.9% of Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU), an authorised insurance
company. Insurance risk is defined as the risk accepted through the provision of insurance products in return for a premium. The timing and
guantumn of the risks are uncertain and determined by events outside the controf of Tesco Bank. The key insurance risks within TU relate to
underwriting risk and reserving risk. TU operates a separate framework to ensure that the TU insurance portfolio operates within agreed risk
appetite. Tesco Bank closely monitors performance of the portfolio against specific thresholds and [imits.

Note 26 Customer deposits and deposits from banks

2020 2009
B £m £m
Customer deposits 7707 "10.465
Deposits from bariks 500 1.663
8,207 12,128

Of which:
Current 6,377 8.832
Non-current 1.830 3,296
} 8,207 12,128

Deposits from banks include balances of £nil (2019: £324m} in respect of securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements and balances
of £5600m (2019: £1.339m) drawn under the Bank of England’s Term Funding Scheme. The underlying securities sold under agreements to
repurchase had a carrying value of £nil (2019: £358m).

Note 27 Provisions

FProperty Restructuring Other

provisions provisions provisions Total

£m £m £m £m

At 23 February 2019 (restated) 1861 143 69 373

Fareign currency translation (&) - 2 (4)

Amount released in the year 2 (20 4) 26)

Amount provided in the year 9 171 53 233

Amount utilised in the year 7 230} 48} 285)

Unwinding of discount 1 - - i

At 29 February 2020 156 64 72 292
The balances are analysed as follows:

2020 2019

{restated)

£m £m

Current, 155 226

Non-current 137 147

) 292 373

Property provisions
Property provisions comprise onerous property provisions, including non-lease contracts refated to unprofitable stores ang vacant
properties, dilapidations provisions and asset retirement obligation provisions.

Restructuring provisions

Of the £151m net charge (£171m charge. £20m release) recognised In the year. £151m (2018: £182rm) has been classified within exceptional items
as ‘Net restructuring and redundancy costs’ and related to store and head office restructuring in the UK & ROt £95m (2018: £131ml, Central
Europe £43m (2019: £27m), Asia Enil (2019: £26m) and Tesco Bank £13m (2019: £2m release).

Other provisions

Other provisions include provisions for Tesco Bank customer redress in respect of potential complaints arising from the historical sales of PPI,
and in respect of customer redress relating to instances where certain requirements of the Consumer Credit Act {CCA) for post-contract
documentation have not been fully complied with. In each instance, management have exercised judgement as to both the timescaie for
implementing the redress campaigns and the final scope of any amounts payable. During the current financial year, an additional charge of
£45m was recognised in the Group income statement within exceptional items. classified as *Provision for customer redress’ within cost of
sales. Refer to Note 4 for further details.

Other provisions are expected to be utilised in the next financial year.
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Note 28 Share-based payments

The Group income statement charge for the financial year recognised in respect of share-based payments is £129m (2019: £118m), which is
made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments. Of this amount. £113m (2019: £103m) will be settled in equity and £16m {2019:
£15m) in cash. National Insurance payable in connection with options granted is treated as a cash-settled transaction.

Share option schemes
The Comparny had 10 share opticn schemes in operation during the financial year, all of which are equity-settled schemes:

vi.

vii.

viii.

The Savings-related Share Option Scheme (1981 permits the grant to colleagues of options in respect of Ordinary shares linked to a
building scciety/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues of an amount
between £5 and £500 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or five-year period
at a subscription price of not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market guctations of an Ordinary share over the three
dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

The Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000) permits the grant to ROl colleagues of opticns in respect of Ordinary shares
linked to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues

of an amount between €12 and €500 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or
five-year period at a subscription price of not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market guotations of an Ordinary share
over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

The Executive Incentive Plan (2004) permitted the grant of options in respect of Ordinary shares to selected senior executives.
Options are normally exercisable between three and 10 years from the date of grant for nil consideration. No further options will
be granted under this scheme.

The Executive Incentive Plan (2014) permits the grant of options in respect of Ordinary shares to selected senior executives as

a proportion of annual bonus following the completion of a required service pericd and is dependent on the achievement of
corporate performance and individual targets. Options are normally exercisable between three and 10 years from the date of grant
for nil consideration. Full details of this plan can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report.

The Performance Share Plan {2011) permits the grant of options in respect of Ordinary shares to selected executives. Cptions are
normally exercisable between the vesting datel(s) set at grant and 10 years from the date of grant for nil consideration. The vesting
of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year period and/or
continuous employment.

The Discretionary Share Option Plan {2004) permitted the grant of approved, unapproved and international options in respect of
Ordinary shares to selected executives. Opticns are normally exercisable between three and 10 years from the date of grant at a
price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market guctations of an Ordinary share for the dealing day

or three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The vesting of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a
specified performance target related to the annual percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There were
no discounted options granted under this scheme.

The Group Bonus Plan permits the grant of options in respect of Ordinary shares to selected senior executives as a proportion of
annual bonus following the completion of a required service period and is dependent on the achievement of corperate performance
and individual targets. Options are normally exercisable between three and 10 years from the date of grant for nil consideration.
The Long Term Incentive Plan (201